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We are part of everyday life for
millions of customers across Europe.
We entertain and connect them
by offering the best content,
technology to put them in control
and best-in-class service delivery.
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Stratee report

Chairman’s statement

2015 has been a transformational year for
Sky With the acquisition of the businesses
in Germany and Italy, the Company has
moved beyond the boundaries of the

UK and Ireland to create a world-class

pay TV operation

Nick Ferguson, CBE

1 = New office campus Osterley Sky UX 2 ~ Opening of Sky Acadermy Skis Stugins Livngstan Sky UK
3 -0Offces Mdan Skyltaha

0 Skypk




Anrual Report 2015

Against the backdrop of a fast-moving mdustry we have brought
together the three leaders in their respectve markets positioning
the enlarged group to take advantage of new opportunities at scale

We see the potential to launch new products and services that
will reach customers in more ways than ever before and create
enhanced value for shareholders

On behalf of the Board 1t gives me great pleasure to take this
opportunity to welcome our colleagues from Sky Deutschiand
and Sky Italia to the group We look forward to all that you can
achieve together as part of a bigger team

To recogruse the expanded international scope of the Company we
have changed our name from Bntish Sky Broadcasting simply to Sky

Throughout, the Company has continued to deliver strong growth
achieving excellent results both operationally and financially

The performance for the year shows good momentum across

the group as more customers choose to join Sky and take more
of cur products, for use at home or on the move

The fact that these results have been achveved at a time of such
change for the Company demonstrates the strength and focus

of the management team It s also proof that the actions taken
In recent years to invest m the quality of the customer expenence
are detvening returmns

Reflecting the Company’s excellent performance the Board has
proposed a 3% increase i the dwidend to 32 8 pence This 1s the
Tth consecutive year of growth

As a successful and growing business the enlarged Sky makes
anwnportant economic contribution to the countries inwhich
It operates It acts as a powerhouse for the creative ndustnes

StUAtegK report

1 Europe supporting 128 000 jobs across its five terntones and
investing £4 9 bethon In quabity news sparts and entertamment
content Inaddition, it contributes £76 bithon to GDP across the
five countries and generates £3 4 bihon in tax revenues, of which
a total of £2 3 bilion goes to the UK Exchequer (Oxford Econamics)

Sky 15 also committed to using its position as Europe s leading
entertainmant company to make a positive Impact on society
Across the enlarged group the focus 1s on using the Company's
strengths in TV, creativity and sport to support young people
and help them to realise therr full potential

1 have been privileged in the course of the year to ba present at
the launch of two new Ivitiatives for Sky Academyin the UK and
Ireland the Careers Lab in West London and the new Skalls Studios
in Scotland Nearly two years after launching Sky Academy

we're delighted vath the progress were making Our colleagues

in Germany and ltaly also have a focus on young people and

we see a real opportunity to sharelearning across our terntones
and to strengthen our engagement with young people In the

next few years

Moving onto the business of the Board as announced last year,
Andy Higginson retired from the Board in November after 10 years
the last two of which he held the role of Senior Independent
Director He was succeeded in thisrole by Martin Gilbert

Furthermore at the concluston of this year's AGMin November
David DeVoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind will step down from
the Board Immediately followmg the AGM it 1s intended that John
Nallen CFO of 21st Century Fox, will be appointed by the Board as a
Non-Executwe Director As a result of these propased changes the
number of Board members would reduce from 14 1012 On behalf of
the Board 1would like to offer my warmest thanks to David DeVoe
Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind for their major contribution to the
Company over many years All three have been excellent colleagues
Arthur joined the Board in 1991 David in 1994 and Danny in 2008
and each has been a source of sound achace throughout We will
miss them all

On behalf of the Board | would kke to thank all of our shareholders
for therr continued support, in parucular through the completion
of such a significant transactian | would also like to take this
opportunity to thank every one of my colleagues across the
business for thewr hard work and contribution to what has been
an excellent year for Sky

Nick Ferguson, CBE
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Stratepc raport

Our strategy

We create sustainable value by pursuing broad

growth opportunities across our markets,
achieving competitive advantage through

our core strengths and the way we do business

Our business model

Our strengths:

Growth opportunities

Great content

We nvest to deliver the best and broadest range
of content nght across the portfalio of channels
and services we prowide to customers, ensuring
we offer sarmething for everyone in the household

Market-leading innovation

We harmmess new technology in erder to give
customers the very best viewing experience
wherever and whenever they wantit

A customer focus

Woe are led by customers and what they want
We have an unrvalled ability to address their

Growing pay TV penetration

We exploit the headroom for pay TV growth across
our markets using the combination of satellite
cable and over-the-top (OTT) services to meet
customers’ needs

Selling more to customers

We focus on broadening out our range of products
and services in order to sell more 1o existing customers
and address more of therr needs

Scaling adjacent business

We target opportunittes in adjacent sectors like
advertising and international programme sales

needs thanks to the strength of our brand tO grow nNew revenues
the scale of our go-to-market operation,
and our expertise in service delvery

How we create value

Investing for the long term Driving efficiency

We invest over the long term because we want to build a business
thatis durable This means ensunng that we create the conditions
for sustarnabie success whilst also delivering results in the

short term

Seeing the bigger picture

We are committed to acting responsibly in all that we do Thats
because we know that to buld a business that s successful over
the fong term, how we go about doing business is as important as
what we do We also focus on making a posiuve impact on society
We call this seaing the bigger picture

We underpin everything that we do with a ngorous focus on
operating efficiency By ensuring that we have an efficient and
agile operating model we consistently dnive down costs to allow
us to nvest more where customers see greatest value

Investing in people

We invest in our people because we recognise that thewr talent and
commitment are cntical Lo our success We aim to foster a culture
which encourages our people to fulfiltherr potential and to strive
for continual improvement in all that they do enabling them te
achieve great things together

04 Skypic
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Strategic report

Group Chief Executive’s statement

Sky has had an outstanding year, ending
2015 a very different business compared
to the same time a year ago We have
transformed the scale of opportunity
ahead while at the same time delivering
strong growth as more customers across
our markets join Sky and take more of
our products

Jeremy Darroch

Wwith the successful acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha
Sky today serves 21 milion customers across five countries - Italy,
Germany Austria Ireland and the UK - and is Europe's leading
Investor in content

As well as brnging greater scale the transaction was also about
bulding a great orgarusation and positioning the business for
the future The three Sky businesses are highly complementary
They share & powerful brand and have a commen ethos of
embracing change to provide customers with more choice
better content and a supenor TV expenence

Sky is already at the forefront of delivering services over broadcast
on demand and mebile TV platforms However by jotning the three
businesses together we are able to share our strengths and
expertuse across the group This wilt enable us to serve customers
better and to bulld a bigger and stronger business over the longer
term to the benefit of all shareholders

Expanded opportunity for growth

when we consider the long-term potential for Sky as an
international business, we se¢ six broad areas of opportunity

First we will exploit the substantial headroom for pay TV growth
across our markets With more than 65 milion households yet

to take pay TV we wll tap mnto new pockets of demand by
segmenting the market, using the combination of our Sky-branded
satefhite and cable TV offertng and our OTT streaming services

Second we will use our strengths in cross-selling to bring more
products to our customers across the group Everything we
see tells us that our customers are Increasingly loyal to Sky
and have an appetite to take more from us

Third we will continue to grow our adjacent businesses In channel
distnbution, we have more potential partners for our content as
the market opens up Well alsc have an expanded oppertunity

to grow our programme sales as we scale our content business

Fourth we will raise our ambitions in content even further

By bnnging the three Skys together we have the potential to
operate at greater scale This 1s about extending our tradiwonal
strengthsin areas hke sports and movies CoMMISsIonINg more
of our own entertainment programming and bemng the best
partner for content owners around the world

Fifth we will accelerate innovation to delrver an even better
expenence for customers By combinng our product development
actwvity across the group, we il be ab'e to bring products to market
faster at greater scale and at reduced cost

Sixth we witl build an the strength of our go-to-market operation
and expertise In service delivery to create an organisation that
15 best placed to meet the needs of customers

Nine months after closing the traasaction the teams in each of
the three businesses are workang together well and the integration
process 1s ontrack Hawvingidentfied multiple ways in which the
businesses can best share expertise we have started work on

a clear set of pnority workstreams that will ensure we make

the most of the opportunities ahead
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Stratepc report

Group Chief Executive’s statement,
(conuinued)

Excellent performance across the group

At the same uime as implementing the transaction we delivered an
excellent operational and financial performance as robust demand
from customers drove strong trading across all of qur markats

We closed the financtal year with revenues up 5% to £11 3 billion!
and operating profit up 18% to £1 4 bilion This was an outstanding
result in a year of such change for the business

The strength of cur performance was fuelled by the addition of
almost one million new customers over the year This was 45%
more than the prior year and took our customer base past the
21-million mark At the same tme we added 4 6 mihon new paid-for
products reflecting strong levels of demand across our broad
product offering

2015 also saw us achieve significantly increased customer loyalty
across the group We reduced churn to below 10% in all our markets
as customers responded positively to the iInvestments we have
made in the wewing experience, In areas such as the connected
box platform and our own onginal drama

Standout performance in UK and Ireland

At the heart of the group results was an outstanding performance
in the UK and Ireland, demonstrating the success of the approach
we have taken to segmenting the market with the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands

Strong customer demand resulted in the highest organic customer
growth for 11 years of 506 OCO to take us past the 12-million
milestone At the same time we grew paid-for products by 3 3 million
thanks to acceterated growth across TV and broadband

We achieved churn of 9 B% on a 12-month rolling basis an Vi-year
low, as growing penetration and usage of connected TV services
increased customer loyalty and overall satisfaction with Sky

We closed the year with more than seven million TV customers
connected an increase of more than one milkon over the year

1 - England vs New Zealand Investec Tast Match at Lo s Sky Sports Sky UK
1 - Fartitucie Sky Atlantic Al Lerritones 3 « Portrait Artsst of the Year Sky Arts Sky UK
4 = MOW TV remate and bax 5 - ltatan Grand Prin Mugelo Sky Sport MoteGP HD Sky [taha

Strong growth in Germany and Austna

Sky in Germany and Austria also achieved an excellent year of
growth We added 467000 net new customers over the 12months
the highest-ever annual customer growth, to take the base

past Four milton Pad-for product growth of almost one milion
represented anmprovement of more than 50% on the prior

year thanks to strong growth in HD

Churn of 8 6% on a 12-month rolling basis was a record low
for a full year as we continued to benefit from the take-up
of two-year contracts

italy stabilised

In Italy, we held the customer base stable For the first time inthree

years, ending the 12-month penod broadly flat year on year with

47 millon customers Pad-for product growth was 387000 white

churn hit a low of 9 6% on 12-month rolling basis as custaomers

showed growing loyalty to the business This was a good result \
inwhat remains a challenging market

1 Wehave presented the resultis onan adjusted dke for ke basrs for the full 12-menth
period to 30 June 2015 down to operatwng profit Comparative figures are vansiated
ata constant currency af €1 311

08 Skyplc
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Strategic report

Building on our strengths

Skys success rests on the urique combination of strengths that
we have developed in three core areas the best and broadest range
of content, market-leading innovation that enhances the viewing
experience, and our focus on the customer through our unrvalied
go-to-market capability expertise in service delivery and the
strength of our brand

We made significant progress in each of these areas in 2015

Content

We strengthened the range and quality of our offering on screen
across all our territones n the past 12 months advancing our ambition
to create a pawerhouse for contentin Europe

In entertainment, we took another big step forward as we grew our
capabiity in onginal production While eachof our businesses s at a
different stage of development in this area, what s become clear as
we ve started towork together is our shared vision and our common
sense of ambition

Crime drama Fortitude and itahan political drama 1992 becarme the
first of our home-grown dramas to launch simultaneously across
all five terntores, in January and March respectively

Reaching an audience of 37 miflion Fortitude was Sky Atlantic’'s most
succassful onginal drama to date inthe YK It also became the mast
successful show far Sky Vision our distribution business with salesto
more than 100 terntanes internationally Meanwhile 1992 premiered
with the biggest-ever audience for an angmnal scnipted senes in italy

Their success underhines the potential that we have to operate at a
greater scale with a number of exating drama projects in the pipeline
as part of more than 130 hours of onginal drama now in production
across the group

In sport we completeda series of important nghts deals to put
Sky In a strong position for the coming year in the UK and Ireland
we achieved a successful outcome to the Premier League's tender
process renforcing Sky Sports position as the number one choice
far sports fans with the nghts to 126 Ive Premier League matches
every season from 2016/17 to 2018/19 As a result Sky Sports wall
bring customers three imes as many live matches as any other
broadcaster induding the best match picks and the mest-watched
siots in the schedule Meanwhile Initaly we secured the lve

and exchuswve rights to alt 472 matches in Sene B for the next
three seasons

Innovation

Sky s strength in innovation enables us to get the greatest value
from eur investment in content, meeting customers growing desire
for the flaxibility to consume content on thewr own terms both:n
and out of the home It atso ataws us to distnbute our content
more widely, tapping Into new pockets of demand using OTT
technology and creating new revenue opporturities in areas

{ike transactional services
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Strategic rapart

Group Chief Executive's statement

(continued)

ACross our markets, we have conbinued to invest in the quahty

of the customer experience to make it easier for customers to
access and consume our content Sky now has almast nine milion
customers across our markets who have chosen to connect thetr
boxes to the intermet to open up a whole range of on demand
and catch-up services

Additionally, Sky has also extended its tead as Europe’s biggest
mobile TV provider Close to 10 milhon homes across the group

are enabled to watch therr favourite programmes on the move

with Sky Go We built on our leadership in mobile TV in the year
with the agreement of a significant new partnership with Tetefénica
n the UK This will enable us to add arange of mobile votce and
data services to our customer offering in 2016 to exploit the
opportunities for growth that we see in the fast-changing

mobile sector

The growing penetration of connected dewvices 1s opening up brand
new sources of revenue One area where we made real stndes in
2015 15 Sky Store in the UK and Ireland where revenues increased
77% with a growing contribution from our Buy & Keep service
launched a year ago The service reguarly ranks number one

or two among digital retaillers for new releases, for example
delivering record digital sales for Universal on its best-seling

utle Fity Shades of Grey We are excited about the opportunity

to expand inthis sector

2015 also saw us make sigrficant progress In the expansion of our
OTT streaming services We see a big opportunity touse OTT video
to dnve pay TV penetration i a way that s complementary to our
core satellite and cable businesses In the UK, our popular NOW TV
service continued to buld momentum as our rebranding helped
drive 2 near trebling in sports pass sales in the year

1+ Paddingron Buy & Keep Say Store Sky UK 2 - Journalst, Sky Sport Sky aha
3 - Quitan tsadore Sky Acadermy Sports Schotar Sky UK

Building on this success we ve also launched Sky Online servicesin
both Germarry and Italy inthe past 18 months, givng us streaming
products in all our markets Targeted at peaple who like our content,
but want to consume it In a different way these senvices are just
getting gong We see a lot of potential to use them as a means

to unlock new headroom for customer growth across Eurcpe

Customers

We know that our strength in content and innovation only matters
because we know how to bring them together i a way that works
best for customers We have built Sky as the leadmg brand in

our sector with a proven ability to stretch into new parts of the
market to deliver the products and services that best address
customers’ needs

tn the UK mare than one-third of households believa Skyis the
brand best placed to bnng together their entertainment and
communications needs - far ahead of any other compary And in [taly
Sky 1s rated as the second-strongest brand in media and technoelogy
second only to Apple

The strength of our brand combined with the scale and sophistication
of our go-to-market operation enables Sky to prowide the products
that best address customers’ needs It also ensures we support them
with best-in-class customer service

We have continued to raise the barin the quality of our service in the
past 12 months

In the UX and Ireland we have been roling out our Digital First
programme with the aim of putting cur digital channels at the
front Iine of customer service delivery Our ambition is very clear
- for the majonty of customer iInteractions to be conducted via
our digital channels We betieve the potential 1s significant we wall
grow customer satisfaction to even higher levels while further
reducmg operating costs as a percentage of sales Ourintentign
15 to roll out the programme across Germany and Italy in time

How we do business

Of course the success of Sky 1s based not simply on the results we
dehver over one year but onr our sustained performance over ime
We know that to build a business that is durable for the long term
115 not just what we achieve as a business but how we go about

it that matters This is at the heart of our Beheve inbetter ethos
our commitment to constant improvement in all that we do

08 Skypic
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A responsible business

Our ability to provide the best products and services for customers
1s underpinned by @ commitment Lo act responsibly The millions
of customers acress Europe that choose Sky for their home
entertanment and communications have high expectations

of us and ¢t 15 our job to mantain thew trust in the decisions

we take day to day This means, for example ensunng we work
hard to keep the information customers share with us safe and
secure, developing easy to use energy-efficient products for
our customers and strengthening our work with supphers on
our ervirenmental and social standards including human nghts
(1 For mare about our commetments pages 71-73

Creating a wwder impact

As a successful company, we also have the opportunity to use

our position as Europe s leading entertainment comparny to make

a positive impact on sgaiety 1t's something we Know our customers
value and an important part of ensuring our business is successful
far the long term

Across Sky, we've chosen to focus on supporting young people
We beliava passionately that businesses need to step up and
work alongside schools and ¢olleges to help prepare young
people for a successful future Gven the power of our brand
1ts an area in which we believe we can make a real difference

Strategx raport

Sky Academy inthe UK and iretand uses the powerof TV sport
and creativity to help young pecople build skills and experience
with the aim of reaching one miliion young people by 2020

In the autumn, we opened the newest Sky Academy initiative

Sky Academy Careers Lab based onthe Sky campus in west
London This gives 16-19 year olds the chance to take partn
practical workplace challenges in order to learn about careers in
media business and technology Since launch in November 2013
231000 young peaple have participated in Sky Academy initiatives

In Italy, our Sky TG24 for Schools imtiative allows secondary schoo!
students to see behind the scenes and develop a cnitical analysis
of the news by making their own TV news programme In the past
12 months, we expanded it from 20 dasses in Rome to more than
310 classes nationwide

Meanwhile in Germany we helped over 5,000 young people during
the year through our Sky Foundaton This partaars chanty projects
to encourage young people partiodarly those who are disabled or
are from disadvantaged backgrounds to pursue mare active and
healthy Ifestyles

People
OF course central to any high-performing argamisation are hard
working people who share a commen set of values and aclear sense
of purpose Aswe bnng together three businesses tocreatea
new Sky capable of succeeding across five terntones we start
from a position of strength Right across the group we are fortunate
to have a talented and diverse workforce committed to puling
together Lo create a better business for all Qur sutcess comes
from ther wilktngness to embrace change and to work together
to achieve continual improvement Jwould Iike 1o thank each and
every one of them for the contnbution they have made ko our
success inthe past 12 months

Far more about dreersity and our peaple pages 71=72

Qutlook

Nine months after completing the transaction, we feel good about
the prospects for the new Sky We are delwernng strong levels

of growth across the group as customers respond positively to
our products and services Our financial performance 1s strong
and overall we are well pesitioned for the substantial growth
opportunity ahead to the benefit of our customers our people
and our shareholders

Jererny Darroch
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Stratege repoft

Our marketplace

Expanded opportunity for growth

Sky has an addressable market We have a significant headroom
of 98 million householkds across for growth with
Germany, Austna, ltaly UK households in our markets yet
and Ireland to take pay TV

We are exploiting adjacent market

opportunities that are opening up as

we extend our leadership In content
There s a significant opportunity and innovation For example, the UK
for upsell of additional groducts with transactional home video market 1s worth
customers each taking an average of (BvAY
per household

UK Germany
Ireland
Austria
ltaly

12 Skypic
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‘ Our performance

Stratagic report

Adjusted revenue

0 £11,283m

w0 £10,776mM
2013 £10,253m

Descripuen

Adjusted revenue inchudes revenue
from Subscription Transactsonal
Whalesale and Syndication
Adverusing and Other revenue

Analyus

Adjusted revenue 1S a key measure
of how the Group 15 delvenng on
IS strategy to grow the busmess.
In 2015 revenue grew by S% with
good growth e both retal and
commertial aperations

i Financial key performance indicators

Adjusted EBITDA

0 £2,030mM

2004 £'|,848m
2013 £1,883m

Description

Adiusted EBITDA s ameasure of the
profit ganerated by the business
exchicing Depreciabion and Amarusation
costs For the purpases of undersianding
the undertying performance of the Group
the measure also excdudes items that
may distort comparability

Analysis

Adpusted EBITDA 13 a key measurg of
profitability In 2015 adjusted EBITDA
increased by 10% on the previous year
83 Group revenue ncreased by 5%
whilst EBIT increased by 18%

| 204 £1,185m
2013 £1,279m

Adjusted operating profit

- £1,400mM

Descnption

Adjusted aperating profit ma measure
of the profit generated by the business
from s revenues and excludes items
that may distort comparabikity from
year Lo year

Analyss

Adusted operating profit /s a key measure
of the undertying business performance

In 2015 Acyusted operating profit inaeased
by 18% on the previous year as the Group
detrered strong revenue growth whilst
controling costs i the business

Adjusted EPS

- D0.0P

2014 57'Ip
w03 B8 Op

Descrnption

Adjusted basic EPS 15 the profit after
tax for the yesr exchiding adjusting
items andd related tax effects dwided
by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares

Analysts

Adpusted basie EPS provides & measure
of shareholder retumn that s comparable
overtume Adjusted EPS was ower year
on year due to the diutve impact

ofthe share placing last fuly 10 fund

the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland

and Skyitaha

. Total shareholder return

1-year CAGR

*  S5-year CAGR

Description

Total shareholder retum (TSR} represents
the change s value of ashare held for a

12 month period to 30 June assuming
that drvidends are rervested 1o purchase
additianal shares at tha clasa price
applcakle o the ex dradend date

The vakie of the share 1s based on the
average share pnce over the thwee months
pror to 30 tune

Analysis

TSR tepresents 8 comparabie measure of
sharehclder retum over time Sky shares.
outperformed the FTSE 100 mdex Sky s TSR
was 139 wilst the FTSE 104 was 0% the
year to June 2015

We have presented the results on an adjusted ike “or bke basis for the full 12-manth panod 1o 30 June 2015 down to operating profit, Comparative figures are translated ata constant

currency of €1 31 £V

Far & reconciliation of statutory to adjusted measures page1t4
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Stratage report

Our performance

(cantinued)

Operational key performance indicators

=21.0m

204 20 OM
o 19 4m

Retall customers

Description

Acustomer s defined 8s a subscriber to
one of our TV packages or standalong
home communcations seraces

Anabyses

Akey element of our strategy s to
continue adding new CUSTtOMmers

In 2015 we added a total of 10 milhon
newcustomers 45% more thanthe
Pror yeal with record growtnin
Germany and the highest organic
growth n the UK for 1 years

Total products

s D3.8mM

o 492m
o 44 5m

Dasenption

Toral praducts 1s defined as the total of
2l pas-for subscnption products taken
by cur custamers across the Sky group
Iathe UK and Izefand this incluges TV
HD Multiscreen Sky Go Extra Broadbandg
Telephany and Ling Rentat initaly this
indudes TV Multmsion Sky Onhine and
paying HD in Germany and Austna this
ndudes TV Second Smartcard Pramuum
HD and Sky Ontine

Analysis

A key element of our strategy s Lo
encourage new customers to take multiple
products when yoining and to sell more
products to existing customers In2015
weadded 4 6 milion products taking our
total subscription products to almost
Sdmilean

Churn

UK &ireland

Germany & Austria

Descnption

Churn represents the number of

total customers dunng the year who
terminated thetr subscnptions net

of former customers who remstated
ther subscnpton (wathun 12 menths of
refmunating their onginal subscrption)
espressed as a percentage of total
average custormrers

Analysis

Churn s a good measure of customer
ioyalty which 1s a key drver of value
for ur business in each markst
churniwas under 10% whch was
signiIficantlylower year on year
ustratng high customer kayalty

Seeing the bigger picture

Social reach

»s 140,100

Our full set of independently assured key performance
ndic 3tors used 10 measure our sustainabvity
performance can be found at sky comibiggerpicture

Dascription

Qur social reach number represents
the number of ypung peaple who have
parucipated wy our seoatintatves
&ross the Group

Analysis

In the UK 2nd Jrefand we have a Larget
1o reach one muthon young people by
2020 through Sky Academy In 2015 our
cumutatrse totals 231000 For the fust
tene i 201415 we have collected data
from our young people imuatves m
Germany and ltaty for an overall socal
reach This rs made up of 127000 for
Sky Academy in tha UK and treland

5 200 for Sky Foundation® in Germany
and 7900 for cur initiatives 1 italy
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Stratepc report

Content

Programming investment

- £4.886m

e £4,662mM
2 £4,339m

Descnption

Content investment rs the amount spent
every year bnnging the very best content to
our customens. This includes imest/hent n
Sy channets, such as Sy 110 the UK and
Iretand amd Sky Uina in italy ft alse mchudes
Investment in partner channels such 85 the
Orscovery Channel or National Geographs.
The amount spent on content wal ncude the
cast of acquinng the nghLs Lo programmes
rmade by others, of Commssioning oginal
programmes surteives.

Analyses

Wa grow our content swestment every veas to
ciferentiate our proposiben and (o gve our
asswomers more of the TV they want towatch
Recently we've iaeased our nvestrment i
securng nghts ta non-TV products suchas
Sky Go Sky Go Extra or Sky Onbne

Programming spend
as % of revenue

s 43%

20u 43%
2013 42%

invesimentin content broadly grows.
nkre vath the rate of revenue growth
over the medium term

Anaiysis

Holding growth in other operating costs
below the rate of revenue growth frees
Up CapaCILy LO Invest an increasing
proporton of revences in the content.
that matters mast to customers

Innovation

Sky Go customers

=10.0m

20 8 0mM
o 7 OM

Descnption
Sky Go customers are those that have
regstered Lo use our mobde TV sefvice

Analysis

InnovaLIon across muttple technologes
enabies the Group Lo expand Intd New
areds develop new revenud streams and
benefit from adjacent sectors tn 2015
two malhon mone customers registered
far Sky Ga acmyas all of our markets

Connected customers

0 9.0m

04 6 8mM
2m 3 3M

Description

A connected customer & one that
has ennnected ther Sky boxtothe
intermet and therefore has axcess
to Sky s on demand services such
as Catch Up TV and box sets.

Analysis

In 2015 we connected afurther two
mithon austomers across the Group
Connected QUSLamers Nave access
toawider range of content and
generaly they wil watch more pay
TV contant, churn less and usa more
of our transacuonal sennces

Carbon intensity

1142 tCO e/Em

1 Independently assured by Delostte LLP

2 Sky Foundation 15 8 separate legal entsty 1ts Board 15 answirable
0 the respectnvg regulalory authontes i Germany

Descnprion
Carbonintensity defined as tonnes of
€O, eq T(CO,& 15 relatwve

to revenue, 1s ane of the key performance
ndicators we use to Measure our
erearonmental performance Our total
gross CO, e emissions inciude all drect
Greanhouse Gas ermissons across all

of our terrtanes and are 128 815 1C0O &
for 2014015

Ahatys:x

In 203415 our carbon intensity s 1a fine
watn that repovted i previous years
nctatg that in 201715 we have reported
across All gur termones We are working
on & set of Group ervironment Largets
for 2005416

For CO,efimtemtary breakdown and
PrOgress aganst Our eMISSIon Largets
pages 71-72
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1 = The Blackhst. Scy Lvng HD SkyUK2 - The Affarr Sky Atlanuc HD Sky UX

3 = The Avengers Sky Movies HD All terntanes 4 « Jesska Enrus HIY Sky Academy
Ambassador Sky UK § - England vs Awatraba 2014 Autumn intermationals

Rugby Umon Sky Sports HD Sky UX & - Gomorrah Sky Atlanuc HD Af territones
¥ - Our people B - Mayweather vs Paguiad Baxing Sky Sports Box Office Siy UK
Sky Sefect Sky Deutschland

Sky pic
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Strategk rEport

UK & Ireland

Customers Net customer growth
120m  +506k
Products Net product growth

38.0m +3.3m

Sky delivered an exceptional year’s
performance in the UK and Ireland as
investments In content and connected
services delivered growth across all
areas of the business

Qur strategy of segmentng the market using the comptementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest organic
customer growth in 1] years with 506 000 net new customer
additions over the year This was almost 50% more than the pnor
vear and took our customer base past the 12-milion milestone

At the same time we added 3 3 milhon new paid-for subscription
products taking us past 38 million products This reflects strong
demand across the board with accelerated growthinboth TV
and broadband

Increased customer satisfaction resulting from the growth of
connected TV services delivered a 110 basis-point reductton in
12-manth roling churn to 9 8% our best performance n 11 years

1 - Alex Crawford Sky Nows HD Sky UX 2 - Enfueld Haunting, Sky Lvang WD Sky UK

3 -Lewrt Hamdtan wanming at Abu Bhabs to become 2014 Formula One Workd Champion,

Sky Sports F1 Sky UK. Sky Sport F1 HO Sky Deutschiand and Sky [taha 4 - Parlonson Masterdass
Sky Arts HD Sky UK 3 = England vs Canada Wormen s Rugty World CupFinal 2014 $ky Soorts, Skhy UK
6 « 2014 Ryder Cup Soy Sports Ryder Cup Sky UK Sky Sport HD Sky Devtschiand and Sky tata
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Content

Much of our success in 2015 can be attnbuted to ancutstanding
year on screen We increased the quabty and range of programming
across our portfolio making particular progress in our strategy

to increase the volume and quality of our home-grown content

In entertainment, we launched Fortitude In January our first onginal
drama to premuer simultaneously across all of our territories
Reaching a total audience of 37 millon in the UK across the senes

1t was Sky Atlantic s most successfu! original drama to date and

the second most successful show ever to air on the channel

Elsewhere in the portfolio we launched a new Sky Arts on demand
service as part of a major refresh of our arts offering With over
1,000 hours of dedicated arts programming including programmes
commussioned and acquired exclusively for on demand the

new service underlines Sky s long-term commitment to the

arts Sky Arts will also benefit from new programming produced

1n a new Arts Production Hub to be based in Milan

Qur partnerships with some of the world's leading content
producers continue to pay dmidends The fifth senes of HBO
hit Game of Thrones was avarlable to view by Sky and NOW TV
customers at the same time as the US, with the finale achieving

—— -arecord audignce of 31 million This makes it the most-watched.. . -

Sky entertamment programme ever in Sky homes

In movies, the strength of the partnerships we enyoy with the major
Hollywood studios helped us continue to improve the offenng for
customers Overall consumption of movies was up 10% on the pnor
year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering
On demand downloads surpassed 500 million as customers chose
from a library of more than 1,000 movies

Stratagc report

In sport, we had a strong year on screen achieving record
performances acrass a range of different sports For the second
season runnmg, Sky showed 49 of the top 50 most watched Premier
League matches An exciting end to the Fl season delivered tve ——
race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for F1on

Sky Sports Meanwhile the World Darts Championship attracted a
peak audience of 1 7 mdhon for the final in January the biggest-ever
audience for darts on Sky

Additionally we secured a number of key nghts deals in the year
to ensure Sky Sports remains the number one chaice for sports
fans This included a significant winin the Premier League s tender
process in February giving us the rights to 126 lve Premuer League
matches a season from 2016417 to 2018/19 This s three times as
many live matches as any other broadcaster including the best
match picks and the most-watched slots in the schedule

Skypk 19
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SUBLADE repoit

UK & Ireland

(continued)

Innovation

One of our priorities for 2015 was to use our leadership ininnovation
to step change the viewing expenence for customers and make i,
even easier for them to access our content hawever and whenever
theywantt

n the home we extended our lead as the UK's biggest connected
box platform connecting mora than one miflion custemars over the
year to take gur connected base past seven million

With over 60% of all TV households now connected on demand
usage has eonunued to grow as customers embrace the greater

-choice and flexibiity it offers Total on demand downloads- -o—-—
surpassed 15 billion in the year up 60% year on year

QOur investment in Sky Box Sets proved partucularly poputar with

the service, delvering viewing equivalent to our fourth most popular
Sky channel in 2015 We've also expanded our on demand hbrary
clsewhere including an increase n our dedicated kids programming
from 700 to 4 000 episodes

The growing penetration of connected devices 1s enabling us to
exploit new ravenue opportunities Sky Store Buy & Keep, our entry
into the mowvie purchase sector, helped drive a 77% increase in Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality in 2015
to enable customers to access their movie collection from thewr
mobile device This means that customers can buy amowvie from
Sky and watch it at home 1in therr siting room or enjoy it when
they are out and about

This was Just one development that helped us cement our posItion
as Europe’s biggest mobile TV provider The number of Sky Go
registered households in the UK and Ireland passed six million in
the year Meanwhile, Sky Go Extra our paid-for mobide service which
offers the ability to watch on more devices and download content
to watch offline became Sky s fastest-growing product ever

1= Sky Box Sets Sky UL 2 = Now TV Entertainment Pass Sky UK 3 « Sky AdSmart, Sky LK
4 - SkyService app Sky UX'5 = Skty Hub wirgless broadband reuter SkyUK
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Strategic report,
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2015 also saw us make great progress with our OTT streamng
service NOW TV, helping us to extend our reach into F

reeview homes Sales of sports passes almost trebled to close to 15
rmillion during the year thanks to a rebrand and the introduction of a
new sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers love the service
mere than ane-third of NOW TV customers buy more than one
pass every month while the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customer watches over five hours perweek In addition the growth
in NOW TV 1s not cannibahising the Sky customer base with more
than S0% of all customers having never considered Sky before
sigrang up

DIPLLIBAOD)

Customer

In a fast-moving market with an ever-greater choice of products and
providers we believe that our capabiity in service delivery gives us
a competitive advantage We have continued to raise the bar in this
area In 2015

Qur main facus has been on simplifying the customer expenence
Central to thisis our Digital First programme which we have been
rolling out across the UK and Ireland During the course of 2015 we
reduced the number of mbound cal's to our service centres by 1%

as record numbers of customers interacted with us via our service
app through our automated voice service or via the set-top box

At the same time we closed the year with our customer satisfaction
scores at all-tme hughs This was reflected inthe latest Ofcom
survey which showed Sky leading the market on customer
satisfaction with the fewest complaints across our product set

SUDWINEIS |BILRLh Y

The capability we have developed in service delivery alsp enables

us to bring new products to market quickly and at scale in January
we announced plans to add mobile voice and data services to

our customer offering N 2016 following the canclusion of a new
partnership with Telefonica UK Bulding on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadershep in innovation and customer service we will
launch a range of exciting new services that will enable us to exploit
new opportunities for growth

Qur customer-led approach means we take our responsibilities
senously For example, this year, we tock an important next step
to protect our customers online with adjustments to our award-
winning online filtering tool Sky Broadband Shield We now make
sure the default setting 1s on unless customers choose otherwise
We ve contacted every one of our broadband customers to explain
the benefits and to ighhght ther options

UOIRWOJUN IDPIOYaSeYS
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Strategic report.

Germany & Austria

Customers Nat customer growth
4.3m +467k
Products Net product growth

/7m +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austna, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to rising demand for our products
and services

Over the 12-month period we added 467000 customers to take
the base past four milion

At the same time pawd-for product growth totalled almost one

mitlion, more than 50% higher than the previous year thanksto- .

strong growth nHD

Conunued take-up of two-year contracts helped drive churn down
to a record full-year low of 8 6% a full 1BO basis points lower than
the pnor year

1-Star Wars Episcde IV Sky Movies Star Wars HD Sky UK Sky Star wars HD Sky
Deutschiand Sky Cmnema Star Wars HO Sky lata 2 - Game of Thrones Tatk Sky Atlanug HO
Sky Deutschland 3 - Sky90 Sky Bundeshga HB1 Sky Déutschiand 4 « Sky Onkng bax and
remote Sky Deutschland 8 - Buntlicktgut Sky Foundation Sky Deu*schiznd

Content I

In entertainment we made important progress towards extending
the range and quality of content on offer to customers in Germany
and Austria with our first move into original content production
Scandinavtan crime drama 100 Code a co-production wath Red
Arrow premiered in March attracting a total of 18 mullion views
across the senes Filming also started on a police cnme thnller
senes, Babylon Berln, to air inthe coming year

In addition 2015 was a big year for acquired content with Sky
customers enjoyng more season premieres than ever before from
some of the world s best content producers Thus included the
fifth series of The Walking Dead and the final senes of True Blood

Our partnership with HBO delivared the excluswe launch of the fifth
senes of Game of Threnes on Sky Thrones HD Europe s first channel
dedicated to asingle senes This seta new record for a show on

Sky in Germany and Austna with 54 milkon views across the series
Reflecting the growing demand for flexibility of viewing, Game of
Thrones seres 5 was also the most successful senes to date on

Sky Go

In movies Chnstmas came early For Sky customers and Fans

of Stor Wars when Sky Hits was re-brandad Sky Star Wars HD

in December, showing all six Star Wars films around the dock
This rore than doubled the viewership versus the prioryear
with more than threa milhon people tuning in over the two weeks
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In sport, our Bundesliga coverage delivered a new ratings record in
2015 with more than six milhon views to the live action over a single
weekend at the end of February We also achieved a new record in
terms of share of viewing with the Saturday afternoon match on
23 May winning more than 14% of ali TV viewang

Meanwhile we secured a new three-year deal for the exclusive lve
breadcasting rights For all matches involving German and Austran
teams in the UEFA Europa League starting from the 2015/16 season
We also broadened our offering with the rights to the IHF Handball
World Championship 2015 This brought 28 games exclusively live

to Sky subsenbers including all German and Austnan national

tearn matches

Innovation

Building on the success of our connected TV strategy in the UK
we started to connect the first German and Austnan satellite
customers’ boxes to the internet in December It's early days but
almost 250 000 set-top boxes had already been connected in the
first s1x months to the end of June opentng up access to a much
ncher entertainment experience for customers

SLrATRRIC rEport

Qut of the home we extended our lead as the number cne provider
For mobile TV by launching Sky Go on Andrond devices in December
We also continued to build out the range of content available
inciuding the addition of a brand-new lifestyle section with 100
new prograrmmes each month from partner channels

We extended our reach into the pay Iight segment of the market
with the December launch of our Sky Onling service Using a
streanung box based on the same technology that has been

so popular in the UK Sky Online offers customers a choice of
two packages as well as a Supersport Day Ticket for those with
either one of these packages This provides customerswitha
flexible user-fnendly and affordable way of accessing Skys
premium content

Customer

We have made progress in building our customer service capability
over the year This has been recognised with a number of awards,
including leader 1n the entertainment sector in the TOP SERVICE
Deutschiand 2015 competition

The importance we place on giving customers the best experience
from Sky extends to providing parents with easy-to-use tools to
help protect thewr Family from unsuitable content Alongs:de PIN

—protection we provide a dedicated Kids-Zone on Sky Gowhichis - -
safe and secure
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Stratepc raport

ltaly

Customers Net customer growth
4 - : ' I l -
Products Net product growth

3.6mM +387k

Sky in Italy held its customer base stable
after three years of negative growth, a great
achievement given a challenging economic
enviranment

We ended the year with 4 7 mifhon customers while pad-for products
increased by 387000 to 8 6 mition thanks to geed growth n HD

In commaon with our other markets, we delivered a significant

reduction :n churmn in the year The 12-month roling churn figure was

S 6% adechne of more than four percentage pPOINTS IN two years Asin
~ the UK, much of this improvement can be attributed to'thenisé inthe”

connected base and the resultant increase i customer satisfaction

Content

In entertainment, we continued to differentiate ourselves from
the competition in ltaly by imvesting on screen to gve customers
an increasing range of hugh quality and distinctive programming

much of the focus 10 2015 went towards building the momentum
we've established in onginal praduction Crime drama Gemorroh

was sold to more than 100 countries and we commissicned a second
series to air n 2016 Meanwhile political seres 1992 became the
second Sky drama after Fortitude to prenmere simultaneously across
all five terntones 7992 achigved the biggest-ever audience for
anonginal scripted senes in Italy at launch in the spring

Thare's more tolook forward toin the coming year with the
announcermnent of The Young Pope, a major new co-production
between Sky HBO and Canal+ Directed by Academy Award-wanning
Paclo Sorrentino, the eight-part drama features Jude Law in the
starnng role and will launch across all our markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans for a new Sky Arts
Production Hub to be based in Milan Part of a major commutment to
the arts across the group the Production Hub wili act as a centre of
excellence producing a slate of outstanding arts programming fos

customers across all Sky terntones i addition to locally
commissioned content itwil also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Eisewhere our general entertamment channel, Sky Uno bulton
its reputation as the exclusive home of mamnstream franchises
The latest senes of X Factor itale and MasterChef itaha delvered

a significant increase inratngs of more than 30% and 20%
respectively year on year, while the successful launch of ftela s Got
Talent made it the top-rated entertainment show debut on the
platform ever

We are monetiSing our investment tn content more broadly through
the expansion of our free-to-air offering on Bigital Terrestnal
Television (OTT) In 2015, we launched news channel Sky TG24

on free-to-air joining Cielo our general entertanment channel
which grew viewing 10% year on year

In sport, we further strengthened our domestic football offering by
secunng the exclusive nights to all 472 matches in Serie 8 football
for the next three seasons We also won the exclusive nghts to the
2016 European Qualifiers and the 2018 World Cup Qualfiers Added
to our nghts far all Seng A matches, with one-third exclusive and all
Europa League matches, this confirms Sky italia as the number one
choice for football Fans

Away from football we continued to extend the breadth of our
offenng with the excluswe nghts to the EuroBasket 2015
rournament and the Rugby World Cupin 2015

On screen motorsports performed particularly strongly MotoGP
and Formula 1 grew their ratings by 30% and 24% respectively year
on year in a season th which Itahan teams and drivers regained thair
competitiveness

1 = MasterChef ltaha SkyUno HD Skyltaha 2 - TG24 for schools Sky taka 3 = Juventus vs Roma Sere A
Sky Sport HD Sky 1taka 4 « Sky Calews Show Sky Sport HD Sky itaha 5 - My Sky HO box Suy ltala
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Strategic report

Innovation

We undertined our position of leadership i innovation in Italy with
a senes of important new launches designed to make it easier
to access and consurne content

In the home, we drove a 51% increase mn connected boxes to end
the year wath more than one-third of all customers connected to
the internet This growing penetration of connected devices fuelled
an explosion in on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the prevtous year

Out of the home registered households to Sky Goincreased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go s particularly valued
by sports fans attracting an average of more than halfa milhon
streams at weekends

We opened up new headroom for growth in April with the launch
of anew IPTV service i partnership with Telecom Itaha The new
service uses the First Sky PVR to woerk via satellite and IPTV
streaming to offer our full content ine-up over broadband for
the first time This broadens our reach and gives us access to the
many itakian households who are unatie to install a satetite dish

The partnership with Telecom itaka s a key component to the
broadly-based growth strategy that also saw the launch of a new

Sky Qnling baox in May-The new box s based on the same technology
as the NOW TV box in the UK, and Sky Onhine box in Germany and
enables us to tap Into a new segment of the market

Customer

Asinour other territortes we know that our success comes from
a focus on customers and a mindset of embracing change in order
to provide customaers with the best-possible experience from Sky

We sought to strengthen our relationship with ltahan customers
by ncreasing the rewards for loyalty From Apnl we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have beenwith Sky for mere than a year
We also sought to increase customer engagement by upgrading
our customer reward programme with a series of new imitiatives
and bencfits

In order to give parents more control over the type of content ther
children watch we introduced Parental Control Activated through
a remote device i£15 available to all Sky customers m italy

Alongside this we have continued our focus to improve the quahty
and flexibility of our customer service by moving rnore of our
customer interactions online We reduced our calls per customer
by 12% over the year with downtoads to our seif-service mobile
app surpassmg 1 5 rmullion by year-end
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1 - The Blackhst, Sky Lrang KD Sky UK 2 = The Affarr Sky Atlant:c MD Sky UK

3 - The Avengers Sky Movies HD Allterntones 4 - Jesuca Eans-HAL Sky Academy
Ambassanor Sky UK 5 - England vs Austraba, 2014 Autuma Intemauonals,

Rugty Union Sky Sports HD Sky UK 6 - Gomaorrah Sky Atanuc HD All tarntones
7 - Qur people B - Mayweather vs Pacquiaa Boxing Sky Sperts Box Office SkyUK
Sky Select Sky Deutschland
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Strategc report

UK & Ireland

Customers Net customer growth

120m  +506k

Products Net product growth

380m  +3.3m

Sky delivered an exceptional year's
performance in the UK and Ireland as
investments in content and connected
services delvered growth across all
areas of the business

Qur strategy of segmentng the market using the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest organic
customer growth in 1 years with 506 000 net new customer
additions over the year This was almost 50% mere than the pnor

T year and took our customer base past the 12-million milestone

AL the same time we added 3 3 millon new paid-for subscription
products, taking us past 38 million products This reflects strong
demand across the board, with accelerated growth in both TV
and broadband

Increased customer satisfaction resultng from the growth of
connected TV services delivered a 10 basis-point reduction in
12-month rolling churn to 9 8%, our best performance in 11 years

1 - Algx Crawford Sky News HD Sky UK 2 - Enfuld Hauntng Sky Lanng HD Sky UK

3 -Lews Hamiton wanreng at Abu Dhatx Lo become 2014 Formmwta One World Chamgion

Sky Sports F1 Sky UK Sky Sport Fi HD Sky Ceutschiand and Sky itaha 4 - Parkinson Masterdass
Sky Arts HO Sky UK § = England v Canada Wormen s Rugley Workd Cup Final 2014 Sky Sports Sky UK
© - 2014 Rytter Cup Sky Sports Ryder Cup, Sky UK Sky Sport HD Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaka
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Krategs report

Content

Much of our success in 2015 can be attributed to an cutstanding
year on screen We increased the quality and range of programming
across our portfolio making particular progress in our strategy

to tnerease the volume and quality of our home-grown content

In entertainment we launched Fortritude in January, our frst onginal
drama to premer simultaneously across all of our terntories

Reaching atotal audience of 37 million inthe UK across the senes
It was Sky Attantic s most successful onginal drama to date and

the second most successfil show ever to air on the channel

Elsewhere in the portfolio we launched a new Sky Arts on demand
service as part of a major refresh of our arts offering With over
1000 hours of dedicated arts programmung (ncluding programmes
commssioned and acquired exdusvely for on demand, the

new service underhnes Sky's long-term commrtment to the

arts Sky Arts wili also benefit from naw programming produced

n a new Arts Production Hub to be based in Milan

Qur partnerships with some of the world s leading content

praducers continue to pay dwdends The fifth senes of HBO in sport, we had a strong year on screen achieving record

hit Game of Thrones was avaslable to view by Sky and NOW TV performances across a range of different sports For the second
customers at the same time as the US with the finale achiewng season running Sky showed 49 of the top 50 most watched Premier
arecord audience of 31 million This makes it the most-watched _ League matches_An exciting end tothe Fl season deliverediive
Sky entertainment programme ever tn Sky homes race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for Fion

In movies the strength of the partnerships we enjoywith the major <Y Sports Meanwhile the World Darts Championship attracted a
Hollywood studics helped Us continue to improve the offering for peak audience of 17 milhon for the finalin January, the biggest-ever
customers Overall consumption of movies was up 10% on the prior audience for darts on Sky

year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering Additionally we secured a number of key rnights deals tn the year
On demand downloads surpassed 500 million as customers chose  to ensure Sky Sports remains the number one choice for sports
from a library of more than 1000 movies fans This included a significant winin the Prermer League s tender

process inFebruary giving us the rights to 126 live Premier League
matches a season fram 201617 to 2018/19 This s three imes as
many hive matches as any other broadcaster including the best
match picks and the most-watched slots in the schedule
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Strategic report

UK & freland

(continued)

Innovation

One of our prionties for 2015 was to use our leadership in INnovation
to step change the viewing experience for customers and make it
even easier for them to access our content however and whenever
theywant it

In the home, we extended our tead as the UK s biggest connected
box platform connecting more than one mullion customers over the
year to take our connected base past seven mithon

With over 60% of ali TV households now connected on demand
usage has continued to grow as customers embrace the greater
- ——choice and flexiility 1t offers Total on demand downloads

surpassed 15 billion in the year up 60% year on year

Curinvestmeant in Sky Box Sets proved particularly popular with

the service, delivering viewing equivalent to our fourth most popular
Sky channel in 2015 We ve also expanded our on demand hbrary
elsewhere including an mcrease in our dedicated kids programming
from 700 to 4 000 eprsodes

The growing penetration of connected devices rs enabling us to
exploit new revenue opportunities Sky Store Buy & Keep our entry
into the movie purchase sector helped drive a 77% increase in Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality in 2015
to enable customers to access ther mowvie collection from their
maobile device This means that customers can buy a mowie from
Sky and watch it at home in ther situng room or enjoy it when
they are out and about

This was just one development that helped us cement our position
as Europe s biggest mobule TV provider The number of Sky Go
registered households in the UK and Ireland passed six multion in
the year Meanwhile Sky Go Extra our paid-for mobite service which
offers the abiity to watch on more devices and download content
towatch offline became Sky's fastest-growing product ever

1 - 5ky Box Sets Sky UK 2 - How TV Entertainment Pats Sky UK 3 - Sky AdSmart Sky UK
4 -Sky Service app Sky UK 5 - SkyHub wireless broadband router Sky UK
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Strateqc report

2015 also saw us make great progress with our QTT streaming
service NOW TV helping us to extend our reach into Freeview
homes Sales of sports passes almest trebled to close to15million
during the year thanks to a rebrand and the intreduction of a new
sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers love the service
mare than one-third of NOW TV customers buy more than one
pass every month while the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customer watches over five hours per week In addition, the growth
n NOW TV 1s not cannibahsing the Sky customer base with more
than 90% of all customers having never considered Sky before
SIENINE Up

Customer

In a fast-moving market with an ever-greater choice of products and
providers we bebeve that our capability in service delivery gives us
a competitive advantage We have continued toraise the barinthis
areain 2015

Our main focus has been on simphfying the customer expenence
Central to this s our Digital First programme which we have been
rolling out across the U<and lreland Duning the course of 2015, we
reduced the number of nbound calls to our service centres by 11%

as record numbers of customers nteractedWwithUs viaour service™
app through our automated voice service orvia the set-top box

At the same time we closed the year with our customer satisfaction
scores at all-time hughs This was reflected in the latest Ofcom
survey which showed Sky leading the market on customer
satisfaction with the fewest complaints across our product set

The capablity we have developed in service delivery also enables

us to bring new products to market quickly and at scale In January
we announced plans to add mobile voice and data services to

our customer offering in 2016 following the conclusion of a new
partnership with Teleforuca UK Bulding on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadership in innovation and customer service we will
launch a range of exaiting new services that will enable us to explot
new opportunities for growth

Our customer-led approach means we take our responsiilities
seriously For example this year, we took an important next step
to protect our customers onhne with adjustments to our award-
winming onhne filtering tool, Sky Broadband Shield We now make
sure the default seting 1s on unless customers choose otherwise
We've contacted every one of our broadband customers to explam
the benefits and to hughlight therr options
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Germany & Austria

Customers Net customer growth
4.3m +467k
Products Net product growth

71m +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austria, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to nsing demand for our products
and services

Ower the 12-month penod we added 457000 customers to Lake
the base past four million

At the same time paid-for product growth totalled almost one
.milion, more than 50% highar than the previous year_thanks to

Content

In entertasnment, we made impartant progress towards extending
the range and quahty of content on offer to customers in Germany
and Austria with our first move into orginal content production
Scandinavian crime drama 100 Code a co-production with Red
Arrow premiered In March, attracting a total of 1 8 million views
across the series Filming also started on a police cnme thaller
senes, Babylon Berlin to air n the caming year

Imaddition 2015 was a big year for acquired content with Sky
cusTOMers enjoying more season premieras than ever before from
some of the world s best content producers This included the
fifth senes of The Walking Dead and the Final senes of True Blood

Qur partnership with H80 delivered the exclusive launch of the fifth
senes of Game of Throneson Sky Thrones HD Europe s first channel
dedicated to a single senes This set a new record for a show on

Sky in Germany and Austria with 5 4 milion views across the series
Reflecting the growing dernand for flexibiity of viewing, Game of
Thrones senes S was alsothe most successful senes to date on

Sky Go

In movies Christmas came early for Sky customers and Fans
of Star Warswhen Sky Hits was re-branded Sky Star Wars HD
in Decembeer, showing all six Star Wars Films around the clock

strong growth n HD

Continued take-up of two-year contracts helped dnve churn down
to a record full-year low of 8 6% a Rull 180 basis pomnts lower than
the prior year

1-Star Wars Episode IV Sky Movies Star Wars HD Sky UK Sky Star Wars HD Sky

Deutschiand Sky Gnema Star Wars HD Sky (taha 2 - Game of Thrones Tatk Sky Atlant HD

Sky Deutsciand 3 - Sky90 Sky Bundeshga HD1 Sky Dectschiand 4 - Sky Online bos and
remote Sky Deutschiand § = Buntkektgut Sky Foundation Say Deutserland

This more than doubled the wewership versus the prior year
with more than three millon peopte tuning in over the two weeks
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In sport our Bundesliga coverage delivered a new raungs record in
2015 with more than six mithon views to the ive action over a single
weekend at the end of February We also achueved a new record in
terms of share of viewing with the Saturday afternocon match on
23 May winning more than 14% of all TV viewing

Meanwhile, we secured a new three-year deal for the exclusive live
broadcasting nghts for all matches invohing German and Austnan
teams in the UEFA Europa League, starting from the 201516 season
We also broadened our offering with the nights to the IHF Handball
World Championship 2015 Thus brought 28 games exclusively Ive

to Sky subscribers mduding all German and Austrnan national

team matches

Innovation

Bullding on the success of bur connected TV strategy in the UK,
we started to connect the first German and Austnan satellite
customers’ boxes to the internet in December It's early days but
almost 250,000 set-top boxes had already been connected in the
first six months to the end of June opering up access to a much
ncher entertanment experience for customers

Strategic report

Jiedauimens

Out of the home we extended our lead as the number one provider
for mobile TV by launching Sky Go on Android devices in December
We also continued to build out the range of content available
including the addition of a brand-new ifestyle section wath 100
new programmes each month from partner channels

We extended our reach into the pay light segment of the market
with the December launch of our Sky Online service Usinga
streaming box based on the same technology that has been

so popularin the UK Sky Online offers customers a choice of
two packages as well a5 a Superspart Day Ticket, for those with
either one of these packages This provides customers with a
Flexable user-Friendly and affordable way of accessing Sky s
premiuum centent

Customer

We have made progress in butlding our customer service capabity
over the year Thrs has been recognised with a number of awards,
inchuding leader in the entertainment sector th the TOP SERVICE
Deutschland 2015 competition

The mportance we place on giving customers the best experience
from Sky extends to providing parents with easy-to-use tools to
help protect their family from unsuitable content Alongside PIN

SIUMLRLS [POUSUS

protection, we provide a dedicated Kids Zone on Sky Go which is———
safe and secure
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Italy

Customers Neat customer growth
Products Net product growth

8.6m +387k

Sky in Italy held its customer base stable
after three years of negative growth, a great
achievement given a challenging economic
environment

We ended the year with 4 7 mithon customers, while paid-for products
increased by 387000 to B 6 millon thanks to good growth in HO

In common with our other markets, we delivered a significant
reductonin churn in the year The 12-monthrolling churn figure was
96% adedine of more than four percentage points in two years Asin

u
customers across all Sky terntones in addition to localty
commissioned content it will also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Elsewhere our general entertainment channel, Sky Uno bulton
1ts reputation as the exclusive home of mainstream franchises
The iatest series of X Factor Italia and MasterChef itahe delivered

a significant. Increase in ratings of more than 30% and 20%
respectively year onyear, while the successful launch of ltala s Got
Talent made 1t the top-rated entertainment show debut onthe
platform ever

We are monetising our iInvestment in content more broadly through
the expansion of our free-to-air offenng on Digital Terrestrial
Telewision (DTT) In 2015, we launched news channe! Sky TG24

on free-to-air joining Cielo our general entertainment channel
which grew viewing 10% year on year

connected base and the resultant increase in customer satisfaction

Content

in entertainment, we continued to differentiate ourselves from
the competitionin ltaly by investing on screen Lo gve customers
anmncreasing range of ligh quality and distinctive programming

Much of the focus 1n 2015 went towards building the momentum
weve established in onginal production Cnime drama Gomorrah

was sold to more than 100 countnes and we commussioned a second
senes to ar in 2016 Meanwhile political seres 1992became the
second Sky drama after Fortitude to prermiere simultaneoustly across
all five territones 1992 achieved the rggest-ever audience for
anonginal scnpted series in italy atlaunch in the spnng

Theres more to look forward to1n the comuing year with the
announcement of The Young Pope a major new co-production
betwean Sky HBO and Canal+ Directed by Academy Award-winning
Paolo Sorrentine the eight-part drama features Jude Lawin the
starnng role and will launch across all our markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans for a2 new Sky Arts
Preduction Hub to be based in Milan Part of a major commitment to
the arts across the group, the Production Hub will act as a centre of
excellence producing a slate of outstanding arts programming for

secunng the exclusive nghts to all 472 matches in Sene B football
far the next three seasons We a'so won the exclusive nghts to the
2016 European Qualifiers and the 2018 World Cup Qualifiers Added
to our nghts for all Sene A matches, with one-third exctusve and all
Europa League matches this confirms Sky ltalia as the number one
chorce for feotball fans

Away from football, we continued to extend the breadth of our
offering with the exclusive nghts to the EuroBasket 2015
tournament and the Rugby World Cupin 2015

On screen motorsports performed particularly strongly MotoGP
and Formula 1 grew their ratings by 30% and 24% respectively year
an year 1n a season In which Italian teams and drivers regained their
competitiveness

1 -MasterChef ltalia Sky Uno HD Sky ltaha 2 - TG24 for schacls Sky Raba 3 - Juventus vs Roma Sene A
Sky Sport HD Sky taka 4 - Sky Calcro Show Sky Sporct HD Sky itaba § - My Sky HD box Sky taha

In sportwe further strengthened our domestic footbali offering by —
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Innovation

wWe underined our positian of leadership i Innovation m 1taly with
a series of important new launches designed to make it easier
to access and consume content

In the home, we drove a 51% increase in connected boxes to end
the year with more than ane-third of all customers connected to
the nternet This growmng penetration of connected devices fuelled
an explosion n on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the previous year

Out of the home, registered households to Sky Go increased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go ts particularly valued
by sports fans attracting an average of more than half a milion
streams at weekends

We opened up new headroom for growth in April with the {aunch
of anew IPTV service in partnershipwith Telecom ltaha The new
service uses the first Sky PVR to work via satellite and IPTV
streaming to offer our full content line-up over broadband for
the first time This broadens our reach and gves us access to the
many italian households who are unable to instal a satelite dish

The partnership with Telecom Itala 1s a key component to the
broadly-based growth strategy that also saw thelaunchof a new

Sky Online box in May The new box 1s based on the'same techinology
as the NOW TV box innthe UK and Sky Online box in Germany and
enables us to tap into a new segrment of the market

Customer

As In our other terntonies, we know that our success comes from
a focus on customers and a mindset of embracing change 1 order
to provide customers with the best-possible experience from Sky

We sought to strengthen our relationship with Italian customers
by mcreasing the rewards for loyalty From April we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have been with Sky for more than a year
We also sought to increase customer engagement by upgrading
aur customer reward programme with a sertes of new initiatives
and benefits

tn order to give parents more control over the type of content their
children watch, we introduced Parental Control Actvated through
a remote device, it)s available to all Sky customers in Italy

Alongside this we have continued our focus to improve the quahty
and flexibihty of our customer service by moving more of our
customer interactions online We reduced our calls per custormner
by 12% over the year with downloads to our self-service mobile
app surpassing 15 millign by year-end
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1 -New England Patrats 2015 NFL champions
Super Bowl Sky Sports HD Sky LK 2 = True Detectve
Sky Atlanue HD Allicerncones 3 - Sky Frauenlauf
Sky Foundation Sky Deutschland 4 -Sky Go

Al terntones 5 - Stand Up Be Counzed,

Election 2015 Sky News wvbatmve Sky UK

§ - Serend Wiiams LS Open 2(N4 champon
Sky Sports HD Sky UK 7 = Sky Sports Lvng for
Sport Awards Sky Acadermy Sky UK 8= Sky Ride
Sky UK 2 - Sky Academy Skdis Stuckos Sky UK
10 - A League of Thew Own Sy 1 HD Sky UK
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Financial review

We achieved an excellent year of growth
across the group Ourinvestments in

the viewing experience attracted record
numbers of customers to join Sky and drove
loyalty among existing customers to new
highs with churn under 10% in each market
This operational performance translated
Into strong revenue growth and, alongside
our good cost control, this resulted in an
18% increase in operating profit and over

£1 billion of operating free cash flow We also
propose a further 3%1ncrease in the dividend

Andrew Griffith, Group Chief Financial Officer

Adjusted operating profit Adjusted basic EPS
£14bn  56.0p
Dividend

32.8p

Group financial performance

To provide a more representative analysis of ongoing performance
of the Group all commentary down to the operating profit

level for the Group 1s on an adjusted basis as f we had owned
Germany and ttaly for the full year from 1 July The financial results
of Germany and Italy are translated into sterling at a constant
currency rate of €131 £1

Unless ptherwise stated adjusted figures below are from
continumng operatuons and on a recurnng bass excluding 1)

the impact of Sky Bet as this 1s presented as a discontinued
operation, n) set-top-box sales to Italy which are now an intragroup
transaction, and m) ESPN carnage revenue in the UK and Ireland
from FY14 comparatives aswe na longer retail the channel

Numbers below the cperating profit ine for the Group consolidate
Germany and Italy only for the actual period of ownership from
12 November and are on an adjusted basis

Our statutory financial repor ting consohdates Germany and italy
for the period from 12 November 2014 to 30 June 2015 Dunng this
penod Itaty contrbuted revenue of E1297 milhon and operating
profit of £25 millian whila Germany contributed revanue of

£B66 million and an operatng 1oss of £21 million
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Revenue

Wa achieved excellent growth in Group revenues which were up
5% to £11,283 million (2014 £10 776 milhor) Revenuein Germany
was up 9% to E1,377 milllon (2014 E1262 million) whilst reveriue In
the UK was up 6% to £7820 million (2014 £7 358 mithon) Revenues
nitaly rernained resilient at £2 086 mihon (2014 £2140 million)
despite the tough economic backdrop

We have delivered strong rates of growth across all of our main
revenue streams with good consumer demand for our products
and services helping drive subscription revenue up 5% whilst
transactional revenue was our fastest growing area with revenue
up 22% We also achieved good growth in both advertising

(+4%) and wholesale (+5%) revenues highlighting the strength

of our ability to moneguise content

Subscnption revenue growth of 5% was underpinned by excellent
customer growth across the group of almost one million customers
and strong product growth of 4 & rmillion, with the largest propertion
of revenue growth continuing to be delivered through the UK where
revenues were up over E300 million Alongside this, our best year of
customer growth mn Germany drove a 10% increase tn subscription
revenues whilst.n italy we held total customers and revenue flat

Transactonal revenuas increased by 22% to E173 midlion (2014

SUTaGPE report

We defvered good growth in advertising revenues of 4% to

£716 mithon (2014 £690 milkon) with Germany delvering excealtent
growth of 26% through higher sellout rates andincreased inventory
around Bundesliga Advertising revenues in the UK grew strongly, up
5% due to the benefit of incremental AdSmart revenues combined
with Sky Media increasing their share of net advertising revenue by
almost 170 basis pomnts, while advertising revenue was down in ltaly
as we lapped the €27 milhon benefit of the FIFA World Cup revenues
n Q4 last year

Costs

Total Group costs grew by just 3% well below the rate of revenue
growth to £9883 million {2004 £9 53 millkon) as we maintained
ught discipling over our operating cost base while contiauing to
invest where our customers see the greatest value

Programming costs increased 5% i ine with revenue growth as we
increased the depth and breadth of our offering We launched the
exclusive 1TV Encore channel in the UK In June 2014 and expanded
our channel ine-up 1n Germany, as well as having a full-year impact
of the new Sky Atlantic channel in Italy We continue to invest in

a diverse content portfolio with an enhanced box set offenng in
the UK and increased investment on Sky onginated content, with
successes including Fortitude and 1992 The strong growth in

£142 million) as we bencfited from the success of our Buy and
Keep service which surpassed weekly revenue of £1 milonin Q4
and NOW TV transactions which totalled almost 1 5 mitlion over
the past 12 months

Qur content-related revenues also performed well Wholesale and
syndication revenues were up 5% to £550 millien (2014 £524 million}
largely driven by continued growth in the UK where revenues were
up 19% as success on screen led to more Favourable terms for our
channels with wholesale partners Alongside this, revenues were
strong through the distribution of our programmung internationally
and the first time conschidation of Znak&Jones and Love
Productions Inftaly underlying wholesale revenues were broadly
flat year on year (excluding the benefit in the prior year from
Champions League resale revenues), whilst revenues in Germany
were slightly down following the successful migrateon of former
Deutsche Telekom wholesale customers te a retall relationship

tn the prior year

Sky Store revenues has driven an increase in our transactional
programmung costs

Qur network costs in the UK were up only 3% well below the rate
of home communications revenue growth

Sales General and Administration costs grew by just 1% as the
higher up-front cost of strong subscriber growth in Germany was
offset by efficiencies made across the UK and ltaly as part of their
respective operating efficiency programmes
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Financial review

{continued)

Profits and earnings

Operating profit grew strongly up 18% to £1400 mullicn (2014
E1185 rmillior) as we combined excallent revenue growth with
careful choices within our cost base whilst continuing to invest
n programmung This has driven a 140 basts point expansionin
our operating margin

The share of joint ventures and associates profits was £28 milhon
(2014 £35 milhon) and net finance costs increased by £51 millon
to E200 million (2014 £109 million) due to the interest charge
assocated with an addimonal £5 4 billion of gross debt that we
1ssued during the year

The tax charge of E251 millon (2014 £237 mihon)was at an
effective tax rate of 21%

Profit after tax for the year grow by 6% to £945 million (2014

E892 mullion) resulting in adjusted earnings per share of 56 0 pence
(2014 571 pence) after accounting for the higher number of shares
following our issuance 1n July 2014 Over the year the weighted
average number of shares excluding those he!d by the Employee
Share Qwnership Plan ( ESOPY) for the settlement of employee share
awards was 1 690 millon (2014 1562 milhior) The closing number of
shares excluding the ESOP shares at 30 June 2015 was i 704 million
(2014 1546 milion)

Group cash flow and financial position

Group free cash flow increased year on year by 20% to £1060 milhon
(2014 £885 milhon) while net debt increased to £5 056 millon (2014«
£1212 mullion) as a result of the acquisiion of Sky Deutschland and

Sky {talia in Novemnber 2014 Gross debt as at 30 June 2015 was

£7534 mullion with cash of E2,478 milion The ratio of net debt

to EBITDA at 30 June 2015 was approximately 2 S times Sky has
aninvestment grade credit rabing, being rated B8B by Standard

& Poors and Baa2 by Moody s both with stable outlook

Non-
Cash cash
Mcre- move- Asat 30
As at Lluy ments ments June 2015
2014 £m £m Em Emn
Current borrowings n - 483 494
Nen-current borrowings 2658 5082 (322) 7418
Borrowings-related dervatwve
franoal iInstruments [C:i0)] - (298) (378)
Gross debt 2589 5082 {137} 7534
Cash and cash equivalents (1082) (296) - (1378)
Short-term deposits (295) (805) - Q100)
Net debt 1212 3981 (137) 5056

Balance Sheet
Duning the year total assets increased by £8 909 million to

Adjustng items

Statutory profit for the year includes a gain of over £1 bithon
relating to a £492 millon gain on the disposat of avalable-for-sale
Investments, a £299 milhion gain on the disposal of our stake in
the National Geographic Channel and a profit of £60C mullion on
the sale of a controlling stake in Sky Bet This was partally offset
by operating expenses of £396 million principally compnisingthe
costs of a corporate effictency and restructuring programme
the costs of a programme to replace aged customer equipment,
adwvisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of

Sky Deutschland and Sky italia costs of integrating those
businesses in the enlarged Group and the ongoing amortisation
of acquired intangible assets

Statutory profit after tax was £1332 milkon (2014 £820 mallion)

Following the sale of a controling stake in Sky Bet on 19 March 2015
the results of Sky Bet are now presented as a discontinued operation
The sale resulted in a profit on disposal of E600 rmilion which 1s
ncluded within profit for the year from discontinued operations

For a reconcilaton of SLatutory 1o adjusted numbers paga 144

E15 358 milion at 30 June 2015 Non-current assets increased
by £6923 million to £10 799 mithon pnmarily due to an increase
of £3,141 mullion in goodiwll and an increase of £3 274 mithon 1n
intangible assets largely as a result of the recognition of goodwill
and customer contracts and relationshtups recognised on the
acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha Current assets
ncreased by £1986 mllion to £4 559 milhon at 30 June 205
prncipally due to a £805 milion increase in shart-term deposits
a £461 milhon increase in current trade and other recewvables
and a £301 enillion increase in nventanes Current inventoneas
and trade and other recevables have increased manly due to
the impact of the consohdation of the inventones and trade
and other recevables of Sky Deutschland and Sky ftalia

Total habilities iIncreased by £6 757 million to E12134 million at

30 June 2015 Current liabilitses increased by £1685 mMtionto

£4 204 million, primanty due to a E1,144 millionincrease in trade
and other payables due to the impact of the cansohdation of the
trade and other payables of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltala and a
£483 mullion Increase in current borrowings Non-current babiitias
increased by £5 072 mallion to £7930 million, pnnaipally due to

a £4760 mitron increase in the Group s non-current borrowings
Current and non-current borrowings have increased as a result

of the 1ssue of euro dollar and sterling bonds i the year
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Distributions to Shareholders

The Directors proposed final dvidend of 20 5 pence per share
takes the total dividend payable in respect of the financial year
to 32 B pence per share anincrease of 3% on last year

The proposed dmvidend continues the track record of shareholders
benefiting from our strong financial performance and represents
the 1ith consecutive year-cn-year increase in the dvidend

The ex-dividend date will be 22 Cctober 2015 and, subject

to shareholder approval at the 2015 Annual General Meeting,
the final dvidend of 20 5 pence will be pard on 20 Novermber
2015 to shareholders appearing on the register at the close
of business on 23 October 2015

Post balance sheet events

Purchase of minonty interests in Sky Deutschland

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky initiated the necessary
steps for the transfer of the remaining approximately 4% minority
sharehaldings in Sky Deutschland The requisite shareholder
resolution was subsequentiy approved by 99 4% of shareholders
at an Extraordinary Genera| Meeting of Sky Deutschland on

22 July 2015 and we expect the formal transfer of the minority
shareholdings to be effective in the second quarter of the 201516

Stratage report

financial year
For more detad seenote 33 page 130
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group rigk register is reported formally to the Audit Committee twice
ayear and focused nisk reporting on selected themes occurs on a guarterty
basis Addinonalinformation an the Group s internal control and risk
management processes 1s set.out w the Corporate Governance Report

and the Audit Commttee Report

For Corporate GOvarnance report pages 40-50

Detalled controls and any relevant action plans are prepared for the Audit
Commuttee as part of the formal half-yearly reporting process Additionally
we have established a procedure Lo moniter risks and any changes thereto
across the Group Any ralevant information ansing from such monitonng is
also reported to the Audit Committee

Thus secuon desenibes the current pancipal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group In additton to summarsing the matenal nsks and urcertainties
the table below gives examples of how we mitigate those nsks

The Group has a formal nsk management framework embedded within the
business to support the identification and effectrive management of risk
across the Group

The disans within the Group are each responsibte for managing and
reporung risk in accordance waith the Group s nsk management policy and
standards that have been appraved by the Aucht Commuttee The nsks are
then consolidated into a Group ask register which prondes an overview of
the Group risk profile taking into accouni the broader gecgraphical spread
and larger scale of the Group following the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland
and Skyitaha

Description of nsk

Mugation

Market and competition

The Group aperates th a highly competitive environment and faces
competition from a broad range of orgarmsations Technological
developments also have the ability to create new Forms of quickly
evolving competition

Afailure to develop the Group s product propes:tion in ling with
changing market dynamics and expectations could erode the
Group s competit:ve position

The Group continues te make significant investmaents < innovation

The Group s product developmeant strategic aim s to be at the forefront
of progressive technology

Please see the Innovation section on page 7 of the Group Chief
Executive s Statement for further detads of these praducts

The Group regularly reviews 11s pnong and packaging structures to ensure

Great conktent 15 centfal wo 5Ky s prodUct proposition and iIncreased
competition could impact the Group s ability to acquere content that
our custorners want on commercially attractve termis

Economic conditions have been challenging wn recent years across
the territones inwhich the Group operates and the future remains
uncertamn A significant economic decline in any of those termtories
could impact the Group s abidity to continue 1o atiract and retatn
custamers i that terriary

thatits product propasttion is appropnately placed within themarket . . o _

The Group works clasely with its marketing partners to ensure that the
value of its of fering 15 understood and communicated effectivatly toits
customers

The Group makes significant investmen. n the origination of content
as well as in acgquisiuon from across the warld

Tha Group also works to develop and maintain the brand value associated
with its indmdual channets

3z Skypk







Arnual Report 2015

Stratepc report

Desenpbon of sk

Mitgaton

Regulatory breach and change

The Group 15 subject to regulation pnmandy under Austrian German
Insh italan UK and European Uruon legisiation

The regimes which apply to the Group s business include but are not
himited to

+ Broadcasting - as a provider of audiowisual media services the Group
15 subject to Austnan German Itakan and UK icensing regimes under
the applicable broadcasting and communications legrstation These
abligations include requiregments to comply wath relevant codes and
directions 1ssued by the relevant regulatory authenties includmng
for example in the UK Ofcom's Broadcasting Code Code onthe
Scheduling of Telewision Adverusing and Cross Promotions Code

Techrucal services - as a provider of certamn techmcal services
n the UK and Germany Sky UX and Sky Deutschiand are subject
to regulation in therr respective countries and

Telecommunications - Sky UK s subject 1o the General Conditions
of Entitiement adopted under the Communications Act 2003 (UK)
and the Conditions for the provision of Electromiec Communications
Networks and Services under the Communications Regulation Act
2002 (Ireland) whuch impose detailed requirements on provigers
of communications networks and services

The Group 15 also subject to generally applicable legislation including

The Group s ability to operate or compete effectvely could be adversely
affected by the outcome of investigations or by the introduction of new
laws pohicies ar regulations changes in the interpretation or apphcation
of exisung laws policaes and regulations, or fallure to obtan required
regulatory approvals or licences Please see page 36 of the Regulatory
Matters secton for Further details

The Group manages these risks through active engagemant inthe
regulatory processes that affect the Group s business

The Group actively seeks to dentfy and meet 1ts regulatary obhigations
and to respond to emerging requirements This indudes for example

+ Broadcasting - comphance controls and processes are in place « the
Group's content services Interactionwith the relevant regulatory
authorives is co-ordinated between the relevant kocal Compliance
Regulatary and Legal departments

Technical services - with respect to the provision of certain technical
services in the UK and Germany processes are i phace to momtar
thwrd-party broadcaster access to the relevant broadcast platforms
and to ensure that this is provided on fair reasonable and
non-discnminatory terms

.

Telecommumcations - compliance contrels and processes are in
place in the UK and Ireland overseen by the Customer Comphiance

butnot hited to.competiton {aptitrust) anti-bpibecy consumer  Committee, o manter comphance and performance against the

protection data protection and taxaton

The Group 15 curtently and may bein the future subject to proceedings
and/orinvestigation and enquines from regulatory and antitrust
authonties

Please see page 36 of the Regulatory Matters section for further detals

General Conditions of Entitiement and the Conditions for the prowvision

of Electromc Commurications Networks and Seraces

The Group mainktans appropnate gversight and reporting. supparted
by training to prowide assurance thatitis comphant with regulatory
requirements

Customer service

A significant, part of the Group s business « based on a subscription
model and its future success relies on building long-term relationsheps
with its customers A fallure to meet its customers expectatians with
regards to senace could negatively impact the Group s brand and
competitive position

The Group strives consistently to exceed its Customers expectatians
Lo put 1ts customers first to understand what they want and to be
responsve to what they say

The Group makes sigrificant investments in order Lo deliver continuous
development and smprovement to Its customer service capabilities
ncluding iInvestment in it$ coniact centres acress the UK and ireland
nsourcing of service centres m Germany and implementing ongoing
training and development plans

Tha Group tracks its customer service performance benchmarks
ILS CUStOMEr Service expanance and strives to be best in class

Technology and business mnterruption

The products and services that the Group provides to its customers
are rehant on complex techmcal infrastructure

A failure in the cperation of the Group s key systems or infrastructure
such as the broadcast platform customer management systems

OTT platforms or the telecommunigcations networks on which the Group
relies could cause a failure of service to our customers and negatvely
impact our brand

The Group makes significant mvestment in technalogy infrastructure
to ensure that it continues to support the growth of the business and
has a robust selection and mernstonng process of third-party prowviders

The Groug1s committed to achieve best-in-class business contimuty
standards and makes sigruficant mvestments in the resthence and
rabustness of its business infrastructure

The Group also orgamses regular scenano based group wide business
continuty exercises Lo ensure ongoing readiness of key staff systems
and sites

Sky plc
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Stratapc report

Principal risks and uncertamnties

{continued)

Descnption of nsk

Mitigation

Supply chain

The Group relies on a number of third parties and outsourced supplers
operasng across the globe to supportits supply chain

A sigmificant failure within the supply chan could adversely affect
the Group s akuhity to delver products and service to Its customers

The Group continues to mvest in its supply chain infrastructure to
support its business plan commitments

A robust suppher selection process 1s nplace wath appropnate
ongoing management and momtoring of key partners and supphers

The Group performs regular audits of key supplers and of their
nstallauons and wherever possitle has dual supply capability

Financal

The effective management of its financial exposures s central to
presenving the Group s profitability

The Group s exposed to financial market nsks and may be impacted
negatively by fluctuations in foreign exchange and nterest rates which
create volatility in the Group s results to the extent that they are not
effectively hedged

Any increase 0 the finangal leverage of the Group may lknit the
Group s financial Aexibilicy

The Group may also be affected adversely by bquidity and
counterparty nsks

The Group s finance teams are embedded within the business to provide
support to management and to ensure accurate financial reporting and
tracking of our business performance Reporting on finanoal performance
15 provided on a monthly basis to serior management and the Board

The Group contnually invests m the mprovement of its systems and
processes in order to ensure sound finanaal management and reporting

The Group manages treasury nsk by minimusing nsk to capital and
provding appropnate protecuion aganst foresgn exchange andinterest
rate mavements

Cash investment 1s made in kne with the Group s strict treasury policy
which 1s approved by the Audit Committee and sets imits on deposits
based on counterparty credit ratings No mere than 10% of cash deposits
are held with a single bank counterparty with the exception of aversught
deposits which are invested i 8 spread of AAAF rated bquidity funds

Ml mon-sterling debt 1s swapped at inCeplion Lo ensure appropriate
currency and interest rate protection 15 place and trading currency
nsk 15 hedged up to five years in advance

The Group manages its tax nsk by ensunng that nsks are identified and
understood at an early stage and that effectve comphance and reporbng
processes are in place

‘The Group continues to mamtamn an open and proactwe relatronship
with the regulating tax authentes prmardy HM Revenue & Customs
The Group aims to deal with taxation issues wherever possible as they
ansen order to aved unnecessary cisputes

Security

The Group must protect its customer and corporate data and the
safety of its peaple and infrastructure as well as needing to have
In place fraud prevention and detection measures

The Group s responstble to third-party intelfectual property owners
for the security of the content that it distributes en vanous platforms
(Sky s own and thurd-party platforms)

A significant breach of security could impact the Group s ahdity
to operate and deliver against its business objecuves

The Group takes measures ranging from physical and jogical access
controls to encryptian or equivalent technologles raising employee
awareness and monitoning of key partners to manage s security risks

The Group conunues to nvest In new technological controls and

n improving broader business process and werks closety with law
enfarcement agencies and policy makers in order to protect its
assets and to comply withits contractual obhgations to third parties
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Suatape raport

Descripuion of nsk

Mitigation

Projects

The Group invests In and delivers sigruficant capital expenditure
projects w order tocontinually drive the business forward The level
of the Group s capital expenditure has increased as a result of the
increased size of the Graups business following completion of the
acquisiniens of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia

The failure to delver key projects effectively and efficiently could
result in significantly tncreased project costs and impede our ability
to execute our strategic plans

A common project management methodology 1s used to enable the Group
tomanage monitor and control it$ major capital expenditure projects

and strategi pragrammes This includes detailed reporting and regular
raviews by semor management as wel as cross-functional executive
steering groups for major projects

Third-party partners will where appropriate be engaged to provide
support and experuse inour large strategic programmes complex
nitatves and for emerging technologies

Intellectual property protection

The Group in common with other service providers, relies on intellectual
property and other proprietary nghts including in respect of
programiming content, which may not be adaguately protected

under current laws or which may be subject to unauthonsed use

We mantam an Gngoing programme to support approprate protections
of our mtellectual property and other nghts This includes for example
the use of automated onine monitorng tosls the mplementation of
on-sergen mprinting of content together with an actwe programme

to protect our intellectual property nghts

People

Peaple at Sky are cntical to the Group 5 abibly to meet the needs
of its customers and achieve its goals as a business

Falure to attract or retan suitable employees across the business
could hmit the Group s abiity to deliver iis business plan commitments

Making Sky a great place to work 1s central to the Groups strategy
The Group champrons diversity and develops talent through a number
of actvittas incduding the Graduate programme, Development Studio
an apprenticeship scheme and a leadershrp programme

The Group has well established channels and progedures to recruit and
retainits employees &nd toensure that an adequate number of suitable
employees work wathin its customer service teams and across all its

operations

Further detasls on gur pecple s set aut in the Employees secuon of the
Directors Reporton pages 71-72
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Strateght repart

Below Is an overview of the ongoing
investigations and reviews of regulatory
and competition matters involving

the Group

Eurepean Commssion investigation

On13 January 2014 the European Commission (the 'ECY opened a formal
antitrust tnvestigation into cross-border provision of pay TV services in the
European Union The EC 15 examinng certa provisions relating to terntonal
protecuon in hcence agreements between magar US film studios (Twentieth
Century Fox Warner Bros Sony Pictures NBCUnwersal Paramount and
Disney) and key European pay TV braadcasters (Sky UK Canal Plus, Sky
Izaba Sky Deutschland and DTS operating under the Canal Plus brand in
Spain) On 23 July 2015 the EC adopted a Statement of Cbjections (50O )
setting out ks prehminary finding that there has been an mfingement of
EU Competition law mvolving Sky UK Sky UKis responding to the concerns
inthe SO The EC has not yet reached its final views and the Group 1s not yet
able to determine the autcome of the mwestigation or its financial iIrnpact

BT appealed the Pay TV Judgment tothe Court of Appeal On 17 February
2014 the Court of Appeal allowed BT s appeal fincding that Ofcom’s decision
contained a further competison concern in relation to Sky UK s rate

card pnees and discounts to those pnces and that the CAT should have
considered that congem It therefore remitted that issue to the CAT

for Further consideration While the CAT s finding that Ofcom s core
competstion concern was unfounded remains undisturbed the WMO
Obhigations (as modified by the Order as vaned) continue i force pending
the CAT consderation of the further issue rervtted to 1t As yet thereis no
date set for the heanng of the rermitted issue

On 19 December 2004 Cfcom published a consultation as part of 1ts review
of the WMO Oblkgations announced in Apnl 2014 This dacument represents
the first phase of Ofcom s review the purpose of which is to deade the
extent to whith the WMO Oblgations remain appropriate or need to be
modified or removed Ofcom 15 consulting on its assessment of whether
absent regulation prowviders of channels which carry kay sports content
mighthimit distnbution to some pay TV retailers and whether that woutd
undermine competition At the bime of the consultation Oftom s view was
that it might be appreprate to mantain serne form of regulation an Sky UK
n order to ensure fair and effective competitonin pay TV and that it would
be unhkely te be appropriate to impose similar regulation on BT Sky UK

has respanded o the consultauon On 27 July 2015 Ofcom publshed a
supplementary consuitation whech seeks stakeholders wiews on the extent
to which an insistence by Sky on reciprocal supply of channels contaming
key sports content, as a condition of $ky s supply of 1ts own key sports
channels may be a practice which 1s prejudicial to Fair and effective
competution The closing date for responses to this supplementary

however shauld the Glitcome be adverse to SKy UK s may have a
significant effect an the financial position or profitabikity of the Group

Wholesale must-offer cbhhigations

On 31 March 2010 Ofcom published s decision to impose wholesale
must-offer abligations on the Group (the WMO Obligations ) for the
channels Sky Sports 1 Sky Sports 2 Sky Sports | HD and Sky Sports 2HD
(the Affected Channels ) The WMO Obhgatiens require Sky UK amongst
other things to offer the Affected Channels on a wholesale basis ta third
parties which satsfy vanaus minimum gualifying cntena

\n April 2010 Sky UK applied to the Competition Appeal Tribunal {the CAT)
for a suspension of the implementation of the WMO Obligatens On 29
April 2010 the Groups application was resolved by way of an agreed Order
From the President of the CAT (the Order ) which was subsequently varied
on 23 November 2010 and 12 Novembar 2014 The effect of the Order, as
varied s that pending the outcome of Sky UK s substantive appeal Sky UK
1s required to offer the Affected Channels to Virgin Media for distribution
wia DTT and cable to REAL Digital via OTH an to BT for distnbutionwvia
DTT and BT s Internet Protoecol Television (1PTV ) platfarms Cardinal

and BT YouView The CAT granted the November 2014 vanation extending
the WMO Obligatons to BTs IPTV plaiforms subject to BT gmng an
undertalong that it would mamtam the self-retailing of 115 sports channels
(BT Sport 1 BT Sport 2 and ESPN) wia Sky s DTH satellite platform unul the
final determinauon of the matters renitted to the CAT

On 8 August 2012 the CAT handed down its judgment on Sky UK s appeal
against Ofcom s deciston toimpose the WMD Obligations (the Pay TV
Judgment ) The CAT found that Ofcom s core competiton concern

s unfounded (Ofcom had found that Sky UK deliberately withheld
wholesale supply of its Premuum Channels) and that accordingly

Sky UK s appeal must be allowed

consuitabionis 21 September 2015 Ofcom plans to set out the condusions —— ——— — —
of 1ts assessment from both consultatons later in 2015 and where
necessary to consult further on any aroposed remedies

The Group 15 currently unable to determine whether and towhat extent  *
the appeals concerring the WMO Oblgauons will be successful norisit
able to determine the outcame of Ofcoms rewewgf the WMO Oblgations
it 1s therefore nat passible for the Group to concfude afr the ﬁnaqt:al ’
impact of the cutcome of the appeals or the consultation at this stagey,
However should the cutcome of these processes be adverse to the Group
this may have a significant effect on the financial position or profitability
of the Group

Ofcom Competition Act Investigation

Following recetpt of a complant from BT on 14 June 2013 Ofcom opened an
nvestigation into whether Sky UK has abused a dominant position contrary
ta Chapter I} of the Competibon Act 1998 andlor Arude 102 of the Treaty

on the Functioning of the EV The complaint alleged that Sky UK was making
whaolesale supply of Sky Sports 1 and 2 to 8T for 1ts YouView service
conditional on BT wholesaling BT Sporis channels to Sky UX for retad on
Sky UK s sateliite platfarm and that constituted an abuse of dominance

Ofcoms investigauon of BTs complant s st open

The Group 1s curcently unable 1 determune the outcome of Ofcoms
mvestigation or its financial impact however should the outcome be
adverse ta the Group thuis may have a significant effect on the financial
position or profitability of the Group
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virgm Media complaint to Ofcom concerning the ‘collactive’
seling of ve UK television nights by the Premier League

In September 2014 Ofcom recerved a complamt from Virgin Meda (VM)
alleging that the arrangements for the collective selling of ive UK televisian
nghts by the Premier League ( PL) for matches played by its member dubs
are in breach of competition law On 18 Novernber 2014 Ofcom opened an
investigation under section 25 of the Competiion Act 1998 into how the

PL sells hve UK audia-visual medsa rights for PL football matches

Ofcom s imvestigation 1s continueng The Group 1s currently unable to
determine whether or to what extent VM s complaint will be upheld by
Ofeom and it is not possible for the Group to conclude on the inanoal

impact of the autcome at this stage

Competrtion law investigation into 2014 Sene A auction

In May 2015 the Italian compebtion authority the Autoritd Garante
della Concarrenza e del Mercato (AGCM ) opened an investigation
Inte the outcome of the June 2014 auction for broadeasting nghts

to Sene A football matches for the 2015-2018 seasons Thenvestigation
15 cansidermg whether the ttalan football league Lega Nazionale
Professionist Serie A its agvisor Infront Italy Srl and broadcasters
Skyltaha Sri Reti Telewisrve italiane S p A and its subsidiary Mediaset
Premium Sp A entered into an anb-competitwve agreement in relation
to the award of the rights The AGCM expects its investigation to be
completed by 30 April 2016

The Groupis currently unable to determine the outcome of the AGCMs
nvestigation orits financial impact however should the outcome be

Strategx report.

Forward lookmg statements

This document contains certan forward looking statements with respect
to cur financial condition results of operations and business and our
strategy plans and objectives

These statements mclude without bmitation those that express forecast,
expectations and projections such as forecasts expectauons and
projections with respect to new products and services the petental for
growth of free-te-air and pay television Fixed-line telephory broadband
and bandwidth requirements advertising growth OTH and OTT customer
growth Multiscreen On Demand NOW TV Sky Go Sky Go Extra Sky+
SkyTHD Sky Store, Sky Online Multvision Second Smartcard mobile and
other services churn revenue prafitabuity and margin growth cash flow
generation programmeng costs subscnber management and supply chan
costs admunistration costs and other costs marketing expenditure caprtal
expenditure programmes and proposats for returning capital to
shareholders

Although the Company beheves that the expectations raflected i such
forward looking statements are reasonable these statements (and all
other forward looking statements contamed in this document) are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to nsks uncertaintres
and other factors some of which are beyond ourcantrol are difficult

to predict and could ¢ause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed or imphed or forecast inthe forward looking statements
These factors include but are not lvrkted ta those nsks that are
rughhighted in this document in the section entitled Principal nsks and
uncertainties and information on the significant nsks and uncertamnties
associated with aucbusiness.s descnbed therein

adverse to the Group this may have a significant effect on the Financial
pasition or profitabdity of the Group

aarategc report was approved by the Board and signed en 1ts behalf
toup Chief Executive Officer

ve Officer
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Nopart of these results constitutes or shall be taken to constitute

an invitation or Inducement to invest in the Company ar any other
entity and must not be rélied upon in any way in connection with any
investment deaision All forward looking statemeants in this document
are based oninformation known to us on the date hereof Except as
required by law we undertake o obhgation publicly to update or revise
any forward looking statements whether as a result of new information
future events or otherwise

Skyplc 37

SJUSWTIRTS |eDURLS

UOT LD JEDIOy S




Annual Report 2015

Gowmance

Board of Directors

Key
Audit Committee
Bigger Picture Committee

Caorparate Governance
& Nominauons Committee

Remuneration Committee

Committee Charman

For mone about the Board
sky comfrorporate

Nick Ferguson CBE (86)
Charrman

Appointed Nick was apponted to the
Board a5 a Non Executve Dwrector in June
2004 and betame Chammanin Apri 2012
He has previously served as Deputy
Charman and Serucr tndependent
NonrExecutve Dvector

Shodls and expenence Nick bnngs
extenswve leadership expenence fromthe
private eguity and investment sectors
He was co-founder and instrumental in
the developmert of Schroder Ventures
{the private equity groupwhach tater
became Permira) of which heserved as
Chawman from 1924 102007 He |ater
served as Chawman of S¥G Capitat pic

a pubhc quoted private equity group
from Apnl 2005 to November 2012

He has a long-standing irterest in the
arts and philanthrapy and sarved as
Charman of the Courtau'd Institute of
Art for 10 years before reuning in July 2012
Extennal Appointmants Mok s Chairman
of Alta Adwisers Lirited an investment
advisory firrn a posiuon he has held
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Since Janaary 2007 HESAIS0 Chaifman  Bisnass Mmoer of the Natignal  Advisory Boarc of the Oxiord Onersity

and Founder of the Kifinan Group which
affers mentormg by Charmen and CECs
1o Heads of Chantses Nickis a Feliow of

Winchester Collega

Jeremy Darsroch (53)

Group Chief Executive Officer
Apparted Jleremy omed Sky as Chief
Fnancal Officer and Executve Dvector
112004 and was apponted o his current
ok in Decernber 2007 InNovernber 2014
Jererw was appointed Chaunman of the
Supenatory Board of Sky Deutschiand AG
Slkills and expenonce Jeremy has
extensve expenence inthe retaiing
and fast-movng consumer goads
sectors Prortojaining Sky Jeremy

was Group Finance Director of DSG
Intermnational plic, formerly Dixons Group
plc He has also spent 12 years at Procter
& Gomble m avanety of roles wmthe

UK and Europe Jeremy s a former
Non-Executive Drector and Charman
of the Audit Committae of Marks and
SpencerGroup plc from 2006 to 2013
External Appointments. (n February
2014 Jerermy was apponted

Non Executne Dvector of Burberry
Group plc and serves as a member

of the Audit, Remuneration and
Nominations Committees Heisa

Centre for Uriversines and Business

Andrew Grffith (44)

Group Chiaf Financial Officer
Appointed Andrew;omned Skyin 1999
and held anumber of senor finance

roles pnor Lo s appointment as Chiel
Finanaal Officer and Executive Dipector
nApnl 2008 in November 2014 Andrew
wars appanted as a member of the
Supernisory Board of Sky Deutscitanc AG
Skils and expenence: Prior to jonsng Sky
Andrew was at Rothschid the investment
bankung organsation where he provced
financal and strategic acdvice Lo corporate
chents in the technology moda angd
telectrimuncatons sector Hasa
qualified Chivtened Accountant and

hes a Bachelor of Law degree from
Nettngham Unnersity

External Appontments inMach 201
Andrew was apponted Seror
Indepandent Mon-Executive Dwectorof
Just Eat pic where e alsa holds positions
asCharman of the Audt Commutiee

and member of the Remuntration anc
Nominatons Committees Hersamember
of the 100 Group of Finance Crreciors and

Centre for Busness Taxaton

Chase Caray (1)

Non-Executive Drrector

Appointed January 2013

Skills and expengnce Chase has.
extensve knowledge and experience

of the international med:a and pay TV
sectors He s former President and

Cmef Executrve Officer of DirecTv
where he led the operations and strategic
drrectsan of the DirecTV Group Pror

o joining DirecTV Chase was Ca-Chief
Operatrg Officer of Mews Corporation
{subsequently renamed 21st Century Fox)
and Chaurman and Chuef Executve
Officer of the Fox Televmon Graup

Untd November 2014 he served as a
member of the Supervsory Board

of Sky De.schiand AG

External Appointments Chase was the
former President, Cruef Operaung Officer
and treputy Charman of 21st Century
Fox from 2009 to 2MS InJune 2015
Chase weas appanted as the Exeautve
Vice Charman of 21st Century Fox and wilt
serve in thrs role through to June 2016

Tracy Clarke (48

Independent Non-Exeautng Diractor
Appointad June 2012

Skls and expenence Tracybnngsa

wwde range of operatonal expenence

and oversight for corpaeate affars brand
and marketng Mmedia relabons human
resources legal and comphance matters
0 her role at Standard Chartered Bank.
Sha has served as a Nom-Executive
Drrector of Standard Chartered Frst Bank
i Korpa from 2005 1o 2007 and
Non-Exgeutrve Drvectorof Eaga pke

Frorm 2007 1o 207) where she chawred

the Remunerabion Committee

Exzernal Apposntments Tracy:sa
member of the Exaautive Management
Group and 18 Dwector for Compliance
People and Communicabons at Standard
Charteced Bank Shers a trustee of
WORKIng for TOULh a2 dianty working
with business to create job opportunities
for young people Tracys a member of
the Institute of Ananciat Senaces and
aFeflow of the Chartered Insttute

of Personnel and Development.

David F DeVoa (68)

Non-Executre Director

Apponted December 1594

Skills and expancnce David bnngs
awealth of executave and finance
expenence from the medis sector

He served as Chuef Finanaal Officer

of News Corporabon (Subsequently
renamed 21stCentury Fax) forover
20yearsand dunngthat mewas
appointed Sendr Executve Vice Presdent
untilhe stapped cown framboth roies
nJune 2013

Extermal Apgointments Davd s Senor
Adhnsor Lo the Board and Dwector

ol 21st Century Fox Hes alsoa

former gwector of Gemstar TV Guide
Inrernationalinc serving from 2001 to
2008 and DirecTV from 2003 w2008
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Martin Gilbert (50)

Serior indepandent

Norr-Exseutive Director

Appoaited November 201

Slalls and expenence Martin has beeny
imotved in the iIvestment management
industry swce1982 and has extensive
nvestment, finance and executve
leadershup expenence through hes role

s co-founder and Creef Executrve Officer

Chaucer PLL and was Non-Executve
Dwectorof Dynmark International Limited
amobde messaging and data apphcatons
senaces provder

Extemal Appomtments In addition
tohis role as Chuef Executive Offcer

of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
Maron 15 a member of the Scottsh
Government s Finanaal Services
Advrsory Board

Adine Grate (54)

Indepandent Non-Executive Director
Appointed July 2013

Skilts and expenence Adinebnngs
awealth of executve finance and
rwestment management and
communications technology expenence
hawving cparated at the top biers of
Nordic-based mtamatonal busmness

for the past two decades Formerdy
Exacutie Vice Presdent and Managing
Dwrector of Invester AR ownerof a
number of Nordie basedinternational
companes

External Appointments Adine s a
Chairperson of NASDAQ OMX Swedish
Lrstng Committee and Vice Charperson
of AP7 a Swedrsh pension and savings
asset management comparyy Sheis
Drrector of Three(Scandinavia) a mobrle
telecommuncations and broadband
operator SOBLAB an intematonat
specahity healthcare company Sampe
Q¥ aleading finanaal and nsuronce
instunon and Swedavia AB an arpart
operatar Adine s also Chaitpersanof.

Dave Lewis (50)

Independent Non-Exacutve Director
Appomnted Novemper 2012

Skils and expenence Dave IS an
expenenced sxeculve wath strong
operational expertite He s Chef
Exerutive Officer of Tesco plc and pnar
to that he was President Personal Care
for Urnlever pic where hesat onthe
Untiever Leadership Executive He has
held avanety of leadershup roles at
Unilever m Eurape South Amerca

and Asia nduding President for the
Amencas and Chairman of Undever
UKand lreland

External Apporitmants Dave was
appomnted as Chief Executve Officer
of Tesco pic In September 2014

James Murdoch (42)
Non-Executrvg Director

Appomted February 2003

Skils and expenence James bings
significant media sector knowledge
and expenence through hisrole at
st Century Fox He was formerly e
Chief Executrve Officer and Executne
Directov of Sky from 2003 to 2007 and
he acted as Charman from 2007 to
2012 James was Charman and Cheef
Executve Officer af Star Group Limited
and held Non-Executve Director rales
at GlaxoSmithKline gl from 2009 to
2012 and Satheby s from 2010 to 2012
Heis amember (and farmer Chairman)
oftheSupervisory Boanrd of Sky
Deutschland AG

Extarnal Appontments James was
appainted as Chief Executive Officer
at 2ist Century Fox in June 2015

He also serves as amember of the
Board of News Corporauon and s
aNon-Exacutive Drector of Yankee
Glohal Enterprises Vice Media and

a member of the Board of Trustees

non-profit orgamisatians Fnends of
aDesign museum and the Swedssh
Dance Museum

af the Harvard Lampoon and the
Ghetto Fim Schoodl

Matthieu Pigasse (47)
Inddependent Nan Executive Orector
Apponted Novenber 2011

Siulls and expenence Matthieu brngs
sgnificant knowledge of the Eurmpean
media sector and finance experuse to
the Boardd He s the Global Head for
Meargers and Acquisitions and the Global
Head for Sovereign Advisory forLazard
also Chief Execute Officer of Lazard
n France in Europe Hehas also served
a5 cvilian administrator of the French
Mirustry of Econemy and Finance
External Appontments. In addibon

to bvs mle at Lazard Matthieu has s
number of personal interests inmedia
and publishung. natably Le Monde and
the Huffingten Post (France) Hersa
Boand member of Group Lusien Barridre
SAS an operator of luxury hotels and
sestaurants Denchebourg a recyding
andmantenance Senaces business

Danny Rimer (44}

Independent Non-Executive Diractor
Appomnted April 2008

Skills and expengnce Dancy brings
significant internatonal investment
and finance expenence He has
extensie knowletige of intamet
infrastructure software and services
technology communicatiens and
e-commerce businesses through

his role as General Partner of the
venture capat 3! firm Index Ventures
Management LLP (Index Ventures)
Pnor to joining index Ventures

hewas a General Partner of

Yhe Barksdale Group

External Appomtments Danny serves
ona ourber of boards inchuding First
Dibs Inc, Fipboard Inc Nasty Gal ing
RightSeale Ing Viagogo Farfetchcom
Limited, Good Eggs and Patreon

He resigned from Grouso Xango
Technologies i Apnl 2011 and Etsy inc
n March 2015

Arthur Siskind (76)

Non-Executive Director

Appointed November 1991

Skils and expenence Arthur bnngs

over 30 years expenence ganed through
executve and legal tounsel nokes at

News Corporaton (subsequently
renamed 21t Century Fox) Hes e

heghly expenenced legat practibaner

and member of the Bar of the State

of Now York since 1962

External Appantments Arthur s Semnor
Advsor to the (harman of Z1st Century
Fax from January 2005 to December 2014
and he has served as Divector Ementus
fromQctober 2012 to November 2014

Andy Sukawaty (60}

Indapendent Non-Executive Director
Appounted June 2013

Skilts and Expencnce Withover 30 years
of telecommunkabons medid
expenance Andy bangs strong mdustry
knowledge to the Board Ha hasled
companies n the mabite phone, Cable TV
and satetite ndustnes in the Us and
Europe and serves as Non-Executrve
Chawman of inmarsat plc, giobal mobnie
satalfte COMMUNIERtioNS prosider
External Appontments. i addition

to hus role as Non-Executve Chavmman

of Inmarsat pic Andy.s Executve n
Resdence for Warburg Pncus and

nas previously held anumber of

Servor Management postons n the
telecommunicatens industry ncludmg
Charmanof Ziggo NV, a Dutchcable TV
and CoMmUMICADONS COMPDArTY MesIgrTng
nDecember 2014 Me has also previously
served as Creef Executree Officer angt
President of Sprnt PCS aNYSEksted
gobal nanonal wireless camer

Sky pic

EL]

URLIBACT 1ody wdens

SURLDNETS [EOUBLIY

VORMRULOHUI JOPIOURIBYS



Annual Report 2015

Governance
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Chairman's overview

On behalf of the Board 1t gives me great pleasure to introduce thus year s
COrpOrate gOvernance report

As a Board we are the stewards of the Company Itis our responsibility
to ensure that the Company s strategy 1s aligned to the mterasts of

our investors and takes account of the interests of all the Company s
stakeholders As indnaduals we believe that effective corporate
governance s based on honesty integrity and transparency and can
only be fulty realised within an environment of open robust and effective
debate This s the Board culture we foster at Sky and it 15 my personal
responsibitity as Chairman to ensure that wa continue tohve this culture
and promote st within our business

1 am pleased to report that your Company complied in full with the UK
Corporate Governance Code { the Code } as revised in September 2012
dunng the year under review We are alsc reviéwang Lhe changes to the Code
which were mtroduced in Gctober 2014, which apply to the Company fram

1 July 2018

It has been a transformational year for the Company following the
acquisitions of the Sky businesses in Germany and italy Much of

Comphance with the Code

The Code prowdes the standard for corporate governance m the UK
The Finanaal Conduct Authority requires isted campanies to disclose
whether they have comphed with the provisions of the Code throughout
the financeal year

The Board considers that the Company has fully comphed wath the
provisians and apphed the main principles of the Coda for the whote
ofthe year ended 30 June 2015 This section of the Annual Report aleng
with the Directors remuneration report on pages 51to 69 the Directors
report and other statutory disclosures on pages 70 to 77 prowde details
of how the Company has applied the main principles

Leadership

Role of the Board and its Members

The Board has collectrve responsibility for the management direction and
performance of the Company and provides leadership within a framework
of prudent and effecuve cantrols which enables nsk to be approprately
assessed and managed Tha Board sets the strategic dwrection ensuring
that the necessary resources are in place for the Company tomeet its
ohjectives and deliver sustainable performance

The Board takes along-termoutlook and sees itself as responsible to
awtde range of stakeholders whilst pursuing ILs objectives n a manner
consistent with its statutory duttes For the benefit of the Company s
members as a whole v

The Directors of the Board are selected on the critena of proven shill

the Board s activity has been around ensunng that the acquisitions
successfully completed and positioned the business far the next
stage in its development

This year we undertook aninternal Board evaluation and t met with

ali the Directors and discussed a range of topics The feedback from

the evaluation confirmed that the Board and each ofits Commitiges
continue to operate effectively and that each Director continugs Lo

rmake an effectrve contribution and retains a strong commitment o

their role The resulting indings of the evaluatian are discussed on page 42

The Board has established arrangements to evaluate whether the
nformation in the Annual Report is fair balanced and understandable
Further detail of these arrangements can be found on page 47 As aresult
of this the Board considers the Annual Report, taken as awhole I1s fair
balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company s performance business model
and strategy

During the year we have continued our work 1n promoting greater and more
effective engagement with our shareholders | along with the Executive
Directors meet our Investors and analysts and discuss awide range of
topics Tracy Clarke Chawrman of the Remuneration Committee has also
engaged with sharehclders on remuneration rssues and will continee

to do s over the course of the comung financial year

Nick Ferguson CBE
Chairman

AT BT ChEtrar Hoatar feld of Endeavonranda diversity of cutlook——
and expenence which directly benefits the operation of the Board as

the custodian of the business A fullbiography of each Board member

15 provided on pages 38 and 39

Roles and responsibilities

The roles of the Charman and Group Chief Executive Officer are separate
and have beensosince the Company s shares were admitted to isting

n 1994 The roles and expectations of each Dwrector are clearly defined
and recarded withen thewr tetters of appontment or serwvice coniracts
The rales and responsibiities of the Board members are explained below

The Charrman

Nick Ferguson s responstble for leadership of the Board ensunng its
effectveness on all aspects of its role and setung its agenda The Chairman
15 respensible for creaung an environment for cpen robust and effective
debate This mcludes ensunng wia the Company Secratary that the
Crrectars receve accurate timely and clear information

The Group Chief Executiva Officer { Group CEQ )

Jeremy Darroch s responsible and accountable to the Board for the
management and operation of the Company advanang long-term
shareholder value supported by the management team Heis also
mvolved in the management of the sooal and envirenmental
responsibilities of the Company

Semor Independent Non-Executive Director { SID)

The role of the SID ts currently carned out by Marun Gilbert who succeeded
Andy H gginson on 21 November 2014 Martin is responsible for pronding
support to the Chairman and provices an additicnal point of contact

for shareholders
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MNon-Executive Directors

Chase Carey Tracy Clarke David DeVoe Martin Giibert Adine Grate

Dave Lewas James Murdoch Matthieu Pigasse Danny Rimer Arthur
Siskind and Andy Sukawaty collectively are responsible for constructivety
challenging the Executive Directors and overseeng the delivery of

the Company s strategy withun the risk and control framework

Company Secretary
Chns Taylor s responsible for the followang in respect of effectve
Board operation

» Toensure good information flows within the Board and its Committees
baetween seruor management and Non-Executrve Directors

To faciitate Director induction and assisttng with professional
development

To advise the Board throwgh the Chairman of all corporate governance
chhigations and deveiopments in best practice and

- Toberesponsible for communicating with shareholders as appropnate

Al Directors have access to the advice and serwices of the Company
Secretary who advises on corporate governance matters Board procedures
and other relevant rules and regulations Inaddition Cerectors have the
nght to seel independent professional advice at the Company s expense

Emvironment supportive of challenge
The effective operation of the Board i1s dependent on theinherent
checks and balances withun the vanous Board roles As tughly qualified

and SUccesEfil mdividuals ih ther respaECtve flads sl entaavoar —  —Zudidr SigmflicantrisksTo the busmess are kepranoer reviewand

all Nen-Executive Directors influence debate and contribute to decisigns
relating to the strategy of the Company its performance and its smpact
on stakeho'ders The Non-Executive Directors are evaluated and judged
on the quality and content of thew contributions to Beard debate and
are expected to offer alternative viewpeints and challenge perceptions
and decaisions as appropnate

Soard Agenda

In addiion Lo 1ts reserved and standing matters dunng the year
the Board also considered and received a number cf updates and
presentabons giving Directors a further opportunity to explore
and analyse topics such as

« The Groups operatians and five-year financal plans
« The general market and economic outlook
The compettive landscape opportunities and market trends
+ Growth of eosting busmess activities and
« Existung and new products services and technological developments

To maintain an apprapnate level of control over the day-to-day affars
ofthe Company the Board has identsfied certain matters that only it
can approve and thesa matlers are contained withn the Company s
Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board whikh can be found at
sky com/corporate

Board delegation

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to Board commvitees
notably the Audit Remuneration Corporate Governance & Nommnations
and the Brgger Pcture Committees Each Commttee s terms of reference
can be found cn the Caompany s corporate website sky comicorporate/
about-skyfcorporate-governance

Apnual Report 2015
Governance

Board and Committee framework

The Audit Committee has responsibility for aversight of corporate
reporting nsk management and the Company s relationshipwithits

appropriate matenal controls are sanchiened and employed as appropnate
The Company s pancipal nsks and examples of how we miugate those rsks
are detalled on pages 32 to 35 For further details the Audit Committee
Report can be found onpages 4510 48

The Remuneratton Committee s responstble for setling the Remuneration
policy for the Board and ensures that no Director 1s involved indecisians
affecting their own remuneration The Diwectors remuneration report can
ve found on pages Sita 69

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee is responsible for
oversight of the structure size composition and successton planning

of the Board and its Committees and overall compliance with corporate
gavernance standards The Report of the Corporate Governance

& Nominations Committee can be found on pages 48 and 49

The Bigger Picture Committee has responsibility For oversight of the soaal
environmental and ethical impacts of the Comparny s ectivities The report
of the Bigger Picture Commmittee can be found on page 50

The minutes of Committee meetings are made avafable to aliBoard
Oirectors on a timely basis At each Board meeting the Chairman of each
Committee prowides the Board with a bnef update of the work currently
bewg carmed out by the Committee they chair Other sub-committees and
steering groups provide additional resource and support o the Board
Commuittees or are formed for specific tasks A Committee of semior
management generally meets on a weekly basis to allow prompt discussion
of relevant business issues The Committee compnses the Group CEQ
Group Chuef Finantial Officer { Group CFO ) and othar senior executsves
from withm the Group

skyplc 4
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{contnued)

Beard and Committee attendance
Attendance at Board and Committee meetings durnng the year is set cut in the table below The table shows the number of meetings each Directar was

eligible to attend
Corporate
Governance &
Board Audit  Remureration  Nominations  Bigger Picture
Number of meetmgs held in year 7 6 S 3 2
Exegutive Dirgctars
Jeremy Darroch Group CEO 7
Andrew Griffith Group CFO 77
MNen-Executve Directors
Chase Cargy N7
Tracy Clarke 7 515 202
David DeVoe 717
Nick Ferguson 77 515 313
Martin Gilbert? 7 6/6 0ol 22
Adine Grate? /7 6/6 414
Andy HiIggnson' 34 213 11
Dave Lewis 7 6/6 3/3 2/2
James Murdoch n 22
Matthieu Pigasse’ 417 616
Danny Rimer?* a7
Arthur Siskind 617 273
Andy Sukawaty? 7 415
Notes

1 Martn Gitbert raplaced Andy Higginsan as member of the Governance & Naminauons Cammittes following Andy sreurement at the AGM on 21 November 2014
2 Adine Grate was appoirted as a member of the Remunaration Committee replacing Marun Gibert with effece from 25 July 2014
T 3T DWERhrs are BTOUagEd 18 attend Board 3nd ESpLctiT B M afid Committed miedtingd BUt In T LEATr{UMSIINCGES MEFetingsuTa called Bt ZHOrL MOKB AL UGR A PG DTSR
commitments and ome dfferences Dwectors may beunablato attend In these arcumstances Directors racene relevant papers and are updated on developments by either the
Chawrman or Group CEO

Acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia

Dunng the pner year the Board appomnted a committee toinvestigate consider and evaluate the overall strategy in connection with the proposal
to acquire Sky Deutschiand and Sky ltaha The committee compnsed all members of the Board other than any Directors who were not independent
of 21st Century Fox Inc or had a canflict of interest The commuttee met en two occasions duning the year and formally approved the transaction

Effectiveness

Board composition and independence Prior to appointment and on an annual basis each Board member recewves
The Board currently compnses 14 Owrectors made up of two Executive and completes a quesuonnare to deterpne factors that may affact
Directors and 12 Non-Executive Directors At least half of the Board of independence according to best practuice statements contamed within
Directors are determined to be iIndependent by the Board in accordance the Code The responses to the questionnaire asstst the Board in

with pravision B 2 of the Code On appointment the Chawman met the ascertainng whether a Director s independent in characte- and
independence cntena set out s provision B11of the Code Bographies Judgement and whether there are relationships or crcumstances whuch

of each of the Directors are set out on pages 38 and 39 are likely to affect orcould appear to affect the Director s judgement

Chase Carey David DeVoe, James Murdoch and Arthur Siskind represent
the Company s largest shareholder 215t Century Fox and as such are
nol considered to be independent within the mearung of the Cede

£ach of these Directors has extensive media and pay TV experience
and makes significant contribution to Board discussion

Board Composition

The Independent Mon-Executive Directors bring 8 wide range of experience
and expertise to the Group s affairs and carry sigmificant weight in

the Board s deusions The Independent Non-Executive Diractors are
encouraged to challenge management and help develop proposals

on strategy Time 15 regularly put aside at Board meetings to discuss

the strazegic direction of the Comparny
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Appointments to the Board diversity and succession planning

The Corparate Governance & Nomnations Commutiee keeps the Board s
balance of skils knowledge expenence and the length of service of
indinduals under constant review In respect of succession planmng and
supplementing the skill set of the Board there 1s an established procedure
for the appointment of Drectors Inbrief the Commuitee identifies the
set of skills and expenence required and with the assistance of extemal
search agencies sefects indnnduals to take Board positons on review of
therr indmdual ments regardless of gender race religion age or disability
Further informauon on the work of the Committee dunng the year can

be found on pages 46 and 49

Copes of the Executive Directors service contracts and letters of
appointment of the Non-Executive Directors may be inspected at the
registered affice of the Company during narmal business hours on any
weekday (except Saturdays Sundays and publichohdays) and at the place
of the Annuat General Meeting (AGM ) for 15 minutes prior to the meetng
untd the condusion of the AGM

The Board has published a statement of iLs intention to increase female
representation on the Board which can be found on the Company s
corporate website sky comicorporate As required by company legrslaton
a table on page 71 flustrates gender diversity amongst the Board

Diversity ratio of Directors appovited in past three years

Arnual Repoart 2015

External directorships

Any external appointments for the Executive Directors are considered by
the Carparate Governance & Nominations Committee Executive Directors
are not allowed to take on the Chawrmanshup of a FTSE 100 company but are
allowed to take up one external Non-Executve FTSE 100 appontment and
retain any payments i respect of such appontments

Jeremy Darrochwas appointed as an Independent Non-Executi Director
of Burberry Group plc on 5 February 20i4 and 15 a member of the Audit,
Norminations and Remunerabion Committees

Andrew Gnffith was appainted as an iIndependent Non-Executive Director
of Just Eat pic on 12 March 2014 Andrew serves as Senicr Independent
Drrector Charman of the Aucit Committee and s a member of the
Remuneration & Nominations Committees Detads of payin respect

of these appointments can be found in the Directors remuneration
repoTion page 68

Tume commitment

All Non-Executive Directors are adwsed of the likely bme commuments
required oninduction and are expected to devote sufficient ume

for the effective discharge of therr functions The Company prowvides
Nan-Executive Drectors with appropnate support and facihties for
consideration of the Campany s strategy and performance and a
dialogue with the Chairman s strongly encouraged so that any issues
regarding conflicng commitrments and time pressures can be
addressed appropriately

Indluction and trajrng

Length of ima served onthe Board

Industry/Background axperience’

Notes
1 Drectors may fallinto one or mare categones

Directors appontment and reappomntment

I respect of Code provision B 71, all Executive and Non-Executrve Directors
will retire and of fer themseives for reappointment at the Company s 2018
AGM with the exception of David Devoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind
who have decided not to seek reappamniment this year and will step down
from the Board at the conclusion of the AGM Immediately following the
AGM 1t 1s intended that John Nallen Chief Financial Officer of 21st Century
Fox will be appointed by the Board as a Non-Executive Director As aresult
of these proposed changes the size of the Board would reduce from 14 1o 12
Dwrectors and at least half of the Board {excluding the Chawman) would
continue to be compnsed of Independent Non-Executive Drectars in
¢omptance with the Code

o ¥Bnens

All new Directors recaive antnduction taslored to theirindwdual
requirements The induction process invvalves meeting with all of the
Company 5 Executive Directors and Senior Executives This facilitates

thenr understanding of the Group and the key drivers 6f the business
performance Ounng the year Directors have received presentattons

from a number of areas of the business including Customer Group Content,
Corparate Finance and Strategc Planning Group The Charrman meets

with the Directors throughout the year to review and agree ther indradual
traming and developmenta) needs

An exampte of atailored induction programme is detailed below

Meetngs with CusLomer Product Accompamed
Serwor Execulves  contact demonstrations a Sky engineer
Sky Naws and centrevist on customer
Sky Studio visits s

In addibon to this vanous presentations from pror Board meetings will
be made available to the Director in order 1o improve therr understanding
of the Group and the competibive and regulatory landscape in whichit
operates Consideration s gven to Committee appaintments and where
relevant tailored trarming may be required

Baard evatuation

In ing with the Code and followng the external Board evaluauon carrnied
out by Alice Perkins of JCA Groupin 2013 an internal Board evaluation
has been carried out for the past two years

Dunng the penod under review the process was facilitated by Nick
Ferguson Further details of the evaluation process can be found
in the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee report
on pages 48 and 49
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(continued)

tnformation prowvided to the Directors

The Company Secretaryis responsible For ensuring good informauon flows
withen the Board and s Commitiess and between senwor management and
Nan-Executsve Directors For each Board and Committee meeting Directors
are provided with a tailored Board pack at least one week pricr to the
meeting To imgrove the delivery and secunty of Board papers the
Company has adopted an electroric system allawing the Board to easily
access informabon urespective of geographic location Drrectors regularly
recerve addisonal information from the Company between Board meetings
including a daily press summary and a monthly Group performance update
Where a Director was unable to attend a meeting they were provided with
all the papers and information relating to that meeting and were able

to discuss issues ansing directly with the Chairman and Group CEQ

Conflicts of interest

Under UK Company law all Directors must seek authonsation before
taking up any position with another company that conflcts or may
possibly conflict with the Company s interests The Compeany s Articles
of Association contain prowisions to allow the Directors 1o authorise
sitwatians of potential conflicts of interes: so that a Cirector s not

in breach of fss duty under company law

All existing external appointments far each Owrector have been authorised
by the Board and each authonsation s set out in a Conflicts Register
Birectors are required to noufy the Board of potential conflicts so that they
can be considered and if appropnate authonsed by the Board In addition
the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee conducts an annual
review of Directors conflicts and reports its findings to the Board

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee r d the

Shareholder engagement

The Company s commutied to mamtaming and improving dialogue with
shareholders inorder to ensure that the objectves of both the Group

and the shareholders are understood A programme of meetings with
institutional sharehotders fund managers and analysts takes place each
year and the Chairman Group CEO and Group CFO have atterxed meetings
with investors as appropnate The Company also makes presentations

to analysts and investors around the ume of the hatf-year and fullwaar
results announcement conference cafls are held wath analysts and
investors following the release of the first quarter and third quarter trading
statements and presentations are made duning the year to many exisung
or potenbal shareholders at irwestor conferences The Company hosts

an annual meetng for its major sharcholders to discuss remuneration

The AGM

The Board views the AGM as an opportunity to communicate with private
investors and sets aside time at the meeung for shareholders to ask
questions At the AGM the Chairman provides a bnef summary of the
Company s actvibies for the previous year All resolut:ons at the 2014

AGM were voted by way of a poll Thus follows best pracuce and allows

the Company to count all votes rather than just those of sharehoplders
attending the meelng As recommended by the Code all resolutions
were voted separately and the final voting results which included all votes
cast for against and those withhetd together with all proxies lodged prior
to the meeting were released to the Londan Stack Exchange assoonas
practicable after the meeting The announcement was also made avallable
on tha Company 5 corporate website Asin previous years the proxy

form and the announcement of the voting results made it clear that

Board s conflicts during the financial year and conduded that conflicts
had been appropnately authonsed and that the process for authorisation
15 operating effecuvely The Corporate Governance & Nominations
Comruttee and the Board will continue to momitor and review potental
cenficts of interest on a regular basis

Directors’ and Officers Insurance and Indemnity

The Company recognises that all Directors are equally and collectively
accountable under the law for the proper stewardship of the Company s
affairs The Company maintains a Directors and Officers habilty insurance
policy Additionally the Company s Articles of Association allow the
Company to indemnify the Directors and deeds of ndemnity have been
1ssued to all Directors of the Company te the extent permitted by law

Relations with shareholders

Shargholder communicationsg

Presentations and webcasts on the development, of the business are
available to all shareholders an the Company s corporate website

The Company alse uses email alerts and actively promotes downloading
of all reports enhangng speed and equality of shareholder communication
The Company has taken full advantage of the provisions within the
Compantes Act 2006 aliowing the website to be used as the pnmary
means of communication with shareholders where they have not requested
hard copy documentation The shareholder snformation section on page
147 contains further details on electroruc sharehclder communications
together with more general mformation of interest to shareholders which
15 also included on the Company s corporate wabsite sky comfcorporate

a vote withheld 5 not a vote inTaw and will not be countedsn the
calculanon of the praportion of the votes for or against tha resolution
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Report of the Audit Committee

Charman s cvensew

Dunng the year the Audit Committee has continued to play a key oversight
role on behalf of the Board The Committee s prnapal activities have
focused on the financial perfarmance of the Company internal audit,
extemal audit nsk management comphiance and governance We reviewad
the impact of the acquisiions of the Sky busmesses in Germany and Iltaly
on the 201415 external and internal audit plans and the evolution of
finanoial reportng under the new structure

The Committae has also monitored the Company s approach to nisk
management and the ndependence and effectiveness of the external
auditors and receved a number of presentations from management
relating to data governance, secunty mnternal audit treasury taxation
and health and safety

We have considered the processes underpmning the production and
approval of this year s Annual Report Lo enable the Board to confirm that
the Annual Repart taken as a whole is farr balanced and understandable
and prowides the infarmation necessary for sharehalders to assess the

Company s performance business model and strategy A descnption of

Ancwal Report 2015

Attendance at Committee Meetings

Dawvid DeVoe and Arthur Siskind have a standing matatian Lo attend
meeungs However therr attendance at these meetings IS as observers
only and in a non-voting capaoty The Group CFO other business and
finance executives and representatives from the external auditor
Deloitte LLP and the nternal audit department attend meeungs

at the request of the Committee The Company Secretary acts as
Secetary to the Commuttee

Audit Commuttee Agenda
Focus for the Comsruttee this year has induded the following items

» Review and recommendation to the Board of the guarterly intenm
and full-year financal statements

Quarterty updates fromthe Group CFO on business performance across
the Group

Audnt, plans and findings of external and internal audrts

The review and recommendation to the Board of the dmdend policy
and proposed payments

Liguicity and goiNg concern review

Annual ceporting due diigence protedures and corporate governance
updates

.

The mpact of the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltatia on the
2014715 External Audit plan

uoda a8xens
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how we approachad this can be found in thes report

There were six meatings during the year and after each Committee meeting
| gave an oral update to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed during our
meetings The Commutzee alsa had a meeting with the Company s external
auditors waithout management present

You can find addiional information of how we have carned out our role
and responsibiities within the remander of this report

The Commtee s terms of reference are avalabie on the Company s
corporate website

MarunGibert
Committee Chairman

Committes composition
Martn Gubert (Charman)
Adine Grate

Dave Lewrs

Matthieu Prgasse

Andy Higginson a former Chair of the Committee stepped down asa
memier of the Committee in November 2014 followang his retirernent
s a Director

The Committee members have consigerable financial and business
expenence and the Board considers that the membership as a whole

has sufficent recent and retevant financial experience to discharge its
responsibiives tn addition the Boasd has determingd that each member
of the Committee has sufficient accounting or related financial
management experuse in ine with the Code

Assessment of the effectiveness of the external audit process
and scope of audit

Auditor independence and the policy on the proviston of non-audit
services by the external auditor

Quarterly review of non-audit services and fees

Quarterly reports from the treasury function on the funding hquidity
gong concern and operational capabilities of the Group and compliance
with treasury pohcies

- Quarterly updates on planned internal audit work and on the status
of Semor Accounting OFficer ( SAD) certsfication work Lo ensure
SAQ comphance

Quarterly reports of all transactions with a related party dunng the
pencd inexcess of E100000 0 value

Review of all transactrons whach fall withun the Listing Rule 115K
defimuon of Retated Party Transaction and afl transactons with
arelated party in excessof £10 mihon and whare required
recommendaton to the Board

Review and oversight of the Group risk register risk methodology
and nsk management systerns and processes

Monitonng and reviewing the effectveness of the Group s intemnal
audit funclion and controls

Taxation security fraud healih and safety and data protection

Sky Deutschland 5 related party transactions are approved by the superasory board

s accordanca with Garman Llaw Dnce the purchase of the rermanong munoniy nterests
n Sky Deutschiand has conchded Sky Deutschiand will be subyect to the same approval
process as UK and liaty
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Significant accounting I5suas

When considenng the annual financal statements the Committee
reviewed the significant accounung 1ssues and the Group's cntical
accounting poliies as set out onpages 32 to 35 with particular Focus
on the following

Ratan subscription revenue

The majority of the Group s revenues derve from retall subscnption
packages including hardware supphed to customers The Group apphes
judgement in determining the accounting allo¢ation of payments recewed
from customers to different etements of the bundled package taking mto
consideration the timing &nd relatve value attnbuted to each element
During the year the Committee recerved a performance report from the
Group CFO at each Committee meeting that included a review of revenues
recognised in the pencd

The Committee considered management § pohcy and considered the views
of the external auditor and s satisfied that the pohioes have been apphed
consistently and appropnately

General entertainment pregramemng inventory

The Committee reviewed the pohcy for the recognition of content costs and
sought assurances from management, and took into account the vrews
ofthe external auditor that the policy 1s appropnate and has been

apphed consistently The method for recegrusing general entertainment.
programming expense requires estimation and judgement to ensure

that the expense profile s consistent with the expected value of the
content to the Group

The Committee 1s satisfied that the poiicies have been apphed consistently

Internal contral and nisk management

The Board 1s responsible for establishing and mantamung the Groups
systems of internal controt and nsk management and for reviewing their
effectrveness These systems are designed to manage and where possible
elrminate the nsk of fadure to achieve business objectives and to prowvide
reascnable but nct absolute assurance aganst materal misstatement

or loss There is an ongoing process for entifying evaluating and managing
the sigruficant nsks faced by the Group in accordance with the revised
gurdance on internal contral Issued by the Finanaal Reporting Council in
Octaber 2005 Dunng the penod under review no significant falings or
weaknasses were dentfied

The Committee on behalf of the Board considers the effectiveness of the
operation of the Groups systems of nternal control and nsk management
during the year and this review has been carned out for the year ended

30 June 2015 and up to the date on which the financial sLatements were
approved This review relates to the Company and its subsidianes and does
not extend to joint ventures The Comimittee meets on at least a quarterty
basis with the Group s Director Audit Risk Management anc Comphance
and the external auditor

There 15 a comprehensive budgeting and forecasting process and the
annual budget whichs regularly reviewed and updated 1$ approved by

the Board Performance is monitored agamst budget through weekly and
monthly reporung cydes Ourng the financal year under review monthly
reports on performance were prowided to the Board and the Group reports
to shareholders gach quarter

In respect of Group financial reporting the Group Finance teamis

are apprograte and are ahgned to industry practice

Capitahsation of intangible and tangible non-current assets

The Committee considered the Groups pohaes and sought assurances
from management that the Group s project accounting controls are
operaung as ntended and that spend capitalised as property plant
and equipment and intangible assets meets tharelevant accounting
requirements The Committee also considerad the report fromthe
external auditar

The Commuttee 1s saushied that the Group has followed appropriate
accounting standards regarding the capitalisation of project expenditure

Accounting for acquisiions

The Commuttee reviewed management s accounting for the acquistions

of Sky Deutschland and Sky (taha including deterrmination of the far
values of assets and habilties acquired and of the consideration pad and
algnment of accounting policies across the Group which requrre significant
estimation and judgement The Committee considered thewiews of the
external auditar and recerved a presentation from management explaining
the evolution of the Groups financial reporting Lo incorporate the acquired
entities into the enlarged group

The Commuttee 15 satisfied that the Group has followed the applicable
accounting requirements in accounung for the acquisitions and that
acceunung policies across the Group have been appropnately ahigned

responsibie for prepanng the Group financial staterments and there
are well estabhshed controts over the financial reporing process
These are also documented in line with the requirements of the SAQ
fegislatan and the controls are reviewed and signed off to confirm
their continuous cperation by the control owners tvnce a year and
are independently tested by the internal audit team The results of
the SAQ tesung are reported 1o the Committee ona quarterly basis

Changes ininternal controls

No change in the Group s internal control over finanaal reporung has
cccurred 1n the UK duning the year ended 30 June 2015 that has matenally
affected or s reasonably Iikely to maternally affect the Group s internal
control over financal reporting Duning the year the Group acquired

Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itaha which introeduced addiuonal complexity

to financial reporting Since the operating model and business operations
of the acquired entities are similar vo these of the exasting Group

the controls over financal reporting reman matenalty consistent

Risk registers

There are nsk registers which identify the nsks facec by the Group
and these are consohdated into a Group Risk Register The nsk register
framework 1s based on methodology to dentify the nisk based on
impact and bkehhood The nsk s assessed quantified and measured
which enables discussions on risk appette The registers detail the
controls that manage the risks and where necessary the acticnplans
to mitigate the risk exposure

The business develops the action plans and the internal audik team
monitors ther implementation The Commuttee formally reviews the
Group Resk Register twice a year and senror executives framthe
busmess present their sk management plans from time to ime
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The internal a2udit team provides objecuve assurance as to the
effectiveness of the Group s systems of intemal control and sk
management to the Group s operating management

The Group s prinaipal nsks and uncertainties are detaited on pages 32 to 35

Fair balanced and understandable assessment

The Finanaal Reportsng Committee ( FRC ) has responsibility for the
production of the annual report and the associated review process
Guidance and comprehensive due diligence procedures were issued

to reviewers by the FRC to help them assess whether the document was
fair balanced and understandable and comphed with the requirements
of the Code The FRC maintained oversight of the review process and
submitted cerufication to the Commitiee toenable it to bein aposition
to recommend to the Board that the required statement could be made

Disclosura controls and procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls procedures and systems that
ara designed to ensure that information required (o be disclosed as part
of the Company s UK hsting chligations 1s accumulated and communicated
to management mnduding the Group CEO and Group CFO as appropnate
to allow umely decisions regarding required disclosures

Auditor tndependencae

During the year ended 30 June 2015 the Committee reviewed audit
independence and scope of nen-audit senaces and mdependence
safeguards with Deloitte LLP ( Deloitte ) the Group s external auditor

—As part of the review, the Audit Commuttee has recewved and revienved.
confirmatton inwnung that i Deloitte s professional judgement Deloitte
15 independent withun the meaning of all UK regutatory and professional
requrements and the abjectmty of the audit engagement partner and
audit staff 1s not impared

The Cammittee was sausfied throughout the year that the objecivity
and independence of Deloitte was not In any way impaired by either

the nature of tho non-audit related serices undertaken during the year
thelevel of non audit fees charged or any other facts or arcumstances

A key aspect of this year s consideration was the effect of the acquistions
of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha

These acquisitions were both defined as Class One transactions

under the London Listing Rules Ta support the transaction faclitate
regulatory reporting and the rassing of the necessary finance the
Committee approved due dihgence services by XPMG the auditors of
Sky Deutschland and reporung accountant services from Emist & Young
(€Y ) the auditors of Sky Itaha and reperting accountant and other
transaction support and adwsory services from Sky plc s own auditors
Deloitte The commitiee was satisfred appropnate safeguards had been
impternented in thus regand

.

Deloitte network firms i Germany and (taly had been selected toprovide
consulting and other services to Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala prior

to ther acguisition by Sky In order to ensure an orcerly reductian in

and to reduce transiion nsk the Committee approved the contnuation
of senices by Delortte until ndmidual actaties were rescoped or
completad taken on by Sky personnel or other vendors comnussioned

All necessary adjustments Lo scope to ensure auditar independence
ware made within the six month penod permitted under the relevant
professional standards which envisage circumstances such as these

The auditors considered the need for atdibional safeguards and sausfied
the Commuttee that they had implemented these appropnately

The safeguards considered by the committea inciuded the contination
of the use of KPMG and £Y for the year ended 30 June 2015 as auditors
of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaha A certain level of permitted consutting
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adwsory services an these strategsc projects has been approved by
the Commuttee Lo be prowided by Deloitte in the financial year 2015016
to ensure an appropnate level of project advisory contnunty and these
services are planned to substantialy cease by the end of that year

tn hne wath the implementaucn of the EU audit regulation

Audrtt and non-audit services provided dunng the year were approved by
the Committee An analysis of auditorremuneraton s disdosed in note
7 to the consohidated financial statements

JRWIMOD

Audit and non-audit services
The Group has a policy on the pravision by the external auditor ¢f aucht
and non-audit seraces which categonses such services between

+ These services which the auditorisnot permitted to prowde

+ Those services whsch are acceptable for the auditor to prowde and
the prowision of which has been pre-approved by the Committee and

+ Those services for which the specific approval of the Committee
1s required before the auditor 15 permitted to provide the serwce

The polky defines the types of services falling under each category

and sets out the cntena whuch need to be met and the nternal approval
mechanisms required to be completed prior to any engagement.

An anatysis of all serwces pronded by the external auditor 15 reviewed
by the Committee on a quarterty bass

During the year the following examples were deemed to be pre-approved
mn accordance with the policy

update

+ Assurance of certan KPIs for the Bigger Picture Review

SWHNNLIS 1O

Effectiveness of external audit process

During the year the effectiveness of the audit process was assessed

by the Committee Group Finance team and other key internal stakeholders
n the form of a questionnaire The areas under review were

« Qualty resources and scope of planmng of the audit
« Opjectmty independence ard transparency of the audit

Identification of key accounting judgements sigruficant audit and
accounting issues

Level of technical knowledge and professional scepticism

Understanding Sky as a business its values and cufture and challenges
it faces

+ The quality of planning and supervision of the group audit

Qualty of reporung and commurications Lo the Audit Committee

Theresponses to the assessment were discussed which confirmed that
Deloitte are performing as expected Deloitte conunue 10 demonstrate
strengths i the majonity of these areas There were na signeficant findings
fram the assessment and the review confirmed that Deloitte continue to
carry out an effectve and robust external audit mduding the supenision
ofthe enlarged g-oup audit The Committee also continues tobe satsfied
with the qualty of challenge and sceptiasm of the extemnal auditor

The Commuttee therefore recommended to the Board that shareholder
approval be sought to reappomnt Delaitte as the external auditor

and has alsa recommended that Delaitte be appointed auditors of

Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha for the 201516 finanoal year

UONBULIOJ AP UIRYS

Skyplc 47




Anfrual Report 2015

Gowmmanca

Corporate governance report

{continued}

Audit partner rotation

The external auditor s required to rotate the audit partner responsible

for the engagement every five years As reported previously the current
audit partner rotates after the 2014715 audit The partner was shadowed
by a successor audit partner throughout the year after a sglecuon process
to ensure the development of tharough knowledge of the enlarged group
and to safeguard challenge and objectmty Theincoming audit partner

will be requtred ta rotate alter the 2019/20 audit

Tenure of external auditor

The regulatory regime refaung to mandatory audit tendenng has
signuficantly changed in the UK and Europe The Committee 15 closely
monitaning thesa develepments and taking inta account that Deloitte
has baen the external auditor of the Company since June 2002 1t expects
ta conduct an audit tender in advance of June 2020 which iselfis m
advance of 2023 by which the transitional rules in UK and EU regulation
would require the Company to have performed a tender

The Committee considered the ments of conducting an audit tender
process this year however in hght of the sigrificant enlargement in the
size and scale of the Group followang the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland
and Sky Italia - and the significant internal time and effort devoted

to establishung common financial controls and processes as a result
itwas decided that for now sharehotders interests would best be
served by facusing on the integration of the enlarged Group including
the consohidation of the Group audit with a single fimm The Committee
wiil continue to keep the timing of a future tender under annual review

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee
Chairman s overview

Following the retirement of Andy Higginson as a Non-Executive Director
Semior Independert Director and Chairman of this Commuttee at the
Comparry s 2014 AGM in November | am pleased to confirm that Martin
Gilbart replaced Andy as Senr Independent Director and was appointed
as a member of this Committee | succeeded Andy as Charrman of the
Commutiee and al) of these changes were effective from 21 November 2014

Owver the past three years a number of new Independent Non-Executive
Orrectors have been appointed to the Board and it was very encouraging
that ane of the findings of this year s internal Board eveluation was that
these new Directors have bedded down well and had strengthened the
dwersity of the Board The findings of the evaluation alsa confirmed that
the Board and it5s Committees continue to operaie effectwvely with each
of the Directors making valued and effectve contnbutions

The Board as a whole welcomes the opportumity te adapt to npovations
and change within the figld and continues to actively progress mitiatives
to adapt to corporate governance changes address gender balance on
the Board source the nght skills to complement our talented management

team and create robust successton plans to safeguard the Company s
future performance

There were three meetings held duning the year and after each Committee
meeting | reported to the Board on the key issues discussed dunng

our meetings You can find further information of how we have carned
out our role and responsibihties withmn the remainder of this report

The Committee s terms of reference are avadable on the Company s
corporate website

Nick Ferguson
Commuttee Chairman

Committee composiuion
Nick Ferguson (Chairman)
Dave Lewis

Arthur Siskind

Martin Gilbert

Andy Higginson stepped down as a member of the Committee tin November
2014 followang his retirement as 3 Director

Attendance at Committee Mectings
The Group CEO and General Counsel attend the meetings from Lime to tme
and the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee
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Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee Agenda
Focus for the Committee this year has centred on the following items

= Board and Committee composition

« Intenal Board evaluation

+ Rewiew of Non-Executive Director independence
+ Review of Drrectors conflicts of interest

+ Succession planning

+ Changes to the Listing Rules for comparnies with controlling shareholders

Actities during the year

Recrustment processes

The Committee keeps the Board s balance of skills knowledge and
expenence and the length of service of indivduals under constant review
n respect of succession planning and supplemaenting the skifl set of the
Board the Committee 1s responsible for the idenufication evaluation and
recommendation of cancdates for appointment to the Board There has
been a formal process i place for a number of years and all of the current,
Independent Neon-Executive Drectors have been thraugh the same
selection process

This process swvolves the Commitiee worlung with the Exztutive Directors
and the wider Board to identify and agree the ¢ntena for the appomntment
of any new independent Non-Executive director to the Board Once agreed
the Chairman of the Committee engages with and briefs an external
recruitment consultancy-The external recruitment consuttancy 1s asked
to drawup a list of potential candidates for the Committee to review
The Committee considers the Iist of potential candidates and agrees a
shortlist for internew by the Chaiman Group CEQ and other members
ofthe Committee and Board as appropriate Subject to agreement by the
Commuttee the Comvnittee then recommends the propased appaintee
1o the Board for consideratien

Comruttee composiuon

Dunng the year the Committee reviewed the composiion of all Commitiees
On 24 July 2004 Marun Gilbert stepped down as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Adine Grate was appointed in his place

wath effect from 25 July 2014 Followsng Andy Higginson s retremaent

at the Company s 2014 AGM ®t was agreed that Martin Gilbvert be appomted
a3 510 on 21 Novernber 2014 Martin replaced Andy as a member of the
Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee on the same date

Mick Ferguson was identified as a sutable successor as Charman of

the Corporate Governance & Noeminations Committee and he succeeded
Andy Higginson an 21 November 2014

Board evaluaticn

The Board undertakes an annual review of 1ts effectveness and at
least once gvery three years anindependent third party faciltates the
evaluabon Dunng the year the Charman of the Committee conducted
an internal evaluation and scheduled time wath each Director Lo discuss
the following

+ the effectiveness of the Board as a whole

+ the mix of skills and expenence on the Board

+ the effectiveness of Board processes and procedures
+ development of the Company s strategy and

- the performance of Board committees

are considered by the Board to be independent are clearty identfied on

Annual Report 2005
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The evaluation of the performance of the Charman was ted by the
Senior Independent Drector The Charman of the Committoe reported
the Iindings of the evaluanon to the Committee and the Board

The overall conclusion was that indmdual Board members are sausfied
that the Board works well and operates effectively i an ernaronment.
where there 15 constructive challenge from the Non-Executive Directors
The Directors were satisfied wath the current mux of skills and expenence
on the Board and that the comnpostitian of the Board and sts Committees
had been adequately reviewed during the year A number of new
independent Non-Executive directors have jotned the Board since

2011 and they have complemented the existing Board members and
contributed well to Boardroom debate offered alternative viewponts
and ¢challenged perceptions

0URLAMOD

The qualty of information presented to the Board was of a high standard
and distributed on a bmely basis There was a good balance of focus
between strategy the compebitive marketplace operations and governance
withun Board meetings

It 1s the intention of the Board to undertake an externally faciitated
evaluation during the 2015516 financial year in line with the Code

Independence

Dunng the year all Non-Executive Directers were asked to complete
qQuestuonnaines to enable the Committee to determine their ndependence
The Cormmittee reviewed the questionnares and recommended to the
Board that there be no changes to the ndependent status of the current
Independent Non-Executive Directors The Non-Executive Directors who

page 42

As noted on page 42 James Murdoch Chase Carey Dawnd DeVoe and Arthur
Siskind are not considered to be independent within the meaning of the
Code However following the evaluation the Commuttee ¢cansiders that each
of these directors conbinue Lo make asgnificant contnbution to Board and
Committee discussions

SIUNLIIEIS [EDURUY

Directors conflicts

The Commuttee reviewed the Board s conflicts duning the financial
year and conduded that Directors conficts had been appropriately
authonsed and that the process for authorisation was operating
effectively The Committee and the Bsard will cantunue to monitor
and revnew potentiah conflicts of interest and take action Lo miugate
them as necessary

Relatonship Agreement

Changes to the lIistng rules came inte effect in Novernbar 2014 which
require a pramium hsted company which has one or more controlling
sharehalders to have in place an agresment whichis intended to ensure
that any controlling shareholder complies with the independence provisions
inthe Listing Rules (see page 70 TheCommittee engaged eaternal counsel
1o assist with negotating arelationship agreement with gur controthing
sharehoclder 21st Century Fox InG whichwas subsequently entered into

by the Company on 13 November 2014
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Bigger Picture Committee

Chairman s overview

There wera two meetings dunng the year and after each Committee
meeting | reported to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed

| am pleased to report that there has been sigmificant progress across
the Bigger Picture trutiatives in the UK and Ireland from building the reach
impact and awareness of Sky Academy to the continued success of Team
Sky and the Company s approach to responsible business

Sky s commitment has been recognised through its strong performance
ina number of investor indices dunng the year induding the Carbon
Disclosure Project and the Dow Jones Sustainabibity Index

The Committae believes that the focus and scale of the work being done
continues to make a significant contribution to Sky s abibty to build a better
business for the long term

Progress against all of the Bigger Picture commtments and imiiatves
s detaided at skycomitggerpicture

James Murdoch
Commyitee Chairman

Activities during the year

The Commttee oversaw a number of key developments inrelation

to Sky s Bigger Picture infiatives notably progress towards our target
to help one muillion young pecale buld practical skills and expeneance
through Sky Academy in the LK and Irefand

Sky Acaderny s a set of intuatives using the power of TV creatnaty andd
sport tounlock the potential In young people In addition to the ongong
success of the Sky Sports Lwng For Sport, Sky Academy Skills Studios

Sky Academy Scholarshups and Sky Academy Startuing Out, the Commuttee
oversaw the development of the new Sky Academy Careers Lab at Skys
West London campus which will see at least 4 000 young people aged
16-18 visit Sky each year to gain career insights and build employability
skills During the year we also launched an additional Sky Academy Skilis
Studio at our Lmngsten site n Scotland which Is providing opportunities.
far another 12 000 young people 1n Scotland to take part in addiion to
the 12 000 in West London each year Both initiatives have provided more
oppertumties for Sky staff to get Involvedin Sky Academy through
volunteenng and we saw a 43% increase in volunteenng this year

The opening of Sky Academy Careers Lab supports the Committees
view that the Sky Academy experiences should be providing insight into
the diversity of roles for young people at Sky The Commettee noted the
Increass mn career opportunibies for young people through Sky Acaderny
Starting Out wath 1100 places across s apprenuceship graduate
placement and wark expenence programmes m 201405 up from almost
€00 in 201314 which is on track agatnst the commitment to double the
number of career opportumties avarable for young people withun Sky

tn Lthres years.

Composition ¢f the Committee
James Murdoch (Chawrman)
Tracy Clarke

Dava Lewrs

Attendance at Committee Mectings

The Group CEQ Group CFO senior executives representatives fram
Corporate Affars and the Bigger Prxcture team attend meetings at the
request of the Chairman The Deputy Company Secretary acts as Secretary
to the Committee The Committee s terms of reference are available onthe
Company’s corporate wabsite

Bigger Picture Commrttee Agenda
Focus For the year has centred on the following stems

» Areview of progress on Sky Academy
« Thewmpact of our partnership waith Bntish Cycling and Team Sky
+ Progress as detalled in Sky s Bigger Prcture reparting

Over the year the Commuttee reviewed the achievemnents of Sky Academy
n working towards its targets for increasing partiapation impact and
awareness Of note has been the doubling of customer awareness of

Sky Acaderny along wath the triphng of prospect awareness cver the year

Through the partnershup with Bntsh Cyeling the Commmttee noted that
over 1 7 million more people are now cyding at least once a month when
compared to 2009 The Committee also noted the role of Team Sky in
using the mspration of elite success tadrve particpation Inaddition
the Committee was mfarmed of the Team Sky objectives to strengthen
the Focus on Grand Tour performance and buidd fan engagement a5 we
move inte the last 18 manths of the partnarship with Bntush Cyching

Trwough its review of the Bigger Picturereporung the Committee noted
the overall progress against Sky s commitments inclutingin relation to
the Company's approach to responsible business The recommendations
the Committee made toimprove the communication of progress have
beenincorparated for the 2014115 year

Qverall the Committee continued to note the positive economic social
and environmental contnbution of Sky For more information about Sky s
approach and progress over the year go to sky com/biggerpicture
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Directors’ remuneration report
Annual statement from the Chairman

Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the Board | am pleased to present our Directovs
Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2015

Context and business performance

Ttus has been & transformatonal year for Sky By acquinng the Sky
businesses in Garmany and Italy we have opened up a significank new
growth opportunity whilst continuang te delver excellent financal and
operational performance There has been strong growth across all our
markets, particularly in the UK and Ireland and we have increased the
dradend to our shareholders by 3% This represents the 11th consecutve
year of dradend growth an excellent record by any measure

These results are parucularty strong considening the level of change in

the business Group revenue s up 5% year on year and operaung profit

up by 18% In the UK and Ireland we achieved the highest organic customer
growth m 1l years whde in Germany and Austna we dehivered record
customer growth and inltaly we held our customer base stable after three
years of decline In totatwe added almost one mithan new customers across
otr five Lerntones 45% more than i the prior year tataka our austomer

The continued suppoert of our shareholdars s extremely important to us
The Commuttee ntends to review 1ts position on dawback with a view

to intreducing suitable provisians for our business alongs:de our existing
policy on malus over the course of thenext year The Commuttee revisited
the topic of disciosure this year specifically the degree w which it deems
the disclosure of perfor mance targets to be commeraally sensitive

and the timeng of disclosure

Disctosure of perfarmance targets

Our targets whichinclude signifcant fixed costs refating to rights deals
are commergally sensilive We operate in a ighly competitve market,
both in acquinng customers and bidding for key nghts with a discrete
number of players and a number of our direct competitors do not
disclose therwr targets

Nevertheless the Commuttee acknowledges investor concerns and has
decided to disclose the targets for the 2013 annual bonus and LTIP vesting
ayear earlier than we antiapated in the Remuneration Report last year

We continue to disclose performance ranges in advance for EPS growth

for the Co-tnvestment Plan and relauve TSR performance for the Long Term
Incentwe Plan The Committee wall continue to use its judgement at the
end of each year te determine levels and iming of disclosure

In addivion the Commuttee has also provided greater darity on pay and
performance outcomes for the 2015 bonus payment and Long Term
incentrve Plan vesting A clearer chart and mare detaled commentary
on performance are provided on pages 53 to 55

Impact of the acqursition of Sky Deutschiand and Sky [taha

base past the 2i«millon mark. ALthe sama time, wo Irkraased our paid-for.
subscrption preducts by 4 6 mithon for the year and saw a significant
Increase incustomer loyalty with churn under 10% 1n each of our markets
Against this backdrop of excellent performance the business has astrong
ptatform en which to buld and aclear set of plans to deliver long-term
growth and returns for shareholders

The long-term sustainabihity and success of our business rsbasedon a
relentfess focus on our key drvers for growth Our remuneration policy
directly bnks pay to the achievement of stretching performance targets
which dnve our strategy as set out on page 4 This princeple of Iinlang pay
to stretch performance has remamed unchanged aver the past six years
ond has helped to mantam the stabiity and focus of the senior team to
debver cutstanding value to eur shareholders The Committee ensures
that the performance measures selected inits incenive plans reflect the
key performance indicators of the business and thereby provide adirect
{ink ta Sky s strategc aims Having conswdered other performance
measures the Committee s comfortabile that the current measiires

and ther inclusion across all three incentive plans ensures the nght knk
1o our strategic KPls and the proper focus on thesa results gver both

the short and lang term

Last year the Commttee introduced a number of changes to our
remunerabon policy which were well recerved by our shareholders including
the introduction of a cap on annual Long Term Incentve Plan awards a
mmunumum sharehol dng requirement for Executsve Directors a formal policy
onmalus and more explanation and disclosure on petformance cutcomes

Foellewang the completion of the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky
Itaha in November 2014 the Committee considered whether any changes.
Lo exgcutive remuneration were required Notwithstanding the new
international and enlarged responsibilities of both Execitive Directors
as aresult of this transaction the Committee deaded that existing
compensation arrangements were appropnate

In respect of our mults-year incentive plans that span the transaction
period the Committee made no change Lo the required performance
targets but resolved that to avord any distortve effect from the
transaction measurement would be made on a like-for-like basis
restatung either to a UK & trefand only basis or to a pro forma basis
for the transaction and disposal of Sky Bet depending upon when
the plans commenced Targets for all new plans that commence
past-completion are on the basis of the enlarged Group

Full detads of all targets and the actual performance aganst thase
will be disclased in alignment with our palicy an disclosure

Pay and performance outcomes for 2015

Performance across the Group has been excellent and reinforces that

our approach to incentansauon continues to work olr management team
15 delivering the nght outcomes for the business and Sky s shareholders
1tis aganst this great set of results that the Committee has decided the
remuneration for its Executive Directors
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Directors remuneration report -
Annual statement from the Chairman

{contmued)

Annual bonus

Each year the Committee considers the business plan and pnonities tn
settng one dear ambrtious stretch target for each chosen measure of
performance The key measures that drive our business plan are product
growth operating profit and operating cash flow Payments earned under
this plan are determined by the performance achieved under each of the
three measures and the bonus s structured such that thera would be a
matenal impact on the annual bonus for underperformance Thereis also
no additional payment for performance beyond the stretch targets

Operational performance across the Group has been excellent This was
led by the cutstanding performance of the UK and Ireland business
which delivered our strongest customer growth for 11 years Pard-for
product growth for the UK and Ireland was 3 3 milken sigruficantly
ahead of stretch target

This strong trading performance combined with a conunued focus on
operational efficiency and cost control delivered an adjusted operating
profit to £1 4 bilhonin the UX and Ireland ahead of target Operating cash
flow which 1s animportant indicator of the financial health of the business
and its abihty to sustain and grow 1s operations was ahead of target at,
E14 bidlion

As a result of the excellent performance this year and in accordance with
the rules of the scheme the Remuneration Committee approved maximum
bonus awards of 200% and 150% for the Group CEO and Group CFO
respectively for this performance year

Long Term Incentive Plan

The business has delivered a remarkable penod of sustained performance
BUnAg tHE three year pened of this Plan 2012 te 20157AN threeof the
operational measures - revenue graowth operating cash flow and growth
n @armngs per share - were exceeced with revenue growth in the UK and
weland of 17% earmings in the UK and Ireland up by 33% and an average
annual operating ¢cash Flow mn the UK and Iretand of £14 brilion Therefore
thus part of the Plan will pay outin full However the part of the Plan based
on retative TSR performance will pay out at 75 5% The total overall vesting
15 therefore 93%

This caonsistently strong company performance has delivered excellent
returns for our shareholders and the Board has proposed a 3% increase
In the dividend to 32 Bp whith 1s the 11th consecutive year of growth

A significant element of the value delvered 1o Execute Directors by this
Plan 15 a direct consequence of the increase in the share prce over the
three-year performance penod Cur approach to awarding a fixed number
of shares each year with no correlation Lo salary means that year-on-year
growth in total remuneration can only be acheved through share price
appreciation particularty when stretch performance targets are being
met This construct delivers strong shareholder algnment By awarding
an absolute number of shares as opposed to a percentage of salary
management benefit when the share price increases but are exposedif the
share price dechines |n additon, vesting occurs only every two years which
helps to ensure that the management team brngs a longer-tarm focus

to the business This year IS a vesung year $o it 1s important to remember
that the LTIP payment this year represents two separate years of grants
not one This causes a spike n total pay every other year and distorts

the single figure remuneratton shown on page 57, as there will be no

LTIP payment next year total remuneration will be significantly reduced
2016 The next LTIP vesung wil be in July 2017

Co-investment Plan

This 15 a haghly successful plan for our mest senior managers It encourages
them to reinvest ther earned bonus into Company shares and therefore
the future of our business Vesting 1s deferred for three years and
dependenton EPS growth underpinrng algnment to shareholders
wnterests Qur Executive Directors renvested the maxumum 50% of therr
annual bonus tn the 2012 Plan Over this three-year penod the growth
inearmings per share i the UK and Iretand of 33% was in excess of the
maximum vestng threshold and the matching shares therefore vest

in Full Details are prowded on page 53

Remuneration in 2015/16

The Commuttee follows a policy of maintaining lower levels of fixed pay
relative to the markit We are confident that the structure of a high ratio
ofvanable to fixed pay continues Lo provide a strang hink between pay

and performance and delvers high returns for our shareholders Solooking
ahead to the new financial year 2015/16 while the level of personal
achievemnent debvered by the Executie Directors would allow for greater
inGreases under the all employee salary review palicy the Committee has
made modest adjustments to the base salanes of the Group CEQ and
Group CFO of 3% effective 1 July 2015

Long Term Incentive Plan awards of 600 000 for the Group CEQ and
350 000 For the Group CFO are maintained at the same level as was
previously agreed last year and i line with our pohicy

The performance measures for the annual bonus LTIP and Co-Investment
Plan also remain unchanged

The Committee considered whethar the seguisibions made dunng the .

year might lead to a change in the long-term incentive arrangemerits

After careful reflection the Committee determined that the LTIP and
Co-lnvestment Plan which are both kay elements of the totalremuneration
for the broader management team of Sky plc has been successfulin
drving performance incentivising management and delivenng sharehalder
returns The Commitzee confinues to keep all elements of the rcemunerauion
policy and structure under review to ensure it drves the perfarmance

of the business and therefore the interests of the shareholders

Tracy Clarke
Committee Chairman
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This section sets out how our remuneration policy was implemented during
the year ended 30 June 2015 and hew i1t will be implemented for the coming
year It also sets out the Ink between Company performance and Executive
Directors remunerabion the context in which cur pohcy operates details
an our Execubive Directors shareholdings and the general governance of
Directors remuneration The rémuneration policy ts summansed on page
64 1069 and avalable tw read i Full n our 2014 Annual Report which can

be accessed wia our corporate websste at sky com/corparate

Vanable pay outcomes for the year ended
30 June 2015

As shown onpages 13 to 15 the business has delivered ancther year
of exceptional operating and financial performance in what has been
atransformational year for Sky All measures for the plans aperating
" the year ended 30 lune 2015 and described in thes section are for
the U and Ireland

Annual bonus for 2015 performance

The annual bonus drives the achievernent of annual financal and
operational business goals The plan for 2015 for Executrre Directors and
semor executives was based on three equally weighted measures which
were dantified by the Committee as being key indicators of performance
dnwving growth For our business and returns to our shareholders

« Paud for Products Growth
- Adpsted Operaung Profit

« Adjusied Operating Cash Flow Thisis a key measure of the underiying
health of the business and strong perfarmance of £141 billion ahead
of streteh target centinues Lo support our growth strategy

As aresult of this excellent performance the Remuneration Committee
recommended that the maxxmum bonus awards of 200% and 150% of base
salary be awarded to the Group CEO and Group CFO respectvely for this
performance year

Annual bonus metrics

Performance Werghting Performance Achievement aganst
measure performance measures
UK and Ireland paid-  33% +3 3m S wdicant out-parformance
for products growth

UK and Ireland 33% E1350m Out perfarmance
operatng profit

UK and Ireland 33% £1414m [T ———
operaung cash flow

The Commuttee judges that immediate retrospectve disclosure of
specific targets is commercially sensitive because we aperate 1 a hughly
competitive market both in acquinng customers and brdding for key
nghtswith a very small number of piayers We therefore belteve that
early disclosure of our Largets would offer an unfair comgetitive
advantage and waould be ta the detriment of our shareholders

Wae will make retrospective disclosure when the targets are deemed
to be no longer commercially sensibve We antiapake this 1o be two

~—Adprssted Operatng Cash Flow

We bebave the concept of threshold target and maximum performance
would compromise the dawve for growth so the Committee sets one clear
stretch target for each performance measure each year after careful
consideration of the busmess plan and of consensus analyst forecasts

This year we have provided greater clanty on performance outcomes

The table in the next column sets out the Committee s assessment of
performance versus the three measures for thelast performance penod
The Committee sets stretching targets which must be delivered to achieve
the business plan and for the Execute Directors ta receive the maximum
borius There are no payments above maximum for performance above
these stretch targets

The Comnmutiee will use Its Judgement to assess the level of bonusif

a stretch targets not met talunginto account parsonal performance
the performance of the other measures the underlying performance
of the business and other factors whuch the Committee considers

to be matenal to the resuits achieved Payments are earned indirect
correlaton to perfarmance achieved Performance agamnst these key
targets s described below

Paud for Products Growth In the UK and lreland we saw our strongest
operational performance for many years with exceptional product
growth i the UK of +3 3 milhanwhich significantly exceeded the stretch
target, underpinned by our continued Facus on customer quahty and
our investment in productmty improvements which drove robust growth
n both new customer additions and paid-for product sales in a ughly
competitrve market Increased customer loyalty and satisfactionas

also reflected in a significant reduction in our churn rate

Adpusted Qperating Profit Strong revenue growth and a successful
operational effiaency programme resulted «n angperating profit
of £135 billion whichwas ahead of stretch target

wodai xineng
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years after theend of the performance period

Vesting of shares under the Co-investment Plan 2012~-2015

Under the terms of the CIP offered on 28 August 2012 for the performance
penad 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015 Executive Oirectors voluntanty deferred
S50% of therr earned 2012 bonus into mvestment shares which were then
ma'ched by the Company up to 15 tsnes the gross equrvatent of their
nvestment

The table below shows the performance conditions for vesting of the
matchung shares

EPS growth performance
(3nnual average growth
ovur three-year terrn)

Match awarded
{number of matching shares
awarded per mvastment share®)

Less than RPI +3% 0o
RPI +3% 10
RPI +4% 17
RPI +5% 133
RPI +6% 15
More than R +6% 15

Straight-line interpolation between points
T 1& on equavalens gross basn

The average ad,usted UK and Ireland basic EPS growth rate of 10% per
year over the three-year penod exceeds the threshold for maximum
vesting The Commsttee has agreed that the matching shares under
the 2012 CIP will vest in full on 28 August 2015

Vesting of shares under the Executive Long Term Incentive Plan 2012-2015
The vesting of awards made in 2012 and 2013 for the performance period

1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015 was dependent on operational performance
measures which determined 70% of the award and TSR the remarning 30%

Skyplc 53
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(centinued)

The three equally weighted operational performance measures each of which 1s a key indicator of Sky s continued success were

+ Revenue growth keyto our growth strategy

+ Qperatng cash flow measures our abikity to generate and manage cash

+ EPS growth measures our bottomhne performance

Points wera awarded for performance on the three operabional measures as follows

+ For EPS two potnts are awarded for growth of RPI +3% per year with the maximum 10 points awarded for RP! +5% per year or more

+ For cperating cash flow and revenue growth one point 1s awarded for 75% achuevernent of target on a shaing scale up to 10 points for 105% or more
» Onepont equates to 10% of the award vestng. with maximum vestung for 21 pomnts or mare vesting on a straight-ine basis between these points
Annual Performance Measures are shown in detail in the table below

Average EPS growth Operating cash flow Revenue growth
Performancy Performance
Performance Ponts achieved Paints achweved Points
achieved awarded (% of target) awardad (% of target) awarded
RPL+5%pa 0 105% or more 0 105% or more 10
RM +45%pa 8 100% a8 100% B8
RPI+4% pa 6 95% 6 95% 6
RM+35%pa 4 0% 4 0% 4
RP +3%pa 2 a5% 2 85% 2
LessthanRPI +3% pa 1] 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 78% 0 Less than 75% [+]

Aswith the annual bonus the commttee will make full retrospective disclosure when the targets are deemed to be no longer commercially sensitive
which s anticipated to be twg years after the end of the performance penod Hawever the commentary and perfarmance chart below aims to provde

greater transparency and danty for our shareholders

As with the bonus performance measures the committee made careful consideration of consensus analyst foracasts and the business plan before
setung what it believed to be stretching performance targets Payments are earned in direct carrelation to performance achweved and performance
against each target s described below

« Revenue growth revenue has increased by 17% over the peniod tn UX and Iretand which is in excess of the performance target representing
exacellent growth and strong momentum for the future

« Operating cash flow A key measure of the underlying health of the business and the ability of the management team to sustain and grow
IS sperations Average annual operating cash flow in the UK and ireland of £1 4 biflion was in excess of target

.

EPS growth The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards in 2012 and 2013 3t RPI +5% pa This s equivalent to absolute growth ;m earnings
of 26% over three years if RPY s 3% a year Thus level of growth in earmings was set at atevel which cxceeded consensus research anatysts esumates
at the tme Actual growth in earmings per share over the three-year penod was 10% with average RPY over the penod of the scheme of 2 3% pa

This element of the ptanvests i full reflecung the value generated for our shareholders over this period

The actual points awarded for the penod are

Actus] ponts award ed
Average EPS growth Operaung cash flow Revenue growth
Actual points awarded  Actual points awarded  Actual pomnts awarded
1000 1000 1000

The total of 300015 well ahead of the 2i points required for full vesting of this element of the award which comprises 70% of the total

Despite excellent share pnce growth and a consistent dvidend pohicy our TSR performance over the three-year penod was anncrease of 72 7% compared
tothe FTSE median of 48 7% with the upper quartile at 90 2% and as & consequence 75 9% of this proporbion of the award vested on 28 July 2015
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The table below summarises performance over the three-year performance penod versus the stretch targets

2012-2015 Long Term Incentrve Plan performance metrics

Performance Weighting  Performance Achievement agamst

measure perfarmanca Measurgs
Revenue Growth 23% 15% OQut-gerformance
QOperating Cash  23% N4% Out performance
Flow
EPS Growth 22% 137% Sigficant sut-parformance
Relarve TSR 30% 759% Betwren medun

nduppar quartie

The total overall vesting for the LTIP was therefore §3% Over the longer term our consistently strong company performance has delivered excellent
returns for our shareholders and the Board has proposed a 3% increase in the dividend to 32 8p which is the Tith consecutive year of growth

Long Term Incentive Plan, Co-Investment Plan and Sharesave Awards made in the Year

Mrnimusm % Maxmum %

wodn x3neng

Tuewanon

No ofshares Face Valus on of sharesthat  ofshares that
awarded Grant Date Dateof Grant  Performance Period  Vesting Date can vest €an vast

Long Term Incentrse Plan

Jeremy Darroch 600000 250714 £5 247000 010734 -300617 2507 0% 100%

Andrew Gnffith 350000 250714 £3060750"  010714-300617 250717 0% 100% é‘

Ca-Investment Plan §

Jeremy Darroch 163644 010914 £1443340° 010714 -300617 010917 0% 100% )

Andrew Gnffith 76530 010914 £678 523 0714 -30 0677 010917 0% 100% #
3

Sharesave Plan &

Jeremy Darroch 2138 300914 £18 866 nla 010220 nia n/a

Andeew Gnffith 1271 300914 [ipiied nia 010218 nla nia

1 Market price at date of LT award was £8 745 on 25 July 2014

2 Market pnca at date of 0P matching award was £8 B2 on 1 September 2014

3 Market price 3t date of Sharesave grant was E8 B2 on 30 September 2014

Performance conditiens for the Long Term Incentive Plan

Awards made in July 2014 were Year 1 rul-cost option awards That s they relate to the three-year perfarmance penad beguining an d July 2014 and

ending on 30 June 2017 and are subject to the following performance condibions

t Operational targets - 70% of the award

There ara three equally weighted oparational performance measures each of which s a key indicator of Sky s continued success

+ EPSgrowth 7]

+ Operaung cash flow g

+ Revenue growth g
o

The Comemuttee wil Make retrospective disclosure of these targets when they are deemed 1o be no longer commeroally sensitive We anticipate this to be :

twa years after the end of the performance perad Thes means thar we will review disclosure of performance targets n our 2019 implementauan repart 3

with a view to publishing unless the Commuttee believes they are still commercially sensitrve In the context of the market 10 which the company operates §
o

For EPS two points are awarded for growth of RPI 43% per year with the maxamum 10 ponts awarded for RP +5% per y@ar or more §

For operating cash fiow and revenue growth one point rs awarded for 75% achievement of target on a shding scale up to 10 points for 105% or more

One point equates to 10% of the award vesting with maxmum vesting for 21 points or more vestuing on a strasght-line basis between these points
There ts ne additranal award for achievement above 21 ponts

If the muremum range 1s met each year for all measures 26% of the shares vesy

The Commuttee sets a high thresho!d vesting level in ing with our policy of rewarding success not falure Maximurm vesting 1s not achievable if
performance s below threshold for any one measure

To earn the minimum of ane point on any one of these measures requires the achievement of 75% of targat Missing two targets would represent a
sigruficant and dispropartionate reductian in total compensation
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Annual performance measures are shown in further detaill n the table below

Average EPS Growth CGperating Cash Flow Rovenure Growth
Performance achieved Performance
Performance achieved Paints awarded (% of target) Pointx awarded achieved (% of target) Points awarded
RPI +5% pa [o] 105% or more 10 105% or more 0
RP +4 5% pa 8 100% 8 100% 8
RP +4% pa 6 95% 6 95% 6
RPI+35% pa 4 S0% 4 0% 4
RPI+3% pa 2 a5% 2 85% 2
Less thanRPI +3%pa a 75% 1 75% 1
Leéss than 75% 0 Less than 75% [+]

The topend of the EPS growth range was set for awardsin 2014 at RP1 +5% p a This is equivalent ta absotute growth n earmngs of 26% over three years
FRP 15 3% a year Thes tevel of growth in earnings was set at alevel which exceeded consensus research analysts esumates

2 Relative TSR performance - 30% of the award

The Company s TSR performance 1s measured relatrve 1o the TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 100 1f the Company s TSR performance is betow median
the TSR element of the award lapses in full For medhan performance one-third of the shares subject to the TSR condition may vest, with all the shares
vesting for upper quartile performance Vesting is on a straght-hne basis between these pomnts as shown below

TSR Vestng Schedule

TSR calcutations are conducted independently by Towers Watson adwsors to the Committee

Performance conditions for the Co-Investment Plan
qp awards made in 2014 are subject to the performance conditons set out in the table below

EPS growth performance Match awarded
(annual average growth (number of matching shares
over thrae-year term) awarded per investment shara')
Less than RP| +3% 00
RP +3% 10
RPl +4% 125
RPI +5% 15
More than RM +5% 1s

Straight-lne interpalation between ponts
18 On equivalent gross ek
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TSR performance

The graph below shows the Company s TSR for the six years to 30 June 2015 measured as the value of a £100 halding in erdinary shares at the start
of the penad The performance 1s shown relative to the FTSE 100 which represents the broad market index against which the Company s shares are
traded With the acquisitiens of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itahia the narrow focus of the FTSE 350 Medta companies s no longer relevant given the
broader scope of the business and this index which was shown in previous years, 1s removed fraom the chart below

TSR 15 a measure of Lhe returns that a company has provided for 1ts shareholders reflecting share price rhovemants and assuting reimvestment
of divdends Data s averaged aver three months at the end of each financial year

Payments made to Executive Directors

The table below sets out total remuneration received by the Executive Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and the prior year
ended 30June 2014 The vesuhg patternof.awards underthe LTIR.s bienaal sharesvest every otharyaar overa three-year performance period
This means that every cther yearno payment Is due as there 1s no vesting of awards The following year assuming performance cordiubns are met
there will be a payment which caovers the equivalent of two years vesting 2015 was a year mwhich the LTIPs awarded for the performance pericd

1 July 2012 ko 30 June 2015 vested The single figure for the Group CED i 2015 15 therefare larger than the 2034 figure

Single Figure for Executive Directors’ Total Remuneration (audited)

Long Term
Salary' Taxable Benefits? Pension® Bonus* Incentive Plan® Co-lnvestment Plan® Total
3 2014 2015 2014 2015 20 2015 2011 2015 2014 015 2014 2015 204 205
JDeremyh 960700 9B4750 17907 18607 149491 147814 1921400 1969 500 nfa 11818440 1830092 1950138 4879590 15889249
3T oC
An?rl_'ew 602175 620000 16115 16115 83481 94755 903283 930000 nfa 6303168 843536 BS7111 2448970 B8A8G14B
Gnffith

Exetulive Directons salanes werencreasad on July 2044 by 2 5% for the Group CEO and 2 96% for tha Group CFO Tha average wicrease for employees at that time was 2 5%

nsing ko 3 5% for those earming less thant 30000 per year with a range of 0% to 10% for performance promoucns and market admstments

Taxable benefits mnclude cornpany tar or car allowance and healthcare

Pension compnses a cash allowance in beu of company contnbutons for Jerermy Darroch and Andrew Grffith

Bonus shows the fuliamount samed shortly after year end inwhich the performancea measures apphed indluding amounts deferred through tha CIP The payout for the 2014 bonus

was 200% of base salary for the Group CEO and 150% for the Group CFO The higures for 2015 are 200% for the Group CEO and 150% far the Group CFO The Executive Directors

deFerred 50% of thew bonus inko shares through the CIP in 2014 and it1s antapated they will do 5o for 2015

S Long Termincentne Plan shows the market value of the awards vested inmedhately fallowing the end of tha relevant performance penod No LTIP shares vestad for the pecformance
penod ended 30 June 2014 The figure for 2015 15 For LTIP shares whith vested on 28 July 2015 using the average share price over the penad1 April to 30 June 2015 of €10 59

6 Co-Investment Plan shows the market, vakue of the matching shares that vested on 30 AUgust 2014 with B share pace of £8 B2 Previously tha value of these shares was estimated

using the average share price over the peniod | Apnilto 30 June 2014 of £8 81 It also shows the estimated va'ue of matching shares that are due ta vest on 28 August 2015 using the

avarage shar¢ price over the penod 1Apal ta 30 June 2015 of £30 59

Bow ke
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{continued)

Group CEQ’s remuneration

The table below provides a summary of the total remuneratien for the

Group CEQ over the past six years induding bonus payout LTIP and CIP
vesting levels The table highhghts the unigue structure of our remuneration
pokcy 1 which vesting of LTIP shares oocurs every two yearsrather than

the customary 12-month cycle As our LTIP awards are made as a fixed
number the realised value 1s purely reflectve of delivery aganst performance
measures and any share pnce growth aver this penod keeping it aligned

to shareholders interests

It should be noted that total remuneration for 2013 includes vesting of the
one-off additsonal LTIP award of 300 000 shares made in 201 at the time

of the possible News Corparation tid The average annual total remuneration
paid to the Group CEQ over this six-year perod excluding this one-off award
15 £9108 859

Annual Lne

Bonus vesting

payout rates Cip
Single against aganst vesung rates

figure  mawmum MAXIMUM  agaINst maximum

af tetal opportunity opportunity opportunily
Year remuneration % * %
2018 16 B89 249 100 93 100
204 4 879 590° 100 na 100
2013 17026 982* 975 100 100
2012 4 550037 100 nia 100
20n 1133554 100 83 nla

2010 2678744 100 nia

Disclosure of Performance Targets for 2013

The Committee has discussed at length its approach to disdosure of
performance targets Whilst maintaming its position that early disclosure
of targets would be commercially detrimental because of the highly
competitive nature of the market i which it operates it considers that
performance targets for the 2013 annual bonus and for the Long Term
Incentive Plan that vested in that year are no ionger commercially sensitve

In setting the targets the Committee gave careful consideration to the
business plan and to the research analyst consensus forecasts at the ime
The targets and performance for the 2013 annual bonus are shown in the
table below

2012/13
Performarnce vs
Performance Metng Target Performance Target
Paid-for Praducts Growth +2 75m +2 563m 93%
Gperating Profit E1300m £1330m 102%
Operating Cash Flow £1275m £1396m 109%

Onthe basis of this perfarmance the Committee determined that the
bonus was paid at 97 5% of maximurn fer the Group CEO and 96 7% for the
Group CFO

The Long Term Investment Plan that vested in 2013 for the 2010-2013
performance period was based on three equally weighted operational
performance measures of average EPS growth Operating Cash Flow
and Revenue Growth Eachwas considered by the Committee to be

1 indudes vaiuatuon of LTIP shares which vested on 28 July 2015 and CIP matching shares
due 10 vest on 28 August 2015 both using the average share price over the penod
1Apnl 1o 30 June 2015 of E1059

2 Incudes valuation of CIP matching shares which vestad on 30 August 2014 with share
price of EB B2 Previously reported using the average share price over the penad
1Apnito 30 June 2014 of ER B12

3 inchudes vesting of the ane-off addibonal LTIP award of 300 000 shares made n
2017 at the time of the possible News Corporation id

4 indudes hrst year of vestng of {IPintroduced in 2010

Percentage change in Group CEQ s remuneration 1July 2014 to 30 June
2015

The table below shows the percentage change in Group CEQ remuneration
from 1 July 2014 ta 30 June 2015 compared to the average change for all
employees

na__ s key indicator of Sky s conunued success-T5R wasnotinduded as

Group CEO%
change All employees % change
Base Salary’ 25% 3 5% employees earming less than
£30000 25%above E30000
Taxable Benefus 19% 0%
Annual Bonus 25% %

1 Employees were awarded up to 10% For gutstandng pecformance promotions and
market adjustments
Relative importance of pay spend

The table below shows total employee costs and demdend payments to
shareholders for 2014 and 2015

2014 2005

(Em) (Em)

Total employee costs 1044 1334
Bivndend payments 485 549

1 Group totalinglud ng Germany and Italy

a performance measure for that parucular award due Lo the possible
News Carporation (subsequently renamed 215t Century Fox Inc) td

58 Skypic




Annual Report 2015

Governancs
Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The table below summanses the key components of remuneration for our Chawrman and Non-Executive Directors
Elemant and purpose Operation
Fees Reflect ndmdu?l responsibilities and membership of Board Fees for the Chairman and the Non-Executre Directors are

Commuttees Attract Non-Executve Directors with the skills and reviewed annually having regard to independent adwice and
expenence required to oversee the implementation of strategy surveys

The Carporate Govemance and Nominations Committee
determnes the fees pawd 10 the Charman taking nto account
the complewuty of the role and the ume and commitment required
The Board of Directors determines the fees for the Non-Executive
Directors

Addrtional fees for membershup of or chairrmanship of a
commutiee, or for other responsibhues, are payable n addition
Lo the basic fees Fee levels for 2015 are disdosed inthe table
on page 62

Non-Executive Drectars can elect to recere a portian of their
fees in the Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly
basis Crrectors who are deemed to be affilated with 21st Century
Fox are not permitted to take part in this facility Non-Executive
Directors interests are cisciosed in the tahble on page 60

Benafits Addinonal benefits may be provided for business purposes
eg prowision of a car to travel toffram meetings

Non-Executive Directors are not ehgible to join Sky s pension plan

wodx ¥8mens
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Non-Executive Directors are ehgible to receve a Sky subscription

package
Bonus and Non-Exccutive Directors are not chigible to particpate in any
Share Plans bonus or share scheme offered by the Company
Notice and Each Non-Executive Director’s appomtment is for an intia!
termenation three-year termn In accordance with the UK Corporate Gavernance
BERASIONS Code all Directars submit themselves for annual reappointment

Non-Executive Diractars each have a letter of apponument

these appointments may be terminated without notice

Any fees payable would be seltled at the date of termination

No continuting payment of fees are due if a Non-Executive Director
15 not re-elected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 fuly 2045 and signed on its behalf by

Tracy Clarke
Chairman of Remuneration Comnmuttee
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

Introduction

In accordance with the Comparues Act 2006 the Corporate governance
report on pages 40 to 50 and mformation contained in the Strategic report
forms part of this Directors report and are incorporated by reference

The Directors present thew report togather with the audited consohdated
and parent company financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

Shares

Dividends

The Drectors recommend a final dwdend for the year ended 30 June 2015
of 20 S0 pence per ordinary share which together with the intenm divdend
of 12 30 pence pawd to shareholders on 21 April 2015 will make a total
dradend for the year of 32 80 pence (2014 3200 pence) Subject to
approval at the 2015 AGM the final dwvdend will be paid on 20 November
2015 to shareholders appearing on the register at the clase of business

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Company s issued ordinary share capital at 30 June 2015 compnised
one dass of ordinary shares All of the issued ardinary shares are fully
paid and rank egqually in all respects Further details of the Company s
share capital and share 1ssues under the periad under review are
disclosed in nots 25 to the consolidated financial Statements

Interests in votng nghts

Information proeviged to the Company pursuant to the UK Listing
-———————anthority’s Discdlosure and Transparency Rutes (DTRs") is pubhshed

on a Regulatory Information Service and on the Company’s website

As at 30 lune 2015 the Company had been novfied under OTRS of

the following significant holdings of voting reghts in s shares

Percent
Amount of class
Identty of person or group owned notified
21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited’ 67278131397 3914
BlackRock Inc? B8 682765 506
1 Direct holding whith 1s subject to resinclions onits vating nghts (please see Voung
nhghts below)

2 Inchirect holcing
3 Number of shares held as at 30 june 2015

There have been no changes to the above significant holtings between
1 July and 28 July 2015

The Empioyee Share Ownership Plan { ESOP ) was established to satisfy
awards made Lo parucipants of the Company s employee share plans
The trustees of the ESOP have wanved the nght to dvidends payable

n respect of the shares hefd by it except to the extent of 00001% of
the dindend payable on each share At 30 lune 2015 the ESOP had an
nterest in 14 B0S 780 of the Company’s ordinary shares The Trustees
who areindependent of the Company have full discreuon on how they
vate the ordinary shares held by the ESOP

voting rights

The Company s Articles of Association provide that subject 1o any nghts
or restrictians attached to any shares on a show of hands every member
present in person or by proxy shall have one vote, and on a poli every
member shall have one vote for every share of which he s aholder

Ona poll votes may be gren either personally or by proxy o (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authorsed representative !

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting may
appoint one of more proxes to attend and vate instead of m 1f a member
appoints more than one proxy he must specify the number of shares

which each praxy is enutled to exercise nghts over A proxy need not be a
sharehclder of the Company Holders of the Company s ordinary shares do
not have cumulate voting nights A voting agreement dated 21 September
2005 was entered mnto between the Company BSky8 Holdco Ing,

215t Century Fox and 21st Century Fox UK Normmnees Limited which became
uncond:itional on 4 November 2005 and caps 21st Century Fox UK Nominees
Limuted s voting nghts at any general me¢ting at 3719% The provisions of
the voting agreement cease to apply on the first to occur of a number of
crreumstances which imclude the date on which a general offer 1s made

by an independent person (3s defined inthe voung agreement) forthe
ordinary share caputal of the Company

Restncuons on transfer of securities

There are ne specfic restnctions on the transfer of securities in the
Company which 1s governed by the Artides of Association and prevaiing
legislauon noris the Company aware of any agreements between holders
of secunties that may result in restnctions en the transfer of secunties
ar thatrnay resultinrestrictions on veting nghts.

Vanation of nghts

Subject to the Companies Act 2006 nghts attached to any class of shares
rmay be vaned with the consent in wnting of the holders of three quarters
n nominal value of the 1ssued shares of the class or with the sanction of

a specal resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the
shareholders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Uisting Rules came nto effect in November 2014 which
require a preruum isted company which has one or more controling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which 15 itended to ensure
that any cantroling shareholder comphes with the tndependence provisions
nthe Lisung Rules

215t Century Fox e ( 28CF ) and cer tain of its wholly owned subsidianes
qirectly or mdirectly exercise or control 39 14% of the voung nghts of the
Company and are therefore deemed to be controfing shareholders for
the purposes of the Listing Rules

Accordingty the Company entered into a relatlonship agreement with
21CF on 13 November 20164 (Lthe Relauonship Agreement ) contaming
the undertakings required by the Listing Rules

In accordance wath the Lisung Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the perniod under review that s from 13 Novembaer 2014 to 30 June 2015

() the Company has comphed with the independence provisions in
the Relationship Agreement

(1) sofarasthe Company s aware, 2ICF and «ts associates have complied
with the independence provisions in the Relatsonship Agreement and

(m) sofarasthe Company is sware 2ICF has procured compliance by Its
relevant subsidianes and ther associates with the independence
provisions in the Relationship Agreement |
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Qutstanding share awards Jeremy Darroch (audited)

uod 28nens

Sharaprece Market  Date from

At 30 June Vested  Exerosed Lapsed At3i0June atdasteof price on which
Oate of award 2014 durtngyear duringyear dunngyear 2015 award exercise exercsable Expiry date
Lmip'*
260712 600000 - - - 600000 E7065 nfa 260718 260720
260713 600000 - - - 600000 £822 n/a 260715 260720
CIP Matching®?**
2708087 204 425 - 204 425 - 0 £5405 £8 5877 270812 270817
081 183935 - 183935 - [o] £72075 £85877 nos13 310818 ﬁ
30081° 207729 207729 207729 - o] EG 46 E8BI Elalel-3 0 300819
280812 184149 - - - 184,149 £764 nfa 280815 280820
280813 162794 - - - 162794 £841 nfa 280816 28082
Sharesave
250909 3591 359 359 - o E433 E9 555 010215 010815
Qutstanding share awards Andrew Grffith (audited)

Shareprce Market Datefrom

At 30 June Vested Exercised Lopsed At30June dtdateof price an which
Date of award 2014 duringyear durmgyear dunngyear 2015 award exercise axercrsable Expury date
LTIpYs
260712 320000 - - - 320000 E£7065 nfa 260715 260720
260713 320000 - - - 320000 €822 nfa 260715 260720
CIP Matching %34
3oosn? 95793 95793 a5793 - 0 £E646 2:4:11 300814 300813
280812 84713 - - - Ba73 E764 na 28081 280820
280813 74 249 = = = 747249 a4 Wa 280816 28081
Sharesave - -
16091 1771 177 771 - [¢] ESOB £9 555 010215 010815

1 Perfermance condinons relating to LTIP awands made in 2012 and 2013 ara disclased i the 2013 Annual Report
2 The shareswere exercised and subsequently sold on 1 September 2004 (the Awards grantedn 2011} and on 23 October 2014 (the Awards granted n 2009 and 2010)
The aggregate vatue recanwied by the Executve Dirgctors on exarcise of ther 2009 2010 and 200 0P Matchng Awacds bafore taxwas E6009147

woa W

Dwidends sre payable on shares purchased through the CIP During the year the Executive Ciréctors reckived EB1725 78 (2014 £A2168 50)
Performance conditrons relating to QOF matcheng awards can be found on page 56
Foliowanp the vesting of awards participants comtnmnng to Be employed by the Company hive five years to exeruse their award
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Annual Remuneration Implementation Report

{tontnued)

Single Figure for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors

The following table sets out the single figure for total remuneration for the Chatrman and Non-Executive Directors for the financial year ended
30 June 2015 and the gnor year ended 30 June 2014

2015 Total 2014 Total

fees' Fees
Nick Ferguson 473534 462375
Chase Carey 61500 50000
Tracy Clarke 106500 95160
Dawd DeVoe 61500 60000
Dave Lewis 91500 90000
Marun Gilbert? 127513 105000
Ading Grate* 80859 665987
Andy Higginson? 61042 145000
Jtames Murdach 96 500 95000
Matthieu Pigasse 71500 70000
Danny Rimer 61500 77769
Arthur Siskond 7500 70000
Andy Sukawaty 71500 70000

1 Basic fees were increased by 2 5% wath effect from 1 July 2014
2 Andy Higgnson retwed at the AGM on 21 Novemnber 2014

Martin Gilbert replaced Andy Higgnson as Senwor iIndependent Director and member of the Governance and Mominations Committes following Andy s retirement at tha AGM
on 21 Novambres 201

4 Adine Grate was appomnted as a member of the Remuneration Commettea repldcng Martin Gilbert with effect from 25 July 2014

w

Fees for the Charman and base Non-Executive Direclor fees were ncreased by 2 5% effectve 1 July 2015 as detailed in the table below

1duly 1July
2015 W04

£ £

Charrman (2l inclusrve fee) 485782 473534

Deputy Chairman! 30000 30000

Board member 63000 61500
Additional responsibilities

Semor Independent Director 40000 40000

Charrman of Commuttee 25000 25000

Member of Committee 10000 10000

1 The role of Ceputy Chairman s not required Lo be filed at ths present time

Payments to past Directors and loss of office
There were no payments made to past directors and no payments made for loss of office duning the financal year

Shareholder voting outcomes

The Company 1s committed to engaging with shareholders and every year engages with major shareholders and institutional mvestar groups to
talk about remuneration Thes enables the Company to take shareholders wews fully into account when making dedsions about remuneration
At the AGM held on 21 Navember 2014 52 97% voted in Favour of the Remuneration Policy and 86 23% of shareholders voted in favour of the
Duectors Repott on Remuneration

Resolution Votes For % For Votes Against % Against  TotalVotesCast  Votos Withheld
Approval of the Remuneration Palrcy 1313682658 9297 G9 341 288 703 1413023976 13646452
Approval of the Remuneration Report 996 564 957 8623 159084 662 1377 1155649619 271020809

The Committee has sought the views of major shareholders since then and has made a number of important changes to its approach to transparency and
disctosure of performance targets as set outin the Chairman s statement on page 51
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Membership of the Committee

Dunng the year ended 30 June 2015 the Committee chared by Tracy Clarke met five times Nick Ferguson Adine Grate and Andy Sukawaty are members
of the Committee Attendance during the year is shown on page 42 Marun Gilbert stepped down from the Committee on 24 July 2014 and Adine Grate
was appomnted in s place with effect from 25 July 2014

Role of the Committee

The role of the Commiktee s to aversee the remuneration policy 50 that the Companys able to recrut, retain and motivate its Executves and reward
ther indnrdual contributions n a fair and responsible manner The Committee reviews the design and structure of employee ncentives and 15 responsible
for approving the key terms of employment for the Executive Directors or any senior executive who reparts directly to the Group CEO The full terms of
reference for the Committee are available on the Company s corporate website The terms of reference were reviewed duning the year as part of the
normal corporate réview process and no matenal changes were made

Committee activities dunng the year
The table betow shows a summary of the key areas discussed by the Committee dunng the financial year

noda 28ens

URINMTY

July 204 Nevember 2014 January 2015 Aprt! 2015 June 2015 i
Performance outcomes for  Performance update - Performance update - Performance update - Performance update - ;
bonus LTIP and CIP bonus LTIP and OP bonus LTIP and P bonus LTIPand QP bonus LTIPand CIP
Target setung for 2014415 Upgate on reporting season  Rewvigw Committee Terms of  Benchmarking for Executive  Policy review on 2015
Review and approve Sharehotder feedback and Reference Directors g:-eg:rs Remunerauon
remuneration for Executive  proxy voling guhdande Update on reparung season P
Drrectors and Servar Review position on
Management disdosure of performance -
Review and apprave targets g X
Directors Remuneration E—-

bl
Report &
Update on meeungs with %
shargholders voting 2
advisary serwvices w
Adwvisors to the Commuttee ‘
Towers Watson acted as independent adwisors to the Committee thraughout the year The Committeess satsfied that the adwice it receves on Executive \
Directors remuneration 1s independent and objective Terms of reference are monitored throughout the appointment Towers Watson subscribes to the
Remuneration Consultants Group s Cade of Conduct in relation to execulive remuneration The Code danfies the scope and conduct of the role of
remuneration consultants when advising UX isted companies The fees paid to Towers Watson for therr services in relation to directors pay totalled I
£151 804 Dunng the year Towers Watson also provided Sky with advice an pension witiun its reward strategy and the operation of sts pension and related ‘
benefit prowvisions ‘
The Group CEQ and the Director for People pronde informauon and adwce and attend meetings as required The Committee s 21so supparted by the
Company Secretary Finance and Human Resources functions No indwiduals are involved in the deision In relabon to thew own remuneration g

3

2,

o

g

o

=
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Governance

Directors’ remuneration report
Our Remuneration Policy

This section describes the Owectors Remuneratuen Palicy that was approved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM and which the Comimuttee intends will be
effective until the 2017 AGM The Policy table 18 reproduced in full below For ease of reading some subseguent sub-sections inciuding remuneration on
recruitment or appointment to the Board and payments on termination and loss of office have been omitted butmay bereferred to in the 2014 Annual
Report pages 60-66 available on our website at sky comicorporatefinvestorsfannual-report-2014

Remuneration Principles
There are five key princples which underpin the remuneration policy for our Executive Directors

Qur approach to executve pay ts aligned Lo the interests of our shareholders

We reward our people fairdy and competitively to attract motivate and retain the skits we need ta detwer significant growth

The lavel of base payis deaided in the same way as for allemployees based onindiidual performance and expertance the size and scope of the role
and taking account of total remuneration

= The majarity of executive pay 1s tied to the achrevement of stretching performance goals linked to the strategic priontes for the business Executive
Directors will be well rewarded only If they meet or exceed the maxsmum performance standards sat and achreve suetching levels of performance

+ We take care to ensure that remuneration do#s not iInadvertently encourage inappropnate risk taking
Qur principles set the foundatwon for aur remunearation pelicy and ensure that decisions made by the Committee are consistent and appropnate inthe
context of business prionties shareholder interasts and employee pay

Summary of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The table below shows how our remuneration policy brks to our business strategy and its terms of operabien Any contractual commitments entered into

or awards made befare the policy came into effect or a person became a director will be honoured

Purpose znd Iink to strategy Qperation Maxsnum opporturty Performance hnk
Base salary Attracts and ratans Rewviewed annually typically Any increase will be in ine wath Indnaduai and business
- Executive Diractors taking —with effect from 13uty—————-+—those provided toemployees—performance s taken mtor
a nt wh

T e, Sy ssetreaaot om0 Cmpany secounvhen oneung
of role the peer group of companies Higher increases may be made

of similar market capitalisation as a result of a change inrale

to the Company or responsibality or ather

performance-based
Th I
e Committee looks at pay creumstance

practices inselected
nternatonal media comparves Thus 15 i hine wath our pohcy

for all employees
Dewsions on salary alsa take into emp

account the performance and
expenence of the indridual,
changesin the size and scope

of the role and the level of salary
awards across the business

Pension Provides opporturity for Executve Directars may recewe Employer contnbutions to the NIA
longer term sawing andfar  employer contnbutionsnto the  pension scheme or an equivalent
retrament provision Sky Pension Scheme a cash cash supplement are around 16%
supplement in eu of pension of base salary

or 8 comtunation thereof

Alt payments are made as
a percentage of base salary
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Govemance

Purpose and nk to strategy Operation Madimum oppoertunty Performance link
Other benefits Provides Executive Executive Directors are entitied Benefits provided to Executive NIA
Directors with a range of o arange of benefits nduding. Directors are broadty in line with
core and fnnge benefits as  but not mited to private medical  those offered ta all employees
partof a competitve total  nsurance bfe assurance dihealth  Where exceptions are made
remuneratron package ncome protection pad hobday, the Committee ensures that
sxck pay Sky subscription package  benefits offered are inhne
comparty car allowance and use with market practice for similar
of a company car generally rotes i similar organisations
for business travel purposes
The Committee may make menor
changes to benafits or include
other benefits that are deemed
approprate from time to time
Relocation allowances and
benefits may be provided
where needed to assist with
the relocation or internatignal
transfer of an Executive
Director and therr dependents
Annual bonus Drives and rewards the Performance measunes and The maximum bonus Performance 1s assessad

delivery of stretching
annual performance goals
aligned with the
Company’s overall

businesssLategy " TargetsBfe St annaly

weighungs are reviewed ot the
start of each year to take
account of current business
plans Stretching performance

opportunity 1s 200% of base
salary andis payable for the
achievement of stretch
objectives

Performance aganst targets

15 momtored quarterly and
determined annually based

on assessment of performance
versus each target

Payment s made only once
annual results have been audited

tn exceplional arcumstarkes the
Commuttes will use Its jJudgement
to adjust bonus outcomes up or
down to ensure ahgiment of pay
with performance and with
shareholder interests, within the
policy maximum

The mimmurm payment s zero

The Committee believes the
concept of chreshoid target and
MAXIMUM CAMPromses our drive
for growth sowe set one clear
ang ambitious stretch target
for each performance measure
aevery year The achievement

of stretch goals will resultin

a payout at maximumor
near-maximum The Commuttee
exercisesits judgement on

the lavel of bonus payable for
outcemes short of maxsmum

against a comtsnation of
operational and finangial
alyectives which are
determined at the start

wodasaiBoiens

BIURLINDG

of the year

The wetghung of the measures
1 determined at the start

of each year but each measure
wall have a maximum weighting
of 40%

Further details are disciosed
m the notes to the policy table
and the Annual Remuneration
Implemeantaton Report

Co-trwestment
Plan(CIP)

Encourages personal
wvestment and
shareholder ahgnment
rewards long-term focus
and performance
achievement

Executive Directors may invest
up to half of ther earned annual
bonus in the Company s shares

These imvestment shares are
matched on a gross basis and
vest based on performance over
a three-year penad Shares are
matched by up to 15 shares for
every 1 share invested in ine
with performance

Oncavested partiepants may
exercrse the awards during
a five-year penod

Participation in the plan s
voluntary

The maximurm annual award
15 150% of base salary

No matchung awards are capable
of vesting f performancg s
below threshold a i for1 match
may vest when the minimum

of the range s metand allthe
sharas vest (or 15 shares for
every share invested) when the
maximum of the range 1s met

The performance measure to
detarmine the vesung of the
shares 15 chosen each year and
15 typically a financial measure
such as EPS growth

Further details onthe
performance critena for
threshotd and maxsmum
vestng are disdosed in
the Annual Remuneration
Implementation Report
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Governance

Directors’ remuneration report -

Our Remuneration Policy

(contznued)
Purpose and link to strategy  Operation Maximum opportumty Performance ink
Long Term Rewards longer-termvalue  Awards are made annually The Cammittee reviews the Perfarmance measures are
incentive Plan creausn and ahgns under the terms of the scheme number of shares to be granted  typically a mix of operationat
(LTIF) Executwe Directors rules based on number of annually A typcal award for measures and relative TSR
nterests wath those of shares This de-links the award the Group CEQ15 600000
shareholders fromincreasing automaticaly  shares nany12 monthpenod 0 Perational measures used

with salary adj..stments

Vesting of awards 1S based on
stretching performance over a
three-year penod Awards are
made in Year 1 and in Year 2 with
vestng of both awards at the
end of Year 3 Thus means that
vestng of awards occurs every
other year with zero vesting

in between

Once vested paruapants
may exercse the awands during
a five-year period

Ininstances of gross misconduct

all unvested LTIP awards lapse
immediataly

This year the company has
introduced a policy on malus
The Committee may useits

Tha maximum award levelis

$00 000 shares in any 12-month
period Such awards will anty

be made in exceptional
CireumsLances

100% of the shares vest when
the performance cntenia are
met in full [f the mnimum of
the range I1s met each year

for all measures 25% af

the shares vest

in the past have inciuced EPS
operating cash flow and
revenue growth

The weighting of the measures
may vary but s typically 70%
operational measures and 30%
relative TSR

discretion after liaving taken
ndependent advice towithhold

orvary downwards any urwvested

awards typically sn the event of

the matenal restatement
of the Campany 5 audited
results or

actions atinbutable to
parbapants resulting in
matenal reputational
darmage to the business

The Committee will deterrmine
haw to apply this sancien on
& case-by-case basis

Around 650 employees are eligible for awards under the Long Term incentive Plan A smaller number of employees (around 130) are also rwited to
partiipate in the Co-Investment Plan All employees are eligtble to receve a comprehensive benefits package and the majonty are ehigible to recerve
either amonthly or quarterly cash incentive or an annual bonus
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Shareholder ahgnment

The Committee considers shareholders wiews as they are received
duning the year at the AGM through shareholder meetungs and through
correspondence

We will continue to engage with our major sharehalders and welcome
feedback at any time Should we propose to make any major changes
to the remuneration structure we will seek the views of ourmajor
shareholders in advance

The tontext for setting executive remuneration policy

The principles undertying our executive remuneration policy are ahgned

to thase that underpmn reward for our employees as a whole which am to
attract motwate and retan people by of fering a market-competitive total
remuneration package The Commuttee takes into considerauon the pay
and conditions of all employees when determining the remuneration for
the Executive Directors It does not consult with empioyees in this process

Our performance measuras and how they operate

Executve pay remains firmly tied to the achievement of stretching
performance goals hnked to business strategy The measures we use are
based on the speafic areas of our busingss that dnve growth and returns

to shareholders We be'ieve the cancept of athreshold target and maximum
formula would compromise our dnve for growth so we set one clear and
ambitious stretch target for each performance measure every year

Annual bonus
The performance measures For the annual bonus are determined by the

— e COMMIttee based on the business-prionties for-the year-They are typically

Gowemance

Pay scenano analysis (updated for 2015)

The charts below provide an estimate of the awards that could be received
by our Executive Directors under the remuneration pohicy effective from
the 2014 AGM showing

« Minimum base salary as at 1 July 2015 plus pension and benefits
as per the table on page 57 (fixed pay)

Maxmum fixed pay plus maxmum awards For annual bonus
(200% of base salary for the Group CEQ and 150% for the Group CFO)

Co-Investment Plan (masxsmum deferral of 50% of the annual bonus into
investment shares and full vesting of 1 5x matching shares) and Long
Term incentive Plan (60000 shares for the Group CEO and 350 000
shares for the Group CFO)

The Committee sets one ¢lear and ambitious stretch target for each
performance measure If stretch targets are met then 100% of maximum for
the bonus 1s paid and the shares awarded under the LTIP and CIP wall vest mn
full There is no additional payment For achievement over the stretch goals

Awards under the LTIP are made annually but vesting occurs only every two
years The impact of thss vesting cycle an actual realised pay 1s shown in the
six year single figure remuneration table for the Group CEQ on page 58

Jeremy Darroch Group CEQ

a mix of operational and financial performance measures The measures
are usually a combinatwon of operating profit operating cash flow and a
measure of product growth They are all keyndicators of the underlying
performance of the business Each year stretch objectives are settn the
Iight of the Company s annual business plan and the aperating
envwonment

Co-investment Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan

Perfarmance measures for the LTIP and CIP are reviewed annually to ensure
alignment with the Company s strategy and shareholders interests The
1P measure 1s typically compound EPS growth in extess of RP1over the
performance penod which ensures clese alignment with our shareholders
interests Performance required for threshald and maxmum vesting are
descrnibed in the Annual Remuneration implementaton Repart on page 53

The LTIP measures are typically a mix of operational measures and relatve
TSR performance witha 70/30 split The operational measures are usually
EPS growth operating cash flaw and revenue growth As the conversion of
profit to cash flow 1s akey indicator of the underlying performance of the
bursiness it 15 used as a measure m both the annual bonus and the LTIP

Our LTIP vesting cycle 1s atypical and has served the business and
shareholders well since it was intreduced in 2005 Vesting occurs only every
other year and as a consequence the amount of remuneranon delvered to
Executive Directors wall spike every other year This approach encourages
focus on thelonger term The performance ranges for each measure are
reviewed annually in the hight of the Company s three-year plan, brokers
forecasts and tustorical performance Performance at the top end of the
range s stretching

Andrew Gnffith, Group CFO

Scenanes are modelled assuming a share price of E10 59 whichas the
average share price over the penod 1 Apnl to 30 June 2015 with no
allowance for share price apprecation
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Governanca

Directors’ remuneration report -
Our Remuneration Policy

(continued)

Other share schemes

Management Long Term Incentive Plan (MLTIP)

The Company also operates a MLTIP for selected employees excluding the
Executive Directors and senior executives who participate i the LTIP
Awards under this scheme are made at the discretion of the Group CEO '
within the parameters agreed by the Committee The MLTIP mirrors the LTIP
n design in order to ensure akgnment between partiupants i either plan

Executive Share Optrion Schemes (Executive Schemes)

The Compary has in place Approved and Unapproved Executive Share
Option Schemes No opuions have been granted since 2004 and no opuons
are outstanding at 30 June 2015 We do not envisage making any future
awards as part of these schemes

Sharesave Scheme

The Sharesave Scheme 1s open to UK and Insh employees and encourages
them to make a long-term rwesumnent in the Company 5 shares In atax
efficient way The current legislation prowvides for employees to save up to
£500 per manth Currently the Limit for Sky employees is £250 per manth
although the Company may decide to adjust this amount in future Options
are normally exeraisable after either three or five years from the date of
grant The price at which options are offered 1s not less than 80% of the
middle-market price on the dealing day mmediately preceding the date of
invitation or the average of the three days preceding the date of invitation
Ik s the pohcy of the Company ta invite employees to participate in the
scheme follovang the announcement of the year-end results Currently
approximately 10 000 employees participate in these schemes ITis
anticipated that employees in Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala will be imated
to partcipate in simlar unapproved schemes dunng 2015

How the Remuneration Committee exercises discretion
The Commuttae ratans discretion relatung to annual bonus LT1P and
CIP in line with their rules and according to the remuneration policy

These include but are not lmited to

« Tumung of a grart of an award/payment

Size of an awardfbonus payment up to the maximums indicated
n the policy table

Determination of vesting and the apphcation of malus for the LTIP

Deating with a change of control

Determunation of treatment of |eavers based on the rules of the plan
and the leaver palicy

= Annual review of performance measures and wesghting and targets
of the plan from year Lo year

Ary use of discretion withun the palicy framework will be expiained

in the Annual Remuneraton Implementation Report. There may

be exceptional cirgumstances under which the Committee may use
discrebion of judgement in the interests of the business and shareholders
These exceptional arcumstances may be the subject of discussicn

with the Company s majer shareholders

External appointments

External appontments for Executive Directors are considered by the
Company s Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee to ensure
they would not cause a conflict of interest and are then approved by

Sharehalding guidelines and share ownership

The Committee recognises the importance of aligning Executive Drectars
and shareholders interests through executives bulding up a significant
shareholding in the Company The shareholding requirements are 3x base
salary for the Group CEQ and 2x base salary for the Group CFO Executive
Directors are required te buld up their shareholding to the required levels
within five years There are no sharcholding guidelines for independent
Non-Executive Directors but they are able to partiapate inamonthly share
purchase plan See page 60 for further details on Directors Interests

the Charman on behalf of TR BSard TUis the Company Spalicy that
remuneration earned from such appointments may be retained by
the mdividuat

Jeremy Darroch became a Non-Executive Director of Burberry Group ple
n Fgbruary 2014 and serves as a member of ther audit remuneration
and nominations commuttees For the period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2008
Jeremy earned £E80 000 in this role

Andrew Gnffith became a Non Executive Director of Just Eat pic in March
2014 and serves as semor independent director chawrman of the audit
commuttee and as a member of the remuneration and nominations
committees For the penod 1 July 2014 ta 30 June 2013 Andrew earned
£60 000 in this role
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Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The table below summanses the key campanents of remuneration for our Charman and Non-Executive Directors

Element and purpose

Operation

Fees Reflect ndmdual responsibiities and membershrp of Board
Committeas Attract Non-Executive Directors with the skills and
expenence required to oversee the implementation of strategy

Fees for the Charrman and the Non-Executive Directors are
reviewed annually having regard to independent adwce and
surays

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committes
gdetermunes the fees paid Lo the Charrman taking into account
the complexity of the role and the time and commukment required
The Board of Directors determines the fees for the Non-Executive
Directors

Additional fees for membarshep of or chairmanshipof a
committee or for other responsibilities are payable i addition
to the basic fees Fee levels for 2015 are disclosed in the table
on page 62

Nan-Executwve Directors can elect to recene a portion of their
fees :n the Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly
basis Directors who are deemed 10 be affilated with 21st Century
Fox are nat, permitted to take part m ths faciity Non-Executive
Directors interests are disclosed in the table on page 80

vodu w8nens

Benefits Additional benefits may be provided for business purposes
eg provision of a car 19 travel to/from meetings
Non-Executive Directors are not ehgible to jon Sky s pension plan
Non-Executive Directors are ehgibte to recerve a Sky subscrpton
package
Bonus and Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to participate in any
Share Plans bonus or share scheme offered by the Company
Motice and Each Non-Executive Director s appointment s for an init:al
termination three-year term In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance
prowisions Code all Directors submut themselves for annual reappointment

Non-Executive Directors eachhave aletter of appaintment

these appontments may be termmated without notice

Any fees payable would be settled at the date of termination

No continung payment of fees are due «f a Non-Executive Director
15 not re-elected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

The Remuneration Report was appraved by the Baard of Directors on 28 July 2015 and signed on its behalf by

TFracy Clarke
Charman of Remuneration Committee

Sypic &%
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

introduction

In accardance with the Companies Act 2006 the Corporate governance
repart on pages 40 to 50 and informabion contained in the Strategic report
forms part of this Directars report and are ingorparated by reference

The Directors present their report together with the audited consohdated
and parent company financial statements for the year encled 30 June 2015

Shares

Dmvidends

The Drrectors recommend a final dradend [or the year ended 30 June 2015
of 20 50 pence per ordinary share which together with the intenim dadend
0f12 30 pere paid to shareholders on 21 April 2015 will make a total
dridend for the year of 32 80 pence (2014 32 00 pence) Subject to
approval at the 2015 AGM the final dwvidend will be paid on 20 November
2015 to shareholders appeanng on the register at the close of business

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Company s issued ordinary share capital at 30 June 2015 comprised
one dass of ordinary shares All of the issued orcinary shares are Fully
paid and rank equally in all respects Further detads of the Company s
sharg capstal and share issues under the period under review are
disclosed i note 25 to the cansokdated finanaal statements

Interests in volting nghts
Information provided to the Campany pursuant to the UK Listing

Voting nghts

The Company s Articles of Assoaaton provide that subject to any rights
orrestricbans attached to any shares on a show of hands every member
present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and on a poll every
member shall have one vote for every share of which he s a holder

On apoll votes may be given either personally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authonsed representative

A shareholder enutled to attend and vote at a general meeting may
appont one or more proxies to attend and vote instead of m If a member
appoints more than ane proxy he must specify the number of shares

whuch each proxy 1s entitled to exercise nghts over Aproxy need notbe a
shareholder of the Company Holders of the Company s ordinary shares do
not have cumulative voung nghts A vobing agreement dated 21 September
2005 was entered into between the Campany BSky8 Holdco Inc

21st Century Fox and 2ist Century Fox UK Nomunees Limited which became
wnconditional on 4 November 2005 and caps 215t Century Fox UK Neminees
Lsmited s voung nghts at any general meaung a2t 3719% The provisions of
the vouing agreement cease to apply on the first to occur of a number of
arcumstances which ncude the date onwhich a general offer 1s made

by an ndependent person (as defined in the voung agreement) for the
ordinary share capital of the Comparny

Restrictions on transfer of securities

There are no speafic restrctions on the transfer of sequrities in the
Comparny which 1s governed by the Articles of Assecatson and prevaling
legrslabion nar s the Company aware of any agreements between holders
of securities that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities

Auihority s Disciosure and Transparency Rules{ OTRE 315 published
on a Regulatory information Service and on the Company s website
As at 30 tune 2015 the Company had been noufied under DTRS of
the following significant holdings of vatng nghts inits shares

Percent

Amount of ¢lass

ldentity of personor group owned noufied
215t Century Fox UK Nominees Limited' 672783139 3914
BlackRock. Inc? 82682765 506

1 Direct holding which 15 subjecLIO Fesinclions on Its voung nghts (please see Voting
nghts below)

2 ndrect hoiding

3 Number of shares held as at 30 June 2015

There have been ne changes to the above significant holdings between
1Jjuly and 28 July 2015

The Employee Share Ownership Plan ( ESOP ) was establhshed to satsfy
awards made ta partiopants of the Company s employee share plans
The trustees of the ESOP have wawed the nght to dnadends payatle

mn respect of the shares hefd by it except to the extent of 0000 of
the dmdend payable on each share At 30 June 2015 the £50P had an
mterest in 14 BO5780 of the Company s ordinary shares The Trustees
who are Independent of the Company have full diseretion on how they
vote the ordinary shares hetd by the ESOP

or that may result In restrictions on voting rights

Vanauon of rights

Subject to the Companies Act 2006 nghts attached to any class of shares
may be varied with the consent in writing of the holders of three-guarters
n nominal value of the 1ssued shares of the class or with the sanction of
aspecial resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the
sharehalders

Relatronshup Agreement

Changes to the Listung Rules came into effect sn November 2074 which
require a premium histed company which has one or more centrolling
shareholders to have i place an agreement which 1s intended to ensure
that ary controling shareholder complies with the independernce provisions
in the Listing Rules

215t Century Fax Inc ( 21CF ) and certamn of its wholly owned subsidiaries
directly or indirectly exercise or control 39 14% of the voung nghts of the
Company and are therefore deemed 1o be controiling shareholders for
the purposes of the Listing Rules

Accordingly the Company entered inwe a relavonship agreement with
NCF on 13 November 2014 (the Relationship Agreement ) contaiming
the undertakings required by the Lrsting Rules

in accordance with the Lisung Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the penod under review thatis from 13 November 2014 ta 30 June 2015

() the Company has complied withthe ndependence provisions in
the Relationship Agreement

(1) sofarasthe Company 1saware 21CF and its associates have comphed
wath the independence provisions in the Relationship Agreement, and

(m) so far as the Company is aware 21CF has procured compliance byits
relevant subsidiaries and their associates with the independence
provisions in the Relationship Agreement
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Directars’ powers in relation to the Company

1sswing and buying back its ownshares

Following the previous share buy-back programmes approved at the 201
and 2012 AGM s at the Company s 2013 AGM, the Company was granted

the authonty to retumn £500 million of capital to shareholders via a further
share buy-back programme ( the 2013 Authonty } The authanty was subject
to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox UK Nominees
Limited (and others) dated 25 July 2013 whereby following any market
purchases of shares by the Company 21st Century Fox would sell to the
Company sufficent shares to maintain its percentage sharcholding at the
same level prior Lo those market purchases Following the announcement
of the acquisiions of Sky ltalia and the majonty holding of Sky Deutschland
thae buy-back ceased on 25 July 2014 No purchases were made by the
Company under the 2013 Authority during the year The 2013 authonty
expired at the 2014 AGM and was nat renewed

AL the 2014 AGM the Directors were given authonty to allot ordwnary
shares up to a maximum nominal amount of E286 502 B71 representing
approximately 33% of the Company § then issued ordinary share capital
(the Allotriient Authorty) The Dreciors were additonally empowened
1o allot ordinary shares for cash pursuant to the Allotmyent Autharnty
on anon-pre-emptrve basis (a) i connection with a nghts Issue or open
offer and (b} {otherwise than in connection with A nghts iIssue or open
offeryup to 2 maximum nominal value of £42 975 430 representing 5%
of the Cormnpany s then issued share capital

Articles of association
The Company s Articles of Association may only be amended by specal
Tesolution at a general maatinig of Shareldlders

Alternate Directors

A Director may appoint any other Dirgctor or any gther person to act as

hrs Alternate An Alternate Directos shaltbe entitied to recene notice of
and attend meebings of the Directors and committees of Directors of which
hes appainter 1s a member and not able to attend The Alternate Director
shati be entitled to vote at such meeungs and generally perform all the
functions of his appointer as a Directorin his absénce

On the resignation of the appainter for any reason the Alternate Director
shall cease to be an Alternate Director The appomter may also remove
his Alternate Director by nobice to the Company Secretary signed by

the apponter revoking the appointment

An Alternate Director shall not be enutled to fees for hes service as an
Alternate Director

Chase Carey Dawid DeVoe Arthur Sislund and James Murdoch have
appointed each of the others to act as their Alternate Director

Employees

Equal opportunities

The Coempany 15 an equal opportunities employer and beheves that
everyone should have full and fax consideratson far all vacancies
pramotions training and development Should an employee become
disabled dunng ther emptoyment at Sky where possible the Comparny
will actwely retrain and adjust the environment to allow them to maximise
the employee s potential

Diversity.

Annuzl General Meeting

The venue and timing of the Company s 2015 AGM s detaded in the notice
canvening the AGMwhich will be available for download from the Company s
corporate website at sky com/corporate

Board of Directors

Board of Directors and their interests

The Directors wha served dunng the year were Nick Fergusen Jeremy
Darroch Andrew Gnffith Chase Carey Tracy Clarke David DeVoe Matthieuw
Pigasse Martin Gilbert Adine Grate Andy Higginson Dave Lews James
Murdoch Danry Rimer Arthur Siskind and Andy Sukawaty Andy Higginson
retired after not seeking reappotntment at the Annual General Meeungon
21 November 2014 The biographucal details of the Cirectars of the
Company can be found on pages 38 and 39

The Dwectors’ Interests n the ordinary shares and options of the Company
are disctosed within the Directors remuneration report on pages 53 to 69

Appaintment and retirement of Directors

The Dwectors may from tume tn time appomt one or more Directars Any
such Director shall hold office only untl the next AGM and shall then be
elgible for reappaintment by the Company $ shareholders At the
Company s 2015 AGM all current Executive and Non-Executive Directors will
retre and offer themseives for reappantment i campliance with the Code
with the exception of David DeVoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind who
have decided not to seek reappomtment this year and will step down from
the Board at the conclusion of the AGM Immediately following the AGM 1t1s
ntended that John Nalien CFO of 21st Century Fox will be appomnted by the
Board a3 a Non-Executve Director

The Company treats all people equally farly with respect and without
prejudice Deasions about people s employment with the Campany are
based on ability qualifications and performance This principle alsa applies
when the Company makes decissons about development, promotion

pay and benefits

The Company debvers some of the mast diverse content and services
avalable to a wide range of consumers and it values the same diversity
withun the business and promaotes a culture of opparturty for all
regardless of background The Company does not tolerate unfarr treatment
or discnimination at work based on ethruaity gender age religion disabiity
or sexual pnentation

We are currently focusing on Women i Leadership as we believe gender
balanced teams create better business outcomes tn order to meet the
needs and wants of our consumers more effectvely

As at 30 June 2015 the table below demonstrates diversity throughout
the Group

Male Female
Board of Directors'? 2 B6% 2 4%
Sentor managers'? 278 6% B6  24%
All employeesi? 17881 65% 9562  35%

1 Asdefined i theCompanes Act 2006

2 2014115 data s independ ently assuied by Delodte LLP and ¢an be viewed onhne at
shy comibggerpure

3 Based on full-ume equivalent empiovees from contmuing operations and excluding
peaple wha work for our jaint ventures
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Governance

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

(continued)

Eemplayee involvement

We want 2ll our people 1o feel involved and engaged in our business
Therefore we need to know what our people are thanking and how they
Fael about working for Sky This is our key indicator and we measure this
through our peopla survay which we run twice a year The engagement
scores are for the UK anly as they are not currently cormparable to the
wider European organisation

Woe continue ta expenence high levels of paruapauen in our people survey
averaging 78% across the two surveys this year We benchmark our results
externally using data from Aon Hewitt so that we can compare our
performance against otherlarge UK companias

This year we have implemented a new engagement index which allows
us ta further pinpount the key elements of ife at Sky that really make a
difference tohow our employees feel about our Company Therefore the
score has baen calculated dfferently Our overall employee engagement.
score is 59% which represents a high level of engagement and continues
ta outperform the external benchmark of 48%

The employee engagement score Is made up of results from questions
about whethar our people support our strategy understand how their
work contnbutes to ik, are willing to go the extra mile to halp us succeed
and whether they would recommend Sky as a good place to work

Responsible business

Our commitment to act responsibly in alt we de s integral to the culture we
have at Sky (see the Employee section above) Cur high ethical social and
enviropmental standards set out what people can expect of us and the

We are committed to upholding the pnnaples of human nghts This

15 particularhy important at Sky in managng the soaal ethecal and
environmental simpacts of our supply chain and in the way we treat our
people and our customers We do not have a speafic human nghts policy
as this commitment 1s reflected through Sky's Ways of Working in the UX
and treland our Code of Conduct and across a range of policies relevant
to these areas This includes our pohces relating to enwvironment data
protectsan and child safety

Cur commitrment to respect and uphold human nghts 1s also conveyed
through our Responsible Saurcing Policy Our approach to responsible
sourong s inbne with the Guiding Principles on Business and Human
Rights (or Ruggie framework)

Ervironment and Greenhouse gas emissions

To date our erwironment strategy as a LK business has been threefold

to reduce vur carbon footprint to make our products more sustamable
and to use our positian as 8 (eading media and communications company
to raise awareness and drive positive change on environmentalissues
amongst our business pariners and o INSpre ACLION AMONESL JUr
customers through Sky Rainforest Rescue

Through Sky Rainforest Rescue our sit-year partnership with WWF we have
reached our target of helping {o save one billion trees in the Amazon
rainforest. We have rarsed over £9 million exceeding our target of £8 milion
of which Sky has match-funded €4 million On the ground in our project
arean Acre in Brazl 1500 farmers have signed up ta our sustainable
farming scheme helping make the forest worth mare alive than dead

And In the UK and Ireland 73 million people have a greater awareness

standards we expect from our business partners

Customers

So that our customers can all have the same great experence of Sky
were ensuring child safety and accessitility elements are Incduded in

new praduct offernings in line wath government and regulator expectabons
across our markets as well as consumer demand And hecause we
understand the risk to cur customers and our business should there be
abreach of data we are expanding on the existing approaches to data
protection and prvacy tn each territory ta put in place a comprehensive
group-wide approach

Responsible saurcing and Human rnights

We are committed to bulding praductive fair and ethical relationships vath
our supphers and distributors relationships on which so much of the
suceess of our business relies We expect alf our business partners to
deliver a high-quality service and provide good value For money as well as
to behave ethically and comply with relevant environmental and socal laws
and regulations inctuding labour standards and practices These are set
out in our Responsible Souraing Policy which 1s available on our website

We are currently working to roll out this policy across the Group expanding
anwhat s already in place in Germany and ltaly in the UK ali of the suppliers
we spend more than £100 000 with per year are agssessed for inherent
socal ermaronmental and ethacal nsk’ and we work with those that are
deemed high risk ta conduct audits and set out action ptans for addressing
issues that are flagged such as working hours or health and safety We are
now expanchng this approach to nsk assessment nght across the Group

1 Excluding ona-off suppliers Independently assured by Deleitte LLP for 2014115

of deforestabion as a result of Qur iNnovative COMMUNICALIONS ON-5Craen
programming, and expenential acuviues Over the next three years

we will be working strategically with WWF to continue to raise awareness
of environmentalissues

In the UK and Ireland we continue to ensure all of the products returned
o us are reused or recycled and wa are working closely with our suppliers
to help them reduce thewr environmental impacts

We have been reporking on our environmental performance since 2008
well ahead of the mandatory disclosures of greenhouse gas emissions
under the Companies Act 2006 introduced in 2013 We have reduced

our emissions relative to revenue (tCOefEm) across Sky s UX and Insh
termtories by 38% since 2008 meaming we are on track to meet our target
of halwng aur emissions relative to revenue (tCO,e/Em) by 2020 In addition
despite significant growth as a2 business we are maintaining a reduction in
absolute carbon emussions against our 2008 baseline (see table opposite)

With the continued development of our new West London campus our
new buldings and our leased bulldings were both stil operational over
the 2014115 year 1t was therefore challenging 1o keep our energy use and
carbon emissions lower than in tha year before However as our new
buildings are BREEAM Excellent and have a number of smart, sustainable
nutiatves we expect to see energy demand reduce in the future We also
continue to exceed the ndustry benchmark for the energy-efficency

of our Data Centres which wilt help us manage energy demand as our
business needsincrease We reman commetted to cur leng-term
nveskments for example in renewatbde energy and are exploning ways

to further complement our existing on-site solar wind biomass and
Comtwnied Coolng and Heating Plant energy generation
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Govemance
Sky UX & Iretand Progress agamst target to halve our carbon emissions relative to revenue
2008/09

Target (Basehne)  2009N0 200m 20012 201131 20034 201415
Gross absolute emissions (tC0a) . 05839 108817 167294 94617 92968 94420 99724
Scopel 20322 23465 23098 20939 20429 20633 221381
Scape 2 85517 85352 84196 73677 72539 713787 77363
Carbon intensity (tCCxe/Emy 207 191 163 139 128 124 128
Reduction in gross absolute COze emissions relatve to revenue (%) -50 0 -8 =21 =33 =38 =40 -38

1 Hstoncal dstahas been re-baseined Lo reflect change i vehice fuel @rmission factors 8s weil 83 Lo nciude Joint Ventures (where gunership >51%) ntemabionad offcesibureaus
Trawung Centres and signdicant sites assoasted with Sky Homa Senacas
2 Ingependently assured by Detostte LLP

We are now rolling cut our UK emaronment strategy across Europe starting with repor ting on our Group emissions (see table below) aswell as working
on & set.of Group erwvironment targets for 201516 These will reflect our progress to reduce our carbon intensity in the UK and Ireland and wall build on

the mvestments already made in Germany and ltaly Lo ncrease energy-efficency measures such as LED ighung and distnct heating engage employees
and reduce product waste

Sky group-wide carbon emisstons and carbon intensity 201415

wodaraiaens

IRLIINOG

UK & Germany
Sky Graup reland & Austna' Iealy!

Gross absolute carbon emissians (tC0,e) 234
Scope 1 27145 22361 219 2665
Fuel combustion {gas diesel generatars fuel ol vehides)

Diesel 868 607 1 60

Fuel Cnl® 54 nja 54 nla

Gas 4502 4344 nja 158 Ey

Vehide Fuel 21226 16933 2064 2229 §
Operation of faalities {refrigerants) <

Refrigerants 695 477 [v] 218 &
Seope 2 101674 77363 3248 21063 %’
Purchased chstrict heatmng net* 184 “nfa n2 72
Purchased district heating gross 485 nfa a3 72 o
Purchased electrniatynet” 38649 15572 2086 20991
Purchased electnaty gross ionma? 77361 2835 20990
Purchased steam 2 2 nla n/a
Total {Scope 1and 2) net €O (1C0,¢) 65980 37935 4317 23728
Total (Scope 1 and 2) gross COze (1C0;8) 128819 99724 5367 23728
Jont Ventures® 138 138 wa n/a
Carbonintensity?
Revenue (Em) 1283 7820 1377 2088
Carbon intensity (tCOe/Em revenue) 1142 275 390 137

1 Ermssions are for the full financal year () Juty 2074 - 30 june 2015) inciuding the panod phor Lo 3cquisition

2 we measure our CO,e emrssions according to the Greenhouse Gas Protacol the global standard far reporting greenhouse gas emissions Our tatal gross SO amissions inchude

af duect Greenhouse Gas emssions and our net emissions mdude the energy that we do nat procure From a rencwable enargy source Ournet s are thase g #fter
deducting the renewable energy procured from a renewabile energy tantf with Scottrsh and Southern Enesgy Group Scottish and Southernratan on our behalf the Levy Exemption
Certificates and ble Energy G 28 &f Ongn (REGOS) In additron, we of frat our total gross emissions through the purchase of Voluntary Carban Standard offsets

Our CO,@ emiss ons daka 1s Independently assurad by Deloitte LLP More information about Gur environmental Largats and pecformancecan be found at skycomfenviroament,
Histoncal dats s recalculated each yearin tngwith the latest guidelnes wo DefralDECT s Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factors for Company Reportung and rastatad ac<ordingly

Fuel Od only used for heating by Sky m Germany

Distnct heaung {1 e heat obtamed from a cageneration plant) can be used as an alternative source of heat 1o gas Sky inGermarry anditaly purchase distrct heaung bn the UX

Sky goes not purchase any disTact heaung as 1t Eenersies its own heat from an onsite bromass plant

Sky in Itaty does not purchase glectncty from a renewable electricity tardf and 50 there 1s no difference between the r gross and net emssONs

8 Jont vencures are enterpnses or busiess whene Sky s the magori ty shareholder {>50%)

[ )

~
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Governantce

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

(continued)

Other disclosures

Contracts of Significance
The following agreements are contracts of ssgruficance in accordance with
Listing Rule 9 8 4{10)

Qn 25 July 2014 the Company (and certan of its subsidiares) entered into
vanous agreements with 21st Century Fox (@and certam of its subsidanes)
to effect the acquisition the entire 1ssued and to be 1ssued corporate
capital of Sky Italia Sef (the Sky Italia Acguisition ) for £2 06 billion (subject
o working capital adjustments) with the consideration being partially
settled by the disposal of the Company s indirect, 21% stake in National
Geographic Channa! International to certam of 21st Century Fox s wholly
owned subsichanes { National Geographic Channel Transfer ) at avalue

of US$650 millon The sale and purchase agreement for the Sky Italia
Acquisition contamed customary warranties covenants and ndemmities
ncluding certan indemmities relating to tax and cther matters as well as
certain commitments not to retail tettam services to consumers incertain
terntones until 1 January 2017 The sale and purchase agreement for the
Natuaona) Geographac Channel Transfer contained customary warranties

as to title and ownershep and vanous commitments and undertakings

not to compete with the business of the National Geographic Channel
international until 1 fanuary 2017

Alsoon 25 July 2014 as part of the acgusition of Sky Deutschland the
Company (and certain of its subsidiaries) enterad into vanous agreements
with 21st Century Fox (and certain of s subsidianes) to effect the
acquisition of 21st Century Fox s entire shareholding (approximately 57 4%)
in Sky Deutschiand AG a German stock corporation listed on the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange for £2 9 bition (the-Sky Deutschiand Acquisition yand
the related valuntary cash offer to all Sky Deutschland AG shareholders
subject to certain conditions (the Sky Deutschland Offer ) The sale

and purchase agreement for the Sky Deutschland Acquisition contained
customary warranties as to title and ownership as well 3s certan
commitments not to offer certain services Lo consumers in certain
terntones until ¥ January 2017

The Company undertook a placing of ordinary shares to part-fund the
congideration for the Sky taha Acquisition the Sky Deutschland Acquisition
and the Sky Deutschland Offer and 21st Century Fox entered ito an
agreement with the Company to subscnbe For approwmately 611 million
ardinary shares so as to mamtamts then-existing percentage shareholding
m the Company Following completion of the placing

Significant agreements

The following significant agreemenis which were in force at 30 June 2015
take effect alter or terminate on a change of control of the Company
fallowsng a takeover bid

Premier League

In 2002 Sky UK Limited (3 Group subs:diary) entered into an agreement
{the 2012 PL Licerce”) with The Faotball Asscciation Premier League
Lirnited (the PL) pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of seven
avaiiable packages of iive audio-wvisuatnghts for Premier League football
(the sever packages are together the Live Packages ) together consisting
of 16 Ive matches per season The PL will not award Live Packages
containing i the aggregate maore than 116 ive matches per season to a
single heensee (either on its own or as part of a consortium or thraugh one
or more of its related parties) (the PL Single Buyer Rule) Pursuant to the
2012 PL Licence the PL can suspend andfor terminate all of the nghts which
are ncluded in or exerosable as part of Live Packages contairung in the
aggregate up to 38 ive matches per season in the event that a change of
control of the Company occurs at any time prior ta the expuwy of the 2012 PL
Licence which it had occurred pnorto the award of the Live Packages

to the Group would have resulted tn a breach of the PL Single Buyer Rule

In 2015 Sky UK Limited entered into a further agreement (the 2015 PL
Lrcence ywith the PL, pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of the
sewven available Live Packages together consistng of 126 ive matches per
season The PLwillnot award Live Packages containing in aggregate more
than 126 live matches per season to a single licensee (either on tts own or
as part of a consortwm or Lhrough one or more related partes)(the 2015
Single Buyer Rule ) Pursuant to the 2015 PL Licence the PL can suspend
andfor terminate all of the rights which are included i or exercisable as
part of Live Packages containing n the aggregate up to 42 ve matches per
season in the event that a change of cantra! of the Company occurs at any
time prior ta the expiry of the 2015 PL Licence which 1f it had occurred prior
to the award of the Live Packages to the Group.-would have resultedin a
breach of the 2015 Single Buyer Rute

DFL Cantract/Bundesiiga Rights

In Apnl 2012 Sky Ceutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG entered into

an agreement with the Deutsche Fooetball Liga in relation to the exclusive
right to broadcast all matches of the Bundeshga (1 Bundeshga 306
Matches and 2 Bundeshiga 306 matches) for the seasons 2013/14-2016/17
across all distribution means {the Bundeshga Agreement) The Bundeslga
Agreement may be terminated on a change of control

Seng A

In 2014 furthe- to an imvitation to offer (the IS0 ) Sky itala Sl entered
nto an agreement (the Sene Alsxence ywith Lega Nazionale Professiomsu
Serie A (the Lega) pursuant towhich Sky Itaha Srl was awarded one of
four avadable packages of live audio-visual rights for the ltalian Serie

A football championship for the seasons 2015056-201718 (the four
packages are together the Live Packages ) In addition Sky Italia Selhas
been granted a second package through a sublicence agreement entered
into with Mediaset Premium These two packages consist of all the 380

Iive matches per season but do not grant nghts across all distribution
platforms Pursuant to the refevant prowision in the 150 Lega will not award
all of the Live Packages for afl platforms to a single licensee (either onits
own or through one or more of its related parties} (the Serie A Singte Buyer
Rule) As a consequernce the Lega could suspaend and/for terminate one

or more of the nghts which are included in the package assigned to

Sky Itala S in the event that 2 change of control oceurs at any ime

prior to the expery of the Sene A Licence which 1f it had oceurred pnor

to the award of tha Live Packages would have resulted ina breach of

the Sere A Single Buyer Rule
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215t Century Fox voung agreement

On 21 September 105 the Company BSkyB Holdeo tne, 215t Century
Fox UK Neminees Limited and 21st Century Fox entered inte a voting
agreement pursuant towhich 215t Century Fox UK Nominees Limited s
voting nghts at any general meeting are capped at 3719% (the Voung
Agreement } The prosisions of the Vouing Agreement cease to apply
interala on a change of control of the Company

Revobing Credit Facility

The Grouphas a £1 000000 000 syndicated mutucurrency revolving

credit facility (RCF ) with a matunty date of 30 November 2020 Inthe event
of a change of control of the Company as a result of which both S&P and
Moody s downgrade the Company's credit rating befow investment grade
withun 90 days the lenders can require any amounts sutstanding under
the RCF ta be repaid (other than in the event that 21st Century Fox or any
subsichiary or holding company thereofl (or a subsidiary of such holding
campany) acquires such control)

GMTN Programme bond 1ssue

On 3 April 2007 the certain Group enuties established a euro mecium.
term note programme whuch provides the Group with a standardised
documentauocn platform to allow for seror debt issuance m the
Eurabond markets On 7 February 2014 the programme was updated

and expanded to become a global medwm-term note programme

(the GMTN Programme } The GMTN Programme was updated in

June 2015 The maximum potential issuance under the GMTN Programme
1s £5 bilon ©On 14 May 2007 the Company Issued bonds under the GMTN
Programme (then known as an EMTN programme) consistng of E300 mulion
guaranteed notes paying 6 000% mterest and matunng on 14 May 2027

EMTN Programme bond issue

On 5 September 2014 certain Group entitees also establshed a E10 bnion
EMTN programme (the EMTN Programme ) which provides the Group with
a standardised documentation platform to allow for senior debtissuance
n the Eurobond markets In September 2014 the Company rssued () £1500
mulion 1 500% guaranteed notes due 2021 and (n) €1000 million 2 500%
guaranteed notes due 2026 In November 2004 the Company issued (1)
€850 milhion 1 875% guarantead notes due 2023 (u) E450 mdhon 2 B75%
guaranteed notes due 2020 (u) £300 midlion 4 J00% guaranteed notes
due 2029 and (v) €400 milion 2 750% guaranteed notes due 2025 In Apnl
2015 the Company issued €600 milion floating rate guaranteed notes due
2020 (together the Nates) Pursuant to the conditions of the Notes the
Company will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchase the Nates
at the relevant principal amount plus interest up to the date of redemption
if there 1s a change of control of the Company or the announcement of a
potenttal change of control (1) which if the Notes carry an investment grade
credit rating results in adowngrade to a non-investment grade catingora
withdrawal of thatrating or (n) where If the Notes carry a non-investment.
grade raung resuits in a downgrade by ane or more notches or awithdrawal
of that non-investment grade rating or (in) where if the Notes do not

carry a credit ratng, the Company does not 5eek such a aung oris

unable to achieve such arating prowded that i each case the decision to
downgrade withdraw ornot to award a credit rating occurs within a certain
period of ume after the change of control and the relevant ratng agency
ates that such deaision(s) resulted from the change of control of the
announcement of the potential change of control

(the 2007 Notes ) Pursuant 10 the final terms attaching to the 2007

Nates the Company wil be required to make an offer to redeem or
purchase the 2007 Notes at its principal amount plus interest up to the
date of redempbion or repurchase f there 1s a change of control of the
Comparnvy (1) which f the 2007 Notes carry an investment grade credit
rating, results in a downgrade to a non-investment grade ratng or a
withdrawal of that rating or (u) where If the 2007 Notes carry a non-
investment grade raung resuits mn a downgrade by one or more notches or
awnthdrawal of that non-investment grade raung or () where 1f the 2007
Notes do not carry acredit rating the Company does not seek sucharating
or 1s unabla to achieve such arating provided that in each case the decision
to downgrade withdraw or not to award a credit rating occurs within a
certain penod of bme after the change of control and the relevant rating
agency cites that such decision(s)resulted from the change cf control
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Govermance

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

{conunued)

October 2005 February 2008 November 2008 November 2012 and
September 2074 bond ssues

In October 2005 certain Group entities entered into an ndenture in
respect of US$750 000 000 5 625% senior unsecured notes due 2015
US$350,000 000 6 500% senor unsecured notes due 2035 and

£400 000 000 5 750% serior unsecured notes dua 2017 (the 2005
Indenture ) In February 2008 certain Group entities entered into an
ndenture in respect of US$750 millon 6 100% senior unsecured notes due
2018 (the February 2008 Indenture ) and in November 2008 certain Group
entibes entered into an indenture in respect of US$E600 mition S 500%
semor unsecured notes due 2018 (as amended and supplemented from
time to time the November 2008 indenture ) n November 2012 the
partues to the November 2008 Indenture entered into a supplemental
ndenture in respect of a further Issuance of US$800 milkon 3125% semor
unsecured notes due Novemnber 2022 The November 2008 Indenture was
further amended and supplemented in September 2014 wath the paruies
thereto enternng into a supplemental indenture in respect of a further
issuance of US$750 000 000 2 625% scrior unsecured notes due 2019
and US$1 250 000 000 3 750% senior unsecured notes due 2024 Pursuant
to the February 2008 Indenture and the November 2008 Indenture

the Compary will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchase ts
secunbies at a price equal to 101% of their pnnapal amount plus accrued
and unpaid interest up to the date of redemption or repurchase If there

1s achange of control ar the announcement of a potential change of control
of the Company (1) which if the secunties carry an mvestment grade

crediL rating results in adowngrade to a non-investment grade raung

or a withdrawal of that rating or (u)whuch (f the secunties carry anon-
investment grade rating results in 2 downgrade by gne ormore notches

German broadcasting ficences

Sky Deutschiand Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG s party to anumber of
broadcasting hcences 1ssued by the State Media Authonties BLM
(Bayenscha Landeszentrale fur Neue Medien) and MaHSH (Medienanstalt
Hamburg Schleswig-Holsten) for its inear Sky Channels The Interstate
Treaty on Broadcasting (as amended on 15 April 2015) sets out a number
of requirernents for the hcensees of broadcasting hicences and providers
of non-linear telemedia services Licensees have an angaing obligation

1o comply with these requirements Falure by a kcensee to do 5o may
constitute 2 breach of the licence and if not rectified could result in fines
or in the revocation of the Ikence The State Media Authonties aiso have
a duty under the Broadcasting Acts to be satisfied that any person
holding a broadcastng icence is fit and proper to hold those hicences

and may revoke those liences if it ceases to be so satisfied Any change
m the ownershup structure ncluding but not lmited Lo aninterest change
exceeding the threshold of 5% tn the shareholder structure of the licensee
has to be notified to and approved by the authontes

1talian broadcasting kcences

tn accordance with the Itahan regutatory system the transfer of control
of a cornpany such as Sky Italia whichus classified as an audiomisual meda
service pravider 15 Subject to an authorisation by the Itakan Regulatory
Authonty whichis aimed at verifying the honourabdity of the directors
and nauonahty Public administrations public entties state owned
companies banks and finanaal nsututions are prohibited from being
gven such authonsauon i relation to audisual media service providers

Cisclosures required under Listing Rule 98 4R

or a withdrawal of that non-nvestment grage rating or (ujywhere if the
secunities do not carry a credit rating the Company does not seek such a
rating or 1s Unable to achigve an nvestment grade rating prowided that in
each case the decision to downgrage withdraw or not to award a credit
rating occurs within a certan period of ime after the change of control
and the refevant raung agency ciies that such decisionys) resulted from the
change of control or the announcement of a potential change of control

UK broadcasung licences

Sky UX Limited Is party to a number of Ofcam broadcasting licences far
the broadcast of the Sky Channels The Broadcasting Act 1990 (as amended
by the Broadcasting Act 1996 and the Communications Act) lays down

a number of restnctions on those parties permitted to hold Cfcom
troadcasting icences Among thase restricted from holding Ofcom
broadcasting hcences or fram controling a icensed company are (3)

local authonties (b) pohucal bodies () religious bodies {d} any company
controlted by any of the previous categornes or by ther officers or
associates (e) advertising agencies or any company controlled by such
an agency or in which it holds more than a 5% interest Licensees havean
ongaing obligation to comply with these ownership restnctions Failure
by a licensee to do so (either by the hcensee becoming 2 disquahfied
person or any change affecting the nature charactenstics or control of
the icensee which would have precluded the onginal grant of the hcence)
may consutute a breach of the heence and if not rectified could resultin
revocation of thelicence

Ofcomalso has a duty under the Broadeastng Acts to be satsfied that
any person holding a broadcasting hcence 1s fit and proper to hold those
icences and may revoke those licences if it ceases to be so sausfied

For the purposes of (RS 84T the information required to be disclosed
by Listing Rule 9 B 4R can belocated as set out below

information required Page
(1 Amount of interest capitalised and tax rehef 98 (Note 4)
(2) Puttication of unaudited finanaial information na
(4) Details of long-term incentwve schemes 51-69
(5) wawver of emoluments by a director nfa
(6) Warver of future emoluments by a drector nfa
{7) Non pre-emptive 1ssues of equity for cash nfa
(8) itern {7} 1n relaton to major subsidiary undertakings nfa
(9) Parent parucipation in a placing by alisted subsidary wa
(10 Contracts of significance 74
(1) Prowision of services by a controlling shareholder nla
{12) sharehotder warvers of dadends 70
(13) Sharehalder wawers of future Giidends 70
(14) Agreements with controlling shareholders ¢

Financial iInstruments

Details of the Groups use of financial instruments together with
mformation on cur fmanoal nsk management abjectives and policies
and our exposure to financal risks can be found in note 22 to the
consobdated finangal statements
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Political contnbutions
Political contnbutions of the Group dunng 2015 amounted to nil 2014 rul)

Branches
The Group through vanious substdianegs has established branches in
a number of different jurisdicuons tn which the business operates

Post balance sheet events
Detads can be found in the Financial review on page 31

Geing concemn

The Groups business activities together wath the factors kely to affect its
future develapment performance and pasiton are set outin the Strategic
report on pages 2 to 37 The finanoal position of the Group its cash flows
and Iiquichty position are descnbed in the Financial review on pages 28 to
A Inaddition notes 1 to 34 to the cansalidated financial statements
include details of the Group s treasury activities long-term funding
arrangements financial instruments and hedging actities and exposure
to financial ngk

As set out above the Group has suffiacnt financial resources which
together with internally generated cash flows will continue to provide
sufficient sources ofiiguidity to Fund its current operations including 1ts
contractual and commercal commitments as set out 1n note 28 on pages
123 and 124 1ts approved capital expenditure and any preposed dmdends
and the Group 1s wel| placed to manage its business nsks successfully
despite the current economic outiook

After making enquines the Dwrecters have formed the judgement at the

Gaovernance

wodaudBnens

DAIBUIINCE)

ume of approving the consoldated financial statements that thereis
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operauonal exstence forthe foreseeable future For this
reason, the Directors continue to adopt the gong concern basis in
prepanng the consalidated fimancial statements

Disclosure of nformation toauditors

In accordance vath the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act
2006 each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date
of approval of this report confirms that

so far as the Director s aware there Is no relevant audit informaton
(as defined in the Comparues Act 2006) of which the Company s auditar
IS unaware and

the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought tohave takenas a
Director to make hrmself/herself aware of any relevant audit information

(as defined) and to establiish that the Company s auditar 1s aware of that
information

Auditors

Deloitte LLP the auditors of the Company have expressed thesr willingness
to continue in office A resolution to reappotnt them as the Companys
auditors and to authorse the Directors to determing thewr remuneration
will bé proposed at the forthcoming AGM

By order of the Board -

Chns Taylor 5 { G—, —\/
Company Secretary

26 July 2015
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__ safeguarding the assets of the Company and hencefor Laking reascnable.

Apnual Repart 2015

Financal statements

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are rasponsible for prepanng the Annual Report and the
financial Statements in accordance with apphicable law and regulauons

Company iaw requires the Directors to prepare finanaal statememts for
each financal year Under that law the Directors are required to prepare
the Group financial statements in accordance with Internatignal
Financial Reporting Standards (IFR5s) as adopted by the European Union
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have also chosento prepare the
parent Company financial statements under IFRSS as adopted by the EU
Under Company law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless
they are sabisfied that they gve a true and fair view of the state of affars
of the Company and of the profit or less of the Company for that period
In preparing these financial statements Internattonal Accounting
Standard 1 requires that Drectors

« property select and apply accounung polcies

« presentinformation induding accounting pelicies it a manner that
provides relevant reliable comparable and understandable
information

.

provide addittonal disclosures when comphance with the specific
requirgments i IFRSs are msufficient to enable users to understand
the impact of partscular transacuions other events and conditions
on the entity s finanaal position and financial performance and

make an assessment of the Company s ability to continue as a going
concern

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are suffiaent to show and explain the Company s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the finanoa! pesstion of
the Company and enabte them o ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for

Directors responsibility statement
The Dwectors confirm that to the best of therr knowledge

1 Thefinancial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Unian give atrue and fair wew of the assets
habilities financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the
undertakings sncluded in the consolidat:on taken as a whaole

2 The strategic report inciudes a fair review of the cevelopment and
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the
undertakings ncluded inthe consolidation taken as a whole together
with a descripuon of the pnncipal nsks and uncertainties that they
face and

3

The Annual Report and Financial statements taken as a whole are fair
ancect and understandable and provide the infgrmation necessary
-

shareholders Lo assess the Company s perform, % -,
- /

drew Grithitl
Group Chuef Financal Officer

28 July 2015

steps for the prevention and detecbon of fraud and otherimegulantias

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the
corporate and financial information included on the Company s website
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
disserination of Financial staternents may differ from legislation in
other junsdictions
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Financal statements

Independent Auditor's report

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of Sky plc
Opinion on the financial statements of Sky pic

1n our opieon the consolrdated and Parent Company finanaial
statements of Sky plc

give a true and fair view of the state of the Groups and Parent
Companys affairs as at 30 June 2015 and of their profit for the
year then ended

have been properly prepared tn accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the European Unson and

Have been prepared in atcordance with the requiremants of the
Comparies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation as regards
the consolidated finanaal staternents

The consohdated finanaal statements compnse the consoldated and
company iNncome statements the consolidated and company statements
¥f comprehensive ncome the consolidated and company balance '
sheets the consohidated and compary cash flow statements the
consohkdated and company statements of changes i equity and the
related notes 1to 34 The financial reporung framework that has been
apphed n therr preparation 1s 2pplicable law and IFRSs as adopted

by the Eurgpean Unvon

Qur assaessment of risks significant to our audit

Separate opintonin relation to IFRSS as 1ssued by the IASB

As explamed n note 1to the consolidated financial statements in
addition to complying with its legal obhgation to apply IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union the Group has also applied IFRSs as ssued by
the Intemational Accountng Standords Board (1ASE)

Inour opinien the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs
as rssued by the 1ASH

Going Concern

As required by the Listing Rules we have rewewed the Directors
statement on page 77 that the Group s a going concern We confirm that

+

we have concluded the Director s use of the going concarn basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropnate and

we have not identified matenal uncertanties related to events or
conditions that may cast stgnificant doubt on the Group s abrlity
Lo Ccontnue as a going corncern

However because not all future events or conditions can be predicted
this starement 1s not a guarankee as to the Group s ability to continue
as a goIng concern

The nsks of matenal misstatement described below are those that had the greatest effect onthe audit strategy the allocation of resourdes i the audit
and directing the efforts of the engagement team Dunng the year the Company acguired Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha introduang new audrt nsks and
additional complexity to the audit However since the ocperating model and business operations of the acguired entities are simsar to thosa of the UK

business the audit nsks are similar to those previously identsfied and reported ondn this yearof acquisition, we aise focused anthe accounung forthe

business combinaticns and the alignment of accounting palictes across the Group

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nisk

Revenue recogrition

Sky retails subscription packages to customers whuch include multiple
elements and may indude discounts and offers for example Ty
subscription hardware and Lelephony serices seld for a singte package
price The allocation of retail subscrption revenue to each elament of a
bundled transacton 1s complex and requeres judgement, as described in
the Group s cntical accounting polices on page 93 There s a sk that
napproprate allocations could iead to non-compliance with accountng
standards and incorrect acceleration or deferral of revenue principally
for new customers who may enker acontract of ane to twoyears
duration which may include hardware or installabion &t discounted prices
up front

We evaluated the group s revenue recogrition policy and management s
current year assessment in respect of accounting for bundled
transactions agamst relevant accounting standards and guidance

We tested the pelicy s implementation in each terntory by

+ performing tests to confirm our undersianding of the process by
which revenue 1s calculated by the relevant billing systems

perfarmung an assessment of the different product bundles and offers
made availlable to customers in the year and confirmung the farr value
of different elements of these packages to appropnate evidence of
fair value

B

assessing whether revenue should be accelerated or deferred based
on the retative fair value of elements delivered atdifferent points
duning the contract when compared to the revenue calculated by the
relevant billing system and

where differences arose between the revenue calculated by the billing
system and the revenue recognition profile calculated Inaccordance
with the Groups revenue recognition policy we audited the valuation
accuracy and completeness of those adjustments recognised toalign
revenue recogrused with the Groug s accountng policy
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Fuinandal statements

Independent Auditor’s report

(continued)

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded tothe nsk

Entertainment, programmung amortisaton

Determurung the uming and amaunt of the recogniuon of general
entertamment programiming exgensa requires judgemant as set
out in the Group s cniical accounting pohcies on page 93

There 1s & nsk that the policy selected and applied by management
to expense general entertainment programming does not recognise
the cost of inventory in line waith its expected value 1o the group
Entertainment programiming expense involves more judgement
than other programnung types due to the number of qualitative
factors involved in the selection and application of an appropriate
expense profile

The level of expenditure on general entertainment programming vanes
1n each terntory and our procedures focused on entertamment spend
n the UK and Italy which are significant to the group

We examined the methad for expensing general entertamment
programming inventory taking into account the differing genres
of programmes any sigruficant changes to viewng profiles and
ndustry benchmarks

Our procedures ncluded
- benchmarking management s policy agamnst mdustry practice

» eonsidering the consistency of amortisation profiles applied year
onyear

testing the design and implementaton of controls gver the recognrion
and expensing of general entertainment programming and

.

companng the expense profile determined by management against
that which would be indicated by viewing trends (used as a proxy
for value from broadcast)

Capital expenditure

Inthe UX spending on capital projects (s matenal and the assessmant
and timing of whether assets meet the capitalisation cntena set out
1nIAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment and 1AS 38 Intangtble Assets
requires judgement as set out In the Group s cnitical accounting pohcies
on page 93 In addition determining whether there is any indication

of imparrment of the carrying value of assets being develaped also
requires udgement

As aresult there 1s a sk that expenditure on intangible and tangble
non=¢urrent assets i the UK business is inappropriately capitalised
against relevant accounting gurdanee and that assets notyet inuse
are not recoverable at their carrying value

Oy procedures perfarmed in the UK inguded

« Tests of the design implementation and operating effecuveness
of controls inrespect of the capitalisation of assets and the
wenufication of potential Indicators of impairment

.

Sample tests of capital expenditure projects mcuding an exammaton
of managernent s assessment as to whether the project spend

met the recognition cntena set Forthin LAS 16 Praperty Plant and
Equpment and |AS 38 Intapgble Assets and revigwing project

status reports for the Group s most srgruficant projects to check
for mdicators of impairment and

+ Fora samgple of capital projects we developed an understanding
of the business case and challenged key assumplions and estimates
verfinng capital project authorisation tracing project costs to
appropriate evidence
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Risk

How the scope of our audit respondedto the nsk

Acquisiron accounung and alignment of accounung policies

As descnbed in note 31 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of
Sicy Itaha and B9 5% of Sky Deutschland on 12 November 2074 for total
consideration of £6 866 million Accounting for business cominnations
1$ complex and requires the recognition of both consideration paw and
acquired assets and Labdities at the acqursition date at fair values
which can invoive sigrificant judgement and estimates -

In additrtan accounting peliaes of the acguired entives must be ahgned
to the group s accounting policies which may imvolve sigruficant
Judgement and esumates

In particular the nsks relating to these business combinations are that

1 The consideration used in the purchase prnice allocation may not
be recorded at fairvalue given that the consideration paid to Fox
{arelated party)included the value of Sky pl¢ « stake in the National
Geographic Business

2 That the complexity and selection of input assumptions used in the
valuation of intangble assets recogrused on acquisition may result,
in the recognition of Intangible assets not representative of fair value

3 That hustoncal tax losses in Sky Deutschland may not be recaverable
and

4 That the atcountng pohicy alignment of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaba
to Sky pic s accountng policies 1S not complete

Controls relevant to the acquisition

We tested the design and implementation of oversight controls aver
key outputs of the group's acqursition accounting, including cantrols
aver the consideration of accountng treatments for new or camplex
areas the oversight exerased by group finance over the harmonesation
of accounting policies and the newly mplemented controls over the
group conschdation

1 Farvalustion of consideration
Our procedures included the followng

« Tests of the cash value of consideration to refevant transaguon
agreements and bank documentation and

« Auditing the valuation of Sky pics stake in Nauonal Geographic
by assessing the expert valuauons cbtaned by management and
using our own valuation specialists to challenge the key assumptions

2 Valuauon of acquired intangible assets
Our procedures included the following

« An assessment of the process that management had undertakente
determine the far value of the acquired intangible assets including
understanding the scope of work, quatifications and independance
of the valuation speaalists engaged by Sky pic and

Auditing the valuations prepared by management and thetr experts
including

- Assessing the key valuabion assumptions using our own valuation
specialsts

- Vahdatmg and challenging key inputs and data used in the

luatton moded such as customer numbers-ARPUand churn
assumptions by reference to historic data

3 sky Deutschtand historical tax losses
Qur procedures inclutded utiising our tax specialsts in the UK
and Germarny to audit the estimate of tax losses availablein Sky
Deutschland and assessing the jdgement involved in recogmsing
the retated deferred tax asset

4 Accounting policy algnment
Qur precedures included

« Consideration of the material accounting policies of the acquired
entities the completeness of management s own anatysis of the
accounting policy differences

+ Planmng and directing the component auditors of Sky Deutschland
and Skyftalia to perform an audit of the balance sheet at the date
of acquisition and

Auditing the valuatton of adjustments recorded where alignment
was required

The descnpuion of the nsks above should be read in conunction with the significant issues considered by the Audit Committee discussed on page 45
We reported to the Audit Commuttee that our audit wark on these risks was concluded satsfactornly

Qur audit pracedures relating to these matters were designed m the context of our audit of the financial statements as awhole and not to express an
opinton on indnadual audit nsks indmdual items or disclosures in the finanaal statements Our opirvan on the financial statements 1s not madified with
respact to any of the key nsks descnbed above andwe do not express an opiruon on these indvidual matters
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Financial statementy

Independent Auditor's report

{conunued}

Qur application of materiality

We define materiakty as the magrnitude of misstaterment in the financial
statements that makes i probable that the economic decisions of a
reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced

We use materiality in both plannmg the scope of our audit work and in
evaluaung the results of our work The Groups acquisitians in the year
have not sigruficantly changed the Group s adjusted profit before tax
and we determined audit matenahty for the Group to be £50 mdlion
(2014 £50 milbion)

We used profit before tax for our assessment of matenality which is
statutory profit before tax after remowving the impact of one-off items
such as profit on disposal of associates and avadable-far-sale
mvestment, and transaction fees incurred in relation to the acquisitions
in the year Materahty represents 6% of this measure The Group s
adjusted profit before tax measure further excludes the impact of
amortisation of acquired intangible assets ntegration costs
restructunng costs denvatives not qualifying for hedge accounting and
the tax effect of these adjusting items (see noke 10 for management s
definition and recanabation to adjusted profit For further details)
Audit mateniality of £50 milion represents approximately 5% (2014 6%)
of the Group s adjusted profit 2% (2014 5%) of equity and 3% {2014 5%)
of statutory prafit before taxation

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the
Commuttee all audit differences in excess of £2 5 mdlion (2014

€25 milion) as well as differences below that threshold thatin

our view warranted reporting on qualitative grounds We also report
to the Audit Commuttee any s:ignificant disclosure matters that we
identify when assessing the overall presentaton of the financial
statements We canfirmed to the Audit Committee that we had
nosignificant disclosure matters to repart

Matters on which we arerequired to report by exeeption
Adequacy of explanations recerved and accounting records
Under the Comparues Act 2006 we are required to report o you if
I OUr OPIAON

+ we have not recewved all the information and explanauions we require
for our audit or

L3

adequate accountng records have not been kept by the Parent
Company or returns adequate for our audit have not been receved
from branches not visited by us or

the Parent Company financial statemants are not In agreement
with the accounting records and retums

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Directars remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our
opinian certain disclosures of Directors remuneration have not been
made ar the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited
15 not In agreement with the accountng records and returns We have
naothing ta report ansing from these matters

Corporate Governance Statemeant

Under the Listing Rules we are atso required to review the part of the
Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company s complance
wath 10 provsions of the UK Carporate Governance Code We have
ncthing ta report arsing from our review

Qur duty to read other information in the Annual Report

Under the International Standards on Auditing (UK and ireland) we are
required 1o report to youf «nour opinion information mthe Annual
Reportis

=_materally inconsistent with thenformation in the audited financial

An overview of the scope of our audit

Cur group aucht was scoped by obtamning an understanding of the Group
and its environment including group-wide controls and assessing the
risk of materal misstatement at the group level Qur audit scope focused
on the Group s UK and lreland German and Austnan and italian
cperations which wera subject to a full scepe audit far the year ended
30 June 2015 Our audit Scope encompasses all principal business units
of the Group and substanually all of the Group s assets revenue and
adsted profit before tax The Group audit team directed supervised
and revigwed the work of the component auditers for Germany and
Austrnia and for Italy which involved issuing detailed instructions halding
regular discussions with component audit teams making several visits to
each location dunng the penod performing detailed file reviews and
attending local audit meetings with management Audit work completed
by compoanent auditors was executed at levels of matenahty applicable
to each entity which were lower than group matenality

Opinions on other matters prescnbed by the Companies Agt 2006
n our opion

+ theinformation given inthe Strategic Report and the Directors Report
for the finanaalyear for which the financial statements are prepared 1s
consistent with the financial statements and

= the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited has been
properly prepared in accordance wath the Compantes Act 2006

statements or

.

apparently matenalty incorrect based on or maternally inconsistent
wath our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing
our audit, or .

otherwise misieading

In particular we are required to consider whether we have wentified any
Inconsistencies between aur knowledge acguired during the audit and
the Directors statement that they consider the Annual Report is fair
balanced and understandable and whether the Annual Repert
appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to the
Audit Committee which we consider should have been disclosed we
cenfirm that we have natidenufied ary such incansistencees or

mesleading statements
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Respective respansibilities of Directors and Auditor

Responsibility of Directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully i the Statement of Directors responsibiities set
out on page 78 the Duectors are responsble for the adequacy of the
accounting recards the preparation of the financial statements from
those records and for being sausfied that the linancal statements give
a true and faw view

Auditor's responsihihty

Qur responssbility 15 Lo audit and express an opinon on the financial
statements in accordance with apphcable law and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Thase standards requere us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board s Ethical Standards far Auditors We also
comply with Intermational Standard on Quality Control 1 (UK and trefand).
Our audit methodology and tools am to ensure that cur quality contral
procedures are effectrve understood and apphed Qur quality controls
and systems include our dedicated professional standards review team
and independent partner reviews

Trus report & made solely to the Company s members as a body in
accordance withChapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companes Act 2006 Our avdit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are requined to state to them inan auditer s
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law we
da not accept or assume respons bility Lo anyane other than the Company
and the Company s members as a body for our audit work Forthis report

o for the openions we have formed

Financial statements

woda x3nens

Scope of the audnt of the financial statements

An audit mvolves abtaning ewdence abaut the amounts and disclosures

n the financial staterments sufficent to give reasonable assurance that

the financial scatements are free from matenal misstatement whather

caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the

accounung policies are appropnate to the Grouwp s circumstances and

have been consistently applied and adequately disciosed the

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the

Dwectors and the averall presentation of the financial statements

In adchtion we read all the financial and non-financal informatian v

the Annual Report to ident:fy matenal Inconsistences with the audited

financial statements and to idenufy any information that s apparently g
materialty incorrect based on or matenally inconsistent with the

know!edge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit E

If we become awarqof any appare
iconsistencies we ications for our report

Wilham Touche

(Senior Statutory Al nd on behalf of

Deloite LLP {hartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London

Urited Kingdom

28 July 2015

SRS [POUD]
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Fnanaal statements

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £Em Em
Conumnng Operations
Revenue 2 9989 7450
Operaung expense 2 [¢1+17)] (6346
Operating profit " To72 1104
Share of results of punt ventures and associates 1S 28 35
Investment mcome 4 8 6
Finance costs 4 (283) {140)
Prafic on dispasal of avalable-for-sate-investment s 5 432 -
Profit on disposal of asseoate 6 299 -
Profit before tax 7 1516 1025
Taxation 9 (1849) (205)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1332 820
Discontinued Operations
Profit for the yvear from discontinued operations 3 620 45
ProFit For the year 1552 865
Profit (lass) for the year attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent compary 1957 B&S
Non-controlling interests ()] -
1952 865
Earnings per share from profit for the year (in pence)
Basie
Conunuing operations 0 791p 525p
Discontnued operations 10 367p 29p
Total 10 1N58p 554p
Ciluted
Continuing operations - - 10 7829 520p
Discontinued operations 10 16 2p 29p
Total 10 Nadp 549p
The accompanyng notes are anintegral part of this consolidated income statement
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2015
2015 204
Em £Em
Profit for the year 1952 865
Other comprehensve ncome
Amounts recognised directly n equity that may subsequently be recycled to the income statement
Gain on revatuation of avatlable-for-sale investments 36 104
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges 276 {176)
Tax on cash flow hedges {57 9
Exchange differences on transiabian of foraign operations net of net invesiment hedges 13y -
42 33
Amounts reclassifed and reportedin the income statement .
(Lass) gain on cash flow hedges h (174) 137
Tax on cash fiow hedges 37 an
Transfer to income statement on disposal of avalable-for-sale nvestment (see note 5) (492) Yoo
Transfer to income statement on disposal of associate (1) -
(667) 106
Other comprehensive (1033} Incoma for the year (net of tax) (625) 73
Total comprehensive income for the year 1327 83a
Total cornprehensive income for the year attributable ta
Equity shareholders of the parent company 1345 938
Non-controlling interests a) -
1327 938
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Consolidated balance sheet

Fnanoalstatemants

as at 30 June 2015
M 2015 2014
Notes €m Em
Non-current assets
Gaodwll 12 4160 1019
Intangble assets 13 .—4084..- 810
Property plant and equipment 14 1646 1088
Imvestmentsin jont ventures and associates 5 133 173
Available-for-sale nvestments 1% k1l 533
Deferred tax assets v 175 kil
Pragramme distnibution nghts , 18 kll 20
Trade andt gther recenables 19 86 7
Dernvarve financial assets £ 453 195
10799 3876
Current assets
lnventones 18 847 546
Trade and other recesvables 19 1096 635
Current tax assets 8 -
Short-term deposits 23 100 295
Cash and cash equwvalents 23 1378 1082
DOervative financial assets 23 130 15
4559 2573
Total assets 15 358 6449
Current habibues
Barrowings 22 494 1
Trade and other payables 20 3430 2286
Current tax habihties 154 128
Provisions il 103 48
Derrvatve financral habilives 23 23 46
4204 2512
Non-current iatibties
Borrowings 22 7418 2658
Trade andt other payables 20 94 56
Prowisions 21 77 14
Dervative Financial labiditkes 23 60 129
Deferred tax liabilities 17 281 1
7930 2858
Total habilitias 12134 5377
Share capital 25 860 781
Share premwum 26 2704 1437
Reserves 26 (359} (1146)
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 26 3165 1072
Total equity attnibutable to non-controling interests 59 -
Total habilities and equity T 15 358 6449

Andrew Griffith
Group Chief Fimanaal Officer

Skyple 085
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Finanaal statements

Consolidated financial statements

(continued)

Consohlidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2005

2015 2014
Motes £m Em

Contnuing operations
Cash flows from operating actmities
Cash generated from operauons 27 2080 1696
Interest recerved and dvidends from availlable-for-sale investments 9 7
Taxation paid (219) (229)
Net cash from operating activities " 1870 1494
Cash flows from rwvesting actmties
Dradends recesved from jomnt ventures and associates 25 32
Net funding to joint ventures and associates [4[s)] (&)
Praceeds on dispesal of available-for-sale investment 546 -
Purchase of property plant and equipment (385) (238)
Purchase of intangible assets (357) (302
Purchase of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash equivalents purchased) {6340) (20%
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (88) (@)
(Increase) decrease in short-term deposits {8CS) 300
Net cash used in nvesting actvities {7414) (241}
Cash flows from financing actnties
Net proceeds from borrowings 51364 -
Repayment of borrowings (272) -
Repayment of obhgations under finance leases (0) (4)
Proceeds from disposal of shares in Employee Share Ownership Plan ( E50P7) 10 |
Purchase of own shares for ESOP (12) (164)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation - (266}
Issue of own shares 1346 -
Interest paid (246) 137y
Purchase of nan-controling nterests {328} -
Dmdends pard to shareholders of the parent (54 (485)
Net cash from (used n) financing actvities 5303 (10s85)
Effect of foreign exchange rate movements &7 -
Net (decrease) increase sn cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations {308) 208
Net ncrease in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations B04 59
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1082 815
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1378 1082

The accompanying notes arg anntegral part of this consolidated cash flow statement.

86 Skyplc




Annual Report 2015

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 June 2015

Finantal statements

uoda X3nens

Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company

Total b
Avatable- share- Mon-
Share Share ESCP Hedgng  for-sale Other Retaned holders controlling Totat
- _ .capital  premium  reserve  reserve rfesServe  raserves earnmngs equity interests equity
Em £m Em £m Em Em £m £m £m Em
At July 2013 797 1437 147) 11 3is 439 (1.876) 1,012 - 1.012
Profit for the year - - - - - - 865 865 - 865
Revaluation of avarlable-for-sale investments - - - - 104 - - 104 - 104 g
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - (39) - - - as) - 39
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - 8 - - - 8 - -] S
Total comprehensive Income for the year - ~ - [&1)) 104 - B&S 538 - 938
Share-based payment - - 2 - - - (95) 93) - 93y
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - 9 9 - 9
Share buy-back programme
- Purchase of own shares for cancellation 6) - - - - 16 (250) (250) - {250)
- Finangial iability for dose period purchases - - - - - - (59) (59) - (59
Divdends - - - - - - (485) {4E83) - {4B85)
At 30 June 2014 781 1437 (145) (20) 455 455 (1.891) 1,072 - 1072
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1957 1957 (5) 1952
Exchange dfferences on translation of
farengn operations net of met Investment
hedges - - - - - 200) - (200) 3 (213)
Revaluation of availlable-for-sale investments - - - - 36 - - 36 - 36
Transfer to income statement on disposal of
assowate - - - - - (38) - a8 - (38)
Transfer to ncome statement; on gisposal of 3
avanlable-for-sale nvestrment {see note 5) - - - - (492) - - (492) - (492) §
Transfer onaisposal of sUBSIAIFFes - - = = = (97 97 = = = [}
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - 102 - - - 102 - 102 §
Tax onstems taken directly to equity - - - 20 - - - (#40)] - (20 i
Total comprehensive income for the year = - - 82 {456) (335) 2054 1345 (19) 1327 g
Share-based payment - - 20 - - - 69 g9 - a9 @
Issue of own equity shares 79 1267 - - - - - 1346 - 1346
Non controling mterests ansing on purchase
of subsichanes - - - - - - - - 19 m
Tax on items taken dwecty to equity - - - - - - 17 17 - 17
Share buy-back programme
- Reversal of financial hability for dose pencd
purchases - - - - - - 59 59 - 59
Owidends - - - - - - (549) (549) - (549)
Purchase of non-cantrolling interests - - - - - - 2 (214) (T4) (328)
At 30 June 2015 880 2704 (125) 62 U] 120 (455) 3,165 59 3224
For a description of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve see note 26
The accompanying notes are an tntegral part of this consolidated statement of changes mequity g
=%
2
EX
:
g
=
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Frnancal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Accounting policies

Sky plc (the Cempany formerly British Sky Broadcasting Group pik)
15 a pubiic imited company incorporatad in the United Kingdom{ UK}
and restered in England and Wales The consohdated financial
statements include the Compatry andits subsidianes (together the
Group) and its Interests in assoaates and jontly controlled entities

&) Statement of comphance

The consclidated financial statements have been prepared n
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS )
as adopted by the European Uruon (EU ) the Compantes Act 2006 and
Articie 4 of the International Accounting Standard {1A5) Regulations
In addition the Group also complied with IFRS as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board { 1ASB )

b) Basis of preparation

The consolrdated financal statements have been prepared on a going
concerm bas:s (as set out inthe Directors Report) and on anhistorical
cost basis except for the remeasurement to fair value of certam financial
assets and labilities as descnbed in the accounting policies below

The Group has adopted the new accounting pronouncements which
became effective this year none of which had any significant impact

on the Group s results or ffnancal pesition

The Group maintains a 52 or 53 week fiscal year ending on the Surday
nearest to 30 June in each year In frscal year 2015 this date was 28 June
2015 this being a 52 week vear (fiscal year 2014 29 June 2014 52 week
year) For convenence purposes the Group continues to date nts
consohdated financal statements as at 30 June and to refer to the
aceounting pened as a year for reporting purposes The Group has
classified assets and kabibities as current when thoy are expected to be

cycle of the Group

<) Basis of consofidatian

| Subsidianes

Subsichanes are entities controlled by the Company Controlis achieved
where the Company has existing nghts that giee it the current ability to
direct the actrties that affect the Company s returns and exposure or
rights to vanable returns from the entity Subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated finanaial statemeants of the Company from the date
control of the subsskhary commences until the date that control ceases
Intragroup balances and any unrealised gams and losses or income
and expenses ansng from mtragroup transactions are ehminated

n prepanng the conschidated financial statements

n Assoc¢iates and joint ventures

Associates are entibies where the Group has significant influence but

not control or jeint control over the relevant actmties of the entity

Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have

jont control of the arrangement have nghts to the net assets of the
arrangement These consclidated financial statements include the Groups
share of the total recogrused gains and losses of associates and joint
ventures using the equity method from the date that significant influence
or joint controf commences to the date that it ceases based on present
ownership interests and excluding the possible exercise of potential vating
nghts less any mmpairment losses (see accounting policy 1) When the
Group s INterest n an assodate of jaint venture has been reducedtand
because the Group s share of lasses exceeds its interest in the assocrate
or joint venture the Group only provides for additional losses to the extent
that it has incurred legal or constructive obhigations to fund such losses
orwhere the Group has made payments on behalf of the assocate or
jont venture Where the disposal of aninvestment in an assoiate or

Jont venture I1s considered to be highly probable the imvestment ceases
1o be equity accounted and instead 1s classified as beld for sale and
stated at the lower of carmang amount and farr value less costs to sell

realised in or intended for sale or consumptionn the normal operating—————nsson disposal

m Nen-controling interests

Non-controlling Interests in the net assets of consohdated subsidianes
are identified separately from the Group s equity Nen-controling
Interests consist of the amount of those Interests at the date of the
acquisition and the non-contralling sharehoiders share of changes

n equity since the date of the acquisition The interest of the non-
contraliing shareholders in the acquiree may iminally be measured either
at fair value or a1 the non-controlling shareholders proportion of the net
fair value of the dentifiable assets acgured and habilities and contmgent
habtities assumed The choice of measurement basis 1s made on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis In transactions with non-controlling
parties that do not result n a change in control the difference between
the fair value of the consideration paid or recerved and the amount by
which the non-controlling interest)s adjusted 1S recogrised in equity

d) Goodwill

Busingss combinatons that have occurred since 1 July 2004 the

date of transition ta IFRS (the Transiuon Date ) are accounted for by
applying the acquisiicn method of actounting Following this method
goodwil1s irually recognised on consclidation representing the
diffarence batween the fair value cost of the business combsnation and
the fair value of the identifiable assets ¥abilbes and conuingent assets
and habilities assumed

In respect of business combinations that occurred prior to the Transiion
Date goodwill has been mcluded at the amounts recognised under

the Group s UK Generally Accepted Accountng Prinaples (UK GAAP )
accounting policies on the Transition Date On disposal of a subsihary
assocate or Joint venture the attnbutable amount of goodwall s incfuded
in the determination of profit or loss on disposal except for goodwill
written of f to reserves under LK GAAP prior to the Transition Date which
18 ot reinstated and 1s not meluded in determining any subsegquent gain

Goodwillis stated at cost less anymparment losses and 1s tested

at least annually for impairment based on the recoverable amounts

of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill has béen allGeated
Any impairment identified 15 recognised immediately in the income
statement andis ot subsequently reversed The carrying amount

of goodwill in respect of associates and joint ventures 1S indluded in
the carrying amount of the investment In the asseciate or joint venture
Goodwill 1s tested for impairment in line with accounting policy 1 below

@) intangible asscts and property plant and equipment ( PPE")

1 Intangible assets

Research expenditure 15 recognised in operating expense in the mcome
statement as the expenditure 1s incurred Development expenditure
(relating to the apphcation of research knowledge to plan or design new
or substantally mproved products for sale or use within the business) 1s
recogrused as anintangible asset from the point at which the Group has
the intention and ability to generate probable future ecanomic benefits
from the development expenditure that the development s techmically
feastble and that the subsequent expenditure can be measured reliably
Any ather development expendsture IS recognised in operating expense
as incurred
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Otherintangible assets which are acquired by the Group separately or
through a business combination are invtially stated at cost or farr value
respectively less accumutated amorusation and Impairment losses
other than those that are classified as held for sale which are stated
at the lower of carrping amount and fair value less costs to sell

The amoruisation of an intangible asset begins when the assetis
available for use and i charged to the ncame statemant through
operating expense over the asset s useful econom hife in order to
match the expected pattem of consumption of future economic
benefits ambodiedinthe asset

For acquired customer contracts and related custamer relabionships the
assets are amortised oneither a reducing balance basis oron a straight-
hne basis or over estimated useful kfe based on estimated customer
retention rate principally being a period of between 1 and 15 years as
appropriate

For all other acquired and nternally generated intangible assets the
assets are amortised on a straight-ine basis principally being a peniod
of between 1 and 25 years as appropnate

If the asset s useful economi hife 1s judged to beindefinite or the asset

s not yat available for use no amortisation s charged and an imparment
test 1s carned out st least annually Other intangible assets are tested
for imparment in hne with accounting pohcy 1 below

I Property plant and equipment

Owned PPE is stated at cost. net of accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses (see accountng pelicy 1) other than those items that
are dassified as held for sale whech are stated at the lower of carrang
amount and fair value lesscosts to sell When anitem of PPE compnses
major components hawng different useful economic lives the
components are accounted for as separate items of PPE

Frnancial statements.

£) Dervative financal instruments and hedging activities
The Group uses dervative financalinstruments to hedge its exposure
to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates

Derrvatrves are held at fair value from the date on which a derivauve
contract 5 entered nto Fair value s defined as the price that would be
recerved to sellan asset or paid to transfer a habihty in anorderly
transaction between market partiapants at the measurement date
under (FRS 13 Fair Value Measurément The Group calcutates a separate
credit valuation adjustment { CVA ) or debit valuatien adjustment ( DVA)
for each derwative based upon the net position for each counterparty
refationship The Group calculates the CVAwhere 1t has a net asset
position using a quoted credit default swap curve for the counterparty
and calculates the DVA where 1t has a net llability position using an
industry proxy credit default swap curve for the Group The farr value

of dervative financial nstruments is calcwlated by dscounting future
cash flows with reference to the benchmark Libor curve adjusted by the
relevant credit default swap curve Certain dernvatives held by the Group
which relate to highly probable forecast transactions ( hedged items )
which meet qualifying cntena under JAS 39 Finanaal Instruments
Recogrution and Measurement (IAS 39 ) are designated as cash flow
hedges Other dervatives which hedge changes in fair value of fixed rate
financial Instruments and meet the requirements of 1AS 39 are
designated as fair value hedges and are subject to cash flow hedge
accounting or fair value hedge accounung respectively Certain
borrowings and derrvatives have been designated as net investment
hedges of the Group s foreign operations for movements in the spot
foreign exchange rate see sectionr)for further detalls Certamn other
derivatives held by the Group do not meet the gualifying critena for
recognition For accounting purposes as hedges despite this bemg thesr
econamic function Changes i the Fair values of these denvatives are
recogrised immedately in the ncome statement The Group does

odos NB3nens

Assets held under financefeases which confer nghts and obhgattons
similar to those attached to owned assets ace treated as PPE (See
accounting policy n)

The cost of PPE less estimated residual value 15 depreciated in operating
expense on a strarght=hine basis over its estimated useful Ife Land and
assets that are not yet availlable for use are not depreciated Principal
useful ecenomic ives used for this purpose are

+ Freehold bulldings 25 to 40 years
+ Equpment furniture and fixtures 3 to 20 years
« Set-topboxes S to7 years

Assets under finance leases and
leasehcld improvements

Lesser of [ease term and the
useful economi¢ hife of the asset

Borrowing costs drectly attribratable to the acquisition construction
or production of quaifying assets which are assets that necessarty
take a substantial penod of tirne to get ready for thewr intended use
or sale are addled to the cost of those assets untd such time as the
assets are substantially ready for ther mtended use or sale

To the extent that the finanaing for a qualifying asset 1s part of the
Groups general borrowings the interest cost to be capitalisedis
cateulated based upon the weighted average cost of barrowing tothe
Group (exduding the interest on any borrowings specific to any gualifyng
assets) This s then apphed to the expenditures on the asset

All other borrawing costs are recognised in profit of l0ss in the penod
towhich they relate

not hold or i1ssue derwvatives for speculative purpeses

1 Denvatives that qualify for cash flow hedge accounting

Changes in the fair values of dervatves that are designated as cash
flow hedges ( cash flow hedging instruments } are mally recognised
mthe hedging reserve In arcumstances i which the denvative used
1S a currency option only changes m the intrinsic value of the option
are designated under the cash flow hedging relationship with all other
movemnents being recorded wnmediately in the income statement
Amounts accumulated in the hedging reserve are subsequently
recogmsed in the sncome statementin the perrods in which the
related hedged items ara recognised in the Income statement

At mnception the effectiveness of the Group s cash flow hedgesis
assessed through a comparison of the principat terms of the hedging
instrurnent and the underlying hedged item The ongoing effectrveness
of the Groups cash flow hedges 1s assessed using the dollar-gffsct
approach with the expected cash flows of hedging instruments being
compared to the expected cash flows of the hedged items This
assessment 15 used to demonstrate that each hedge relationship 1s
expacted to be hghty effectrve oninception has been hughly effectve
in the penod and 15 expected to contimue to be highly effectve in future
penods Themeasurement of hedge ineffectiveness for the Group s
hedging instrument s 15 calculated using the hypotheticaldervative
method with the fair values of the hedging instruments being compared
to those of the hypothetcal dervative that would resultin the
designated cash flow hedge achveving perfect hedge effectiveness

The excess of the cumulative change i the fair value of the actual
hedging nstrument compared to that of the hypathetical desvative

15 deemed to be hedge ineffactiveness which s recogrused inthe
ncome statement

The Group uses a range of BO% to125% for hedge effectiveness in
accordance with LAS 39 and any relationshep which has effectveness
outside this range is deemed to be neffective and hedge accounting
15 suspended
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Fnancal statemants.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

When a cash flow hedgng nstrument expires 1s termunated or 15
exertsed or if a hedge na longer meets the qualifying cntena for hedge
ac¢ounting any cumulative gain or loss existing tnthe hedgng reserve
at that me remains in the hedging reserve and is recognised when the
forecast transaction s ultimately recognised in the income statement
provided that the underhang transaction 1s sull expected to occur
When a forecast transaction s no longer expected Lo occle the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in the hedging reserve

1s immediately recognised in the iIncome statement and all future
changes in the fair value of the cash flow hedging nstruments are
immediately recognised in the income statement

u Derwvatuves that qualify for fair value hedge accounung

The Graup has designated certain dervatives as far value hedges as
defined under 1AS 39 Any changes in the fair value of the denvatives are
recognised smmediately in the income statement The carryng values
of the underlying hedged items are adjusted for the changeinthe

fair value of the hedged nsks with the gans or losses recognised
immediately in the ncome statement affsetting the fawr value
movement on the denvative

Prospective effectiveness s assessed quarterly through a comparison of
the prinapal terms of the hedging mnstrumant and the underhpng hedged
item inctuding the likelihood of defautt by the dervative counterparty
The retrospecuve effectiveness of the Group s farr value hedges s
calcutated quarterly using the cumulative dollar-offset approach with
movements in the farr value of the hedged item baing compared to
movements in the fair value of the hedging instrument.

The Group uses a range of B0% to 125% for hedge effectiveness and
any relatienship which has effectveness outside this range s deemed
to be meffective and hedge accounting s suspended

The cost of television programime inwventones s recogrised in the
operating expense hine of the mcome statement, over the period

the Group utilises the programming nghts taking into accourkt the
csrcumstances pnmarndy as descnbed below These ar¢umstances

may change or evohne aver ume and as such the Group regutarly reviews
and updates the method used to recognise programming expense

= Sports - the majonty of all of the cost s recogrused in the mcome
statement on the first broadcast or where the nghts are for muluple
seasons or competittons such rights are recogrused principally on
& straight-hne basss across the seasans or competiuons Where
the nghts are packaged sold and consumed over the off-season
the Group aflocates an approgriate portion of the total nghts value
to the off-season penod and that cost s recogrused on a straight-ine
basts over the off-season penod

- News - the cost s recogrvsed n the ncome statement as mcurred

* Mowes - the cost 15 recogrused in the ncome statement on a straight-
hne basis over the period for which the broadcast nghts are icensed

- (General entertainment - the cost relating to acquired commssioned
and produced nghts are recognised in the tncome statement based
on the expected value of each planned broadcast onthe Group s inear
channels and the tme penod over which non-linear programme nghts
are utiised The cost attnbutable or apportioned to non-hnear
(on dermand) nghts are amortised on a stra:ght-hina basts over the
penod of broadcast rights

The Group regularly rewviews 1Ls programrung nights formparrment.
Where programme broadcast nghts are surplus to the Groups
requirements and no gain s antcipated through a disposal of the nghts
or where the programming will not be broadcast far any other reason a
write-down to the income statement s made Any reversals of tnventory

in Embedded dervatives

Denvatives embedded in other financial iInstruments or other hest
contracts are treated as separate dervatives when therr nsks and
characteristics are hot dosely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contragts are not carned at fair value wath unreahsed
gawns or losses reported in the income statement Embedded derivatives
are carmied on the balance sheet at fair value fror the inception of the
hast contract Changes in fair value are recognised within tha income
statement during the penod iInwhich they ansa

g) Inventones

| Acguired and commissiened television programme

wentones for broadcast

Pregramme invenianes for broatcast are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value { NRV } including where apphicable estimated
subscrber escalation payments and net of the accurnulated expense
charged to the income statement to date

Such programming nghts are induded as inventones when the legally
enforceablelicence penod commencesand allof thefollowing conditons
have been met (a) the cost of each programme 15 known or reasonably
determinable (b)the programme matenal has been accepted by

the Group In accordance with the conditions of the nghts and (€) the
programme 15 available for its first showing Pror to being inctuded

i inventones the programming nghts are classified as television
programme nghts not yet availab'e for transmission and not recorded
as inventaones on the Group s balance sheet and are instead drsclased
as contractual commitments (see note 28) Payments made upon recept
of commssioned and acquired programming but in advance of the legat
night to broadcast the programmes are treated as prepayments

wnte=downs'are recognised as'reductions in operating exgense

1 Programme distribution rights

Pragramme distnbutionnghts are valued at the lower of cost and
NRV net of the accumulated expense charged to the income
statement to date

The cost of the programme distribution nghts s recognised in the
operaung expense ing of the income statement on an ultimate revenue
forecast basis

1 Set-top boxes, routers and related equipment

Set-top boxes routers and related equigment held for sale Lo customers
are valued at the lower of cost and NRY the latter of which reflects the
value that the business expects to reaise from the set-top baxes and
related equipment in the hands af thecustomer and are recogrised
through the operating expense ine of the income statement Any
subsidy 15 expensed on enablement which 1s the process of activating
the viewing card dunng wnstallaton so as to enable a viewer to view
encrypted broadcast services and effectively represents the completion
of the instaltation process for new customers The amount recogrised

in the income statement s determmed on 2 weighted average cost basis
in accordance with 1AS 2 Inventory'

v Raw materials consumables and goods held for resate

Raw matenals consumables and goods held for resate are valued azthe
lower of cost and NRV The cost afraw matenals consumables and goods
held for resale 1s recognised through the operating expense hine of the
mecome statement on a first-in-first-cut basis
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n) Financial assets and habikties

Financial assets and habditics are inibially recogrused at fair vatue plus
any directly attnbutable transaction costs At each balance sheet date
the Group assesses whether there s any objective endence that any
financiat asset s mpaired Finanaal assets and kabiitwes are recognised
on the Group s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual prowisions of the financial asset or hability Finanoial assets
are derecognised from the balance sheet when the Group s contractual
nghts to the cash flows expire or the Group transfers substanually
allthe nsks and rewards of the financial asset Financial kabilities are
derecogrused from the Group s balance sheet when the obligation
spectfied in the contractis discharged cancelled or exprres

1 Avafable-for-sale investments

Equuty Investments intended to be held for an indefirute penod are
dassified as avalable-for-sale investments They are carried at far
value where this can be reliably measured with movemnentsin far
value recognised directly in the available-for-sale reserve Where the
fair value cannot be reliably measured the investments carmned at cost

Any impairmeant losses 1n equity investments classified as avallable-for-
szle investments are recognised in the income statement and are not
reversible through theincome statement and are determined with
reference to the dosing market share price at the balance sheet date
Any subsequent increase in the fair value of the avatable-for-sale
investment above the impaired value will be recognised within the
avallable-for-sale reserve

Available-for-sale nvestments are induded withun non-current assets
unless the carrying value is expected ta be recovered prncipally through
sale rather than continung use wn which case they are included within
current assets On disposal the difference between the carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration recerved and any cumulative gan

Financial statements

w1 Barrowings

Borrowings are recorded as the proceeds recewed net of direct 1ssue
casts Finance charges, incuding any premium payable on settlement

or redemption and direct 1s5ue Costs are accounted for on an accruals
basis in the income statement using the effactive snterest method and
are added to the carrying amount of the undertyng instrument to which
they relate tothe extent that they are not settled in the penod in which
they arise - - - -

1) Impairment

At each balance sheet date n accordance with IAS 36 Imparment

of Assets the Group reviews the carrying amounts of all iLs assets
exduding inventones (see accounting policy g) non current assets
classified as held for sale financial assets (see accounting pohcy by and
deferred taxation (see accounting policy o) to determine whether there s
any indication that any of those assets have suffared animpairment loss

Animparment 15 recognised in theincome statement whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or Ls cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount Anmparrment of an investment in a joint vanture or
associate 1s recogrused within the share of profit from joint ventures and
assouates The recoverable amount 15 the greater of net seling price
defined as the farr value less costs ta sef and valuein use In assessing
value in use the estimated future cash flows are discounted to thew
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and risks spaafic to the asset
where it is not possible Lo estimate the recoverabie amount of an
indmdual asset the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit towhich the asset belongs iImpairment losses
recogmised in respect of cash generating units are afiocated first to
reduce the carryng amount of any goodwill allocated to those uruts

and then te reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the unit

yiodas ¥Bneng

&

or loss that had previously been recognised Girectly INTeserves is
recogrused in the mncome statement

I Trade and other recewvables

Trade and other recervables are non-dersvative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and where no stated nterestrate s
applcable are measured at the onginal Invaice amount if the effect
of discounting 1s mmatenial Where discounting 1s matenal trade and
other recenables are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method An allowance account 1s maintained to reduce the
carryng value of trade and other recevables for impairment losses
identified from objective evidence with movements in the allowance
account either from increased impairment losses or reversals of
impairment losses being recogrused in the ncome statement

m Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents indude cashin hand bank accounts
deposits recervable on demand and deposits wath maturity dates

of three months orless from the date of inception Bank overdrafts
that are repayable ondemand and which form anintegral part of the
Group s cash management are also induded as a component of cash
and cash equivalents where offset conditions are met

v Short-term deposits

This includes short-term deposits whih have matunty dates of
mare than three months from ncepuon These deposits are intially
recogrised at farr vatue and then carned at amortised cost through
the ncome statement less any allowance for imparrment losses

v Trade and other payablas

Trade and other payables are non-dervative financal labilities and are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method Trade
and other payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the
original Invoice amount If the effect of discounting 1s immatenal

o0 8 pro rata basts

Animpairment loss for an indmdual 8sseot or cash generating urut will be
reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount since the last unpairment loss was recogrised and
15 only reversed to the extent that the asset s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determuned

net of depreciation or amartisation If mo impairment loss had been
recognised Impatrment of goodwill1s not reversed

) Provisions

Proviscons are recognised when the Group has a probable present iegal
or constructive obligation to make a transfer of economic benefits as a
result of past events where a reliable estimate s avalable The amounts
recogrused represent the Groups best estmate of the transfer of
benefits that will be required to settle the obligateon as of the balance
sheet date Provisions are discounted If the effectof the time value of
money Is matenal using a pre-tax market rate adpusted for nsks specific
1o the habitity

¥) ESOP roserve

Where the Company or its subsidianes purchase the Company s own
equity shares the cost of those shares including any attrtbutahble
transaction costs 15 presented within the ESQP reserve as a deducuon
in shareholders equityin the consohdated financial statements
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Fnancal stataments

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

1) Revenue recognition

Revenue which excludes value added tax and transactions between
Group companies represents the gross inflaw of econamic benefit from
Sky s operatmg actvitres The Group s main sources of revenue are
recognised as follows

« Subscnpton revenue ncludes revenue from residential and
commercial subscribers to TV and communication products including
over-the-top ( OTT ) subscriptions and income from set-top box sales
and installation service calls and warranties Revenuers recognised
net of any discount grven as the goods or Services are prowded

.

Transactuonal revenue indudes the purchase of physical content
OTT passes pay perview and huy to keep content by residential and
commeraal customers Transactional revenue 1s recogmised net of
any discount given when the relevant goods or serwice are provided

« Wholesale and syndication revenue includes revenue from the sale of
channels and programmes across other platforms and internauonally
Wholesale revenue is recognised as the services are prowded to cable
and other retailers and i1s based on the number of subscnbers taking
the Sky channels as reported ta the Group by the cable and other
retaders and the applicable rate card ar cOntract Syndication
revenues are earned from the production of programming and the
distribution of programming rights Production revenue is recognised
on a stage of completion basis and distnbution revenue s recognised
when the contract is signed and the content 1S avadable for
expiatation

Advertising sales revenue 15 recognised when the advertising
15 broadcast Revenue generated from airtime sales wherne Sky
acts as an agent on behalf of therd parties 1s recognisedon a

The Group ssues equity-settled share-based payments Lo certain
employees which must be measured at farr value and recognised as

an expense n the income statement, with a corresponding mcrease

in equity The Fair values of these payments are measured at the dates
of grant using option-prong models taking nto account the terms

and conditrons upan which the awards are granted The fair value

1s recogrised over the penod during which employees become
uncondiionally entitled to the awards subject to the Group s estimate
of the number of awanrds which will be forfeited ether due to employees
leaving the Group prior to vesting or due to non-market based
performance condisons not baing met Where an award has market-
based performance conditions the fair value of the award 15 adjusted for
the probatihty of achueving these wia the option pncing model The total
amount recogrused in the mcome statement as an expense 15 adjusted
to reflect the actuat number of awards that vest. except where forfeiture
s due to the fadure to meet market-based performance measures

in the event of a canceltaton whether by the Group or by a parbicipating
employee the compensation expense that wou!d have been recognised
over the remainder of the vesting penod s recogrused immechately

n profit or loss

n) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the Lerms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards inaidental to ownership of
the asset to the lessee All other leases are dassified as aperating leases

Sub-lease income from operating leases 1s recognised on a straight-hne
basis over the term of thelease

When the Group 1s alessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group
at thewr Far value on the date of acquisibon orif lower at the present
value of the mumimum lease payments The corresponding labiity to

net commission basis

Other revenue principally includes incame from technical platform
services and the provision of network services Other revenue 15
recognised netof any discount given when the relevant goods or
service are provided

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the constderation recerved

or recervable When the Group sells a set-top box installatian ar service
ant 8 subscnptionn one bundled transaction the total consideration
from the arrangement 15 allocated to each element based on therwr
relative farr values The fair value of each iIndwidual element is determined
using vendor speafic or third-party evidence The amount of revenue the
Group recogruses for delivered elements s hrmited to the cash receved

m) Employee benefits

Wages salaries sooal secunty contnibutions bonuses payable and
nan-monetary benefits for current employees are recognised In
the income skatement as the employees services are rendered

Where the Group provides pensions to ekgible employees through
defined contnbution schemes the amount charged to thencome
slatement in the year represents the cost of contnbutions payable

by the Group to the schemes i exchanga for employee services
rendered in that year The assets of the schemes are held independently
of the Group

Liabshiues in relation to employee abligations which are economically
stmiar Lo defined benefit pension schemas are accounted for as such
under |AS19

Termination benefits are recogrised as a hability at the earher of when
the Group can ne longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit
and when the Group recogruses any related restructuring costs such
termunation being before the normal retirement date or as the result
of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy

the lessor 1s incuded in the balance sheet asa finance lease obhgation
Lease payments are appartiored between finance charges and
reductions to the [ease obhgaions 50 as to achieve a canstant rate
ofinterest on the remaning balance of the iabdity

The lease expense arising from eperating leases rs charged to the income
statement on a straight-ine basis over the term of the lease Benefits
recerved and recevable as incentives to enter nto operaung feases are
recorded on a straight-ine basts over the lease term

When the Group is a lessor

Set-top boxes which are provided to subscnbers under operating lease
arrangements are recognised a$ assets wathen property plant and
eguipment The set-top boxes remainm the economc ownership of the
Group for the duration of the lease and are deprecated over therr useful
economic hves of between five and sevenyears

o) Taxation Including deferred taxation

The Group s hability for current taxis based on taxable profit for the year
and 15 calculated using Lax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets and habilives are recognised using the balance sheet
hatihty method providing for tempaorary differences between the
carrymng amounts of assets and habiliues in the balance sheet and the
corresponding tax bases used wn the computation of taxable prafit.
Temporary differences ansing from goodwill and except in abusmess
combination the initial recognition of assets or babihities that affect
neicher accounting profit nor taxable profit are not prowded for Deferred
tax habihues are recognised for taxable temparary differences ansing
onwvestments in subsichanes and associates and Interests in Jont
ventures except where the Group)s able to contral the reversal of the
temporary difference and it 1S probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse i the foreseeable future The amount of deferred tax
prowided 1s based on the expected manner of reahsatron or settement
of the carrying amount of assets and habities using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
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The carrymg amount of deferred tax assets 1s raviewed at each balance
sheet date and adyusted to reflect an amount that 1s probahle to be
reahsed based on the wetght of all available ewidence Deferred taxis
calculated at the rates that are expected to apply in the penod when
the hability 1s settied or the asset is realised Deferred tax assets and
habiiies are not discounted Deferred taxss charged or credited in the
income statement, except where it relates to items charged or edited
directly to equity inwhich case the deferred tax s also induded within
equity Deferred tax assets and habiities are offset when thereis a
legally enforceable nght to set off current tax assets against current
tax Ipbilites and when they rolate to tncome taxes levied by the same
taxation authonty and the Group intends to settie its current tax assets
and habdities on a net basis

p) Distributians to equity shareholders
Oradends are recognsed in the retained earmungs reserve in the yearin
whuch they are dedlared

The cost of repurchasing the Group s own equity shares for cancellation
('share buy-baeks }1s recorded in retained earmungs In additon the
nommak cost of shares repurchased s deducted from share capital
and a matdhung credit 1s recorded in the capital redemption reserve

q) Earnngs per share

Basic earnings or loss per share represents the profit or loss for the year
attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company dwided by
the wesghted average number of ordinary sheres inissue during the year
excduding the weighted average number of ordinary shares purchased by
the Group and held in the Graup s ESOP dunng the year to satisfy
employee share awards

Diuted earnangs of loss per share represents the profit or loss for the
yearattnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company drnded
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate
basic earmnings plus the wetghted average number of dilutive shares
resulting from share options where the inclusion of these would not

be antchiutive

) Foreign currency translation

Trading actmties denomnated i foreign currencies arerecorded in the
funcional currency of the entity at applhicable monthly exchange rates
monetary assets liabiities and commitments denominated in foreign
currgncgs at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of
exchange at that date Non-monetary assets and habiities denominated
in foreign currenaies are translated to the funcbional currency of

the entity at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the imitial
transaction Gamns and kosses from the retranslaton of monetary

assets and kabilities are ncluded net in profit for the year

The Group s presentational currency is pounds sterling Assets and
lrabiities of the Group s foreign operabons are translated at exchange
rates prevaling on the balance sheet date Income and expense items
are translated at the applcable monthly average exchange rates

Any exchange differences arsing are class:fied as equity and transferred
to other reserves Goodwill and fair value adjustments ansing on the
acqumsition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and habihtes
of the foreign operation and translated accordingly Gans and losses
accumulated m the translation reserve are included in the mcome
statement when the foreign operation is disposed of

Financal statemants

Gans and losses on those instruments designated as hedges of the net
mvestnents in foreign operations are recognised In equity to the extent
that the hedging relationshup 1s effecuve these amounts are mncluded

in exchange differences on translavon of foreign operations as stated

in the statement of comprehensive Income Gains and losses relating

to hedge ineffectveness are recognised immediately In the income
statement for the pernod

s) Reportable segments

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires the segment information presented
in the financial statements to be that which s used internally by the chief
operating decision maker Lo evaluate the performance of the business
and decide how to allocate resources The Group has wdentified the
Board of Cirectors as its chef operating deosion maker and the segment
informatian presented in the finandial staternents is consistent with the
nternal reporting reviewed by the Board

t) Accounting Standards interpretations and amendments to existng
standards that are not yot effective

The Group has not yet adopted certain new standards amerkiments and
interpretations to existing standards which have been pubhshed but are
only effective for our accounting penads beginming en or after 1 July 2015
or later periods These hew pronouncements are hsted below

= Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounung for Acquisitions of Interests in
Joint Operauans (effectve | January 2016)°

« Amendments toJAS 16 and IAS 38 Clanfication of Acceptable Methods
of Deprecation and Amortisation (effectwve 1 January 2016)

» Annual improvements 2012 2014 cyde (effective 1 July 2016)"

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracks with Customers' (effectve 1 January
2017

IFRS & Financial Instruments {effective 1 January 2018)”
*not yet endorsed for usen the €U

The threctors are qurrently evaluaung the impact of the adopoon of
these standards amendments and interpretauons n future perods

u} Cntical accounting policies and the use of judgement

Certain accountng policies are considered to be cntical to the Group
An accounting policy 1s considered to be cnitical if 1n the Directors
Judgement, its selection or application matenally affects the Groups
financial pasituon or results Befowis a summary of the Group s cnitical
accountng polickes and details of the key areas of judgement that are
exercised in their applcation

1| Revenue (see note 2)

Setecting the appropnate timing for and amount of revenue tobe
recognised requires judgement This may involve esumating the fair value
of consideration before itis received When the Group sells a set-top box
installation or service and a subscaipuon in one bundled transaction the
total considerauon from the arrangement 1s allocated to each element
based on its refative fair value The fair value of each indmidual element
15 determined wsing vendor speafic ar third-party evidence The amount
of revenue the Group recognises for delivered elements 15 rmited to the
cash receved

1 Taxation, including deferred taxation (see notes 9 and 17)

The Group § tax charge 15 the sum of the total current and deferred tax
charges The calculation of the Groups total tax charge necessanly
tnvolves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certan
izems whase tax treatment cannot be finally determined untl resolutian
has been reached with the relevant tax authonty or as appropniate
through a formal legal process
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Financlal statements

Notes to the consolidated financal statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions for tax conungenaes require management to make
judgements and estumates in relation to tax audit 1Issues and exposures
Amounts provided are based on management s interpretation of
country-specific Lax law and the hkebhood of settlement Tax benefits
are not recogrrsed unless (ti1s probable that the tax positions will be
sustained Once considered to be probable management reviews
each matenal tax benefit to assess whether a provision should be
taken aganst full recognstion of the benefit on the basis of the hiely
resolutson of the issue through negotiation and/or iugaton

The amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of each matter are derwved from the Group s best estymation

and judgement as described above However the inherent uncertainty
regarding the outcome of these items means the eventual resolubion
could differ from the provision and in such event the Group would be
required to make an adjustment in a subsequent penad which could have
& matenal impact on the Group s prafit and loss andlor cash position

The key area of judgement in respect of deferred tax accounting s

the assessment of the expected uming and manner of reaisation or
settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and habihiuies held at the
balance sheet date n particular assessment s required of whether it s
prabable that there wall be suitable future taxable profits against which
any deferred tax assets can be utiised

m Acquisition accounting and goodwill (see note 12)

Judgement 1s required In determining the farr value of identfiable assets
habilities and contingent assets and habihites assumed In abusiness
combenation and the fair value of the consideration payable Calculating
the fair values irwalves the use of significant estmates and assumptions
including expectations about future cash flows discount rates and the

Assessing whether assels meet the required critena for inual
capitalisation requires jJudgement This requires a determinaton

af whether the assets wili result in future benefits to the Group

In parucular internally generated intangible assets must be assessed
dunng the development phase to identfy whether the Group has
the ability and intention tocomplete the development successfully

v Programming inventory for broadcast (sce hote 18)

The key area of accountung for programmung inventory for broadcast that
requires judgement is the assessment of the apprepnate profile over
whuch to amortrge general entertamment pragrammung This assessment
requires the Group to form an expectation of

= the ume period over which the programme 18 expected to be
utiised the number of times a programme will be broadceast on the
Group s channels

» therelative valug assocated with each broadcast and

+ therefative value associated with hnear channel and non-linear
programme nghts

In order to perform this assessment, the Group considers the following
factors

- The ume pernod and frequency with which the programme is expected
to be utdised on the Group s inear channels and non-lmear services
Thus 15 usually based on a combination of the actual penod speafied in
the contract for the programme rights the initial expectation of when
anngs will be scheduled and the alternatve programming avalable to
the Group within this period

Expectations as to the number of viewers a programme s likely to
achieve for each indnrduat broadcast on the Group s hinear channels
aver the contractual broadeast period The number of viewers per

lves of assets following purchase

Judgement 1s required in evaluating whether any imparment loss has
arisen against the carrying amount of goodwili This may require
calculation of the recoverable amount of cash generating units to which
the goodwill 1s associated Such a calculation may involve estmates

of the net present value of future forecast cash flows and selecting

an appropnate discount rate Alternatrrely it may involve a calcufation
of the fair value less costs to sell of the applcable cash generatngunit

Judgement is required wnidentifying the cash generating units to which
the goodwill is associated for the purposes of ggodwillimpairment
testing Jdentification of cash generating units involves an assessment
of whather assets or groups of assets generate cash flows that are
largely mdependent of other assets or groups of assets Goodwillis
then allocated to each igentified cash generating unit that 1s expected
to benefit from the synergwes of the business combinatwens from which
goodwill has anisen

v Intangible assets and property plant and equipment

(see notes 13 and 14)

The assessment of the useful economic bves and the method of
amortising these assets requires judgement Cepreciabion and
amortisation are charged to the income statement based en the useful
economic hife selected which requires an estimation of the pertod and
profite over which the Group expects to consume the future economie
benefits embodied in the assets The Group reviews its useful economic
Irves on at least an annual basis

Determning whether the carrying amount of these assets has any
indication of imparrment also requires judgement Lf anindicauon of
mpanr ment 1s idenufied, further judgement 1s required to assess whether
the carnping amount can be supported by the net present value of future
cash flows forecast to be derived from the asset This forecast involves
cash flow projections and selecting the appropnate discount rate

BroadcastdiTectly infTUen<es adverusing revenue ror channels .

although this consideration ts partly influenced by the Groups
assessment of the potential impact of the publicly avalable
information onits competitors scheduling intentions aganst planned
broadcasts

The potenual benefits associated with utiising programming Certain
high-profile or high-quality programmmg utles have additional value to
the Group as they attract new TV customers and encourage retention
of exisung TV customers As such these programmes are able to retamn
more value throughout their icence period than would be indicated
when considenng the expected customer viewing and consumption
numbers alane

The relauve value assocated wath inear channel and nea-linear nghts
are assessed hased on the manner in which the Group expects to
uthse the programming rights and the relative value percenved by
customers for the Group s channels and services Thase relative values
may also differ based on the type and genre of programme Such
values are reviewed by the Group aganst current and expected future
trends in customer viewing behanour for the Groups programming
and channels The value apportioned to non-knear rights (in additron
to any separately acquired non-knear nght$) 15 amorused on a
straight-ine basis over the penod of the broadcast nghts, as the
Group considers ths 1o be the profite most closely aligned tots
consumption of thase rights
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2 Operating Segments

Finanoal statements

On 12 November 2014 the Group purchased operations in italy Germany and Austna and as a result has reassessed the number of reportable

operating segments

The Group now has three reportable segments that are defined by geographic area to reflect how the Group s operatons are maritored and managed
The reportable segments presented reflect the Group s management and reporting structure as viewed by the Board of Directors whichis censidered

to be the Group s chuef operating decision rnaker

Reportable segment Description
UK & Iretanc The actimities and operations of the pay TV home commumcations and adjacent businesses in the UK and Ireland
Italy The activities and operat:ons of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in ltaly

Germany & Austna

Segmental Income statement for the year ended 30 June 2015

The activities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in Germany and Austria

Results for full year

Itaty and

Germany

Adjusting & Austna
UK& Germany & ltems & pre-  Statutary
Irelana Italy Austna Ehmmatans  acquisiion Group Total
Em Em £m £m Em Em

Continuing Operations

Subscription 6596 1845 1256 - [ARFL) 8518
Transactional 120 35 18 - (20} 153
Whelesale and syndication S15 16 20 ()] ® 541
Advertising 510 162 44 - 6 649
Other a5 28 39 9) (25) 128
Revenue 7836 2086 1377 ()] {1300) 5989
Inter-segment revenue (16) - - 1o 6 -

{ Revenue from external customars 7820 2086 1 E7. {1294) 5,988
Programumung (2853) (1258) {769) ()] 724 (4172}
Drrect network costs (840) - - - - (840)
Sales general and administration (2781) (767) 524y (377 544 (4005
Operating expense (6486) (2025) {1388} {386) 1268 (9017
EBITDA 1740 216 74 (163) (129) 1738
Depreciation and amortisation (390) (1553 (89) (233} 97 (766)
Operating profit (loss) 1350 61 Q)] (396) (32) q972
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 28
Investment income 8
Finance costs (283)
Profe on disposal of avarlable-for-sale nvestments 432
Profit on disposal of assoaate 299
Profit before tax 1516
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Segmental ncome statement for the year ended 30 June 2014

Results For fullyear t

ttaly and
Germany &
Ux & Germany & Adusting Austna  Statutory
treland itaty Austna ltems fidlyear Group Total
Em Em £m Em £m £m
Continuing Operations - '
Subscrpuon 6278 1850 1144 - (2994) 6278 '
Transactional 86 37 19 - (56) 85
Wholesale and synd:«cauon 433 65 26 15 (a1 448
Advertising 487 1€8 35 - (203) 487
Qther L1 20 38 - (58) 3
Revenue 7435 2140 1282 15 (3402) 7450
inter-segment revenue [ - - - 5 - |
Revanue from external customers 7374 2140 1252 15 (3 341) 7450
Programimung (2656) (a2 {735) (O] 2006 {2657)
Direct network costs (8'6) - - (29} - (845)
Sales, general and admanistration (2750) 830 (S84) 84) 1414 (2844)
Operating expense (6232) (2101 (1319) {14y 3420 (6346)
EBITDA 1606 224 18 (70) (242) 1536
Depreaation and amartisation (403) (185) (75) (29) 260 (432)
Operating profit (loss) 1203 39 (57) (99) 18 1104
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 35
Investment income 26
Finance costs. (K0)
Profit before tax 1025

Results for #ach segment irg presanted on an adusted bass A reoonchanon of sLatutonry 1o adpsted profit i shown i note 10 which a0 nchud es a desanption of the adarsting items.
Tramsactons between segments are recomed based on esbmated market pooeg,

To proviche a mcrg re Lo, mar hars thasen 10 neandlyse the rivinue and aperatng expensa catagones from those previously reparted The revenue categones have been
:hargadmrgﬂgct:h.m.asngbuadmelmcMmsMamtudop«amumewkumb«nmmMasmku general and admrstraton (SGEA)
operatmg apense ing As such certanpror penod mevenues and asts within the 2014 statutory Group total comparatves have been redassified as set out badow

Prioryear revenues of EBS mebion and E20 mehon prowousty included m Instaliation hardwire snd senace and Other espectively ars now michsded m Subscnption revenue Transactonal reverwe
ndudes. £ B2 mullion arvd £4 medbon relatng to Sky Store and Sports and wholesale pay per wew which were previously nduded in Retad subscnpuon and Wholesale subscripbon respectvely
Reverues of E15 millon and £ 2 milion relating 16 Siy K and $24nch mvenuss ang ndwoncluded in Advertising and Wholesale and synds<cation respecively hamng previowusly been induded i Other
Sports syndraton and Sky Vision revenues of £28 mikon are now nduded m Wholesale and Syndeaton, having previousty biren induded in Other Prcr year expense of £2 mdlon previously
nduded n Programmeng 15 now mduded i SGEA

Reverue of E7387 aubon (Q04 £6972 rdhon) anses from goods and senaces prowded 1o the UK and revenue of E 2602 mikon (2014 €478 millon) Antes from senaces provaded to other
countnes NoCUnrent SESats kocatad m the UX were £10 148 mubon (2034 £3 873 mdbon) and nen-aument assets located outside the UK were £651 mibon (2014 E3rmikon)

Inchuded withen operatng expensas for the year ended 30 juna 2015 are
Costs of €10 mdhkon relauing 1o the ntegration of Sky Deutschiand and Skyitaka in the enlargad Group recognsed n SGEA
+ Costs of £50 mulion relating to advisary ang transacton fees mnasmed on the purthase of Sky Deutschland and Sky iaba ecognised n SGEA

Costs of £105 mikon relating to covpomte restructunng #nd efficency programmes nduding an impeurment of £2 midhon n relacon 1o fized ascets These costs have been recagrised 23 folkiws ,
= €10 mdhon wathin Programmang
= ES5 miton withun SGEA

Coss of £231 mdkan elaung to the amortrsauon of acqured ntangibie assews recognaed n SGEA |

tnaluded withen wholesalg and syndicabon nvenue fior the year ended 30 June 2014 s a E15 mehon credit receved foliowing the termunation of an escow agreement with 4 cument wholesale operator
Indudad within aperating expenses for the year endad 30 June 2014 ane
Costs of £ 49 mithion relating Lo the acqusion and wikegration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed lne telephony business. nduding amarusation of £4 mdbon i relation to assocated
nitang ble assets The tosts have been recogrused as foliows
= E29 mdon vathufs difect Retworks
- E20 mdian within SGoA,
Costs of F40 mdSon retating 1o a copamte sinuactunng and affiency programme o the curment year rchxing
a53ets Thess costs have been recogrsed as foiows
- E1milion withen programmng
- £29 miton withn 5G&A

v 1t of £2 mlhon in relabon to assocated ntang ble and ngbie

.

Costs of £2 msdaon a3 a resut of the termination of an escrow agreament with a oument wholsale operator Thes oost has been recogrused within SG&A.
Costs of £23 mion n retaton to the amortsanon of aoqured ntanghis assats reeognsed in SGRA

'
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3 Discontinued operations

On 19 March 2015 the Group completed the sale of a controikng stake i its online betung and gameng business Sky Betung & Gaming { Sky Bet ) to funds
adwised by CVC Capital Partners and members of the Sky Bet management team Sky has retained an equity stake of 20% pest completion in Sky Bat.

Sky Bet represented a separate major hne of business for the Group As a resull its operations have been treated as discontinued for the year ended
30 June 2015 and the year ended 30 June 2014 A single amount 1s shown on the face of the consolidated income statement compnsing the post-tax
resutt of discontinued operations and the post-tax profit recognised on the disposal of the discontinued operation A pre-tax profit of E600 milhon
arose on the disposal of Sky Bet being the net proceeds of disposal less the carrying amount of Sky Bet s net habiiues and attnbutable goodwill

The results of discontinued operations which have been induded in the cansolidated ingome statement were as follows

roda 2Snens

2OUBLIBAOD

015! 204
To 19 Marth Fulyear
Em Em
Revenue 158 B2
Operaung expense 28} {12%)
Operating profit 30 57
Profit on disposal 600 -
profit before tax 630 57
Attnbutable tax expense? (4[] 2
Profit for the year from discontinued cperations 620 a5
1 Results for the year ended 30 June 20i5 mchxde the results of dscontinued operatons up tothe date of drsposal (19 Maroh 2015)
2 Attributable Lax expense compnses £9 mihon (2004 £12 mulkon) in respect of oparating activities and £1millon (2014 nil) arsing 8s a result of the disposal
The net habilities of Sky Bet at the date of disposal were
19 Mareh
2015
£m
Nonscurrentassets
Property plant and equipment 9
Deferred tax assets 1
10
Current assets
Trade and other recevables s
Cash and cash equivalents 30
35
Total assets 45
Current haliities
Trade and other payables 58
Provisions 6
64
Total iabilities 64
Net kabifities 5
Tota! considerauon 730
Net habiliues disposed 19
Artnbutable goodwill (149)
Profit on disposal 500
Consideration recened in cash and cash equivalents 598
Less cash and cash equivalents drispesed of [€l)]
Net cash inflow ansing on disposal 568

Dunng the year cash flows attnbutable to Sky Bet compnised a net cash inflow in respect of operating actwities of £44 muliton (2014 inflow of £62 milan)

2and a net ¢ash inflow in respect of investing actmties of £560 mullion (2014 outflow of £3 mithon)
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4 Investment income and finance costs

2016 2012
£m Em
Investment income
Interest on cash cash equivalents and shert-term depasits 8 4
Dwidends recewed from avallable-for-sale investments - 22
- - - - - - - — 26
2015 2014
£m Em
Finance costs
- Interost payable and similar charges
Facility related costs (44} @
Guaranteed Notes (see note 22) 214) {(126)
Finance lease interest 4] 6]
{265) (135}
- Other finance iIncome {expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowings-related denvative Financial nstruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) ey (2}
Remeasurement of oLher dervative financial instruments {not qualifying for bedge accounting) [€)] {4y
Gain (loss) ansing on denvatives In a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 7 an
(Loss) gain anising on adjustment for hedged item n a designated farr value hedge accountng relauonshup (O] a2
(18) (53
(2683) (140)

Borrowing cests induded in the cost of qualifying assets dunng the year arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 31% (2014 4 95%) to expenditure on such assets The amount capitahsed (n the current year ameunted to £9 milhon
(2014 £4 mition) Tax rehefin the current year on capitalised nterest totals £0 4 milion (2014 £06 milian)

Finance costs mclude ES7 milion incurred in connection with £6 6 biflon of firm underwnitten debt fachues and other assocated transaction costs
relating to the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaba Jhese.facihties including the previqus revolving credit facdity { RCE) have beenrepaid or.
cancelled duning Lthe penoad with the exception of a £1 bifllion RCF which remains undrawn

5 Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investments

On17 July 2004 the Group sold a shareholding of 6 4% in ITV plc consisting of 259 820 065 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration of E481 mulion
A profit of £429 million was reaised on dispasal beng the excess of the consideration above the previously written-down valug of the shares for
accounung purpases (E52 mdlion)

On 'S November 2014 the Group sold a further shareholding of © 8% in ITV plc consisting of 31864 665 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration of

E65 milion A profit of £58 mullion was realised on disposal being the excess of the consideration above the previously written-down value of the shares
for accounting purposes (£7 mition)

The Group recognised a gan of £5 million as a result of measunng to fair value sts equsty interestin Sky Deutschiand held prior to the acquisition
For further details sec note 31

6 Profit on disposal of asscciate

0On 12 Novemnber 2014 the Group transferred a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network International L1.C and a sharehalkding of 21%in NGC Network Latn
Amarica LLC to 21st Century Fox Inc { 21st Century Fox ) for an aggregate consideration of £410 millien as part of the purchase of Sky Itaha (see note
31 for further detail} A profitof £299 milhon was realised ondisposal

7 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation 1s stated after charging

2018 2014

£m £m

Cost of inventones recognised as an expense 33n 2208
bepregation imparment and losses (profits) on disposals of property plant and equipment 297 204
Amortsauon imparment and losses (profits) on disposals of mtang ble assets 4639 228
Rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements 70 49

Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange gans recognised n the income statement duning the year amounted to £14 mihon (2014 losses of E2 milhon)
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Audit fees
An analysis of auditor’s remuneration s as follows
2015 204
£m £m
Fees payable to the Company 5 auditor for the audit of the Company s annual accourts 20 13
Fees payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of the Company s subsidiaries 03 03
Total audit fees 23 - 16-
Audit-related services 02 02
Taxation services 15 05
Other assurance services o8 o1
Other adwsory services 4 -
Transaction senices 19 Q6
Total non-audit fees 158 14

Non-audit fees payable to the Company s auditor in the UK principally compnise transaction related services including reporting accountant services
camfart procedures in relation to debt rssuance and programmes and acquisition-related tax services Other assurance services principally relate to

The Bigger Picture assurance and the mnterim review

Celoitte Germany and Deloitte Italy provided non-audit services to Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia prior to ther acquisition by the Group on 12 Novemnber
2014 These pnnapally compnsed technology consulting and adwisary services As descrnibed in the Report of the Audit Committee a comprehensive
rewiew and resrgamisation of these services was performed followsng the acquisition date in order to ensure the contnued mdependence of Deloitte LLP
as auditors of the Group The total fees for non-audit services provided ta Sky Deutschland and Sky Italiain the full year ended 30 June 2015 were

E15 7 milhon and the table above includes those services prowded to Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itaha by Deloitte since 12 November 2014

Total aud:t fees payable to the Groups component auditors of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaka in the full year ended 30 June 2015 were E11 mitlion
The Group s component audnors of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia also provided non-audit services to the Group during the year none of which
compromused therr ndependence in respect of therr reporung to the Group s auditor and ther respactive lotal reporting requirements

8 Employee benefits and key management compensation
a) Group employee benefits

podu xdanens

2003 201a—
Em £m
Wages and salares 1040 844
Soctal secunty ¢osts 159 m
Costs of employee share eption schemes' 86 60
Contnbubons to the Group s penswon schemes? 39 39
1334 1,044

1 E91million charge relates 1o equity-settied share-based payments {2014 £60 million charge) and ES milon charge relates to cash-settiad share based payments {2014 nd)
2 TheGroup operates defined contnbution pension sehemes The pansion charge for the year represents the cost of contzibutions payatis by the Group 1o the schemess

dunng the year The amount payabla ta the schemes by the Groupat 30 June 2015 was £Smilkion (2014 £S5 milkon)

The average menthly number of full-time equivalent persons (including temparary employees) employed by the Group dunng the year was as follows

2015 204

Numnber MNumber

Channels and services 5089 3477
Customer service sales and marketing 15487 13035
Transmusston and technolegy 4156 3257
Management and admurustration 2328 1072
27060 20 841

There are approximately 921(2014 497) temporary staff induded within the average number of full

b) Key managemeant compensation (see note 30d)

time equivaltent persons employed by the Group

2015 2014

Em £m

Short term employee benefits & 6
Share-based payments 8 7
14 13

Post-employment benefits were less than £1 mibon (2014 less than £1 million) The amounts disclosed for key management compensation are included

within the disclosures in note B(a)
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9 Taxation
8) Taxation recogrused in the income statemant
2015 2014
Emn £m
Current tax expense
Current year- UK 229 a8
Adjustment in respect of pror years - UK (39 -— @y
Current, year - Ovarseas 62 2
Total current tax charge 252 189
Deferred tax expense
Qngination and reversal of temporary differences - UK 21 5
Adustment in respect of pror years - UK 21 |
Ongination and reversal of temporary dif ferences - Qverseas (] -
Adjustment in respect of pnor years - Qvers@as Q)] -
Totaldeferred tax {credit) charge (68) 16
Taxation 184 205
b} Taxation recagmsed directly in equity
2015 214
£m £m
Current tax credit relating to share-based payments {2) [45)]
Deferred tax credit relating to share-based payments Q5) -
Deferred tax charge (credit) relating to cash flow hedges 20 (=]
3 an

c) Reconaliation of effective tax rate

The tax expense for the year is lower (2014 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporaton tax

1n the UK (20 75%) apphed to profit bafore tax The apphcable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UX corporation tax for the year
was 20 75% (2014 22 5%) The differences are explained below

w15 2014
£m Em
Profit before tax from continuing operations 1516 1025
Profit before tax multiphed by blended rate of corperation tax in the UK of 20 75% (2014 22 5%) 315 2N
Effects of
Differgnt statutory tax rates of overseas jurischcuons {12) -
Oi5posal of Group investments (125) -
Net effect of other non-taxable/non-deductible items 28 )
Effect of tax rate changes 3 2
Adjustrents in respect of prior years {9y (20
Taxaton 184 205
10 Earnings per share
The werghted average number of shares for the year was
2018 2014
Milbonsof  Milkons of
shares shares
rdinary shares 1706 1581
ESOP trust ordmnary shares (16} 09
Basic shares 1650 1562
Ddutive ordinary shares from share options r3| 14
Diluted shares 17 1576

There are no share aptions (2014 nane) which could potentially ditute earrungs per share in the future but which have been excluded from the calculation
of diluted eamungs per share as they are anti-ddutive in the year

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by drading the profit for the year attributable to equity sharehelders of the parent companyinto the
weighted average number of shares for the year In order to provicie a measure of undertying performance management have chosen topresent an
adjusted profit for the year which exclud es items that may distart comparability Such items anse from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary
acuwites of the Group but which management believes should be separately idenufied to hetp explam undertymng performance
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DIUBLIINOT

2015 2004
Em €m
Profit from continuing operations 1332 820
Loss attnibutable to non-controiing nterests 5 -
Profit from centinuing operations attributable to eguity shareholders of the parent company 1337 a20
Profit from ciscontinued operations 620 45
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865
015 24
Em Em
Reconchation fram profit from continuing operauons attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company to adjusted
profit for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company
Profic for the year from continumng operations attrnibutable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1337 H20
Advisory and transaction fees and finance costs mcurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itaha (see note 31) 107 -
Costs relaung to corporate rastructunng and efficency programmes (see nate 2) 105 40
Costs relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky itaha in the enlarged Group (see note 31) 10 -
Costsrelating to the integration of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business - 49
Net credit recerved following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator - 03)
Amorusation of acquired intangible assets 228 23
Prafit on disposal of avadable-for-sale investments (see note 5) (492) -
Praofit on disposal of associate (see note 6) (299) -
Remeasurement of all denvative financialinstruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffectiveness (see note 4) 18 5
Tax adjusting stems and the tax effect of above tems (1) (3
Adiusted profit for the year attnbutable te equity shareholders of the parent company 947 892
o5 2004
pence pence
Earmungs per share from profit for the year
Basic
Conunuing operations 9 525p
Discontinued operations 36 7p 29p
Total 15 8p S5 4p
Oilutecd
Continuing operations 782p 520p
Discontinued cperations 362p 29p
Total N4 dp S49p
Adjusted earnings per share from adjusted profit for the year
Basxc S60p 571p
Diluted 55 3p 56 6p
11 Dividends
2015 2004
Em Em
Dwidends declared and paid dunng the year
2013 Final dnadend paid 19 00p per ordinary share - 2B
2014 intenm dividend pawd 1200p per ordinary share - 187
2014 Final dandend pad 20 00p per ordinary share 340 -
2015 Intenm dwvidend paud 12 30p per ardinary share po) -
549 485

The 2015 final dwdend proposed 1$ 20 5 pence per ordmary share berng £349 million The dividend was not declared at the balance sheet date and s

therefore not recognsed as ahabdity as at 30 June 2015

Drvidends are paid between Group companies cut of profits available for distnbution subject to nter ala the provisions of the companies articles of

assoaation and the Comparies Act 2006 The ESOP has warved its nghts to dwidends
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12 Goodwill

Em
Carrying vahee
At 1 July 2013 =T 1]
Other 20
At 30 June 2034 1019
Purchase of Sky Deutschiand - 2848
Purchase of Sky Italia 752
Disposalof Sky Bet (148)
Foreign exchange movements (344)
Other 34
At 30 June 2015 4160

Goodwill has prinapally ansen from the Groups purchases of Sky Deutschland Sky ltaba British Interactive Broadcastung ( BiB?) Easynets
UK broadband network assets and residential actimues 365 Media s content activities Amstrad Lmng TV The Cloud and the O2 consumer broadband
and fixed-ine telephany business

Goodwill allocated by cash generating unit,is analysed as follows

2015 2014

£m Em

UK & Irgland’ 904 870
Germany & Austria? 2576 -
an® 680 -
Bettmig and garming’ - 149
4160 1019

Impare ment reviews were performed on these goodwall balances at 30 June 2015 which did not indicate imparment

Recoverable amounts for each of the cash generatuing units were calculated on the basis of value inuse using cash flows caleulated for the next five years
as forecast by management Along-term growth rate of 3% was apphied to all uruts in order te extrapolate cash flow projections beyond this penod

Austna CGU were discounted using a gre-tax discount rate of 7% and the cash flows of the italy CGU were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 8%

In daterrmirung the apphcable discount rate management applied judgement tn respect of several factors whichincluded inter aia assessing the nsk
attached to future cash flows and making reference to the capital asset pnang model (the CAPM) Management gave consideration to the selection of
apprapriate iInputs to the CAPM which included the risk free rate the equety nsk premium and ameasure of systemaucnsk Management also consicdered
capstal structure and an appropnate cost of debtin arrmving at the discount rate

The key assumptions oh which the forecast five-year casn flows of each unitwere based include the number of gross customer additions the rate of
churn the average revenue per user levels of programmeng spend acqursition COSts per customer and antispated changes m the product max and
marketing mix of the broadcast actmabes The values assigned to each of these assumpbions were deterrmined based on the extrapolation of historical
trends within the Group and external information on expected Future trends in the entertainment and comenunications industry in each termitory

1 UK &ireland

Farmerty known as the Broadcast unit, the UX & Ireland unit includes goodwall ansing from the purchase of BiB Easynet s UK broadband network assets
and residential actwities 365 Media 5 content activities Amstrad Living TV The Cloud and the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-hne telephony business
The UK & lreland unit includes intangibles withindefirute Ives of £25 mition (2014 €25 milhon)

2 Germany & Austria

The Germany & Austna unit includes goodwill ansing from the purchase of Sky Deutschland For further detads see note 31

3 italy

The lkaty urst inchudes goodwill ansing from the purchase of Sky italia The Italy umit includes intangibles with ndefinite ives of £457 millon For further
details seenote 3

4 Betting and gaming
The betting and gaming unit was comprised of goodwill ansing on the purchase of the Sports Intemet Group { 4G ) and 365 Media s betting actvities

which were induded within Sky Bet. A controfling stake in Sky Bet was sold on 19 March 2015 and the identifiable goodwil attributable to the CGU was
inciuded withun thée Group s profit on disposal See note 3 for further details
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13 Intangible assets

yoda 3¥nens

Internasy
generated Actuired
Software Customer intangible mtangible
Internally development contracts assets assets
generated (external) and related Other not yet noLyet
ntangble  and software customer intangible available avaitable
Trademarks assets fcences  relationships assets foruse for use Total
Em Em £m Em Em £m Em Em
Cost
At 1 July 2013 i 388 525 197 274 30 57 1487 §'
Additons from business combinations - - - -} 2 - - g8 §
Additions - B7 35 - 564 84 41 n2 3
Dreposals - 08y (4) - (3) - - (35) Y
Transfers - 43 n - 1 (43) ) -
At 30 June 2014 18 498 558 203 338 71 86 1772
Addibons from business combinations 457 - 105 3070 28 - Fil 368
Additiens 5 76 75 - G0 m 35 362
Disposals (4) 18} 145) - 0] - - (68)
Transfers - &0 22 - 2 (60) (24) -
Foreign exchange movements - - 12y (294) [4}] - () {309)
At 30 June 2015 476 616 603 2979 426 122 16 5338
Amortrsation
AL T Juty 2013 6 181 as? 15 209 - - 769
Amortesation 1 76 53 az 64 - - 226
Drsposals - (18) 4 - (3) - - (35)
Impairments - - 1 - 1 - - 2
At 30 Jung 2014 7 239 397 48 271 - - 962
Amortisabon 1 84 88 2N &0 - - 464 o
Disposals @ 08 (145) - M - - 88 &
Impairments = 4 1 = - - S E_
Foresgn exchange mavernents - - m (8) - - - 9 5
At 30 June 2015 4 309 340 271 330 - - 1254
Carmyng amounts g
ALl July 2003 L7 205 168 i:1] 6S 30 1Y) na 74
At 30 June 2014 1 259 61 155 67 71 86 g
At 30 June 2015 472 307 263 2708 o8 122 18 4,084

The Group $ internally generated intangible assets relate prinapally to software development associated with our customer management systems
and set-top boxes The Group s other intangible assets mainly Include copynght kcences and connection fees

The estimated future amorusation charge on intangible assets with finite Ives for each of the next five years 15 set out below It 13 Jikely that Future
amar tisaton will vary from the figures betow as the estimate does not include the impact of any future investments dsposals or capital expenditure

016 2017 Xis 2019 2020
Em Em £m Em £m
Estimated amortisation charge 598 427 356 30 242

Skyplc 103

WONBULIOJU JOP{OLIBUS




Annual Report 2015

Finanoaistatemants

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

13 Intangible assets (continued)
Within intangible assets there are certan assets with indefimite useful kves The carrying value of these assetsis E4B2milon (2014 £25 mullion)

As part of the acquisition of Sky Italia the Group acquired the nghts to use trademarks in certam terntones The nghts to use trademarks in certan

terntones are considered ta have indefinite ives because the Group has the intention and ability to consume these nghts over anindefinite period

An impairment review of the assets s performed annually as part of the Group s mpawment reviews of its CGUs (note 12)

Included withen customer cantracts and related customer relationships are mtangible essets with a net book value of £1522 milion (2014 niljand a
remaining useful life of 15 years relating to the acquired customer base in Germany & Austria and mtangible assets with a net book value of £1057 millien

(2014 nilyand a remaimung useful ife of 15 years relating to the acquired customer base in ltaly

14 Property, plant and equipment

Equipment Assets
Freehold furriture not yet
land and Leasehaold and Ownied avalable
buldingst  Improvements fixtures set-top boxes foruse Total?
£m Em Em £m Em £m
Cost
AL 1July 2013 334 58 1387 - 53 1832
Additions. 4 - 3 - 9 254
Disposals - (O] (74) - - (75)
Transfers 3t - 34 - (65) -
At 30 June 2004 369 57 1478 - 107 20N
Addittons from business combinations - 38 FE] 355 B4 530
Additiens 3 105 16 261 388
Disposals (5) - (78) 8 m 92)
Transfers 24 - ] 45 08y -
Foresgn exchange movements - [€)] (8) (36) 6) (53)
At 30 June 2015 3N 95 1609 72 317 2784
Depretiation
At July 2013 46 34 m - - bl
Depreclancn™ == — ~— === = =] 7 193 = 20— -
Desposals - 0] (74) - - (75)
Foreign exchange movements - - O - - M
At 30 June 2014 54 40 829 - - 923
Depreciation 1% 0 194 84 - 298
Imparments 2 - 4 - - 6
Disposals ) - (7e 3 - (86)
Foreign exchange movements - - Q)] (2 - (3
At 30 June 2015 61 50 948 79 - 1138
Carrying amounts
AL July 2013 288 24 676 - 53 1041
At 30 June 2014 315 17 649 - 107 1088
At 30 Jupe 2015 330 45 661 293 317 1646

1 The amounts shown include assets held under finance leases with a net book value of E31 milion (2014 E£14 milbon) The cost of these assets was E48 millian (2014 E23 medhon)
and the accumulated deprecation was E17 mihion (2014 €9 millon) Degreciation charged durng the year on such assets was EB million (2014 E2 mishon)

2 Depreciauanwasnot charged on EB8 mulion of land (2014 E58 awiton)

3 Aspartof the disposal of Sky Bet which has been treated as a discontinued operation (note 3) property plant and equipment with a carrying value of £9 madlion was disposed of
In agdition E4 milon af deprecation refabing ko Sky Bet forms part of discontinued operations (2014 £4 mullion)
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15 Investments in Joint ventures and associates

Alist of the Group S iwestments in joint ventures and assocates inctuding the name country of incorporation and proporton of ownershup nterest
s given m note 23 to the consolidated financial statements

Tha movement i joint ventures and assooates dunng the year was as follows

2015 2004
Em - Em

Share of net assets
At July 173 164
Movement in net assets
- Funding net of repayments [+] 6
- Drdends receved {25) {32)
- Share of profits 28 35
- Acguisiyon of assoaate’ 86 -
- Disposal of assooates’ (149) -
- Exthange differences on transiation of foraign joint ventures and associates 10 -
At 30 June 133 173

1 Dunngthe year the Group sold a controllng stake inSky Bet and retained an equity stake of 20% 10 Sky Bet Seenote 3 for further datads
2 Dunngthe yeer tha Group disposed of i£s mterest »n NGCNetwork International LLC and NGE Network Latn Amenca LLC See note 6 for further details

The Group s share of any capital commitments and contmgent habdities of associates and joint ventures is shown in note 28

a) Investments in assocates

For the penod between the date of completion of the sale of the controlling stake in Sky Bet and 30 June 2015 1ts revenue was EBO million and prafit for
the penod was £13 milion

For the penod between 1 July 2014 and the disposal of NGC Network International LLC arnd NGC Network Latin Amenca LLC their revenue was £119 mitlion
and profit fer the penod was £36 milion

wodd x8nens
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pasl
b) Investments un jomnt ventures g
Representing the Group s share of gach jont venture B
o
2015 2014 g
Em Em 5
Non current assets 12 26 )
Current assets 77 66
Current liatwhties (36) (74)
Non-current hlabilities ()] Q)
Sharcholders’ equity (&) 17
Revenue 106 93
Expense on on
Taxatson E)) ©))
Share of profit from joint ventures 12 13
The aggregate camying amount of the wwestments in joint ventures and associates that are not indvidually matenal for the Group 1s £44 million as at 30
June 2015 (2014 £41 million)
16 Available-for-sale investments H4
a
2015 2014 3
Em Em S
Listed investments 3 £18 3
Unbsted investments 28 15 é
31 533 §

The hsted investments nclude rul (2014 £514 million) relating to the Group s tnvestment In TV The Group's listed investments are carned at far vafue
and the Fairvalue 1s determined with raference to the equity share price at the balance sheet date Unlisted investments consist of minenty equity
stakes in a number of technology and start-up companies

On 17 July 2014 the Group sold a shareholding of & 4% ITV plc constsung of 259 820,065 ITV shares for an aggregate consxderation of E481 midhion
A profit of £429 mullion was realised on dispasal being the excess of the consideration above the previously written-down vatue of the shares for
accounting purposes (E52 mullion)

On 5 November 2014 the Group sold a further sharehotding of 0 8% i ITV plc. consisting of 31864 665 TV shares for an aggregate consideration
of E&5 millon A profit of £58 miliion was realised on disposal bewng the excess of the consideration above the previousty written-down vatue of
the shares for accounting purposes (E7 million}
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

17 Deferred tax

1) Recognised deferred tax assets (iabilities)

Share-based Financial
Accelerated Intangibleson Short term payments  Insiruments
tax business temporary temporary temporary
depreagation  cambinatlons Taxlosses differences chfferences differences Total
Em £m £m £m Em Em Em
AL July 2013 O] - - 5 49 Q6) 37
Credit {charge) to income 4 - - m [40:)] 1 (14}
Credit to equity - - - - 1 ] 0
Acquisiton of subsidianes - 1 - - - - 1
Effect of change in tax rate
- Incomea - - - - (€)] 1 (2)
- Equity - - - - m m @
At 30 June 2014 3 1 - 4 28 {6) 30
(Charge) credit to income (28) 61 21 (3) 16 @ 65
Credit (charge) to equity - - - - 15 jei)] {5)
Acquisrion of subsidianes - (895) 589 90 - (V] 217
Effect of change in tax rate
-income 3 - - - - - 3
Foreign exchange movements 2 81 =N 8 - - 8
At 30 June 2015 (20) (752) 553 B3 53 (29) (106)

Deferred tax assets have been recagnised at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 on the basis that, from management s current Jorecast of Lthe Groups
entities it 1s probable that there will be sutable taxable profits against which these assets can be utiised The Farr value of deferred tax assets in excess
of deferred tax habilities ansing on acquisition of Sky Deutschland was £115 milian on acqussition and nas a carrying value of £147 million as at 30 June
2015 The majonty of the deferred tax asset relates to taxlosses It s concluded to be probable that there will be sutable future Laxable profits against
which the deferred Lax assets can be utilised taking account of the current farecast of Sky Deutschlarnd s results

Daferred tax assets and labities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to appiyn the penods in which theyreverse The UK Government

announced arecducton in the main rate of UX corporation tax Lo 19% with effect fram 1 Apnl 2017 and to 18% From 1 April 2020 These changes have not

Been substantielyendcted and Rave not therefore beén Rdided 0 tHE figlreX abiovE The impact of the fatite T8 Teguc uGAS Wil Beraccounted forte— — *—— — ="
the extent that they are enacted at future balance sheet dates however itis estimated that thus will not have a materiat impact on the Group The rate

enacted or substantively enacted for the relevant penods of reversal 1s 20% as at 20 June 2015 (2014 20%) in the UK 314%: Italy and 27 4% in Germany

Certain deferred tax assets and habilities have been offset junsdiction by junsdiction

2015 2014

Em Em

Deferred tax assets 175 52
Deferred tax hlabifiies 28y 22)
(106) 30

uyUnrecogmsed deferred tax assets

2015 2014

£Em Em

Tax losses ansing from trading 219 245
Tax losses ansing from capital disposals and provisions agamst investments 278 283
497 528

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it1s not prabable that future taxable profits will be avallable against
which the Group can utiise the losses

At 30 June 2015 a deferred tax asset of £9 rmullion (2014 £9 million) pancipally arising From UK trading losses in the Group has not been recognised These
losses can only be of fset against taxable profits generated in the enties concerned There is currently insufficient evidence to support the recogrition of
asdeferred tax asset relatng to these losses The UK trading losses can be carmed forward indefimitely

AL 30 June 2015 a deferred tax asset of £210 mition (2014 £235 milhon) has not been recogrsed in respect of overseas trading losses on the basis that it
15 nat probable that these temporary differences will be utiised These losses include £207 milion (2014 £233 mullion) with respect to the Groups German
holding company s former mvestment in KirchPayTV and £3 milion (2034 £3 rrllion) with respect to other subsichanes

A1 30 June 2015 a deferrad tax asset of £274 mikon (2014 E£274 million) has not been recognised inrespect of capital losses related to the Groups former
nvestment tn KirchPayTV on the basis that utihsation of these ternporary differences is not probabte At 30 June 2015 the Group alsa has captal losses
with a tax value estimated to be £4 nullion (2014 £9 million) including mpairment of a football club and other investments whuch have not been
recogrused as a deferred tax asset on the basts that i 1s not probable that they wil be uttlised The capital losses can be carnied farward indefiritety
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18 Inventones

Fnanaal statemants

2015 2014
Em Em
Television programme fights an 488
Set-top boxes and related equipment 26 50
QOther inventenes 10 B
Currant iInventory 847 546
Non-gurrent programme distnbution rights N 20
Total nventory a7a 566
At 30 June 2015 75% (2014 B1%) of the telewision programme nghts and 100% (2014 100%) of set-top boxes and related equiprment and other
inventones 15 expectad to be recogrused in the income statement within 12 months
19 Trade and other recewvables
2015 2014
Em £m
Gross Urade recevables 337 235
Less provision for impawrment of recewvables m {95)
Net trade receivables 267 140
Amounts recesvable from joint ventures and associates 19 7
Amounts recenvable From other related parues 26 5
Prepayments 499 279
Accrued income 216 79
VAT 3 2
Other 66 23
Current trade and other recevables 1086 635
Prepayments [ 4
Amounts recevable from joint ventures and associates 70 -
Other recanvables 10, 3__
Non-current trade and other receivables 86 7
Totaltrade and other recervables 1182 642
Included withun current trade and other recervables 1s nil (2014 nil) which 13 due in more than one year
The ageing of the Groupss net trade recervables which are past due but not impaired ts as foflows
2015 204
£m Em
Up to 30 days past due date 27 27
30 to 60 days past due date a8 3
60 ta 120 days past due date 4 2
120+ days past dua date 1 -
40 32
The Directors conssder that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates thewr faw values The Groupis exposedto
credit sk on its race and other recevables howevar the Group does not have any sigruficant concentrations of credit nsk, with exposure
spread aver alarge number of counterpartes and customers Trade recervables pnnapally comprise amounts outstanding from subscrbers
advertisers and other customers
Provisions for doubtful debts
2015 2014
Em £m
Balance at beginnung of year 95 89
Amounts utdrsed (55) [12]
Provaded during the year 40 33
Balance at end of year 70 95
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(contmnued)

20 Trade and other payables

2015 2014
£Em £m
Trade payables 13561 a0z
Amounts owed to joint ventures and associates 16 n
Amounts owed to other related parues 175 124
VAT 155 -~ 169
Accruals 1160 747
Deferred income 401 38
Other 162 15
Currenk trade and other payables 3430 2286
Trade payables N 23
Amounts owed to other related parties 5 10
Deferred income [ 5
Other 52 18
Non-current trade and other payables 94 56
Total trade and other payables 3524 2342
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates thesr fair values Trade payables prinapally
compnse amounts outstanding for programning purchases and ongong costs
21 Provisions
At Prowded Uuksad At Acqurstion Redassified Prowded Utilsed foreign At
1luly during dunng 1luly of Disposalof dunngthe during dunng exchange 30 June
2013 theyear theyear 20 subsidanes subsidiaries vear theyear theyear movement 2015
Em £m £m Em £m £m £m £Em Em Em €m
Current hatlibies
Restructunng provision' 16 14 (8) 22 10 - - 9 a9 (] 21
Customer-related
provisiongl—————— - - - 41 €39) 2 3 33
Other provisions® 37 6 (19 24 3 - - 34 Q) - 49
94 20 (66) 48 13 - - 74 an [O) 163
Non-current labihities
Other provisions* 4 10 4] 4 20 [()] 6 25 (6) ) 51
Employee benefit
obligations? - - - - 30 - - - m (H 26
14 10 [4]2)] 14 50 {6) 6 25 [ €3] 5) 77
1 Theseprovisions reta. & to cost8 incurrad at part of carporate rastructunng and effioency programmes
2  Theseprowvisions IpCde costs of & programme Lo replade aged customer equipment.
3 Included in ¢urrent ather provisions sre amounts gronded far legal dsputes and warranty habdities
4 Incduded withen non-current other of S are s provded foc eontracty for property leases and mamtenance The teming of the cash fows are dependent

w

on the terms of the leases but are expected Lo tanunue up Lo August 2016

Duriig the year the Group acquired employee benefit oblgations as part of its acquisibon of Sky Deutschlane and Sky italia on 12 November 2014 These sbhigations are descnbed
Further below

Employee benefit obfigations

Acquired at Actuanal Foreign At

12 November Pansion fosses  exchange 30 June

2014 payments (gaing) movement 2015

Em Em £m Em £m

Sky Deutschiand defined benefit obhgations 10 - 3 m 10
Sky itaha employee benefit obligations 20 U] m 73] 16
30 [0 - (3) 26
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8) Sky Deutschland

Sky Deutschland operates unfunded Final salary defined benefit pension plans that are not covered by plan assets These plans were dosedto
future accrual The total defined benefit obligation at 30 June 2015 was £10 million The amount of the pension entitlement depends on the salary
of the respective employee at the time of retirement. Emplovee benefit obligations will be funded out of current and future earmings

The present value of the obligations was measured usmg the projacted unit credit method apphrng the following pnncipal assumplons

+ Actuanat projecuons (iIncluding assumptions about cost-of-vng increases salary increases etc) were made tovalue the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-emplayment plan in the event of mortality (both dunng and after employment) disability and early retrement Seniontyand -
rates of employee tumaver as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement date weare also taken into account 1 projecting future benefits

+ The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probabibty
of services being rendered

+ The following specific assumptions have been used
- Annual discount rate of 2 45%
- Annual growth rate of 2 00%
- Annual salary growthrate of 2 50% and
- Annual fluctuation rate empioyees of 700%

Since there are no plan assets as defined by IAS 19 {revised 2011) and all actuanal gans and losses are recogmised when incurred the present value of
the defined benefit obligation of the pension abligations and the obligations similar to pensions 1s eguivatent to the provision recogrised on the balance
sheet

Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would not have a matenal impact on the provision
The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit obligation s 21 years as of the balance sheet date
Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2016 are less than E! midhion

b) Sky Itaha

Sky Italia s employee benefit obligations relate to a provision far employee reurement determined using actuanal techriques (as discussed further
below) and regutated by Arucle 2720 of the Italian Cril Code These plans were dosed to future accrual The total employee benefit abligatwn at

30-June 2015 was £16 milion-The benefit s paid upon retirament as a kemp sum the amount of which corresponds o the total of-the provisions————  ——-

acerued during the employees service penrod based on payroll costs as revalued unbl retirement Employee benefit chligations will be funded out
of current and future earn:ngs

.

The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected unit crecit method applying the following principal assumptions

 Actuanal projections (including assumptions about cost-of-iving increases salaryincreases e1¢ ) were made to value the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employment plan in the event of mortabty (both during and after employment) disabiiity and early retwrement Senionity and
rates of employee turmover as well as salary and benefit Jevels at the measurement date were also taken into account n projecting future benefits

The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probability
of services being rendered

The following specific assumptions have been used
~ Annual discount rate of 012%

- Annualinfiation rate of © 10%,

- Annualrevaluationrate of 1 58%

- Annual fluctuatuonrate employees of 5 39% and
- Annual mortality rate of 010%

Since there are no plan assets as defined by 1AS 15 {revised 2011} and all actuanal gains and losses are recogrised when incurred, the present value
of tha defined benefit obigation of the pensuion obligations and the obligations similar to pensiens is egurvalent to the provision recogmsad on the
balance sheet

Reasonably possibte changes to these assumpuions would not have a matenatimpact on the provision
The wetghted average raturity of the defined benefit obligation 1s 17 years as of the balance sheet date
Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2016 areless than £l milion
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{continued)

22 Borrowings

2015 2014
Em £m
Current barrowings

Loan Notes 4 -
US$750 million of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable 1n October 2015 468 -
Oblgavens under finance leases' - - 22 -n
494 "

Non-current borrowings
USS750 miion of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayablen October 2015 - 434
£400 midtion of S 750% Guaranteec Notes repayable in October 20172 399 400
US$750 million of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 20189 474 442
U5$582 8 mithon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 20180 372 353
US5750 mithon of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20197 477 -
€600 mihon of Floating Rate Notes repayatile in April 20207 425 -
E450 mithon of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable v Novernber 20200 445 -
€1500 million of 1 500% Guaranteed Nates repayable in September 20219 1058 -
US$300 mdhon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 202! 504 466
€850 millian of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 20234 602z -
US$1 250 muflhon of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayatle in September 20249 787 -
€1000 milion of 2500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20264 705 -
€300 milhion of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 20279 296 296
£300 milhon of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 297 -
€400 milhon of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 20250 281 -
US$350 mithion of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 218 20
Loan Notes 2 1
Cbhgavons under finance lcases?? 76 65
7418 2658

(1) Guarantaed Notes

At 30 June 2015 the Group had i 155ue the following Guaranteed Notes which were issued by the Company

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged interest Rates
Hedged

Value® Frxed Floating
Em Em Em Fixed Floatung
US$750 million of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 3\7 . 290 97 6 B29% SmMUBCR +1 B92%
US3582 8 milkon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Navember 2018 389 260 129 7091% 6m LIBOR +5 542%
£450 mulhon of 2 875% Guaranieed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m UBOR +1 23C%

1226 S50 576

tnterast Rate Hedging Hedgedinterest Rates
Hedged

Value' Fued Foaung
€m €m €m Fixed Floating
USE750 milhon of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - 58 - 3m EVRIBOR +0 656%
€600 mulhon of Foating Rate Notes repayable in Apri 2020 600 - 600 - 3m EURIBOR +0750%
€1 500 million of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1500 1500 - 1500% -
US$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayabie in November 2022 689 689 - 218% -
€850 mihon of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 BsO 850 - 1875% -
US51250 million of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1 000 milion of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1000 1,000 - 2500% -
£300 milion of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 an 41 - 5005% -
£300 million of 4 00C% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 89 399 - 3122% -
€400 milion of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2750% -

7359 5218 1,181
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At 30 June 2015 the Group had inissue the followang Guaranteed Notes which were issued by Sky Group Finance plc
Interast Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Valua* Fixed Floatng
Em Em Em Fixed Floating
US$750 mition of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable i October 2015 428 7 257 5427% &m UBOR + 0698%
£400 mihon of S 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 400 350 50 5750% &M LIBOR - 0 229%
US$350 million of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 - S 826% -
1028 721 307
At 30 June 2014 the Group had in 1ssue the follawang Guaranteed Notes which were tssued by the Company
Interest Rate Hedging Hadgedinterest Rates
Hedged
Valse* Foed Aoating
Em fm £m Fiied Floaung
US$750 mithion of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 97 6829% &M LIBOR +1892%
US$582 8 mubon of 9 500% Guaranteed Motes repayable in November 2018 3B8g 260 129 7091% 6 LIBOR + 5 547%
US$800 million of 3 125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novermber 2022 503 503 - 3226% -
£300 milien of 6 000% Guaranteed Nates repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 6000% -
1579 1383 225
At 30 June 2014 the Group had inissue the following Guaranteed Notes which werg issued by Sky Group Finance ple
Interast Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value® Fixed Floating
Em Em £m Foed Floating
US$750 mitlion of § 625% Guaranteed Motes repayable in October 2015 428 M 257 5427% 6&m LIBOR + 0 688%
£400 mithon of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 400 350 50 5 750% 6mUBOR -0 229%
W5$350 mulhon of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable inOctober 2035— 200 200 = 5826% =
1028 721 307

* Hedged valua 15 the final redemption value Incuding any hedging

The Group has a Global Medium-Term Naote Pragramme (the Programme ) whech provides the Group with a standardised decumentation

platform for senior debt 1ssuance of up to £5 bifion i the major global band markets All sterling and eura Guaranteed and Floating Rate Notes 1ssued
dunng the yearwere 1ssued under a £10 bilion acquisition related programme The £300 milhon of 6 300% Guaranteed Notes matunng in May 2027 have
been issued under the Group s fwstorical EMTN Programme

{n} Financeleases
The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows

2015 2014
Em £m
Withun one year 22 "
Between ane and five years 53 39
After five years 128 135
203 186

Future finance charges on finance [ease habilities 05) 10y
Present vatue of finance lease habilities S8 76

The main obligations under finance leases are in relation to

{a Finance arrangements in connection with the broadband network infrastructure Dunng the year repayments of £7 mulhon (2014 E7 mihon) were
made against the lease A proportion of these payments have been allocated agamst the capial autstanding Theiease bears interest at arate of
N 1% and expres in November 2039

(b) finance arrangements i connect:on with the contact centre n Dunfermline During the year repayments of £1mihon (2014 E1 mithion) were made
against the lease A proportion of these payments have been allocated against the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interest at arate of
8 5% and expires in September 2020

() finance arrangements in connection with datacentre equipment Dunng the year repayments of £3 mulion (2014 £3 milion) were made aganst the
lease A proportion of these payments have been allocated agamst the capital amount cutstanding The lease bears interest at arate of 3 6% and
expires in June 2016

(d)y finance arrangements in Connecuon with set top boxes During the year repayments of £5 million (2004 nil) were made agatnst the lease A proportion
of these payments have been aliocated against the captal amount cutstanding The leasa bears tnterest ak a rate of 7% and expires in March 2017

Skypkc M

wodd 38xnens

{

SIWARLDILIS euBN3

IDUBLIIADG

UONZULOAN DIOURYS




Anmual Report 2015
Financai statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{conunued)

22 Borrowings {(continued)

(m) Revolving Credit Faciity
The Group has a £1 billion RCF with a matunity date of 30 November 2020 syndicated across 15 counterparty banks each with a mmimum creditrating
of Baa2 or equivalent from Standard & Poor s At 30 June 2015 the RCF was undrawn (2014 undrawn)

The Group 15 subject to two financral covenants under the RCF a maximum leverage ravo and a mimimurn interest cover ratio which are tested at the end
of each sx-menthly penod The key financial covenants are the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA (as defined in the loan agreements) and EBITDA to Net Interest
Payable (as defined in the loan agreements) Net Debz to EBITDA must bé no more than 4 001 and EBITDA to Net Interest Payable must be atleast 3501
The Group was in comphiance with these covenants for all pentods presented .

{v) Guarantees

The following guarantees are in place relating to the Groups barrowings (@) Sky UK Limited Sky Subscribers Services Lmuted Sky Group Finance ple
and Sky Telecommurnications Services Limited have given pint and several guarantees n relation to the Company s E1 bilhian RCF and the outstanding
Guaranteed and Floatng Rate Notes issued by the Company and (b) the Company Sky UK Limuted Sky Subscribers Services Limited and Sky
Telecommurications Services Limited have given joint and several guarantees in relation tothe cutstanding Guaranteed Nates issued by Sky Group
Finance plc

Tha Compary has provided a back-to-back guarantee in Favour of 21st Century Fox inc of up to half the annual payment obkgations of Sky Deutschiand
Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG under the 2013 2017 Bundesliga agreement 't has also provided back-to-back guarantees in favour of 21st Century Fox Inc
i relation ta UEFA Champions League and gther programming obligatiens of Sky itala Srl

23 Derivatives and other financial instruments

Setout below are the derwvative finanoal instruments entered into by the Graup to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange risks

2015 2014
Asset Liability Asset luabiity
Fair Vale Motienal Far Value Notional Fair Value Notonal Fair Value Notronal
Em £m Em £m £m Em Em Em
Far value hedges
interest ratg swaps 62 1275 - - 77 767 - -

T T TTTTCrosstourrency swaps T T — = 18 268 = = = = == _—
Cash flow hedges |
Cross-currency Swaps 137 1435 (12) 503 72 651 (36} 503
Forward foreign exchange contracts 148 219 (36) 1065 EE] 764 (76} 1464
Net investment hedges
Cross-qurrency swaps 150 1943 3 400 - - - - I
Derivatves not in a formal hedge relauonstup
Cross-currency swaps 51 353 {25} 390 21 383 (59) 3180
Forward Fareign exchange contracts 177 244 (M 4860 2 a7 (4) 262
Interest rate swaps - - - 260 5 260 - -

Total 583 7907 {83) 3 078 210 3022 (175) 2619
The matunty of the denvative financial instruments it as follows
2015 200
Asset Liabibity Asset Liability
£m Em £m Em
Inone year or less 130 {22) 15 (39
Betwgen one and two years 46 N 43 {25)
Between two and five years 254 (40) 132 {75)
In more than Five years 153 4y 20 (3s)
Total s83 (83) 219 {175)

The far value of the Group s debt-related denvative portfolio at 30 June 2015 was a £378 million net asset (2014 net asset of £80 milkon) with notional
prncipal amounts totalling £7025 million (2034 £2934 mihon) Trus comprised net assets of £125 milion designated as cash flow hedges (2014 net
assets of £36 milion) net assets of ESO million designated as fair value hedges (2014 net assets of £77 mihon) net assets of E147 rillion designated
as net tnvestment hedges (2014 nif) and net assets of €26 millon not designated in a formal hedge relationship (2014 net assets of £33 mdlion)

AL 30 June 2015 the carrying value of finanoal assets that wera upon Lial recognition designated as financil assets at fasr value through profit or loss
was nil (2014 rul)

In the pror year the Group entered mto a collar arrangement to manage its exposure to movements i the vatue of certain available-for-sale wvestments
over a penad of up to 18 months and with a notional value of £22 milion The collar nstrument was not designated for hedge accounting purposes with
movemaents in the faw value of the coltar being taken to the ncome statement thus coliar arrangement was closed outin the current year
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Hedge accounting dassification and impact
The Group designated certan interest rate swaps as farr value hedges of mterest rate nsk and cross-currency Swaps as farr value hedges of interest rate

nsk gnd foreign exchange nsk this represents 25% (2014 26%) of the total debt related denvative portfolio Movements i the far value of the hedged

Funantal statefaents

Items are taken to the income statement and are offset by movements i the farr vatue of the hedging instruments to the extent that hedge accounung

ts achieved

The Group designated certain fixed rate cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges this represents 28% (2014 40%) of the total debt related dervatwve
partfolio As such the effective poruon of the gain or loss on these contractsis reported as a separate component of the hedging reserve and s then
recfassified to the inceme statement i the same penods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement Cash flows on the swaps occur

semr-annually up to and mclusve of the relevant bond matunty disclosed in note 22 During the current year gains of £337 millon were remaved from

the hedgng reserve and charged to finance costs in the income statement to offset the currency translation movements in the undertying hedged debt

(2014 losses of £140 milbon)

The Group designated certain Cross-gurrency swaps as net investmant hedges this represents 33% (2014 nuf) of the (otal debt related denvauve pertfolic
Exchange differences ansing from the transiation of the net investment m foreign operations are recognised dwectly in equity Gains and losses on thase

hedging instruments (which iIndude bonds and coss-currency swaps and are separately designated as net investment hedges) designated as hedges

of the net investments in foreign operations are recogrised In eguity to the extent that the hedging relationshypis effectve these amounts are included
in exchange differences ontransiation of foreign operations as stated in the statement of comprehensive income Gans and losses relating to hedge
neffectiveness are recogrused immediatelyin the income statement for the period Gains and losses acoumulated in the foreign currency transtation
reserve are inctuded in the income statement when the forergn operation s disposed of

The Group designates certan forward foreign exchange contracts and the intnnsic element of options {collars) as cash flow hadges of forecast foreign

currency sales and purchases Gains or losses are released from the hedging reserve and recycled to the income statement tn the same peniod as the
hedged rem 1s recogrused 1f forecast transactions are nolonger expected to occur any amaunts included in the hedgeng reserve related to that forecast

transaction would be recogmsed directlyin the income statement During the current year losses of E) milhon were removed from the hedging reserve

and credited to operating expense in the income statement (2014 gans of E7 milllon) Gains of £26 millon were removed from the hedging reserve
and detuted to revenue in the income statement (2004 losses of E2 milhon)

Hedge effecuveness tesung I15 performed quarterly using the dollar-offset approach The actual movement in the hedging items 1S compared with
the movement 1n the valuation of the hypotheucally perfect hedge of the underlying risk at inception and any ineffectveness 1s recognised directly
in the :ncome statement For farr value hedges neffectiveness of E1 millon was recogrised in the Income statement dunng the current year (2014
EY milion) For cach flow hedges ineffectiveness of less than E1 mullton was recogrused tn the mcome statement dunng the current year (2014 ni)

For net irwastment hedges ineffectiveness of nill was recogmised in the iIncoma statement during the current vear (2014 rul)

Ahedge relauionship s deemed to be effectve if the ratio of changes in valuauon of the undertying hedged em and the hedging mstrument rs withm
the range of B0% to 125% Any relationship which has & ratio cutside this range s deemed to be inaffective at whiech pont hedge accounting i1s suspended
Duning the year ended 30 June 2015 there were no instances in whech the hedge relabicnship was not hughly effective (2014 no instances)

Financal instruments
(a) Carrying value and farr value

The accountuing cassification of each class of the Group s financsal assets and finanaial habihities together with ther fairvalues 1s as fallows

Held to Dermvatives Denvatwes mn Total
matunty Avadable- deerned held hedging wans and Qther carmang Total faw
IMVESTMEeNLS for-sale fortrading relationships recevables habiites value value
Em Em £m £fm €m m £m Em
At 30 June 2015
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (7808) (7808) (8 083)
Darwative financial instruments - - 36 464 - - s00 500
Trade and other payables - - - - - (28%4) (2 894) (2894)
Provisions - - - - - (129) (129) (129)
Obhgations under finance [eases
and other barrowings - - - - - (104} (108) 104)
Avaiable-for-sale nvestments - Ell - - - - kil 31
Trade and other recewvables - - - - 807 - BO7 B8O7
Shoct-term deposits tig0 - - - - - noo 1100
Cash and cashequivalents 50 - - - 1328 = 1378 1378
AL 30 June 204
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (2592) (2592) {2896)
Oervatve financialinstruments - - {35} 0 - - 35 35
Trade and other payables - - - - - (1788) (1788} (1788)
Provisions - - - - - (45) (45) (45)
Oblgauons under finance leases
and other barrowings - - - - - (¢2)] 7 7
Avaitable-for-sale investments - 533 - - - - 533 533
Trade and other recevables - . - - 349 - 349 349
Short-term deposits 295 - - - - - 295 2585
Cash and cash equwvalents 00 - - - 782 - 1082 1082
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Frianoalstatemants

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

23 Denivatives and other financial instruments (continued) '
The far values of financial assets and financial habiities are determined as follows

= The farr value of finanoal assets and financial kabilities wath standard terms and conditions and which are traded on active liquid markets
1s determingd with reference to quoted market pnces

The fair vatue of other financial assets and finanaal habiities (excluding dervative instruments} s determuned in accordance with generally

accepted pnang models based on discounted cash flow analysis using pnces from observable current market transacuons and dealer quotes
for simular instruments . - —_ - ™ .

Farergn currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves denved fromquoted interest rates
matching marunties of the contracts

.

Interest rate and cross-currency swaps are measured at the present value of Future cash flows estimated and discounted based an the i
apphcable yield curves denved from quoted nterest rates and

-

The farr value of otilgations under finance leases and other borrowings 1s estimated by discounting the future cash Rows to net present value
The fair value of short-term deposits and cash and cash equivalents is equivalent to camrying value due to the short-term nature of these mnstruments

The differences between carrying values and far values reflect unrealised gains or losses mherent in the finanaial instruments based on valusbions
as at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 The volatle nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly aif ferent
from the values reported above

Cash and cash equivalents dassified as held to maturity mvestments compnse money market deposits which have matunty dates of 1ess Lhan
three months from inception Money market deposits enhanced return nwvestments and tr-party repurchase agreements which have maturity
greater than three months from inception are classsfied as short-term deposits

Cash and cash equrvalents classified as lcans and recesrvables mainly compnse investments in AAAM rated money market funds which can
be wathdrawn without notice

(b) Fair value hierarchy

The following table categorises the Group s financeal nstruments which are held at fair value into one of three levels to reflect the degree to which
ohservable inputs are used in determirung thew fair values

Fairvalue Levell Level2 Level 3 '

£m Em £m Em
At30June 2015~ T
Finanaal assets
Available-for-sale financialinstruments
Qtherinvestments 31 3 - 28
Financial assers at far value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 62 - 62 -
Cross-currency SwWaps 356 - 356 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 165 - 165 -
Total 614 3 583 28
Financal habidities
Financial babibitres at far value through profit orloss
Cross-currency Swaps 40) - 40 -
Forward fareign exchange contracts (43) - 43 -
Total {B3) - (83) -
At 30 Jung 2014
Finanaal assets
Avanable-far-sale financial Instruments
ITV investment, 514 514 - -
Other mvestments 19 4 - 15
Finanaal assels at far value through profit or loss
interest rate swaps 82 - B2 -
Cross-currency swaps 93 - 94 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 35 - 34 -
Total 743 518 210 15
Financal habilies
Financial habiities at fair value through profit ortoss
Cross-Currency Swaps (953 - (95) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts (80) - 60 -
Tatal (175) - {175) -
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Level
Farr values measured using quoted prnices (unadjusted) i active markets
for dentical assets or habiiues

Leve! 2

Farr values measured using inputs other than quoted prices included
withiri Level | that are observable for the asset or iabiity esther dwectly
or indirectly Derwvative financial instrument fair values are present values
determmed from future cash flows discounted at rates cerived from
market source data

Lavel 3

Fair values measured using inputs for the asset or labilty that are not
based on observable marketdata Certain of the Group s available-for-
sale financial assets are held at fair value and are categonsed as Level 3
n the far value higrarchy

24 Financial nsk management

Group Treasury activity

Tha Group s Treasury function is responsible for rasing finance for the Group s
operations together with associated hquidity management and management
of foreign exchange interest rate and credit nsks Treasury operauons are
conductied withun a framework of policies and guidelines authonsed and
reviewed annually by bath the Audit Commit tee and the Board whech necewve
regutar updates of Treasury actmaty Denvative instruments are transacted

for nsk management purposes onty It 1s the Group s pelicy that all hedging ts
o gover known nsks and no speculatve trading 1s undertaken Regular and
frequent reporting to management Is requered for all ransactions and
exposunes, and the tarmal control ervironment s subject to penodi revew
by the Group s mternal audit team

The Group s principal market risks are expasures ta changes in interest
rates and forergn exchange rates which anse both from the Group s

Financial statements

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposurg to interest rates for both derivatives and non-denvative
financial Instruments at the balance sheet date For floaung rate
habiities the analystt 1S prepared assumung the amount of habity
outstanding at the balance sheet date 1s outstanding for the whole year

For each one hundred basis point sise or fall in nterest rates
at 30 June 2015 and If all other vanables wera held constant

» The Group's profit for the year ended 30 June 2015 would increase
or decrease by less than £1 madlion (2014 profit for the year would
increase ar decrease by E8 million) The year-gn-year movement Is
dniven by an increase in the level of floaung debt held

* Other equity reserves would decrease or increase by £12 milion
(204 decrease orincrease by £6 millton) ansmg from movements
n cash flow hedges

Acone hundred basis point nse or fall in interest, rates represents 2 large
but reakstic movement which can easily be multiplied to gwe sensitivties
at different interest rates

The sensitmty analyses prowded are hypothettcal only and should be used
with caubion as theimpacts prowvided are not necessanly sndicative of the
actual impacts that would be expenenced because the Group s sctual
exposure to market rates changes as the Group s portfolio of debt, cash and
forergn curmency contracts changes Inaddition the effectof a changeina
parucular market vanable on farr valuesor cash flows 1S caloulated wathout
consikienng interrelationships between the vanous market rates or
metigating acbons that would be taken by the Group The changes in
valuations are esumates of the mpact of changesin market vanables

and are not a prediction of future events or antwcipated gaws o losses

sources of finance and its operations Following evaluation af those
market risks the Group selecuvely enters into denvative finangal
instruments to manage these exposures The pnnapal instruments
currently used are interest rate swaps to hedge inkerest rate nsks and
cross-currency swaps and forward formgn exchange contracts to hedge
transacuonal and transtational currency exposures

Interest rate nsk

The Group has financal exposures ta UK euro ardd US interest rates ansing
pamarity from the Group s long-term bonds and other borrowsngs The Groups
hedging pobcy requires that between 50% arvd 85% of barrovangs. are held at,
fixed rates This 1s achweved by sswng fixed rate bonds or floating rate notes
and then using mnterest rate swaps to adjust the balance between fixed and
floatng rate debt The Groups bank debt s at Aloaung rates and when drawn
means that the mix of fixed and Aoaung rate debt fluctuates and is therefore
managed to ensure comphance with the Group s hedging pohcy At 30 June
2015 76% of borrowings were held at fixed rates after hedging (2014 B0%)

The Group uses dervatrves to convert all of 1ts US dolar-denominated debt and
assocrated mtenest rate obligations to pounds stering of euros (See section
on foreygn exchange nsk for further detad) At 30 fune 2015 the Group had

no net US dollar denominated interest rate exposure onits bomawings

The Group designates certain interest rate swaps as hedges of interest
rate nsk and certain cross-currency swaps as fair value hedges of both
nterest rate nsk and curreney nsk Movemnentsin the farr value of the
hedged exposure are taken to the income statement and are offset by
movements in the far value of the hedging instruments wisch are also
taken to the income statement Any hedge meffectivenass 15 recogrised
directly n the income staternent In the year ended 30 June 2015 this
amounted to £1million (2014 £1milhon)

AL 30 June 2015 and 30 tune 2034 the Group s annual finance costs would
ncrease or decrease by less than £1 milon for a one-notch downgrade or
upgrade in rating assuming RCF remains undrawn

Forergn exchange risk

1oda xdmens
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A combinaton of cross-cumency and interest rate Swap arrangements

15 used to convert the Group s debit and assotiated interest rate
obhgations to pourds stering or euros at fixed exchange rates

At 30 fune 2015, the spht of the Group's aggregate BOrrowings nto
their core curencies was US dollar 42% euros 39% and pounds sterling
19% (2014 US doller 7% and pounds sterling 29%) At 30 June 2015 30%
of the Group s fong-term borrowings after the impact of defvatives

are denomunated in pounds sterling and 70% i euros

The Group 1s expesed to currency translation on the consalidation of its
forengn operations It uses certain borrowings and dervative instruments
to hedge its net nvestments i these subsickarnes

The majanty of the Group s revenues and operating expenses are
denaminated i pounds sterhng In the current year approximately
24% of operating expenses (£2 206 millon) was denominated in euros
(2014 approximately 4% (£272 miion)) and approxamately 8% of
operating expenses (£758 mdhon) was denominated in US dollars
(2014 approxumately 10% (£629 mulhon)) Inthe current year
approximatety 25% of revenues (£2 572 million) was dencminated

in euros {2014 5% (€393 mulkon))

Following the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky itaha the Group
Treasury function hedges the foreign currency exposure of its forecgn
subskharies into its local reparting currency In all terrnitores the US doilar
expenso celates mainly to the Groups programming contracts with US
supphers together with US dollar-denorminated set-top box costs in the
UK the euro revenues primartdy relate to subscnbers located in reland
The UK s exposure to euro-denomunated revenue 1s offset to a certam
extent by euro-denominated costs retated manly to certam
transponder costs and euro finanang costs on its borrowings the net
postuon being a euro surplus (2014 surplus)

The Group hedges currency exposures on US dollar denaominated highly
probable cash flows by using forward foretgn exchange contracts
purchased up to five years ahead of the cash flow and currentty ra longer
hedges transactional euro exposures arsing in the UX
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(contunued)

24 Financial sk management (continued)

it1s the Group $ poYicy that all US dollar Foreign currency exposures
are substanvally hedged in advance of the year inwhich they occur

At 30 June 2015 the Group had purchased farward foreign exchange
¢ontracts representing

+ Approumatety 92% of US dollar-denormunated costs falling due within
onevyear (2014 95%) and on a dechrung basis across five.year planning
honzon are hedged wvia

~ Outstanding commitments to purchase inaggregate US$261
milion (2014 US$2 358 million) at an average rate of U5$158 to
E£100 (2014 US$160 to £100)

« Outstanding commitments to purchase in aggregate US31BI1 mullon
(204 USENW) at an average rate of US$118 1o €100 (2014 Nib)

+ Inrespectof its legacy euro hedging programme and to hedge current
balance sheet exposures

- Qutstanding commitments to sell in aggregate €976 mulbon (2014
E1078 millior) at an average rate of £122to £100 (2074 €118 to E100)

- Qutstanding commitments to purchase in aggregate £525 mulion
(2014 €171 rullion) at an average rate of €137 to E100(2014 €118
to E100)

No forward foregn exchange contracts fall due beyond five years (2014 Two)

The Group desrgnates the following as cash flow hedges for hedge
accounting purposes

+ Forward foreign exchange contracts

« Cress-currency swaps where interest on both legs 1s at a fced
tnterest rate — --

the valuation of demvatives (2014 gains of £27 milhon) The same weakerung
would have a beneficial impact on other equity of £598 milhon (2014
benefiaat enpact of E479 milhon)

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterbrg aganst the euro would have the
effect of increasing profit by £69 milion (2004 ncreasing profit by £2 mikon)
of whieh gains of £53 rilhon relate to nen-cash movemnents in the valuaton
of denvatmves (2014 Nd) The same strengthening would have a beneficial
mpactonother equity of £102 mdlion (2014 benefical impact of

£155 mdhon)

A 25% weakenung in pounds sterling aganst the eurowould have the effect
of decreasing profit by £ 15 million (2014 decreasing profit by €3 mulion) of
which losses of E88 mdlion relate bo non-cash mavements in the valuation of
dervatives (2014 Nif) The same weakenng would have an adverse impact on
ather equity of E170 milhon (2014 adverse impact of £259 milian)

A Z5% strengthening in euro aganst the US dollar would have the effect of
increasing profit by €35 mition (2014 Nif) None of this amount relates to
non-cash mavements in the vatuation of dervatves The same strengthening
would have a adverse impact on other equity of €312 milion (2014 N#)

A 25% weakenng in eurc aganst the US collar would have the effect of

decreasing profit by €58 mulion (2014 N} None of this amount relates to
non-cash movements in the valuation of denvatives The same weakenng
would have an benefiaal impact on other equity of €520 mihon (2014 NI}

The sensitvty analyses prowded ane hypothetical only and shoutd be used
with caution as the impacts prowvided are not necessanly tndicatve of the
actual impacts that would be expenenced becausa the Group s actual
exposure o rmarket rates s constantly changing as the Group s portfcho of
debt cash and foregn currency contracts changes In addition, the effect of a
change n a partcular market vanable on far values or cash flows 15 caladated
without considenng interrelationships between the vanous market rates or

As such the effective poruon of the gam or loss on these contracts is
reported as a component of the hedging reserve outside the income
statement andis then reclassified to the income statement in the same
periods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement.
Ineffectiveness of less than £1 milion was recognised inthe incame
statement dunng the year (2014 less than E1mithon)

A combination of US dollar denomtnated interest rate and US doftar?
pound sterkng Cross-currency swaps 18 used to convert fixed dollar
denominated debt to floating stering denominated debt The interest
rate swaps are designated as fair value hedges The assocated cross-
currency swaps are not designated as hedging mstruments for hedge
accounting purposes and as such mavements in ther value are recarded
directly in the income statement

Foreign exchange Sensitivity

The followmg analysis detal's the Group s sensitvity to movements

n pounds stering and euros against those currencies inwhichit has
significant transactions The sensitivity analysis inctudes foreign currency
denamunated assets and habilities at the balance sheet date and
outstanding foreign currency denominated financial instruments

and adjusts therr translation at the penod end for a 25% change

i foregn currency rates

A 25% strengthening in pounds stering against the US dollar would have
the effect of reducing profit by E12 miilion (2014 reducing profit by

£15 million) of which losses of £13 million retate to non-cash movements
m the valuation of derrvatives (2014 losses of £16 million) The same
strengthening would have an adverse impact on other equity of

£339 milhon (2014 adverse impact of £288 milhon)

A 25% weakening wn pounds stering agamnst the US dollar would have
the effect of increasmg profit by £19 mulhon (2014 increasng profit by
£25 million) of which gains of £21 mulllon relate Lo non-cash mavements In

mibgating acbions that wodild be takently the Group s in
valuations are asumates of the impact of changes \n market vanables and
arenot a predicuon of future events or anticipated gains or losses.

RHedge accounting

The interest rate and foresgn exchange rate nsk sections above outline the
Group s policies reganding use of denvatme products Further detad on
valuatons and the mpact. of hedge accounting dunng the year are prowded
nnote 23

Credit nsk

The Group s exposed to counterparty defaudt nsk amounting toimested
cash and cash equwvatents and short-term deposis arxd the positive far
value of dervatie financial assets helkd

Trus nisk 15 deemed Lo be low Counterparty nsk forms a central part of the
Grup 5 Treaswry policy which s monitored and reported on regulardy The
Group manages credit nsk by diversifying its exposures across a wide number
of counterparues such that the maxamum exposure to any indmdual
counterparty was 6% of the total asset value of instruments at the end of
the year Treasury policies ensure that all dervative transactions are onty
effected with strong relationship banks and at the date of sigrung each
camed a mmumum credit raung of BaaZ or equvalent from Standard &
Poor's. To mitigate remameng nsks countamparty cedit and sovenoign ratngs
are chasely monitored and no more than 10% of cash deposits ane hefd with a
single bank counterparty (with the exception of overmight depesits whech are
nvested in a spreac of AAAF rated hquidity funds)

Tha amount recogrused m the income statement n respect of credit nsk for
denvatives deemed held for trading 1s £1 million (2014 rel)

Credit nsk i our residenttal customer base 1s mitigated by bimg and
anllecung in advance for digital television subscrpbions for the majonty of
our ressdental customer base The Group s maxenum expasure 1o credit sk
on trade meevables is the carmying amounts as disdosed mnnote 19
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Financlal statements

Liguichty risk
Qur pnncipal source of bqusdity 5 cash generated from operations combined with acress to a £1 telion RCF which expires in November 2020 At 30 June
2015 this facdity was undrawn (30 June 2014 undrawn)

To ensure continuity of funding. the Group s policy 15 to ensure that avadable funding matures over a peniod of years At 30 tune 2015 70% (2014 29%) of
the Groups total available Funding (including available undrawn amounts on our RCF) was due to mature inmore than five years

Full details of the Group $ berrowings and undrawn faalities are shown innote 22 other than trade and other payables shown in note 20 and provisions
shown in note 21

The following table anatyses the Groups non-dervatve financial habiittes net settled denvative financial Instruments and gross settied financial
instruments into relevant maturity groupings based an the remaining penod at the balance sheet date to the contractual matunity date The amounts
disclosed it the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on the balance sheet for
borrowings denvative finanoal instruments provisions and trade and other payables

vedar xBayens
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Between Between
Lass than one and twoand Morethan
2months  twoyears frve years Frve years
Em £m Em Em
At 30 June 2015
Nondervatwve financal kabilities
Bonds - USD 626 137 1615 1920
Bonds - EUR 57 -4 595 2948
Bonds -~ GBP 66 66 552 1309
Obhgations under finance leases and other borrowings 26 26 29 28
Trade and other payables 2676 123 15 19
Provisions 1] 15 3 16
et settfed denvatives
Financial assets [€1)] (24) (40) ()]
Gross settled denvatves
Qutflow 2292 1046 3359 389
Inflow (2433) (11303 (3665) (4 216)
Between Between
Less than one and twoand  More than
12months  twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
Em Em Em &m

At 30 June 2014
Non denvative financial abilities
Bonds - USD n2 541 1002 947
Bonds - GBP 41 4] 500 444
Obhgatons under finance leases and other borrowings n [P 7 139
Trade and other payables 1686 89 3 -
Prowisions 35 8 - 2
Net settled denvatrves
Financial assets (30) (24} @) -
Gross setted denvatves
Quthiow 1356 1129 1867 960
inflow {1327 (121 {1 885) (555}

Capital Risk Management

The Groups objectrves when managing capital are to endeavour to ensure that the Group has the ability to access capital markets when necessary and -
to optimise hquidity and operatng flexibdity through the arrangement of new debt while seeking to minimuse the cost of capital The Group monitors
its iquidity requirements regularly and 15 sabisfied that it has access to sufficent iquidity and operating flexibility to meet its capital requirernents

The Group manages its short and long-term capstal structure by seeking to maintain leverage ravos cansrstent with along-term investment grade
credit rating (BBB or better from Standard & Poor's and Baa3 or better from Moody s) The Group s current ratings are BBB (Standard & Poor 5)

and Baa2 (Moody s) both with stable outfook The leverage ratios assessed by these rating agencies are those of Net Debt EBITDA and Gross Debit
EBITDA Net Debt 1s defined as total bomowings including the cash flows arising under operating leases and transponder prepayments less cash and
cashequivalents excluding denvatves Gross Debt does nol reduce total borrowings by the inclusion of cash and cash equivalents

The Graup s also required to maintain a Net Debt EBITDA ratio below 4 001 and an EBITDA to Net Interest Payableratie at above 3 501 under the
terms of its RCF The RCF definiuon of Net Oebt does not require the mdusion of future operating lease or transponder cash flows

At 30 June 2015 the Net Debt EBITDA ratio 2s defined by the terms of the RCFwas 251(2014 0 77) and the EBITDA to Net Interest Payable ratio
was 10612014 133Y)
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25 Share capital

2018 2014

Em £m

Allotted called-up and fully paid shares of 50p 1719017 230 (2014 1562 BES017) 860 781

2015 2014

Number of Number of

ondinary ordinary

shares shares

Allotted and fully paid dunng the year

Begnrung of year 1562885017 1593505182

Issue of own equity shares 156132213 -
Shares repurchased and subsequently cangelled - (31020165)

End of year 1719017230 1562 B85S 07

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry equal voting rights and no contractual nght to receve payment On 25 July 2014 the Company
announced the placing of 156132 213 new ordinary shares representing approximately 9 95% of existing 1ssued share capital for total gross proceeds

of £1358 million £12 milkon of transaction costs were accounted for as a deduction from equity

Share optian and contungent share award schemes
The Company operates vanous equity-settied share opuon schemes (the Schemes ) for certain employees

The number of newly 1ssued shares which may be allocated under the Schemes on any day shall not when aggregated with the number of newly 1ssued
shares which have been allocated in the previous 10 years under the Schemes and any other employee share scheme adopted by the Company, exceed
such number as represents 5% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in issue 'mmediatety prior to that day In determinng thes limit no account
shall be taken of any newly issued shares where the right to acquire the newly 1ssued shares was released lapsed cancelled or otherwise became

incapable of exercise Options and awards which will be sausfied by ESOP shares do not fall withun these headroom bmis
The share awards outstanding can be summarised as follows

2015 204

——— . - Number of Murnberof N,
ordinary orcinary
shares shares
Executne Share Opbion Scheme ophions® - 147020
Sharesave Scheme optionst™ B 357072 7976924
Management LTIP awards™ 087 16056961
LTIP awardst™ H895963 5575000
Management Co-Investment LTIP awards™ 2021348 2085719
Co Investment LTIP awards®™ 1768738 2235172
48161,902 34056796

(1) Executive Share Optwon Scheme optiens

All Executive Share O plion Scheme options outstanding at 30 June 2014 have vested No cptions have been granted under the scheme since 2004

Grants under the Executive Share Optian Scheme were made on an annuai basss Lo selected employees with the exercise price of options being equal
tothe Company s share pnce on the date of grant. For these options wath perfarmance conditons growth in EPS had to exceed growth in the Retall Pnces
Index plus 3% per annum in orcler for awards tovest Options vested on an accelerated basts over a pertdd of up to four years from the date of grant.,

The contractual ife of ol Executive Share Option Scheme opions was 10 years
(n) Sharesave Scheme options

All Sharesave Scheme options outstanding at 30 tune 2015 and 30 June 2014 have no performance critenia attached other than the requirement that
the employee remains inemployment with the Group Options granted under the Sharesave Scheme must be exarcisedwithin six months of the relevant

award vesting date

The Sharesave Scheme 15 gpen to all employees in the UK and lreland Options are normally exercisable after esther thras or five years from the date
of grant. The price at which oplions are offered is not less than 80% of the middte-market price on the dealing day immediately preceding the date
of imvitatien It s the policy of the Group to make an imatauon to employees to partioipate in the scheme following the announcement of the end

of year results
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() Management LTIP awards

All Management LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only f performance conditions are met Awards granted under
the Management LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management LTIP Awards under this scheme murror the LTIP with the same performance
condiuons Awards excrased under the Management LTIP can only be satisfied by the issue of market-purchased shares

{v) LTIP awards

All LTIP awards outstanding at 30 Juna 2015 and 30 Jurve 2014 vest only if performance condstions are met Awards granted under the LTIP must be
exercised withan five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the LTIP for Executive Directors and Senior Executives Awards under the scheme are grantedwn the form of a nd-pnced option
The awards vest in Full or in part dependent on the satisfacuon of specfied performance targets For awards made in 2008 and 2009 (e awards that
vested 1n 2011) 30% of the award vested dependent.on TSR performance over a three year performanca penod relative to the constitugnts of the FTSE
100 at the time of grant and the remaiming 70% vested dependent on performance against operational targets The TSR performance targets were not
apphcable to awargs made between July 2010 and March 2012 but have been re-introctuced for awards granted from July 2012 onwards

() Management Co-Investment LTIP awards

All Management Co-trvestment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only if performance condiions are met Awards granted
under the Management Co-investment LTIP must be exercised within frve years of the relevant swarct vesting date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management Co-investment LTIP Awards under this scheme mirror the Co-Investment LTIP
with the same performance conditions

{vi) Co-Investment LTIP awards

All Co-Investment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest anly if performance ¢ondibons are met Awards granted under the
Co-lnvestment LTIP must be exercised withim five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the Co-Investment. LTIP award for Executive Dvrectors and Semor Executives Employees who participate inthe plan are granted
a canditicnal sward of shares based on the amount they have invested in the Company s shares The investment wil be matched up £o a maxtmum of
15 sharas for every shara invested subject to a three-year EPS performance condition

For the purpases of the disclosure below the Management LTIP LTIP Management Co-lnvestment LTIP and Co Investment LTIP awards ( Serior Management
Schemes?) have been aggregated

The movement in share awards outstanding s summarised in the following table

vodb »dnens

MDY

Sgnior management

Executve Scheme Sharcsave Scheme Schemes Total

Weighted Waighted Weighted Waoighted

average average average average

exerose exprose exerase exercse

pnce price pnce pnce

Number E Number E Number [ Number £

Qutstanding at 1.Juty 2013 931247 579 7159954 534 37253124 000 45344325 D56
Granted dunng the year - - 3g22an 682 10068805 000 13091016 157
Exerased dunng the year (771806) 5495 (1217391 496 (20763738) Q00 (22752835) 047
Forfented dunng the year {10515) S03 {961166) 589 (625,339) aoo (1597021) 358
Expired dunng the year (+905) 662 {26684) 447 - - (285689) 46!
Qutstanding at 30 June 2014 147020 503 7976 924 590 25932852 D00 34056796 140
Granted dunng the year - - 33388, 708 16874 287 000 20272968 117
Exercised during the year (144,888) 503 (1796333} 499 (1887798} 000  (3B23019) 253
Forfeited dunng the year - - (1131874) 637 (1124 511) 000 (2256385) 319
Expired dunng the year (2133 503 (20326) 536 - - (22458) $33
Outstanding at 30 June 2015 = - 8 367,072 650 39794 830 000 48161902 113

The weighted average market price of the Group s shares at the date of exercrse for share options exercised dunng Lthe year was 909 (2014 £8 42)
for those exercised under the Executnee Scheme it was £8 90 (2014 £B 48) for those exercised under the Sharesave Scheme it was £9 37 (2014 £882)
and for those exertised under the Semior Management Schemes it was £8 84 (2014 £8 40)

The middle market closing pnce of the Company s shares at 26 June 2015 was £10 66 (27 June 2014 £8 93)
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25 Share capital (continued)

The following table summanses informat:on abaut share awards cutstanding at 30 June 2015

Semor management

Sharesave Schems Schemes Total

Weighted Weighted Weghted

average average average

T - remaining - remaming ~ remamning

contractual contractual contractual

ife fe iife

Range of exertise pnces Number Years Number Years Number Years

£000-E100 - - 39794830 59 39794830 59

£400-£500 7827 01 - 827 ()]

ESCD-E600 1586 366 17 - 1586 366 1?7

E6OQ - E700 3643835 3] - 3643835 21

E700-£800 3129044 34 - 3129044 34

8367072 25 39794830 59 48161502 53

The following table summanses information about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2014
Senior management

Executive Scheme Sharesave Scheme hemes Total

Wetghted Weighted Weighted Waighted

average average average average

rematning rema Iﬂll‘\a remamning rema:nlng

contractual contractual contractual contractual

fe ufe bfe Iife

Range of exertse pnces Number Years Number Years Number Years Number Years

EQO0Q - E100 - - - - 25832852 606 25932852 60

£300-£400 - - 28381 Ct - - 28381 ok}

£400-~£500 - - 339644 1 - - 335644 n
£500~E600—— - — e em——— 147 Q20 01y—3 239353 20 3386373 19—

EGOD - E700 - - 4 369546 31 - - 4369548 3t

147020 01 7976924 25 25932852 60 34056796 52

The range of exerase prices of the awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 was between nil and E708 (2014 nil and E6 82) For those outstanding under the
Sharesave Scheme it was between £4 33 and £708 (2014 £372 and £6 82) and for all awards outstanding under the Sermor Managemant Schemes the

exercise price was nil (2014 nu}

The following table summanses additional iInformation about the awards exercisable at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2015 20m

Average Average
remairing  Weighted remaining  Weighted
contractual average contractual average
Options ife of exemse Options hfe of exemise
exerasable exertisable pnce  ererosable  exsrusable pnce
at 30 June oplons £ at.30 June opuons £
Executive Scheme - - - 147020 o 503
Sharesave Scheme 41293 01 494 78 668 01 495
Senior Management Schemes 27308 27 000 872229 35 o0a
314 411 23 065 1097917 28 103

Informatton for awards granted dunng the year

The weighted average fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year as estimated at the date of grant was £6 03 (2014 £553)

This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share option prcing model except for awards which have market-based performance conditions where 3
Monte-Carlo simulation modef was used and for grants of ni-priced options whith were treated as the award of a free share The fair value of ril-priced
options granted dunng the year was measured on the basis of the market-price of the Company s shares on the date of grant drscounted for expacted
drndends which would not be recerved over the vesting penod of the options
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The Monte-Carlo simulation model reflected the histoncal volatiities of the Company’s share price and those of all other companies to wiech the

Company s performance woutd be compared, over a penod equal to the vesting penod of the awards

Expected volatiity was determuned by calaulating the histoncal volatikty of the Company s share pnce over a penod equal to the expected life of the
options Expectec ife was based on the contractual hfe of the awards and adjusted based onmanagement s best estmate For the effects of exercise

restnctions and behavioural considerabions

() Sharesave Scheme

The werghted average far value of equity-settled share awards granted dunng the year under the Sharesave Scheme as estimated at the date of grant

was £146 {2014 El1 BS) This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share aption pnicing model
The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculating these fair values

2015 2014
Share price £8 82 EB 70
Exerase pnce E708 £682
Expected volatlity 20% 22%
Expected e 40years 40vyears
Expected dwdends 35% 33%
Rusk free interest rate 15% 12%

(u) Semer management Schemes

The weighted average far value of equity-settied share awards granted duning the year under the Seruar Management Schemes, as estmated at the date of
grant was £693 (2014 £6 62) The far value of awards with market-based performance conditions was calculated using a Monte-Carlo ssimulatson model
Awards granted as ril-prnced oplions were treated as the award of afree share For alt other awards far value was calculated using the Black-Scholes

share option pricing model

The following weighted average assumptians were used In calculating these far values

2015 2014
Share pnice £8a5 828
Exerase pnce £000 EDQD
Expected volatbty. 9% — 19%a e
Expected hfe 30years 21years
Expected dvidends 35% 33%
Resk-free interest rate 14% Q4%
26 Shareholders’ equity
2015 2014
Em Em
Share capital 860 781
Share prermum 2704 1437
ESOPreserve (125) (145)
Hedging reserve 62 (20)
Available-for-sale reserve (U] 455
Other reserves 120 455
Retaned eamings (455) Q8%
3165 1072

Purchase of own equity shares for cancellation

Ouring the prior year at the Company s AGM on 22 November 2013 the Company was granted authonty to return ES00 mithon of capetal to shareholders
wia a share buy-back programme This authonty was subject to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox Inc (and others) dated 25 July
2013 whereby foflowing any market purchases of shares by the Company 21st Century Fox Inc, wortd sell to the Company sufficient shares to maintain
s percentage shareholding at the same leve! as apphed prior to those market purchases The price payable to 2ist Century Fox. Inc would be the price

payable by the Company in respect of the relevant market purchases {the 2013 Share Buy-back Agreement )

At the Company $ AGM on 1 November 2012 the Company was granted the authonty to return E500 milhon of capital to shareholders via a share buy-back
programme This authonty was subject to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox Inc (and others) dated 28 July 2012 on substantially

the same terms as the 2013 Share Buy-back Agreement
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26 Shareholders' equity (continued)

The follovang table prowdes mformation about purchases of equity shares by the compady indiuthng purchases by the Groups ESOP
during the fiscal year

Tota Average

number of pnce paxd

shares pershare

- - - - - ==- = «—-pyrchased - - E

July - -
August -
September 1325800 886
October - -
November -
December - -
January - -
February - -
March - -
Apnl - -
May - -
June - -
Total for the year ended 30 June 2015 1325800 8 B6

1 Alishace purchases were apen market transacttons and ase inciuded m the monih of settiement

Share premium and special reserve
On 10 December 2003 the High Court approved a reduction in the Company s share premium account of £1120 mithon as approved by the Company s
shareholders at the AGM held on 14 Navemnber 2003 This amount was equal to the Company-onty profit, and loss account reserve defiait at 30 June 2003
As parvof the application the Company s balance sheet at 30 September 2003 was required to be presented Al that date the defict on the Compary-
only profit and loss account reserve had reduced by £14 millien since 30 June 2003 to £1106 millon As a conditton of the reduction the reduction in the
share premium atcount of £1120 milkon was permitted to be offset against the profit and foss account resenve by the amount of the defiat at
30 September 2003 The excess of £14 milion was credited to a speosl reserve whichis included i other reserves and under the terms of the reducton
el remamn undistnbutable untl all the creditors of.the Company and its guarantors (as at 10.Decembrer. 2003) are pad

ESQP reserve

Tha cost of the Campary's ordmary shares held by the Group's ESOP is treated as a deduction in armving at total shareholders equity The movement
in the ESOP reserve was as follows

Number of Average
ordinary pnca pad
shares per share im
Ar1July 2013 20527423 £715 147
Share options exercised duning the year {22752935) E727 {166)
Shares purchased by the ESOP dunng the year 1953451 £8 40 164
At 30 June 20%4 17 308,999 £8 40 145
Share optrons exercised durning the year (3829019) EB 3% (32}
Shares purchased by the ESOP dunng the year 1325800 EB 86 74
At 30 June 2015 14 805 780 EB 44 125

Hedging reserve

Changes in the far values of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are initially reccgrised in the hedging reserve, end subsequently
recogrused in the income statement wher the related hedged items are recogmised (in the iIncome statement In addition deferred taxationrelating
to these denvatives s also tnitally recognised in the hedging reserve pnor to transfer to the income statement

Avaiabla-for-sale reserve

Avadable-for-sale rwvestments are carmed at farr vafue where this can be reliably measured with movements in the fair valuae recogrused directly
in the avarlable-for-sale reserve At 3¢ fune 2015 the Group s avadable-for-sale reserve was a defwit of E1 millon (2014 reserve of £455 million)

Other reservas

The Group s other reserves include a capital redemptionreserve a merger reserve aforgign currency translation reserve and a special reserve The capital
redemption reserve was £190 milhon as at 30 June 2015 (2034 £190 mithon) The merger raserve was £125 milhon as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £222 milhon)
The special reserve was £14 mJdlion as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £14 million) The foreign currency transiation reserve was £(209) milion as at 30 Jung 2015
(2014 £29 millon)
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The merger reserve was created i accordance with the merger rehef provisions under section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended) and section
612 of the Companies Act 2006 relating Lo the accountang for business combinations involving the issue of shares at 8 premaum Merger relief provided
retief from the requirement to create a share premium account in a parent company s balance sheet In preparing consolidated financial statements

the amount by which the fair value of the shares 1ssued exceeded therr nominal value was recorded within a mergerreserve on consohdation rather than
in a share premium account This merger reserve was retained upon transition to IFRS as allowed under UK law

The merger reserve which 1s incdluged inother reserves was created as aresult of the purchase by the Group of interests i two entities SiGwas

purchased on 12 July 2000 where consideration was paid by the ssue of equity shares in the Company BiB was purchased between 28 lune 2001 and
1 November 2002 where ¢consideration was paid by the issue of equity shares in the Company Following the Groups disposal of a controlhing stake n
Sky Bet, the merger reserve In refatron to the purchase of SIG has bean transferred toretaned earmings At 30 lune 2015 the Group s merger reserve

was E125 million (2014 £222 million)

27 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

Reconciltation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

yeda a3aens

2005 2014
£€m Em
Continuing operations
Profit before tax 1516 1025
Depreciavion imparment and losses (profits) on disposal of property plant and equipment 297 204
Amortisation impaimment and iosses (profis) on disposal of intangible assets 469 228
Share-based payment expense 91 €0
Net finance costs 215 4
Prafit on disposal of avalable-for-sale nvestments (492) -
Prafit on disposal of assocate (299) -
Share of results of jJont ventures and assocates (28) (35)
1825 1596
Decrease (increase) in trade and other recevables 1 (28
Decrease inwwentones 568 - ]
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (367) 172 §
—Increase (decrease) in provisions 65 (48) I
(Decrease) Increase in dervative financal instruments 6) 4 5
Cash generated from oparations 2080 1696 §
28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees w
a) Future munimum expenditure contracted for but not recognised in the fmancial statements
Between Total at Total at
Lessthani land5 AfterS 30 June 30 June
year years years 2015 2014
£Em Em Em Em Em
Telewision programme nghts 2936 8233 366 1535 4401
Set-top boxes and related equipment 305 - - 05 180
Third-party payments' 164 204 - 368 155
Transponder capaaty? 146 683 334 1163 519
Property plant and equipment 1o 12 - 122 36
Intangible assets? q9 93 9 151 104
Smartcards’ 55 187 30 272 178 =
Other 509 546 144 1199 521 3
4,274 9958 583 15115 6094 %
[+
Foreugn currency commutments are translated to pounds sterling az the rate prevailing on the batance sheet date s
The third-party payment COfuTitients are in respect of distnbuon agreements for the telewsion channels owned and broadcast by thed parties retailed by the Group to retat 'Q‘
and comméercaal subscnbers ( Sky Distributed Channels ) é
2 Transponder capacity cosmumitments are i respect of the satelhtes that the Group uses for digital transmissions to both retall subscnbers and cable aperatory §'

3 Commtments n relatron Lo the provison of Smartcands Smartcatds under developmeant are included wathin intangible assets The amounts incuded above are the expected

angoing smartcard costs based on foracast cuttomer levels
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28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees (continued)

b) Contingencies and guarantees

Certain subsichartes of the Company have agreed to provide acditional funding to severat of their mvestments in imwted and unbmited companies
and partnerships 1n accordance with funding agreements Payment of this additional funding would be reguired if requested by the nvestees in

accordance with the funding agreements The maumum potentialamount of future payments which may be required to be made by the subsidianes

of the Company to therr invesuments in both limited and untimited companies and partnerships under the undertakings and additonal funding
agreements s £8 milbon (2014 €17 million)

The Group has guarantees in place refating to the Group s borrowangs see note 22 For an gverview of the ongowng |Fwes'n_gau_ons and reviews of
rogulatory and competition maxters involving the Group refer to the Regulatory matters section in the Strategic report

29 Operating lease commitments

The minimum lease rentals to be pad under non-cancellable operating leases at 30 June are as follows

2015 2014
Em £m
Within one year 65 47
Between one and five years 155 n?
After five years 190 33
. 410 197
The majonty of operating leases relate to property The rents payable under these leases are subject 1o renegotiation at the vanous intervals
specified inthe leases
The menimum sub-lease rentals to be recaived under non-cancellable operating sub-ieases at 30 June are as follows
2018 2014
£m £m
Within one year 2 1
2 1

Sub-lease rentals primarily relate to property leases

30 Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

a) Entities with jont control or significant influence

Duning the year the Group conducted business transactions with companies that form part of the 215t Century Fox Inc group a major shareholder in the

Company

Iransactions with refated parties and amounts autstanding in relation to those transactions and with related parties at 30 June are as follows

2015 2014

£m £m

Supply of goods or senvices by the Group 45 8z
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (275) azn

Amounts owed to the Group 26 s
Amounts owed by the Group (180) (134)

At 30 June 2015 the Group had expenditure commitments of £330 mullion i relaton to transactions withrelated partes (2014 E£99 mulhon) which
principally refated to minimum television programmng nghts commitments

Goods and services supphed

Dunng the year the Group supplied programming arume transmission and marketing services to 21st Century Fox Inc comparies \
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Purchases of goods and services and certainother relationships
During the year the Group purchased programming and technical and marketing sernices from 21st Century Fox tne companies

On 25 July 2014 the Company anncunced the placing of 156 132,213 new ordinary shares representing approximately 9 39% of exssung ssued share capital
(see note 25) 215t Century Fox Inc subscnbed for 61106 496 of these shares 5o as to maintawn Its existng percentage shareholding in the Company
following the placing

On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 100% of Sky (taha Sd and 57 4% of Sky Deutschland AG from 21st Century Fox Inc Far further details see note
31 in additson the Graup repad the loan that Sky Deutschiand AG had gutstanding with 2ist Century Fox Inc of £105 mihion In connection with thas
Sky disposed of its 21% stake m the National Geographic channel to 21st Century Fox nc on the same date For further detads seenote €

©On12 June 2015 Sky increased its shareholding in Tour Racing Limited (Team Sky ) as aconsequence of the transfer ta Sky of a 25% shareholding from
21st Century Fox Inc The shares were purchased for £25 bemg their par value

There ts an agreement between 21st Century Fox Inc and the Group pursuant towhich it was agreed that for so longas 2ist

Century Fox Inc directly or indirectly holds aninterest of 30% or more in the Group 21st Century Fax Ine will not engage in the business
of satellite broadcasting in the UK or Iretand

Share buy-back programme

Dunng the prioryear, the Company purchased and subseguently cancelled 12140 586 ordinary shares held by 21st Century Fax Inc as part
of its share buy-back programme

b) Jomnt ventures and associates
Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes which are related parues have been eimenated on consoldation and are not disclosed
n this note Transactions between the Group and its joint ventures and assoaates are disclosed below

Transactions between the Company and its subsidanes jont ventures and associates are disclosed in the Company s separate financial statements

2015 2014

Em £m

Supply of services by the Group 26 19
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (55 (66)

Ameounts owed by joint ventures and associates tothe Group 89 8
Amounts owed tojoint ventures and assoaates by the Group {6) [41)]

wodau x8xens

Services supphed are primartly the provision of transponder capacity marketing, artine sales and support services Purchases represent fees payable
for channel carnage

Amounts owed by joint ventures and assoaates indudes £70 auilion (2014 E1 mullion) relaung to loan funding Thisloan bears interest at arate af 8 20%
(2014 one month LIBOR plus 1%) The maximum amount of loan funding outstanding i total from joint ventures and assocates during the year was
€70 million (2014 E1 milhon)

The Group took out anumber of forward exchange contracts with counterparty banks durning the year on behalf of the joint venture AETN UK
Qn the same dates as these forward contracts were entered nto the Group entered into equa) and opposite contracts with AETN UK nrespect
of these forward contracts

Consequently the Group was not exposed to any of the net gains or losses on these farward contracts The face value of forward exchange contracts
with AETN UK that had not matured as at 30 June 2015 was E2 mihen (2004 £4 midlion)

Dunng the year US$2 milkon (2014 US$4 mdlion) was paid to the point venture upon matunity of forward exchange contracts and US$nil (2014 less than
US4 mihion) was recerved from the joint venture upon matunity of forward exchange contracts

Duning theyear E1 milion (2014 £3 mition) was recerved from the jomt venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts and £3 midion
(2014 ES midhon) was pard to the jont venture upoh maturnity of forward exchange contracts

During theyear €3mdnon (2014 €5 miflion)was recerved from the joint venture upen matunty of forward exchange contracts and €nd (2014 less than
€1 milbon) was paid to the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts

At 30 June 2015 the Group had minimum expenditure commizments of £1 million (2014 £3 mulan) with its joint ventures and associates

¢) Other transactions with related parties

The Group has engaged in a number of transactions with companies of which some of the Company’s Directors are also directors These do not meet
the defirtison of related-party transactions

d) Key management
The Group has a related-party relabionship with the Directors of the Company At 30 June 2015 there were 14 (2074 15) members of key
management all of whom were Directors of the Company Key management compensation s disclosed in nate 8b
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31 Acquisition of subsidianies

a) Sky Deutschland

On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 89 05% of the 1ssued share capital of Sky Deutschland AG obtaiing contral of Sky Deutschland with
8745% acquired through the offer pracess and the balance acquired subsequent to the close of the offer acceptance period on 3 November 2014
Sky Deutschland operates a pay TV business in Germany and Austna Sky Deutschland was acquired to take advantage of growth opportuenities
benefits of scale and synergy potential

The amounts recogmsed in respect of the sdentifiable assets acquired and habiities assumed are set out in the table below

Recogrused
fairvalues
£m
Recognised amounts of identifhable assets acquired and habdities assumed
intangble assets 1874
Property plant and equipment 170
Deferred tax assets [= 0]
Dervative financial assets 13
Inventones 344
Trade and other recervables 73
Cash and cash equialents m
Tragle and other payables 627)
Deferred tax habdities (494)
Derwatve financial habilities (5)
Provisions (3)
Barrovangs (N2)
1743
Non-controling interest (9
Goodwll 2848
4400
Sausfied by
Cash 4323
Fair value of previously held interest I — .
Total consideratton transferred 4 400
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase
Cash consideration - 4323
Less cashand cash equivalents acquired on
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase 4212

The farr value of the financial essets acquired includes trade recevables with a fair vatue of £45 milhon and a gross ontractus! value of £108 milkon
The best esumate at acquisition date of the contractual cash Flows not likely to be collected was £63 million

Goodwill of £2 B48 million ansing from the acquisition reflects growth opportunities and buyer-specific synergles Nane of the goodwill recogrused is
expected to be deduct:ble for income tax purposes

The value of the non-controling interest in Sky Deutschland was estimated by calculating the non-controffing interest s share aof net identsfable assets
at the acquisiion date At 30 June 2015 the Group held 9613% of theissued share capitat of Sky Deulsehland AG

From the close of the offer acceptance period an 3 November 2014 and pnior to abtaining contral of Sky Deutschland the Group acquired 2 16% equity
investment with a carrang vatue of £72 milhan The Group recegrised a gainof £5 millan wathin prefit an disposal of available-for-sale rvestments as a
result of measunng this investment to Fair value as at the date of the acquisition

Deferred tax assets and habilities which are shown Separately above have been offset where appropriate on the balance sheet

Acquisition related costs for the purchase of both Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itaha (see below) comprised adwisory and ransaction fees mcluding inter
ala Financial adwisory costs corporate legal advie due dilgence reporting, assurance services and tax advice of £50 mullion within operating expense
and finance casts of £57 million incurced in connec tion with E£6 6 tithon of firm underwritien debit facikues and other associated transaction Costs

For the penod between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015 the acgusition contnbuted £866 million to the Groups revenue and a £22 million loss
to the Group s operating profit If the Group had completed the purchase on the first day of the financial year 1t 15 estimated that the acquisition would
have contributed €1 377 millon to Group revenue and an £11 million 1055 to the Group s operating profit for the year
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b) Sky Itala

Financal statements

On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 100% of the 1ssued share capital of Sky Italia S obtaining controlof Sky [talia Sky Itaha operates a pay TV

business in italy Sky ltahawas acgquired to take advantage of growth opportumities benefits of scale and synergy potenual
The amaunts recognrsed in respect of the identfiable assets acquired and habihties assumed are sat out in the table below

vod x8xeng

Recogrused
far values
£m
Recogrused amounts of idenufiable assets acquired ang habilities assumed
Intangible assets 1780
Property plant and equipment 360 §
Deferred tax assets n
Darwvative finanoal assets 1 é
Inventores 600 §
Trade and other recevables 431
Current tax assets 13
Cash and cash equivalents 5
Trade and other payables 1092)
Deferred tax iabiities (403)
Current tax habilities (2}
Provisions G0
1,714
Goodwll 752
2466
Satisfied by
Cash 2056
Disposal of iInvestmentn associate 410
Taotal consederation transferred 2 466
Net cash cutflow ansing on purchase -
Cash consideraton 2056 z
Less cash and cash equvalents acquired (5)- —
Net cagh outflow ansing on putchase 2051

The farr value of the financtal assets acquired includes trade recevables with & fair value of £305 milion and a gross contractual value of E394 mullion

The best estimate at acquisition date of the contracual cash flows nat hkely ta be collected was £85 millien

Goodwill of £752 million ansing from the acquisitionreflects growth opportunities and buyer-specific synergies None of the goadwill recognised s

expected to be deductble for ncome tax purposes
Deferred tax assets and habiitres which are shown separately above have been offset where appropnate on the balance sheet

For the penod between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015, the acquisition contnbuted £1 297 muhon Lo the Group s revenue and £25 million to the
Group s operating profit. IF the Group had completed the purchase on the first day of the financial year it is estimated that the acquisitian would have

contrnibuted £2 086 milkon to Group revenue and £6) mihion to the Group s operating profit for the year
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Finanaal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(conunued)

32 Group investments

The Group and its subsidianes are involved in the operation of pay television broadcasting and home commurmications serices induding the prowsion
of broadband and tefephone operations Certan subsidiary companies provide anciltary functiens which support these operations Jont ventures and
associates are mvolved in the transmission of specialist channels and online betting actvities

Unless otherwise indicated all share haldings owned directly or indirectly by the Group represent 100% of issued share capital of tha subsidiary
All entities pamarnly operate in thewr country of ncorparatian

Descripuion and Descnption ang
Name proportion of shares held (%) Name proportien of shares held (%)
Sky Group Limited 1orinary share of €1
Subsidianes

Sky Healthcare Scheme 2Limited 2 ordhnary shares of £1 each

Direct holdings of the Company

Sky History Lmmited

2 grdinary shaves of 1 each

Incorporated n the UK

Sky Holdings Lumsted

600 orchinary shares of E£1each

Sky Home Cammunicateons Lirited 9528124 ordinary shares of £1 each

British Sky Broadcasting Group
Umited

1ardinary share of E1

Sky In-Home Service Limited

1576 Q00 ordinary shares of E1 each

Sky International Limited 1ordinary share of £1
Pienic Limited 2138 ordinary shares of £ each Sky International Operations Liyted 2540 916157 ordinary shares of E1 each
Sky Finance Europe Limited ) ordinary share of £1 Sky IP Internatronal Limited 300 ordmnary shares of Eleach
Sky Group Finance pk 50 000 ordinary shares of £1 each Sky 1} Lruted 100 ordinary shares of E1 each
Sky Guarantee Investments Umited Membership interest (100%) Sky LLU Assets Limited 90 erdinary shares of £1 each
Sky Operatianal Finance Limited 31440638 ordinary shares of E1 eath Sky Mabile Serwces Lumuted 1 orchnary share of 7
Sky Television Limited 13 376 882 ondinary shares of €1 each Sky New Med:ia Venture Linvted 2ordinary shares of £1each
Sky UK Lisnited 10 002 002 ondinary shares of £1 each Sky News bimited 1ordinary share of £1

Sky Publications Limuted Zordinary shares of El each

Incorporated tn the Channel Islancs Sky Retad Stores Limited S 001055 ordinary shares of EG Ol each
Rainbow Finance (Jersey) Limited 100 ordinary shares of £1 Sky SNA Limited 100 ardinary shares of £1 each

1000000 preference shares
of EQ Q1 each

Sky SNi Lirnited

100 ordinary shares of EYeach

Sky SNI Operations Limited

200 orchinary shares ef E1each

Subsidianes

Indirect holdings of the Company

Incorporated in the UK

SXy Substribers services Limited! 5 orGinbry shares of E1each

Sky Telecommunicateons Limied

V000 ordinary shames of £1 each

Sky Telecommunications Services
Limited

5821 764 ordinary shares of £1cach

Sky Venturas Limted

912 ordinary shares of £1 each

365 Media Group Limited 172 orcinary shares of £001 each The Cloud Networks Limited 30583 988 ordinary shares of
Amstrad Uruted 160 ordinary shares of E610 each £0:00025 each

Britssh Sky Broadcasting Lirmited 1ordinary share of £1 Tour Racing Limited? B85 ordinary shares of £1 each (B5%)
Cel Bleu § Limited 51 BSQ orchinary shares of £0 01 each Virtuous Systems Limited 125 ordinary shares of £1 ecach

Cymru International Lemited 2 ordinary sharesof E1 each Znak Jones Produttions Limited Vordinary share of £1

Dolphin TV Limited 200 000 ordinary shares of £Q 001 each

Internauonal Channel Pack 1orginary share of £1 Incorporated in Germany

Distnbution Limited BSkyB GmbH 2 ordinary shares of €25 000 and €100
Kidsprog Umied 2 ordinary shares of E1each Premiere WIN Fernsehen GmbH 2 ordinary shares of €25 000 each
Lave Productions Limited 7724 ordinary shares of £1 each (70%) SCAS Satellite CA Services GmbH 1 ordinary share of €25 600 each
MEMSTV Lmited 10 ordinary shares of £1each Sky Deutschland AG 931114 937 arcinary shares of €1each
Multicultural & Ethric Media Sales 144 orainary shares of E1each {96 13%)

Limited

Sky Deutschland Customer

25 000 ardinary shares of €1 each

Newserge Limited 10Q ordinary shares of £1each Center GmbH

NOW TV pic. 1 ordinary share of £1 Sky Deutrschland Fernsehen Partnership Interest (100%)
Parthenon 1 Luimited 1 ordinary share of £1 GmbH & Co KG

Parthenon 2 Limited 2 ardinary shares of £1each Sky Deutschland Service Center 1 ordwnary share of €25000
Parthenon Entertainment Limited 100 ordinary shares of £1 each GmbH

Parthenon Media Group Litited 2 orcinary shares of £1each Sky Deutschland Venwalwungs GmbH | ordinazy share of €25 000

Rivals Digeal Media Lirmited 200 ordinary shares of £001 each Sky German Haldings GmbH? 26000 ordinary shares of £1 each

S ATV Publistung Limited 100 ordinary shares of Eleach Sky Hotel Entertamment GmbH 9 ordinary shares of £37500 €107200
Sky Channel Limited Yordnary share of E1 €50 000 €88 600 €68000 £¥75700
Sky Comedy Limited 2 orginary shares of £1 each €17500 €105 000 and £70000
SkyCP Limited I orcdnary share of £1 Sky Meda Network GmbH 2 ordinary shares of £6025 and €18975
Sky Europe Limited 1 ordinary share of £1 Sky Osterreich Fernsehen GmbH | ordinary shara of €35 000

Sky Global Media pic ordinary share of E1 :;r:b(i:,oud Networks Germany : r:deurzxggo slo'uates of €975C00
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Descnption and Descnption and
Name properuon of shares held (%) Name praparuon of shares held (%)
Incorporated in ltaly Jont ventures and associates
Skyitaha Sd Quota interest {100%)
Sky ltahan Hoklings SpA 121000 ordinary shares of €1 each Incorporated in the UK
Sky Itata Network Services Srl Quota Interest (100%) AETN UK 50000 ordinary shares of £1 gach (S0%)
Telepiu S Quaota interest (100%) Attheraces Holdings Liruted? 1584 ordinary shares of £l each
(4B 35%)

Incorporated in the USA 20 recoupment shares of £EQ 0] each

BSkyB US Holdings Inc? 100 ordinary shares of $0001 each

Bolt Pro Tem Limited 100 ordhinary shares of £1 each (33 3%)

Calhsto Media West LLCY Membershup interest (100%)

Jupiter Entertamment Heldings LLC? Membership interest (60%)

Colossus Productions Limsted® 2000 ordinary shares of £D 01 each

(20%)

Jupiter Entertanment LLC? Membership interast (WO0%)

Jupiter Entertamment North LLC?  Membership interest (100%)

OTV Services Liouted! £000 ordmnary sharesaf £1 each (20%)
Internat Matters Liruted? Membership interest (25%)

Love Amencan Journeys LLC! Membership interest (100%)

Love Baking LLC? Membership (nterest (1009%)

Love Proguctions USA Inc? 1000 ordinary shares of $1each

Love Sewing LAC? Membership interest (100%)

PhotoOps LLC! Membership interest (100%)

USA Love Development, LLC? Membership interest (100%)

Lovesport Praductions Limited? 4999 ordinary shargs of £1 each

(49 99%)

104 ordinary B shares of £0 01 each
(40%)

Odeon and Sky Filmworks Limsted” 2 450 ordinary B shares of £1each (50%)
Pararmount UX Partnershipi® Partnership interest (25%)

Nickelogeon UK Limited?

wild West Alaska LLC? Membership interest {100%)

2ITVLLC Membership interest (51%)

Incarporated in other overseas countnes

Acetrax AG (Switzerland) 12 281 326 ordinary shares of
CHF 001 each
Sky Channel SA (Belgum) 1250 orchnary shares of €49 60 each
Sky Interpattonal AG (Switzerdand) 200000 erdinary shares of CHF 100
each
Sky Ireland Limuted {lreland) 1orginary share of €1

Sky Manufactunng Servces Lunited 10 000 ordinary shares of RKO 100 each
{Hong Kong)

Sky Osterrexch Verwaltung GmbH 1 ordinary share of €36 336
{Austna)

The Cloud Networks Denmark APS 1250030 ordinary shares of DKK 100

{Denmarky each
The Cloud Networks Nordics AB 640 010 ardeary shares of SEX 100
(Swedeny cach

VENLTre 2009 Limited SO Grdinary shares of L1each(oo%)

intorporated i the Channel 1slands
Cyan Blue Topeo Limted

200 556 ordinary A2 shares of £0 01
each (20 06%)

200 contingent value shares of £001
each

incorporated in the UAE
Sky News Araba FZ-LLC

478186 666 ordinary sharesof $1 each
(50%)

Incorporated in Austraha
Austrahan News Channel Py Limsted) ordinary share of AUDS1 (33 3%)

This entity has an accounting reference date of 1 lanuary

These entities have anaccounung reference date of 31 December

Thesa entities have an accounting reference date of 31 March

This entty has an accounting reference date af 31 May

These entities have an Bcoountng raference date of 30 September

The reg'stered 2ddress of Paramount UK Partnership s 17 19 Hawley Crescent
Camden Langon NW1BTT The Paramount UK Partnershipis a joint venturg of the
Group and s ncluded within the consoldated accounts in accordance with Note
Ue)u) Consequently the Paramount UK Parinership has taken acvantege of the
exempion withen the Par tnerships (Accounts) Regulations 2008 {regulation 7)
from fuing annual financial statements

L= T TR

The foltowing companses are exempt from the requirements relating ta the audit of
indrndual accounts for the year/penod ended 30 Jure 2015 by wirtue of section

A79A of the Companies Act 2006 Kidsprog Limited (02767224) Parthenon Media Group
Lenuted (06544197) Prenic Limited (C5348872) S ATV Publshing Lmited (1085975)
Sky IP International Limited (07245844) Sky Operational Fnance Limited (02906994)
and Sky Telewsion Lirvted (01518707)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{canunued)

33 Events after the reporting period

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky initiated the necessary steps for the transfer of the remaining approximately 4% rminonity shareholdings 1n Sky
Deutschland The requisite shareholder resalution was subsequently approved ty 99 4% of the votes cast at an Extraordinary Genaral Meetng of Sky
Deutschland an 22 July 2015 and we expect the formal transfer of the minonty shareholdings to be effective i the second quarter of the 201516 finanaal
year

34 Sky plc company only financial statements

Company Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes Em Em
Revenue 229 225
Operaung expense o7 (44)
Operating prafit 132 181
Dindend income from subsidianes C 510 622
Investment mcome B 13 64
Finance costs B {201) (81}
Profit before tax C 572 786
Taxation [} 24) (36)
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 548 750
The accompanying notes are an integml part of this Income statement,
Company Statement of Cemprehensive Income s
for the year ended 30 June 2015
2015 2014 '
Em Em
—me s = .Profit for the year attnibutable to equity shareholder: 548 750___ —
Other comprehensive Income
Amounts recogrused directly in equity that may subisequently be recycled to the income statement
Gain (toss) on cash flow hedges 76 [¢2)]
Tax on cash flow hedges (6} .18 ,
60 { (6%
Amounts reciassified and reported in the Income statement - hald . NI
(Lossygain on cash flowhedges a3 97
Tax on cash flow hedges 23 23
90 75
Other comprehensive (Joss) income for tha year {net of tax) {30) 14
TJotal comprehensive income for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders 518 764

All results relate to continuing operations
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Company Balance Sheet

Fognoal statements

as at 30 June 2015
2015 2014
Motes £m Em
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiares E 9517 8146
Other recervables G & 2
Denvauve financial assets J 58 175
Deferred tax assets F 1 -
o/82 B 323
Current assets
QOther recevables G 7859 3008
Cash and cash equvalents - 1
Derwative financial assets p] s5 -
7914 3009
Total assets 17796 11 332
Current habshties
Other payables 1 3479 isn
Derwatve finanaal iabilities J 55 -
3534 3613
Non-cwrent habdities
Sorrowings H 6723 1557
Denvative financial habil:ties J 74 156
Deferred tax habdities F - 4
6797 1717
Total habilities 10 331 5,330
Share capital L 860 78
Share premium L 2704 1437
Reserves 3901 3784
Total equity attnbutable to equity shareholders _ L [ 7465 6002 _
Total labilives and shareholders equity 17796 1332

inancial statements of Sky ple, registered n

Andrew GRS
Group Chieffinancial Officer
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Francalstatements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{contmued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £m Em
Cash Alows from operating actmties
Cash generated from operations M - -
Net cash from operating activities - -
Cash flows from financing actmities
Proceeds from the exercise of sharg options 10 1
Loan to subsidiartes ) o)
Net cash {used in) from financing activities {1 1
Net (decrease) increase sncash and cash equivalents m 1
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginmng of the year 1 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year - 1

The accompanying notes are anintegral part of this cash flow statement
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 30 June 2015

Financial statements

Captal Total
Share Sharg Special redemption Captal ESQP  Hedging Retaned Sharehalders
capital  premyum reserve neserve reserve resene reserve  eamings equity
£m £m £m Em Em Em £m £Em Em
At 1 July 2014 797 1,437 14 174 844 (a7 (3 3019 6125
Profit for the year - - - - 7. - < 750 750
Recogrution and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - 18 - 1B
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - . - 4 - )
TJota! comprehensive income For the year - - - - - - 14 750 764
Share-based payment - - - - - 2 - (95) k)]
Share buy-back programme
- Purchase of own shares For cancellation [{{5)] - - 16 - - - (250) (2503
= Finanoial hability for ¢lose peniod
purchases - - - - - - - 59 (59
Doadends - - - - - - - (485) (485)
At 30 June2014 783 1437 14 190 844 _1a5) 1 2 880 6.002
Profit For the year - - - - - - - 548 548
Recogrution and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - Gn - an
Tax.onitems taken directly to equity - - - - - - 7 - 7
Total comprehensve income for the year - - - - - - (30) 548 518
Shara-based payment - - - - - 20 - 69 89
Reversal of finanaal kabilty for close - - - - - - - 59 59
peniod purchases
Issue of own equity shares 73 1267 - - - - - - 1346
Dvidends - - - - - - - (548) (549)
At 30 tune 2015 860 2.704 14 190 Ba4 £125) (29) 3007 7465

For a descnption of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve seenotel

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement of changes in equity

A Accounting pohcies

Sky pic (the Company’) s & public mited company incorperated in the United Xingdom and registered in England and Wales

1) Basis of preparation

The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS consistent with the accounting palicies set out Innote 1of the

Group s consoldated financial statements

u) Revenue

Revenue which excludes value added tax represents the gross inflow of economic benefit from the Company s operating activities
Revenue 1s measured at the far value of the consideration recerved or recawvable The Company s main source of revenue is from licensing
the Company 5 brand name asset to subsidiaries This revenue 15 recogmsed on an accruals basis under the terms of relevant hcensing agreements

w Investmant m subsidranes

An irvastment in a subsidiary 1s recognised at cost less any provision for imparment As permitted by section 133 of the Comparues Act 2006
where the rehef afforded under section 131 of the Companies Act 2006 applies cost s the aggregate of the nerminalvalue of the relevant number
of the Campany’s shares and the farr value of any other consideratron grven to acquire the share capital of the subsichary undertakings
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{continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

B Investmeant income and finance costs

2015 014
£Em £m
investment ncome
Wwestment ngome from subsidhanes 130 64
interast on other foans and recevables with related parties 1- - -
131 64
2015 20is
Em Em
Finance costs
- Interest payable and similar charges
Facihity related costs (33) @
Guaranteed Notes (see note H) {168) (80)
{200) (82)
- Other finance income {(expense)
Remeasurement of berrowings and borrowings-related denvative financial nstruments {not qualfying for hedge accountng) 462 -
Foreign exchange loss ansing on loan with subsidianes (462) -
Loss ansing on denvatives in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship [4i5)] {14)
Gain ansing on adjustment for hedged item in a designated fair value hedge accounting refatianship 9 15
- 1
(201} {81)

Finance costs mdude £50 milllon incurred 1n cannection with £6 6 bithon of firm underwnitten debt facilities and gtherassociated transaction costs
relating to the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Skyitala These faahties including the previous RCF have been repad or cancelled dunng the penodwith
the exception of the E£1 ulion revolving credit faciity (RCF) which rermains undrawn

C Profit before taxation

Employee benefits
The Company had ni employees (2014 nil) dunng the year

Key management compensation
Amounts paid to the Directors of the Company are disciosed in the Report on Directors remuneration on pages 51to €9

O Taxation
1} Taxat:on recognised in the Income statement

2015 2014
Em Em
Current tax expense
Current year 22 37
Yotal current tax charge 22 37
Deferred tax expgense
Ongination and reversal of tempoerary differences 2 )
Total deferred tax charge (Credit) 2 m
Taxation 24 36
n) Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
2ms 2044
Em £m
Deferred tax (credit) charge on hedging actrvities [€)) 4

) Reconciiation of effectve tax rate
The tax expense for the yoar 18 lower (2014 tower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation tax in the UX

{20 75%) apphied to profit before tax The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UK corporation Lax for the year was 20 75% (2014
22 5%) The differences are explained overleaf
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:
g
2015 20
£m £m
Profit before tax 572 786
Profi before tax muttiplied by blended rate of corporation tar in the UK gF 20 75% (2014 22 5%) ng 177
Effects of
Non-taxable ncome (108} 140y
Non-deductible expenditure ) . . . ~ . L n -
Tax rate change - )]
Taxation 24 36
All taxation relates to UK corporation tax é‘
E Irnvestments in subsidianes %
£Em ks
Cost
Arlduly 2013 9148
Additrons 3
At 20 June 2014 5151
Addicons 1371
At 30 June 2015 10522
Prowision
At 1tuly 2013 30 June 2014 and 30 Jupe 2015 {1005y
Carrying amounts
AL July 2013 8143
At 30 June 2019 8146
At 30 June 2015 9517
See note 32 for a list of the Company s nvestments
-
F Deferred tax B
Recogrused deferred tax assets (habiities) ﬁ —_—
%]
Finanaal B
nstruments §
temporary 3
differences o)
£m
At 1July 2013 m
Credit to ircome 1
Charge to equity (4)
At 30 June 2014 (4
Charge to ncome (2)
Credit to equity 7
At 30 June 2015 1

AL 30 June 2015 adeferred tax asset of £244 millon (2084 £244 milhon) has not been recognised inrespect of capital losses related tothe Groups
holging in KichPayTV on the basis that utiisation of these temparary differences 1s not probable At 30 June 2015 the Company has also not recognised a
deferred tax asset of EYmillon (2014 £5 milion) relating to capital losses and provisions in respect of football dub investments on the basis thatitis not

prabable that they will be utilised

G Other recevables

2015 2014

L £€m

Amounts racewable from subsichanes 7859 3008
Current other receivables 7,859 3008
Non-current prepaymeant B 2
Tota) other receivables 7865 1010

On1 Aprl 2015 the Company made a loan of €600 million to Sky Operational Finance Lirmuted This loan bears interestat 3 month EURIBOR plus O 75% and

1s repayable on demand

On 27 Novernber 2014 the Company made aloan of €400 mdlkon to Sky Operational Finance Limized Thus loan bears interest at 2 750% and 1s repayable

on demand
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements {continued)

On 24 November 2014 the Company made loans of £200 mition £450 million €850 milkon and €126 milhan toSky Operauonat Finance Limited These
loans bear interest ata rate of 4 000% LIBOR plus 1 2296% 1875% and 2 940% respectively and are repayable on demand

On 16 September 2014 the Company made loans of €969 million and €582 milion o Sky Operaucnal Finance mited These loans bear interest at 21867%
and EURIBOR plus 0 6563% respectively and are repayable on demand

On15 September 2014 the Company made loans of €1 500 millkion and €1000 milion to Sky Operational Finance Limuted These loans bear interest at
1500% and 2 SO0% respectively and are repayable on demand

0On 26 November 2012 the Company issued US$800 milion Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 3125% and loaned proceeds to Sky Operational
Finance Limited Sky Operational Finance Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

On 24 November 2008 the Company issued US$600 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 9 500% and loaned the proteeds to Sky Operational
Finance Limuted Sky Operational Finance Limrted pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

On 15 February 2008 the Company 1ssued US3750 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 6100% and loaned the proceeds to Sky UX Limwted
Sky UK Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate ta the Company

All other amounts receivable from subsidianes are non-interest beanng and are alsa repayable on demand
The Directors consider that the carmnng amount of other recervables approxmates their far values

The Company ¢ credit sk 1$ primanty attributable to its other recevables The magonty of its other recevables batance s due from Sky Operatonal
Finance Limited and Sky UK Limited The nsk of these enttues defaulting on amounts owed 1S considered low due to Sky Operational Finance Limited being
a conduit to pass through mtercompany finanang and due to Sky UK Limited s successful operation of pay television broadcastng and home
commurucations services in the UK and Iretand

H Borrowings

2005 2014
£m £m
Non-current borrowings

U5$750 mithon of £100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 a74 a42
15$582 B milion of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 372 as3
USE750TIIGAOF 2 625% Guarantaéd NGIes repayable i Septemuer 219 477 =
€600 million of Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 425 -
£450 million of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable i November 2020 445 -
€1500 mulion of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 202V 1058 -
US$B00 mifl:ion of 3125% Guaranteed Nates repayabile in November 2022 504 466
€850 million of 1875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 602 -
USH1 250 million of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 787 -
€1000 milion of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 705 -
£300 milhon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 296 296
£300 mithon of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 297 -
€400 millian of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 281 -
6723 1557

AL 30 June 2015 the Comparny had inissue the following Guaranteed Notes
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged ttarest Rates

Hedged
Value Fixed Floating
Em Em Em Fixed Figaung
US$750 mithon of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 kLT 290 a7 6 829% 6m UBOR +1 892%
US$582 8 million of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable n November 2018 289 260 129 7091% 6m UBOR +5542%
£450 miflion of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novamher 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +1 230%
U5%800 milkon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 5Q3 503 - 3 226% -
E300 milhion of 6 000% Guarznteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 6000% -
£300 milhon of 4 C00% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 200 200 - 4000% -
2229 1,553 6786

136 Skyplc




Arrual Report 218

Francal statements
Interest Rate Hedgng Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged

Value Fixed FAoating
£m €m €m Fixed Floaung
USE750 million of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayabile tin Seprember 2019 581 - s81 - 3m EURIBOR +0 656%
€600 milion of Floating Rate Motes repayable in Apri 2020 600 - 500 - 3mEURIBOR +0 750%
€1 500 milhon of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1500 1500 - 1500% N -
€850 mithion of ) 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 B850 B850 - Ta7s% T -
US%1 250 milhen of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1 000 mithon of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1000 1000 - 2500% -
£300 milhion of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 126 126 - 2943% -
€400 million of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 2025 400 400 - 2750% -

6026 4 845 1181

Seenote 24 for details of Capital Risk Management and note 22 for details of the Company s Guarantged Notes in the pnar year

} Other payables
05 2014
Em €

Qther payables

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 3394 3536
Ameunts owed to ather related parties - 23
Qther - 36
Accruals 85 18
3479 3613

Amounts payable to subsidianes are non-interest beanng and repayable on demand The balance compnises £2164 mitlion of non-interest bearing
toans (2014 £2164 million) and £1 230 milion of other payables (2014 £1372 milhen) The Directors consider that the carrying amount of other payables

approximates thew Fair values

poda Bnens

AUBUIBADD

J Dervatives and other financial instruments

Fair values

Set out below 1s a comparison of the carnang vahies and the estmated fair values of the Company s finanaial assets and financial liabiities
at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2015 2015 2014 201
Carrymg Fair Carrying Far
value value value value
£m Em £m Em
Financial assets and habilities held orissued to finange the Company s operations
Quoted bond debt (6723) (6903) (1557) {1740)
Dernvative financial iInstruments 284 284 ) 19
Other payables and recevablgs 4380 4380 (605) {605)
The fair values of financial assets and financial babihties are determined as detailed in note 23 and all stems held at farr value ara classified
as Leve! 2 in the far value hierarchy
Set out below are the dervative financial instruments entered into by the Company to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange nsk
2015 2014
Asser Liabihty Asset Liabihty
Fair Value Notonal Fair Vaiue Notional Fair Value National Farr Value Notional
£m Em £m Em £Em £m Em Em
Fairvalue hedges
Interest rate swaps 48 239 - - 51 452 - -
Cross-CuUrrency swaps 19 466 - - - - - -
Cash flow hedges
Crass-currency swaps 88 1065 a2 503 45 290 {36) 503
Dervatrves not in a formal hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps 14 336 (14) E=10) £l 574 (26} 314
Cross-curmency swaps 244 2065 (103) 1017 48 725 {54) 1018
Total 413 4 87 _ (129) 2116 175 2041 {156) 1835
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Financal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)
Note 23 provdes further details of the Group s dernvative and other finanoial nstruments
The matunty of the derivatve financialinstruments 15 shown below

2015 2014

Asset Lahiicy Asset Labicy

- - Em - - - Em - = -Em -~ -fm

Inone year orless 55 {55} - -
Between one and two years - - 33 (€5
Between two and five years n (34) 122 (67)
In more than five years 147 (40} 20 (56)
Total 413 (129) 175 (156)

K Financal nsk management
Interest rate and foreign exchange risk management

The Company manages its exposure to interest rates and forergn exchange movements which ansa from the Company s sources of Finance by selectively

entering into dervative finangial nstruments ta manage its expcsure The Company has alse entered into denvative contracts on behalf of its
subsidiaries Sky Group Finance plc and Sky UX Limited and has back-to-back intercompany contracts

Foreign exchange risk

The following analysis detalls the Company s Sensithity to movements in pounds sterling against alf currencies in which it has significant transactions
The sensitmity analysis includes only outstanding foretgn currency denomimated financal nstruments and adjusts ther translation at the perod end

for a 25% change in fareign currency rates

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling against the US dollar would have an adverse impact on profit of £13 mithon (2014 adverse impact of £16 midlion)
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of derrvatives The same strengthenng would have an adverse impact on other equity of E35 mithion

(2014 adverse rmpact of £21 million)

A 25% weakerung (n pounds steding against the US dolfar would have a beneficial impact on profit of £21 milhon (2012 beneficial mpact of £26 million)
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of derivatives The same weakening would have a beneficial impact on other equity of £65 mullion (2014

benefioalimpact of E36 million)

A 25% st.rengt.honmg; pourkis stering aganst the euro wouk! have a beneficial impact on profit by £17 milbon (2014 nil) relating to non-cash movements

in the valuations of denvatives

A 25% weakening in pounds sterling against the euro would have an adverse impact on profit of £28 million (2014 nil} relabing to non-cash movements

in the valuation of dervatives
Interest rate nsk

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure Lo interest rates for both derwvatwves and non-denvative financial
nstruments at the batance sheet date For floating rate abdities the analysis 1s prepared assuming the amount of iabitity outstanding at the balance

sheet date was outstanding for the whole year

For each one hundred basis pont rise or fall in mterest rates at 30 June 2015 and if all other vartables were held constant. the Company's profit for the
year ended 30 June 2015 would decrease or increase by £18 milhon (2014 decrease or ncrease by E3 mulhon) and other equity reserves would decrease

or increasa by £6 rmillien (2044 decrease orincrease by £1 mohor)

Aone hundred basis point nse or fallin interest rates represents alarge but realistic movement which can casity be muliphed o give sensitmties

at different interast rates

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and show!ld be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarily indicatwe of the
actual impacts that wauld be expenenced because the affect of a change in a particular market vanable on fair values or cash flows 1s calculated without
considenng interrelationstips between the vanous market rates or mitigating actions that would be taken by the Company In addition the Company s

actual exposure 1o market rates changes as the Company s portfohio of debt changes

The changes in valuatians are estimates of the impact of changes m market vanables and are not a prediction of future events or antiapated gains

orlosses

Liquidity risk
See note 24 for the Comparny s policy on iquidity management

The following table analyses the Company s non denvatwve financial kabiities net settled interest rate swaps and gross settled currency swaps
and collars into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaning peniad at the balance sheet date to the centractuat matunty date

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undrscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on the

balance sheet for borrowings denvative financial instruments and other payables
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Financal scataments
Between Between
Lessthan one and twoand  More than
2Z2months  twoyears five years five vears
£m Em £m Em
At 30 June 2012
Non-derivative finanaal iabiities
Bonds - USD 122 122 1572 1474
Bonds = GBP N — 43 43 129 1305
Bonds - EUR 57 55 595 2948
Other payables 3479 - - -
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets {22) [ed)] 37 )]
Gross settied danvatves
Qutflow 1058 141 199 3147
Inflow {1083) 166) (2192} (3147
Between Between
Less than oneand twoand Morethan
2months twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
£m £m Em Em
At 30 June 2014
Non-denvative finanaal habilities
Bonds - USD 74 74 962 521
Bonds - GBP 18 18 54 444
Other payables 3613 - - -
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets {15) (15) (36) -
Grass settled denvatives.
Cutflow 63 62 930 560
Inflow (56) _(56) {920y (521
At 30 June 2015 the Company had an undrawn £1000 million RCF with a matunty date of 30 Novermber 2020 See note 22 for further information
L Notes tothe Company statement of changes in equity
Fordetails of share capital share premium the special raserve the cagntal redemption reserve and the hedging reserve see notes 25 and 26
For details of dwvidands see note 1
Capuzl reserve
This reserve arose from the surplus on the transfer of trade and assets to a subsidiary undertaking
M Reconciliation of prafit before tax to cash generated from operations
2015 2014
Em £m
Profit before tax 572 786
Dmdend mcome (510) (522)
Net finance costs 70 7
Increase in other recewvables

Cash generated from operations

(132) ey
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Filan0al statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

N Contingent labifities and guarantees

The Company and certain of its subsidianes have undertaken in the normal course of business to provide support to several of the Group s investments
tnboth lrited and unhmited compamies and partnerships to meet ther kabihues as they fall due Several of these undertakings contam maximum
financial imits These undertakmngs have been given for at least one year from the date of the signing of the UK statutory accounts of the related entity

A payment under these undertakings would be required in the event of an investrent being unable to pay its habilities

The Company has provided parent company guarantees in respect of the varous contracts entered into with the Premier League by Sky UK Lmited -
covering the 2013714 to 2018M19 football seasons In each case the guarantee covers all payment obhgations now orin the future dug owing or incurred
by Sky UK Limited urder the contracts and all habilities now or in the future arising or incurred under the indemnity given to the Premier League by Sky
UK Limited under the contracts

The Company has prowided a parent company guarantee in respect of the contract entered into with Sky UK Limited and Stanhaope plcinrelationto
the construction of a new corparate headquarters at the Osterley Campus The guarantee covers all performance obhgations and payment obligatans
wmposed on Sky UK Limited under that contract

The Company has provided a back-to-back guarantee in lavour of 21st Century Fox Inc of up to ha!f of the annual payment obhgations of Sky Deutschland
Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG under Lthe 201317 Bundesliga agreement b has aiso provided back-to-back guarantees in favour of 21st Century Fox the in
relation Lo UEFA Chammpons League and other programming abligations of Sky [taha Srl

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee to SGH Stream Sub tne In respect of the obligatrons of Sky italan Holdings S p A under the
Sky [taka 51 Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014 The Company has afso pravided a parent company guarantee to 21st Century Fox Adelade
Haldings BV in respect of tha obligations of Sky German Haldings GmbH under the Sky Deutschland AG Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014

The Companry has guarantees in place relating to the Group s borrowings see note 22 and in relation to audit exemptions sea note 32

O Transactions with related parties and major sharehatders

2015 2004

Em £m

Supply of services to subsidiaries 229 225

interest receivec from funding to subsicharies 1320 64

Interest on other loans and recevables with related parties 1 -

— Amournits owed by subsidhanes _ . 7859 3008
Amount s owed to subsiharies (3394) {3536)
Amounts owed to other related partues - 23)

The Company has related-party transactions with its subsidianes by virtue of its status as parent company of the Group 1n particular its normal
treasury practice for the Company tolend and borrow cash to and from tts subsidianes as required Under this policy Sky UK Limited settled habihiies
of £130 mullion and €17 million (2014 E83 million and €nil) on behalf of the Company dunng the year Interest s earned on certain loans to subsidiaries

The Company recogrised £229 million (2014 £225 million) for hcensing the Sky brand name to subsidiaries The Company recogmised dvidendsduring
tha year from subsdianes totaling £510 milion (2014 £622 milion)

Share buy-back pragramme

During the paioryear the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 12140 586 ordinary shares held by 215t Century Fox Inc as part
of Its share buy-back programme

The Graup's related-party transactions are disclosed in note 30

P Events after the reporting penod
For details see note 33 to the consohdated financial statemenis
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Finanaat staternent s
Unaudited supplemental nformation
Consolidated results
Below )1s selected finanaal information for the Group under SFRS as at and for each of the fve years ended 30 June
Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ercted ended ended
30 June 30June 30June 30 June 30 June
2015 2014 2043 202 2om
Conschdated Income Statement Em Em Em Em Em
Conunuing operations
Revenue' 9969 7450 7082 €678 6818
Operating expense? Q017 (6346)  (5835) (S 489) (5467)
Operating profit S72 1104 1247 1209 1051
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 29 35 a6 39 34
Investment income 8 26 28 8 9
Finance costs (283} 140) {108y () o)
Profit on disposal of avadable-for-sate investment 492 - - - =]
Prafit on disposa) of associate 299 - - - -
Profit before tax 1516 1025 1,213 1155 992
Taxaton (184) (205} (267) (274} (250)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1332 820 946 881 742
Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 620 45 33 25 68
Profit for the year 1,952 BE6S 979 206 20
Profit for the year attnbutable to
Equity sharehalders of the parent company 1957 BES o979 908 810
Noan-contraling interests 5) - - - -
Net (loss) profit recogmsed directly in equity (625) 73 129 64 (8)
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,327 938 1108 970 802
Earnings per share from profit for the year (in pence)
Basik 15 8p ssap 607p S26p 465p
Diluted N4 4p 54 9p—587p 522p
Dinidends per share (in pence) 328p 320p 300p 254p 233p
30 June 30 lune 30 June 30 June 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2002 20n
Corsolidated Balance Sheet im Em Em Em £Em
Non-current assets 10799 3B76 3776 3234 3025
Current assets 4559 2573 25689 227% 2329
Totat assets 15358 6449 6345 5509 5354
Current habitities (4204) 2519) @237 (2098) (V92
Non-current labiities (7930) {2858) (306) (2467) (2407
Netassots 34 1072 1012 D44 1035
Number of shares in issue (in milhions) 1719 1563 1594 1674 1753
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Arandal statements

Group financial record

{tontinued)
JUnaudited supplemental nformation

Consotidated results

Year Year Year Year Year
endeg ended ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 Junc
2015 2014 203 2012 200
Staustics {000) (000 (000) (000 (000
Products [
UK & Ireland 38036 34775 3634 28 365 25375
Germany 7133 - - - -
Italy 8614 - - - -
Total paid-for subscription products 53783 34775 31634 28 365 25 375
Customers
UK & lreland 2000 1495 n1s3 10606 10294
Germany 4280 - - - -
Italy 4725 - - - -
Retaill customers 21006 11495 153 10) 6086 10 294
UK & lretand 4028 4041 ie?7 3672 3522
Germany 146 - - - -
Italy - - - - -
Wholesale customers? 4174 4041 3677 3672 3522
Total customers 2580 15536 14830 14 278 13816
Churn
UK & Ireland 5 8% 10 9% 10 7% 10 2% 10 4%
Germany BE% - - - -
ltaly 9 6% ~ - - -

1 incuded withun revenug for the year ended 30 June 2014 15 a E15 mihon credit recewved follawng the Lermnation of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale cperator

2 Induded wih operating expente for Lhe year ended 30 June 2015 are costs of E50 milon in relation to sdyisory and transacten fees ncurred on the purchase of Sky Dewtschiand

and Sky Lalia ¢osts of E105 mullon relating to corporate restructunng and efficency programmes costsof £10 milonrelaung to the integratson of Sky Deutschland and Sky tiala

the enlarged Group and costs of £231 milion relating ta the amarusatan of acqured ntangibles

Jochuded witha operatng expense far the year ended 30 June 2014 are costs of £43 milon relating to the integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-hne telephony
busmess costs oF £40 mulion relatng Lo 8 corperate restructunng and effiaency programme E2 muikon as a result of the termination of a0 &5Crow agreement with a current.
whalesale operator and €23 mibon relating te the amortesation of acured intangiles

Included within operaung expense for the year ended 30 June 1013 18 a credit of £32 mulln n retation te a credia note recewved [oligwing an Ofcom determination acredit of

£23 mull:on relating to the final setttement of disputes with a farmer manufacturer of set top boxes (net of assocsted costy) costs of £ 31 mibon relaung to one-off upgrade of
st top boxes costs of £33 milon retatsng to a corporate efficiency programeme and costs of E15mudion relating to tha acquisition and integraton of the 02 consumer broadband and
fixed-hne Lefgphony business Atsonduded are costs of £25 mdion g to the progr tooffer connectors Lo salacted Sky Movies custamers

Included withan operatng axpense for the year ended 30 June 2012 s a aredit of E31mdbon n retation 1o the Naws Corporation (subsequently ranamad 2ist Century Fox, Inc) proposal

1n 2011 cons:5ting of COBLS InCurred offset by the recent of the break fee Also ncluded are restructunng co3ts of E1 milhon which comprie severance payments i relaton 1o
approxsmatety 35 sercor rokes as part of a restructunng MILATVE Lo mprove operating cfligency

Induded with n operabing expansa for the vear ended 30 June 207 15 E26 mibon of restruCtunng Costs arsing on the BCQUIS Lon of Lvneg TV winth comprrse pancpally redundancy

pwmenumdwumtemmmofam-a:qunssuoncmmct.nsmbmolmsun relaton 1o the News Corp 1 quenthyr d 215t Century Fox, Inc ) proposal and acredit

of £41 mion in relation ta the refund of import duty on set-top baxes paid cut i proryears Thes duty was recovered due to the udgment gven by the ECJ on i Apni 2011
3 Wholesale customars are customers who take a package from one of Sky s Wholesale Partners inwhich they recerve at least ore pasc for Sky channel

W42 Skyplc




Annual Report 2015

Financal statemants.

Factors which matenally affect the comparabiity of the selected financial data

biscontinued operations

During frscal 2015 the Group sold a controfling stake i its onkne betting anc gaming business For further detatls see note 3 to the consobhdated financial
statements

During frscal 2011 the Group s0ld its bustness-to-business telecommunications operation Easynet, to LOC

Available-for-sale investment
During fiscal 2015 the Group disposed of its rematning investment in 1TV For further details see note S to the cansohdated financial statements

Dunng frscal 2011 the Group disposed of its equity investment in Shine and recogrised a profit cF £9 million

Business combinations and profit an disposal of assoqate

Dunng fiscal 215 the Group compieted the acquisitions of Sky Deutschiand and Skyitalia For further details see note 3 1o the consohdated finanoiai
statements As part of the consideration for the purchase of Sky Italia the Group disposed of its shareholding in the NMational Geographic channe! For
further detais see note & 1o the consohidated finanual statements

Dunng friscal 2013 the Group completed the acquisition of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ine telephony business from Teleforica UK comprising
100% of the share capizal of Be Un Limited The results of this acqursitron were consohidated From the date on which controf passed to the Group
(30 Apnl 2013)

During fiscal 201 the Group completed the acquisitions of Living TV and The Goud The results of these acquisitions were consolidated from the date
on which controi passed to the Group (12 July 2010 and 23 February 2011 respectively)

Exchange rates

A sigruficant portion of the Group s habihties and expenses associated with the cost of programming acquired fram US film heensors together with
set-top box costs are denarminated in US dallars A significant partion of the Group s revenues ard expenses assoclated with its operations in Italy and
Germany & Austna are depominated In curos Fora discussion of the impact of exchange rate movements on the Group s financal condiion and results
of operations sae note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
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Fnancial statements

Non-GAAP measures

Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated Income Statement - reconcibation of statutory and adjusted numbers

2015
Adjusted
Italy and
Exclucing Germany &
Adjusting - — Adhusting ~— - -AuStna — an — e

Statutory Iltems tems pre-acquisioon  Like for Like
Notes £m £m £m tm Em
Revenue
Subscription 8518 - 8518 179 9687
Transactional 153 - 153 20 173
wholesale and syndication 541 - 541 9 550
Advertising 649 - 649 67 e
Qther 128 - 128 19 147
5989 = 9988 1294 1283
QOperating expense
Pragramming A (4172) 10 (4162) (728) (4886)
Dwrect network costs (840 - {B40O) - {840y
Sales general and admmustration B {4 005) 386 (3619 (538) 4157)
{5017) 396 B621) {1252y (9883
{EBITDA 1738 163 1501 129 2030 |
Operating profit 972 396 1368 32 1400
Share af results of joint ventures and assooates 28 - 28
Investment income B - 8
Finance costs C (283) 75 {208}
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale investment 3] 492 (492) -
Profit on disposal of associate E 299 (299) -
Profit before tax 1516 (320) 1196
Taxation F {184) 67 2sn
Profit For the year from continuing operations 1332 (387) 945
Loss attributable to non-controfing interests 5 (3) 2
Profit from continuing opéerations attnbutable to equity shareholders of the
parent company 1337 (390} 947
{'€arnings per share (basic) 791p (231p) 560p |

Notes exptanatton of adjusting ems for the year ended 30 June 2015
A Costs of E10 millon relating to corporate restructuring and #f ficiency programmes

B Adwsory and transaction fees induding inter alia financial advisory costs corporate legal advice cue diligence repostng assurance services and tax advice of £50 million inzurred
on the purchase of Sky Deutsehland knd Sky Itala cests of £95million relating ta corporate restructunng and effiaency programmes (including amortisation of £2 milhon in
relation to associated intangible assets) costs of £10 million relating to the mtegration of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itata in the enlarged Group and amortsation of aciuired

wtangible assets of E221 mllion

€ Finance casts of £57 million incurred v connectionwith £6 § billon of Frm underwrittan debt Faciities and other assoaiated transachion cost e relating Lo the purchase of
Sky Deutscehland and Sky itaha and costs of £18 meflion relating Lo the remessurement of afl dervatve finanaa! instruments not qualdying for hedge accounting and hedge

neffecuveness

0 Profitonthe sale of shareholding in ITV and ga n on equity interest in Sky Deutschiand held prior to the acquisiion

€ Profitondaposal of a sharebolding of 21% in NG Network tnternational LLC and a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network Labn Amerniza LLC

F  Tax effect of adusung items

144 Skyple




Annual Report 2015

vodarxBaieng

DIUBLIIADG

Francal stazements
2014
Adusted
fealy and
Exduding Germany &
Adpustng Adusung Austna
Statutory tems tems fullyear Likefor Like
Notes Em Em £m Em £m
Revenue
Subsenption 6278 - 6278 2994 9272
Transactional B6 - as 56 142
Whotesale znd syndicauon A 448 (15) 433 a9 524
Advertising 487 - 487 203 £90
Other 151 - 151 ) 148
7450 (15} 7435 334 10776
Operaung expense
Programming B {2657) 1 (2656) (2Q0¢6) {4662)
Direct network costs C (B45) 29 (816} - B16)
Sales general and admnistration [»] (2844) 84 (2760) (1353} 4N
(6 346) n4 6232 (3 359) {9 591
[EBITDA 1536 70 1606 242 1848 |
Operating profit 1104 99 1203 (18) 1185
Share of results of jont ventures and assoclates 35 - 35
Investment income 26 - 26
Finance costs E o S (135)
Profit before tax 1025 W04 1129
Taxauon F (205) (32) (237)
Profit for the year from continuthg operations 820 72 8§92
| Earrungs per share {basic) 525p 46p 571p |

Notes explanaten of adusung ems for the year ended 30 June 2014

A

8
c
[+]

nm

Revenue of £15 mition relating tocradit recenved foligwing tenmination of an escrow agréeement with a current wholesale operator

Costs of E4mdhon relatng to a corporate restructunng and effickncy programme

Costs of £29 sullon relating to the integration of the 02 consumer troadband and hized line telephany business

Cost af £20 mvlion relating to the acqasibon and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ine telephony business (Including amort sation of £4 malion in relaton to
asso0ated intang 'tle assets), costs of E3% mdlion in rolaton 10 a ¢arporate restuctunng and efficiency programme (ncludng mpanmnents of £2 milion srelalion tg assoQated
intangible and tangible assets) costsof E23 mithon in relaton to amoruisation of scquired intangile assecs and cost of €2 millon relatg to an expense as a resuitof the

termunauon of an escrow agreerment with » current wholesale operator

Rameasuremant of 3l dervative financial instruments nat qualifying for hedge sccounting and hedge neffectiveness

Tax adjusting tems and the tax sffect of above temns
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Funandal statamants

Non-GAAP measures
conunued)
Unaudited supplemental information

Reconciliation of cash generated from operations to adjusted free cash flow

forthe year ended 20 June 2015

2015 2014
Note £Em £m
Cash ganerated from continuing eperations 27 20B0 1696
Interest received and dividends from avalable-for-sale nvestments 9 27
Taxauonpad ) T - 0T o7 T - Y 741"} B 3}
Dradends receved from jont ventures and associates . 25 32
Net funding to joint ventures and asseoates Q) (6)
Purchase of property plant and equipment. (385) (238}
Purchase of intangble assets (357) (302)
interest paid (246) (137)
Frea cash flow 897 843
Cash pand relating to adwisory and transaction fees and finance costs incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland
and Sky italia 10 -
Cash paid relating to corporate restructunng and efficiency pregramme 34 12
Cash paid refating to the integration of Sky Deutschiand ard Sky ialla in the enlarged Group 8 -
Cash pad under provissons recogrised in prior penods S 27
Cash paid relating to the integration of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business 3 22
Payment (recaspt) following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator 3 [43))]
Adjusted free cash Flow 1060 885

Where appropriate amounts above are shawn net of spplicable corporation tax
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Shareholder mforrmaton

Shareholder information

Annual General Meeting

The verue and tirming of the Company s 2015 AGM 1s detailed i the notice
convening the AGM which will be available for download from the
Company s corporate website at sky com/corporate

Financial calendar
Results for the finanaal year ending 30 June 2016 will be published in

Qctober Z01S
January 2016°
Apri 2016*
July 2016°

Prowsional dates

The Sky website

Shareholders are encouraged to wisit the Sky website sky com which has.
awealth of nformation about the Company There s a sectiondesigned
specifically forinvesters at sky comicorporate where investor and meda
informatiancan be accessed This year s Annual Repart and Notice of
AGM together with prior year documents can be viewed there along with
nformationon dmdends share price and avoiding sharehelder fraud

Managing your shares and shareholder
communications

The Company s shareholder regrster 1s maintained by its Registrar
Equinitr Information on how to manage your shareholdings can be found
at help shareviewco uk

Shareholders can contact EQuiniti o relation to all admernistrative
engqunes relatng ta theyr shares surh as a change of personal details

Dividend tax vouchers

A consolidated tox voucher senace 1s available for shareholders who have
chosen to recewve dvidends directly into therr bank aceount, A single
cansohdated tax voucher wili be maisled by the end of November cach
year to coincde with the final dividend payment

Dividend Reinvestment Plan -- .

The Company operates a Drnmdend Reirvestment Plan ( DRIP Ywhich
enables shareholders to buy the Company’s shares on the London stodck
market with thesr cash dwidend Further mformaton about the DRIPrs
available from Equirsty

ShareGift

Sharehalders who onfy have & Small number of shares whose value makes
1t uneconomic o sell them may wish to consider donating them to charity
through ShareGift the independent chanty share donation scheme
(registered chanty no 1052686) Further information may be abtamed
from ShareGift on 020 7930 3737 or at sharegift org

Shareholder fraud

Fraud s on theincrease and many shareholders are targeted every year
If you have any reason to betieve that you may have been the target of a
fraud or attempted fraud in relation to your shareholding please contact
Equintn immediately

Amenican Depaositary Receipts ('ADR’)

The Company s ADR programme tractes on the over-the-counter (OTC )}
market in the U5 More information can be obtained from the Companys
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the loss of a share certificate out-of-date dvdend cheques change
of dividend payment methods and how to apply for the Dividend
Remvestrment Plan

Shareholders who have not vet elected to receive shareholder
dacumentation in electromc form can sign up by registering at
shareview co uk Should Shareholders who have elected for electronic
communcations require a paper copy of any of the Company s
shareholder documentabion or wish to change ther instructions.
they should contact Equinit

Shareholder Contact Centre

Equrruts Limuted

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Laneing

Wast Sussex

BNS9 6DA

Telephone 0871 384 2091

Telephone number from outside the UX +44 121 415 7567

Unes are open Monday to Faday 8 30sm to 5 30pm exduding UK Bank Hohdays
Calls to our 871 numbers cost 8p per mnute plus Network extras

carporate website at skycomifcorporate
Al enquines relating to the Company s ADRs shou!d be addressed to

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

PO Box 30770

College Station TX 77842-170

US reswdents (888) 269 2377

If resident autside the US +1 201680 6825
emal shrelations@cpushareownerservwices com

Company's registered office
Grant Way

Isteworth

Middlesex

TW75QD

Telephone 0333 100 0333

Overseas +44 333100 0333

Company registration number
2247735

Auditor

Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Square
Landon

EC4A 3BZ
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Accessibility

If you would like adwice regarding accessibiity
of thus document please contact the Accessible
Customer Service Leam on +44 (0) 344 2410333

To find out more about Sky go to sky comicorperate

For more about how we re making a wader contnbution
go to sky com/ggerpicture
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